

Validation of the EU environmental risk assessment for veterinary medicines

Montforts, M.H.M.M.

Citation

Montforts, M. H. M. M. (2005, April 20). *Validation of the EU environmental risk assessment for veterinary medicines*. Retrieved from https://hdl.handle.net/1887/648

Version:Not Applicable (or Unknown)License:Leiden University Non-exclusive licenseDownloaded from:https://hdl.handle.net/1887/648

Note: To cite this publication please use the final published version (if applicable).

Mark Henricus Maria Marcellinus Montforts

Validation of the EU Environmental Risk Assessment for Veterinary Medicines

Montforts, M.H.M.M. 2005. Validation of the EU Environmental Risk Assessment for Veterinary Medicines. Thesis, Leiden University.

Validation of the EU Environmental Risk Assessment

for Veterinary Medicines

Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van

de graad van Doctor aan de Universiteit Leiden,

op gezag van de Rector Magnificus Dr. D.D. Breimer,

hoogleraar in de faculteit der Wiskunde en

Natuurwetenschappen en die der Geneeskunde,

volgens besluit van het College voor Promoties

te verdedigen op woensdag 20 april 2005

klokke 15.15 uur

door

Mark Henricus Maria Marcellinus Montforts

geboren te Geleen

in 1967

Promotiecommissie

Promotores:	Prof. Dr. H.A. Udo de Haes				
	Prof. Dr. N.M. van Straalen (Vrije Universiteit)				
Referent:	Prof. Dr. W. Seinen (Universiteit Utrecht)				
Overige leden:	Prof. Dr. E. van der Meijden Prof. Dr. G.J. Mulder				
	Prof. Dr. G.R. de Snoo (Wageningen Universiteit)				
	Dr. J.S.M. Boleij (College voor de Toelating van Bestrijdingsmiddelen)				

Table of Contents

1.	Introduction					
	1.1.	Environmental concerns regarding veterinary medicines	7			
	1.2.	A definition of veterinary medicines	9			
	1.3.	The extent of the consumption of veterinary medicines	11			
	1.4.	Environmental risk assessment and management for veterinary medicines	13			
	1.5.	Readers guide	18			
2.	Metho	dological aspects concerning the environmental risk assessment for				
	medici	nal products; research challenges	21			
3.	The exposure assessment for veterinary medicinal products 39					
4.	Validation of the exposure assessment for veterinary medicinal products 57					
5.	Effect assessment at the base of an exposure trigger in soil – a critical appraisal 77					
6.	6. European medicines and feed additives regulation are not in compliance v					
	environmental legislation and policy					
7.	Legal constraints in EU product labelling to mitigate the environmental risk of					
	veterinary medicines at use					
8.	Discussion					
	8.1.	Harmonisation of protection goals and risk assessment methodology	122			
	8.2.	The conceptual and empirical validation of models	126			
	8.3.	The validation of precautionary labelling	131			
	8.4.	The use of science in the registration framework	132			
	8.5.	Concluding remarks	135			
Liter	Literature					
Sync	psis		153			
Same	Samenvatting					
Curr	Curriculum Vitae					
Lijst	Lijst van publicaties 1					
Naw	Nawoord 1					

1. Introduction

1.1. Environmental concerns regarding veterinary medicines

In the late nineteenth century, the study of the relation between ecosystems and (micro) nutrients was an integral part of the science of life (Wells et al., 1930). The impact of man-made substances on ecosystems was however never considered¹, until the mid-1950's and 1960's when populations of birds of prey alarmingly declined (up to 91%) in Europe and the USA. These declines in reproduction success, as well as field observations of bird mortalities, were attributed to insecticides, substances for seed treatment, and rodent baits, applied in agriculture for crop protection (Cramp, 1963; Koeman et al., 1972; Mendenhall and Pank, 1980; Hill and Fleming, 1982). Regulatory responses to these particular findings involved, amongst others, the ban on certain pesticides, and the establishment of an environmental risk assessment scheme for the registration of pesticides (see e.g. EU Directive 79/117/EEC and Luttik (2003)).

In some incidents with bird mortalities, the substances involved had not been applied widespread as pesticides on crops. The organophosphate substances DDVP and famphur were applied as veterinary medicines to cattle, either by feed or by pour-on applications (Ludke and Locke, 1976; Hill and Mendenhall, 1980; Henny et al., 1985). Also the use of organophosphate sheep-dips in Scotland to combat scab and other parasites caused surface water contamination and fish mortality (McVeigh et al., 1997). These observations show that the medicinal use of pesticides has caused environmental damage comparable to that caused by their use in crop protection.

These examples suggest that measures taken for pesticides used as plant protection products² with respect to environmental risk, should also be taken for the pesticides and (related) substances used as veterinary medicines. There are, in fact, several classes of substances that are used both as veterinary medicines and as pesticides. Several insecticides (e.g. lindane, coumaphos, cypermethrin, avermectin, and imidacloprid) are used both in veterinary medicine and in crop protection. Moxidectin and milbemectin are both fermentation products from the soil actinomycete *Streptomyces sp.*. Moxidectin is used as an anthelminthic (a substance that expels or destroys intestinal worms) in animals, and milbemectin is used as an insecticide in crops. Thiabendazole is an anthelminthic in animals that is also approved for post-harvest treatment of citrus fruits against fungi. The fungicide trifluralin is applied both in crop protection and in shrimp cultivation. The antibiotic oxytetracyclin and streptomycin are applied as veterinary medicines in animals and as foliage

¹ Pollution associated with the use and mining of metals has occurred throughout history. Development of the chemical industry began in the second half of the nineteenth century. For example, Bayer began the production of dye-stuffs in 1863.

² A substance used for crop protection is generally denoted either a plant protection product or a pesticide. A pesticide used to fight pests in non-crop applications, such as buildings, industrial systems, and construction materials, is generally denoted a biocide. The authorisation of pesticides is regulated in the European Union under Directive 91/414/EEC, of

pesticides in crops. Some sulfonylurea substances are used to treat diabetes in pets, and other sulfonylurea substances are used as herbicides in crops. Copper is a micro-nutrient, and also a medicine for treatment of footrot and ringworm in animals. It is also a well-known fungicide in crops, and is used for wood preservation and in anti-fouling paint.

Paracelsus' theorem "*All substances are poisons: there is none that is not a poison. The right dose differentiates a poison and a remedy.*" provides reason to extend the riskbased approach applied to pesticides to perhaps all veterinary medicines. Two illustrative examples of this concept are warfarin and paracetamol. Therapeutic medicinal use of warfarin prevents thromboembolism, while the same compound used as a rodenticide very effectively kills rats and mice. Paracetamol is a well-known pain reliever, that also effectively controls Brown Tree snakes when applied in baits (Johnston et al., 2002). Considering this theorem in combination with the fact that the environment contains countless organisms with different sensitivities leads to the hypothesis that veterinary medicines that are not pesticides may also pose a risk for the environment.

This hypothesis has already been substantiated. An alarming decline of vulture populations (up to 95%) occurred in Pakistan in the late 1990's. Recently, research has attributed this decline to the use of the anti-inflammatory drug diclofenac in cattle (Oaks et al., 2004). Incidental mortalities of bald eagles in the USA have been attributed to the use of the anaesthetic pentobarbital in pet animals (Krueger and Krueger, 2003). In general however, too little is known about effects of veterinary medicines and their metabolites (Boxall et al., 2003).

The reported environmental damages and the intrinsic pharmacological properties of veterinary medicines warrant an environmental risk assessment of the use of veterinary medicines.

The marketing of veterinary medicinal products is actively regulated in the European Union by Directive 2001/82/EC, amended by Directive 2004/28/EC, with the intent to protect the environment, next to animal health, consumers, and professional users³. An environmental risk assessment is to be performed at registration, and a clear policy and regulatory infrastructure exists to deal with this issue, as well as a number of regulatory guidance documents on the environmental risk assessment (EMEA, 1997; VICH, 2000; DG Enterprise, 2000).

Environmental risk assessment is a scientific discipline that investigates the possible damage that certain activities, such as the use of veterinary medicines, have for the

biocides under Directive 98/8/EC. In the Netherlands, both are regulated by a single law (Bestrijdingsmiddelenwet, 1962) and are specified with the same noun ('bestrijdingsmiddel').

³ The use of veterinary medicines (and other products containing chemicals) is also regulated by European environmental legislation. Typical examples are the Directives on water pollution 76/464/EEC, and on groundwater protection 80/86/EEC. This type of legislation operates from the starting point that all actions that may lead to pollution are forbidden unless a permit is granted by the national competent authority. The permit ought to regulate emission (e.g. by prescribing application or purification techniques) as well as the maximum permissible concentration of the substance in the environment (Van Rijswick, 2001). This legislation addresses different authorities than the Directive 2001/82/EC, and the implications for risk assessment in these frameworks are not explored in this thesis. They do provide, however, important preconditions for the methodology under Directive 2001/82/EC.

environment. It is a way of structuring and interpreting information on behaviour and effects of substances with the aim of creating a new type of information, namely estimations on the likelihood of the occurrence of effects (Rodricks, 1992). In general, environmental risk assessment addresses an overall level of protection, in most instances that of *no effect* (SSC, 2003). The aim of risk assessment in the registration process is to eliminate the no-risk situations from further regulatory actions. Risk assessment is most commonly used to elaborate on (which means to downsize) identified hazards in hierarchic levels, from screening level to advanced levels. If a risk in a lower level is deemed acceptable, no further assessment is made.

In the EU Directive 2004/28/EC, amending the Directive 2001/82/EC, Article 30 states that marketing authorisation is denied if the risk-benefit balance of the product is, under the authorised conditions of use, unfavourable. A risk/benefit balance is defined as: 'an evaluation of the positive therapeutic effects of the veterinary medicinal product in relation to the risks'. In Article 33, it is stipulated that a mutual recognition of a marketing authorisation can be denied if there are concerns for a potential serious risk to human or animal health or for the environment. Another response to an identified environmental risk is to mitigate the predicted risk to an acceptable level by addressing the user of the veterinary medicine through the information that accompanies the product (Koschorreck et al., 2002). This response has the intention of establishing a code of conduct that is reaching further than the Good Agricultural Practice taken as a starting point in the risk assessment. Risk mitigation through product labelling is held in high esteem, since it is explicitly worded in Article 12.3.j of the 2004/28/EC Directive and the recital. This option sets requirements towards the environmental risk assessment methodology, by which the effect of the precaution is to be demonstrated, and to the user of the product. One way or the other, the risk assessment methodology plays a crucial role both in the protection of the environment and in the sustainability of agricultural practice.

The focus in this thesis will be on the validation of the environmental risk assessment methodology⁴ for the marketing authorisation of veterinary medicines in the European Union. Validation is a process of formulating and substantiating explicit claims about the applicability and accuracy of predictions, with reference to the intended purpose as well as the natural system that is represented (Dee, 1995). With respect to the regulatory objectives of the environmental risk assessment, validation contributes to a better understanding of the information generated in the risk assessment.

1.2. A definition of veterinary medicines

Before we begin an in depth look at the environmental risk assessment for veterinary medicines, we must define which compounds are considered veterinary medicines. Any substance or combination of substances presented for treating or preventing disease in

⁴ This research is restricted to the methodology developed and implemented between 1994 and 2001.

animals is a veterinary medicine. Any substance or combination of substances, which may be administered to animals with a view to making a medical diagnosis or to restoring, correcting or modifying physiological functions in animals is likewise considered a veterinary medicinal product. These are the definitions given in the EU Directive 2001/82/EC on the marketing authorisation for veterinary medicines⁵. Substances are defined as any matter irrespective of the origin, which may be: e.g. blood and blood products, micro-organisms, parts of organs, whole animals, toxins, plants, extracts of plants, or chemicals, elements, naturally occurring chemicals or synthetic chemicals.

In short, veterinary medicines are substances for specific purposes, and are regulated and approved through special Community regulation. In a broader understanding, substances that are no longer authorised, or that are (or have been) used without authorisation on animals, are also named veterinary medicines.

This definition excludes certain substances in their applications, such as substances beneficial to, but not used on, or in, animals. Typical examples are disinfectants for animal housing and products to treat indoor surfaces against fleas or bacteria. The substance phenoxyethanol, when applied as a disinfectant on animals, is labelled as a veterinary medicine, and when applied on surfaces (e.g. floors, walls), it classifies as a biocide.

There are applications that can be considered either medicinal or biocidal. Some Member States register teat dips for dairy cows as biocides, others as medicines, provided a therapeutic claim is made (EC, 2002b; VMRF, 2003). Anti-parasitic substances used on animals appear to be on the borderline between pesticides and veterinary medicines⁶, but in the European Union, the substances in these applications are defined as veterinary medicines.

Substances that are added to animal feed in order to increase animal production without preventing any specific illness are included with feed additives. Substances that are used for treating, diagnosing, or preventing disease, or restoring, correcting or modifying physiological functions, in man, are classified as human medicines. For these two product classes special regulation exists⁷.

Comprehensive classification of veterinary medicines is determined primarily by their mode of action and also by their use category (CVMP, 2000). Factors upon which groups and categories are based include, amongst others:

- Origin: blood products, micro-organisms, chemicals

⁵ The first EU Directive on medicines dates from 1965, and has been amended numerous times. Comprehensive reviews resulted in new Directives on veterinary medicines in 1981 (81/852/EEC), in 2001 (2001/82/EC), and recently in 2004 (2004/28/EC).

⁶ In Australia these products are regulated by a single regulation. In New Zealand the definition used is set for an 'agricultural compound': a generic term for any substance or mixture of substances, or biological compounds, used or intended for use in the direct management of plants or animals or to be applied to the land or water on or in which the plants or animals are managed, for the purposes of managing pests, or plant or animal productivity, or diagnosing or preventing or treating the condition of animals, and includes any pesticide and veterinary medicine. The term pesticide includes fungicides, herbicides, insecticide, and chemicals which may be administered to animals for the control of ectoparasites (Vannoort, 2003).

⁷ I.e. the Directive 2001/79/EC for feed additives and the Directive 2001/83/EC for human medicines. Although many substances (and emission routes) are shared with veterinary medicines, the environmental risks of the use of these products are not considered here.

- Route of application: topical (on the skin), oral, intra-ruminal (placed in the rumen), subcutane, intra-muscular or intra-venal by injection
- Type of treatment: prophylactic, curative, immune-stimulant (vaccine), homeopathic medicine, regular medicine
- Target species classes: mammals, fish, birds
- Target animal categories: companion animals, animals (not) destined for human consumption, major and minor species, major and minor use in major species, aquaculture, stabled animals, grazing animals
- Mode of action, or therapeutic class: antibacterial (antibiotics), antiprotozoal, antimyotic, anthelmintic, antiparasitic, anti-inflammatory, and agents acting on nervous systems, on reproductive systems, on the gastrointestinal system, and on the immune system
- Chemical classes.

The environmental fate and effects of such diverse substances included in the definition of veterinary medicines are, most likely, very different. Considering the difference between microorganisms and chemicals in this context is an illustrative example. Where most chemicals are expected to degrade in the environment, micro-organisms may multiply (EMEA, 1996; Montforts, 2000; Jones et al., 2003). Only chemicals will be considered further in these investigations. When referring to veterinary medicines, terms like pharmaceuticals, drug substances, drugs, and chemicals, compounds, and substances, are used interchangeably.

1.3. The extent of the consumption of veterinary medicines

By expressing the annual consumption of veterinary medicines in monetary value or weight, one gets an idea of the importance of these substances for society and the environment. Let us also consider the scale of animal husbandry operations, the consumption of human medicines, and the consumption of pesticides. The Dutch society of producers and importers of veterinary medicines (FIDIN) estimated the annual turnover reported by their members in 2001 at 165 million Euro, 6% of the European turnover (FIDIN, 2002). Table 1-1 shows the distribution over the therapeutic classes in 2001.

	animal husbandry [%]	companion animals [%]	total consumption [%]
Antibiotic	41	5	30
Vaccine	33	20	29
Other	13	18	17
Antiparasitic	12	31	17
Medicated feed	1	26	7

Table 1-1 Relative consumption of veterinary medicines by animal husbandry and companion animals in2001 (FIDIN, 2002).

Classes of antibiotics	kg (x 1000) in 2002	kg (x 1000) in 1999	kg (x 1000) in 1999	
	veterinary use	veterinary use	human use	
Penicillines/cephalosporines	40	40	25	
Tetracyclines	225	186	4	
Macrolides	20	10	3	
Fluoroquinolones	6	7	5	
Trimethoprim/sulpha's	94	80	2	
Other	21	27	1	
Total	402	350	40	

Table 1-2 Consumption of antibiotics in the Netherlands in 1999 and 2002 (MARAN, 2002).

More specific consumption data on veterinary medicines are only available for antibiotics. Historical surveys have revealed that veterinary antibiotic consumption in the Netherlands has increased from 275 tonnes in 1990 to 402 tonnes in 2002. Only 2 tonnes were used for companion animals. Table 1-2 illustrates the relative importance of substance classes (MARAN, 2002).

In 2002, the animal population distribution in the Netherlands comprised of cattle (3.9 million), pigs (1.7 million), and poultry (101 million)⁸. A rough estimate of the total animal body weight amounts to 3 million tonnes in 2002. The average consumption of antibiotics by animals amounted to 150 mg per kilogram body weight in 2002.

The human consumption of non-immunological medicines is estimated at 400 tonnes in 1999 in the Netherlands (Tolls, 2001). For the antibiotics my estimate is 40 tonnes based on data from the SFK⁹ and from (Janknegt et al., 2000) and (Baart and De Neeling, 2001).

The antibiotic consumption by man amounted to an approximate 50 mg per kilogram body weight per year in 1999. There is also a marked difference in the type of antibiotics used for veterinary and human treatment (Table 1-2).

The ratio between consumption of antibiotics for veterinary and human purposes in the Netherlands in 1999 was 9 : 1. In Denmark, another small country with intensive animal husbandry, the ratio was about 5 : 5, in the European Union the overall ratio is 3 : 7 (Halling-Sørensen et al., 1998; FEDESA, 2001).

In the Netherlands, pesticide consumption amounted to 8000 tonnes in 2002 (RIVM, 2003). Compared to this figure, the consumption of veterinary medicines, represented by the antibiotics, is rather small. Veterinary medicines are used in larger quantities than human medicines, especially the antibiotics. Potential ecological consequences or impacts depend,

⁸ Aquaculture in the Netherlands is a small contributor. The production amounts to about 0.2% of the production of animal husbandry (Kamstra and Van der Heul, 1995; Luiten, 2002).

⁹ Stichting Farmaceutische Kengetallen. Data on hospital use of antibiotics are from 1996; the same ratio between the use inside and outside hospitals was assumed for 1999.

however, on the typical use, the distribution and fate, and the toxicological profile of the substances classified as veterinary medicines.

1.4. Environmental risk assessment and management for veterinary medicines

Since it is impossible to assess the risks of all combinations of substances, uses, and environment, there is a well-established need to model the real world. Two levels of modelling are discerned in this thesis:

- 1. the exposure and effect assessment, and
- 2. the overall process of risk assessment at registration.

The objective of every individual exposure and effect model is to predict accurate exposure or effect concentrations. Exposure models describe transport, partitioning, and degradation processes, and enable us to predict concentrations in soil or water as a result of the use of a veterinary medicine. Effect models elucidate effects in model organisms or systems as a result of exposure to a veterinary medicine. These model results need to be translated to the situation of interest.

The objective of the overall risk model is to provide comprehensive information on all environmental risks related to the use of the veterinary medicines in order to optimise the risk-based decision (Di Fabio, 1994; Cranor, 1997). The level of the overall process includes all activities employed in the risk assessment procedure at registration. The integral collection of protection goals, exposure and effect models, and the conventions to apply the models and to harmonise their results, is by itself a model to assess the risk of the use of veterinary medicines. In Figure 1-1 the overall process of risk assessment is represented by the sublevels hazard identification, exposure and effects assessment and risk characterisation. The rectangular boxes, from risk classification down to monitoring, describe the stages of risk management (Van Leeuwen, 1995).

Hazard identification is the stage at which possible effects (hazards) are characterised. In this stage questions are asked such as: Is the activity of concern (here, the use of veterinary medicines) sufficiently explored using available science?

Exposure assessment begins with the emission of the product from the source to the various compartments in the environment. It addresses all possible exposure and distribution routes, using emission and exposure models, as well as monitoring data. Underestimation of the exposure in a compartment can be avoided by making realistic worst-case assumptions. Research questions relating to exposure assessment focus on modelling approaches of distribution processes, the use of substance properties (sorption, degradation), the handling of variability and uncertainty in environmental parameters, and the definition of reference situations, to which model calculations can be compared (standardised).



Figure 1-1 The basic framework of risk management. Hazard identification, exposure and effects assessment and risk characterisation are components of environmental risk assessment. Risk classification, risk-benefit analysis, risk reduction and monitoring are additional methods aiming at risk management.

Effect assessment or dose-response assessment is the estimation of the relationship between the level of exposure to a substance, and the incidence and severity of an effect. In environmental risk assessment (ERA) millions of species and processes may be exposed to contaminants by a variety of pathways. Effect assessment addresses all hazards identified, using dose-effect models and monitoring data, as well as the integration of the various effect model results, in e.g. predicted no effect concentrations (PNEC) or in probabilities (Posthuma et al., 2002). Research questions relating to effect assessment focus on the use of substance properties, the selection of relevant test species, test data and endpoints, the handling of uncertainty in these data, the justifications of extrapolation methods to unknown species, and harmonisation of endpoints to endpoints in other compartments.

Risk characterisation combines the information gathered, for example in a Risk Characterisation Ratio (RCR) that expresses the ratio of the predicted exposure concentrations (PEC) over predicted no-effect-concentrations (PNEC): PEC/PNEC. The modelling approach in the exposure assessment should relate to the mode of application of the veterinary medicine and should be harmonised with the effect assessment endpoint. Research questions in this stage relate to this harmonisation of data.

Risk classification is based on the total set of RCRs. Criteria that define the groups have to be agreed upon. Research questions relate to the choice of endpoints that are classified (for what compartments and hazards have RCR (not) been derived?) and the way these endpoints, and the criteria they are held against, are weighted and scaled.

Risk-benefit analysis. Decisions regarding classification or individual RCRs rely on regulatory choices that either dictate or exempt further assessment or risk mitigation measures. This choice will depend on uncertainty in the models as well as on the political or economic implications of mitigation measures (risk-benefit analysis) (Di Fabio, 1994). Risk-benefit analysis is not further addressed within the scope of this thesis.

Risk mitigation encompasses all the regulatory actions intended to diminish the environmental impact of the use of veterinary medicines. These measures may be directed to either the competent authorities that are responsible for the quality of soil, surface water, or drinking water, or to the users of the medicinal product. This research investigates which mitigation measures might be included in the methodology for the registration of veterinary medicines, as far as they are substantiated by the risk assessment.

Monitoring. This is the stage in risk management that aims to generate information on the accuracy of the risk assessment, and of the risk mitigation measures. Typically, for the authorisation of veterinary medicines and human medicines, a system of monitoring was created to respond adequately to unexpected effects of the use of medicines. According to Article 73 of Directive 2001/82/EC, member states are required 'to establish a veterinary pharmacovigilance system that takes into account any available information related to investigations on potential environmental problems'. This final stage in risk assessment is not further explored in this thesis.

The administrative process of the registration of medicines is mandated to the European Agency for the Evaluation of Medicinal Products (EMEA)¹⁰. The EMEA consists of a board, formed by two representatives from each member state, two from the European Commission, and two from the European Parliament (EP), and a staff. The EMEA functions among others as the secretariat to the scientific Committee for Veterinary Medicinal Products. The CVMP consists of independent scientists (two from each Member State) and formulates opinions on requests for registration with respect to quality, efficacy and safety (environment included) of the products. CVMP and EMEA also produce guidance documents on risk assessment. The first guidance document was released in 1997 and provided a comprehensive risk assessment methodology. After the release of the EMEA (1997) guidance, an international harmonisation of the guidance between the EU, USA and Japan was initiated by the International Co-operation on Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Registration of Veterinary Medicinal Products (VICH)¹¹ to which both the European Commission and the EMEA are committed (DG Enterprise, 2000). The guidance document on Phase I was implemented by July 1st 2001 in the European Union and United States (VICH, 2000) and replaced the EMEA 1997 guidance on Phase I, the phase predominated by the exposure assessment. Currently (April 2004), the draft VICH guidance on Phase II, the

¹⁰ Commonly referred to as the European Medicines Evaluation Agency. The name is changed by the Regulation (EC) 726/2004 to European Medicines Agency.

¹¹ Commonly referred to as the Veterinary International Conference on Harmonisation.

phase in which the risk assessment is conducted, is still engaged in the consultative process. For this reason this guidance document is not considered here.

In this thesis, the risk assessment methodology used in the registration framework of veterinary medicines is validated against the risk approach presented above. Validation is a word that is frequently misinterpreted. The word suggests a search for truth and through combinations of models it gives the impression of being all about creating the perfect model. Validation is not about creating models. Validation is a process of substantiating explicit claims on the applicability of predictions with reference to the intended purpose of the model. Validation is also concerned with the accuracy of these predictions for the system that is represented (Dee, 1995). All models are, by their nature, incomplete representations of the system they are intended to model, but, in spite of this limitation, models can be useful. Strictly speaking, a model cannot be validated in the sense that the validation proves that the model is true, only whether the model is well founded and applicable (Addiscott, 1998). Some models cannot be validated, but components or modules of the model can be validated on an individual basis. Dee (1995) has identified four major aspects associated with model validation, as follows:

- 1. Conceptual validation
- 2. Validation of algorithms
- 3. Validation of software code
- 4. Empirical validation of the functionality.

Conceptual validation contributes to a better understanding of the information generated in the risk assessment and to the transparency of the decision making process. Conceptual validation concerns the question of whether the model accurately represents the system under study. Was the simplification of the underlying process in model steps realistic; i.e. were the model assumptions credible? Usually, conceptual validation is largely qualitative, although experimental or observational data in support of the principles and assumptions can be integrated. Conceptual validation makes the consequences of the choices on what variables and relationships in the natural system are formalised in the model, explicit.

Algorithm validation concerns the translation of model concepts into mathematical formulae. Software code validation concerns the implementation of mathematical formulae in computer language. These aspects of validation are of marginal concern here.

Most validation studies do not refer to the way a model is assembled, but regard it as a black box: an input-output function, which might represent the system of interest. This approach, where empirical observations are compared to model predictions, is denoted functional or empirical validation.

Typical of risk assessment is utilisation of both scientific data and normative assumptions, and that both scientists and regulators determine the outcome of the risk assessment process. On one hand, regulators must indicate what should be assessed (hazard identification), what levels of protection should be taken as protection goals, and are simultaneously required to make risk-benefit decisions. The scientific expertise that

regulators are supposed to take into account must be objective and of high calibre¹². On the other hand, scientists are required not only to provide information on the relevance of these hazards, but also to assess the fate and effects of the substances in a way that addresses the concerns, the standards, and the uncertainties¹³.

The validation exercise performed here addresses the quality of the (modelling) science applied, including the use of this science in a regulatory context. Two levels of modelling were discerned in this thesis: the level of individual fate and effect models used in exposure and effect assessment, and the integral level of the assessment methodology for the environmental risk arising from the use of veterinary medicines. The validation is predominantly of a conceptual nature, but where possible, empirical validation of individual exposure models is performed. A profound research has recently been performed in a similar way on the uncertainty in environmental quality standards (Ragas, 2000).

A broader view on the strategic arena in which science is applied to develop guidance on environmental risk assessment and to execute assessments is necessary. Concerning the aspect of objectivity of science, there are potential controversies that require a carefully designated playing field, where science can be impartial and authoritative. One is at the demarcation line between science and regulation: who decides what should be investigated or protected? When is this protection goal achieved? The second is the choice of scientific disciplines: what science is allowed, whose scientists are selected? The third is the actual weight science is given in the process of decision making (Cranor, 1997; Joerges et al., 1997; Heyvaert, 1999a; Heyvaert, 1999b; Breyer and Heyvaert, 2000; Halffman, 2003).

The following research topics on model validation and on the interaction between science and regulation are addressed in this thesis.

1. Harmonisation of protection goals and risk assessment methodology

- What relevant environmental protection goals can be considered?
- Does the integral risk model address the protection goals?
- 2. The conceptual and empirical validation of models and precautionary labelling
 - Are screening level exposure models for surface water in aquaculture, for dung excreted by grazing animals, and for soil and water in intensive animal husbandry well founded and applicable?
 - Is the soil trigger value based on effect data functional and validated?
 - Can the efficacy of mitigation measures be demonstrated by the methodology used to predict the risk?

3. The use of science in the registration framework

- Is science applied transparently and impartially in the development of risk assessment methodology and in the decision making for product registration?

¹² Based on the rulings of the European Court of Justice (ECJ) in case C-41/93 PCP [1994] ECR I-1829 (Joerges et al., 1997 p. 319)

¹³ According to the European Court of Justice (case C212-91 Angelopharm): "the Scientific Committee is the only party involved in the policy-making process that is competent to make those scientific and technical assessments on which the legal validity of the measures depends" (Heyvaert, 1999a).

1.5. Readers guide

The following chapters are publications submitted to or published in peer-reviewed journals or books. The publications cover one or more of the stages in the risk assessment process, and address one or more of the research questions outlined above. The relation between the contents of the chapter, the research questions and the other publications, is described in the short introductions below.

Methodological aspects concerning the environmental risk assessment for medicinal products: research challenges

This chapter takes the European legislation and guidance documents for the risk assessment, as a starting point in a conceptual validation exercise on the relation between protection goals, risk models and methodology. It provides a basis for this exercise, that will be continued, studied in depth, and repeated in the following chapters, by highlighting possible hazards and regulatory protection goals, and introducing concepts on risk assessment and harmonisation of models and effect endpoints.

The particular case of the human medicines is outside the scope of this thesis. However, the observations made are suitable as case studies for veterinary medicines as well.

The chapter focuses on remaining research needs for the environmental risk model of human and veterinary pharmaceuticals; in other words, on those items that may be considered to invalidate the risk model in the relation between protection goals, methodology and risk mitigation.

The exposure assessment of veterinary medicinal products

This chapter highlights a selection of exposure models for considering effects of veterinary medicines related to the following animal sources and receiving compartments: aquaculture and surface water and soil, grazing animals and dung, and stabled animals and slurry and soil. It investigates the selection of parameter values, such as number of applications, storage time and degradation rate. The implications of these findings are discussed in the light of the risk model set by the European Guidance document in 1997. Some other features in this risk model are discussed and considered for further research. It is a first step in the conceptual validation of the exposure assessment methodology that questions the high calibre of the science applied and the implications of choices made.

Validation of the exposure assessment of veterinary medicinal products

This chapter investigates the validity of exposure and distribution models for soil, groundwater and surface water, applied for veterinary medicines that reach the soil by contaminated slurry. The removal efficiency of substances in settling tanks, used in the previous paper, was verified with data from mushroom and flower bulb industries. Transport (mass transfer), concentration and impact of substances are influenced both by the environment and the substance. Environmental factors such as soil and climate are subject to a considerable spatial and temporal variation. Field measurements were used to functionally

validate the models: Do the models predict the field results? This represents a second step in the conceptual validation of the methodology: Is the methodology well founded, and what are the implications of choices made? The second objective of this chapter was to develop scenarios for the exposure assessment under different European conditions, incorporating information on agricultural and veterinary practice, land use, geomorphology and climate. Using the scenarios it will be possible to facilitate national, mutual, and central registration procedures, and European harmonisation of risk assessment methodology for chemicals.

Effect assessment at the base of an exposure trigger in soil – a critical appraisal

In the EU guidance documents a limited environmental risk assessment is foreseen for veterinary medicines with a presumed negligible exposure level in the soil compartment. The regulatory trigger value has been substantiated with a scientific assessment of ecotoxicological data. The science of ecotoxicology offers various tools to assess the presented data. This article focuses on the selection of tools and the scientific argumentation used, and will demonstrate that with the same information and tools, trigger values in a range of up to three orders of magnitude are justifiable.

European medicines and feed additives regulation are not in compliance with environmental legislation and policy

This chapter investigates transparent application of science in the drafting of environmental risk assessment methodology for veterinary products, and how science is used in the decision-making. The interactions between science and regulation in the drafting of the guidance document for the Phase I assessment are explored.

Legal constraints on special precautions in product labelling to mitigate the environmental risk of the use of veterinary medicines in the EU

This chapter concludes the validation of exposure models, of the use of science, and of the relation between science and regulation. It investigates what possibilities and obligations are created within the registration framework to bind authorities, applicants, and users to instructions and prohibitions. Effective risk mitigation measures could remove the need for refusal of product authorisation, or of risk-benefit analyses. This chapter analyses the contributing factors to effectiveness of mitigation measures. Risk mitigation is part of the risk management process, but as far as mitigation measures are (suggested to be) based on exposure or effect assessments, there is a direct relevance for the risk model.

Discussion

The findings from the presented research are summarised and discussed in coherence. First, the degree of harmonisation of protection goals and risk assessment methodology is discussed. Next, the implications of the conceptual and empirical validation of models and precautionary labelling are considered. Finally I present considerations on the use of science in this registration framework. In the light of recent developments in the risk assessment strategy in the registration framework, some suggestions on the way forward are given.

2. Methodological aspects concerning the environmental risk assessment for medicinal products; research challenges

Published as chapter 32 in: K. Kümmerer (Editor) Pharmaceuticals in the environment. Second enlarged edition, Springer Verlag, 2004.

2.1. Introduction

The fate and behaviour of pharmaceuticals in the environment have been studied since several decades (Zondek and Sulman, 1943; Soulides et al., 1962; Tabak and Bunch, 1970), and the presence and effects of residues in the environment is a concern that has been identified not long after that (Berland and Maestrini, 1969; Manten, 1971; Blume et al., 1976; Rurainski et al., 1977; Patten et al., 1980). More recently several reviews on use, emission, fate, occurrences and effects of pharmaceuticals have been published and at national and supra-national regulatory levels the environmental risks of pharmaceuticals are on the agenda (Roij and De Vries, 1980; Römbke et al., 1996; Ternes, 1999; Jorgensen and Halling-Sørensen, 2000; Daughton and Jones-Lepp, 2001; Kümmerer, 2001; Halling-Sørensen et al., 2002; Dietrich, 2002; Boxall et al., 2004).

The environmental risk of the use of medicinal products is currently assessed at registration. The methodology has not been finalised yet (EMEA, 1997; EMEA, 2000; VICH, 2000) and suggestions for risk assessment methodology are given by several authors (Spaepen et al., 1997; Daughton and Jones-Lepp, 2001; Römbke et al., 2001a; Römbke et al., 2001b; Länge and Dietrich, 2002; Koschorreck et al., 2002; Schowanek and Webb, 2002). The proposed risk assessment procedure at registration of human medicines and veterinary medicines is discussed by several authors (Gärtner, 1998; De Knecht and Montforts, 2001; Montforts and De Knecht, 2002; Koschorreck et al., 2002; Long and Crane, 2003). Considerations on the assessment of pharmaceutical feed additives are given by Jorgensen et al. (1998).

This chapter focuses on research needs for the environmental risks of human and veterinary pharmaceuticals. National and European regulators are involved in managing environmental risks of pharmaceuticals from two perspectives. One is the regulation of pharmaceutical products, and the other is the management of a good environmental quality (Montforts and De Knecht, 2002). The chapter takes the registration assessment of medicinal products as a starting point in a validation exercise on the relation between protection goals, risk models and methodology, and will highlight research challenges.

The terms medicine, pharmaceutical, and drug will be used interchangeably here, but please note that registration has concerns for a product: a veterinary or human pharmaceutical, containing active ingredients (substances) and excipients, and that environmental quality policy deals with substances in compartments, and activities of legal persons concerning the emission of substances. A drug at registration is a product with a certain intended use, whereas a drug in the environmental quality policy is a substance (be it a parent compound, pro-drug, or metabolite) emitted to, or present in, an environmental compartment.

2.2. Protection goals

Medicines are regulated in order to protect animal health, consumers, professional users, the environment as well as the internal market. The framework of the registration procedure and assessments for both the applicant and regulator consists of a European Commission and Council directive, European policy, and case law, as well as global (trade) agreements. As a general observation it is stated here that the primary goal of any environmental assessment should be risk mitigation and risk management. In order to mitigate or accept risks, a risk assessment has to be performed, both for products (e.g. drugs) and for activities (e.g. emission of drug residues). At registration it is possible to lay the burden of proof on the applicant (the principle that the polluter pays). The decision-making process and the risk models used should optimise (reduce) the costs to society in terms of environmental damage (due to false negatives implying registration of harmful products) and economic damage (due to false positives implying refusal of harmless products). Also the assessment process itself should neither hamper product development nor timely action (Cranor, 1997). Should the assessment remain inconclusive on the acceptability of the risk, further action depends on the cost-benefit analysis. Risk assessment is a key process in which both regulators and scientist determine the outcome (Joerges et al., 1997). On one hand, regulators have to indicate what should be assessed (hazard identification) and what level of protection should be taken as protection goals, and have to make risk-benefit decisions. On the other hand, scientists are required not only to provide information on the relevance of these hazards, but also to assess the fate and effects of the substances in a way that addresses the concerns, the standards, and provides suitable information for the risk-benefit analysis.

A risk assessment can only be performed, once the protection goals and the assessment methodology have been developed. The Directives 2001/82/EC and 2001/83/EC on the registration of pharmaceuticals do not contain explicit environmental protection goals, only procedural directions. Only the EU Directive 2001/82/EC on veterinary medicinal products contains some directions on the risk assessment model and decision making approach. It is stated that the assessment shall normally be conducted in two phases. In phase I, the investigator shall assess the potential extent of exposure to the environment of the product, its active substances or relevant metabolites, taking into account:

- the target species, and the proposed pattern of use (for example, mass-medication or individual animal medication),
- the method of administration, in particular the likely extent to which the product will enter directly into environmental systems,

- the possible excretion of the product, its active substances or relevant metabolites into the environment by treated animals; persistence in such excreta,
- the disposal of unused or waste product.

In phase II, having regard to the extent of exposure of the product to the environment, and the available information about the physical/chemical, pharmacological and/or toxicological properties of the compound which has been obtained during the conduct of the other tests and trials required by this Directive, the investigator shall then consider whether further specific investigation of the effects of the product on particular eco-systems is necessary. As appropriate, further investigation may be required of:

- fate and behaviour in soil,
- fate and behaviour in water and air,
- effects on aquatic organisms,
- effects on other non-target organisms.

These further investigations shall be carried out in accordance with the test protocols laid down in Annex V of Council Directive 67/548/EEC of 27 June 1967 on the approximation of laws, regulations and administrative provisions relating to the classification, packaging and labelling of dangerous substances, or where an end point is not adequately covered by these protocols, in accordance with other internationally recognised protocols on the veterinary medicinal product and/or the active substance(s) and/or the excreted metabolites as appropriate. The number and types of tests and the criteria for their evaluation shall depend upon the state of scientific knowledge at the time the application is submitted. Commission Directive 93/67/EEC elaborates further on these protocols.

The decision making scheme (decision tree) has been fixed on a general level, and it is indicated that both fate and effects of drugs should be assessed. It is left to the scientific community to decide what information is to be generated and when the assessment is ended¹⁴.

Important sources of information on protection goals are the legislation and policy documents concerning environmental quality (Heyvaert, 1999b). Focusing on the legislation for environmental quality, following the precautionary principle laid down in the Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC), surface water and groundwater must be regarded as natural resources, which should be protected in their own rights. The EU included in the 6th Environmental Action Programme an outline for a future "thematic strategy on soil protection", which should lead to a European soil protection policy with adequate legislation in place. Most member states (if not all) have national legislation on soil quality. All this legislation operates from the starting point that all actions that may lead to pollution are forbidden unless a permit is granted by the competent authority. Thus, to emit or spread residues of medicines one needs a permit. The permit ought to regulate emission (e.g.

¹⁴ On the European level this scientific community (CPMP and CVMP) consists of independent scientists appointed by the national authorities for registrations (Blasius and Cranz, 1998).

prescribing application techniques) as well as the maximum permissible concentration of the substance in the environment. The competent authorities should thus derive these quality standards for every substance of interest. Also, they have to develop action plans for the local resource management¹⁵ (Van Rijswick, 2001).

It is very well possible that existing European directives on the environmental quality of water already contain standards for medicines, even though the product group 'medicines' is not named in the environmental directives 76/464/EC and 80/68/EC. The use of the terms 'pesticide' and 'biocide' in these directives do not refer to the product categories, but to the nature of the substances reaching environmental compartments after production, use or disposal of products (Montforts and De Knecht, 2002). Once in the environment, the competent authority is not concerned with the intended use of the compound, but with the compound itself. Medicines could be qualified as 'biocidal', because they are biologically active. Several compounds are actually registered as pesticide and as medicine, for example streptomycin, oxytetracyclin, 4-aminopyridine, paracetamol, warfarin, and cypermethrin.

The quality of drinking water is protected under the Directive 98/83/EC. This directive aims at protecting public health by setting quality criteria to drinking water. Within the Netherlands it has been environmental policy since 1989 that with respect to xenobiotics also groundwater should comply with the standards for drinking water, as it often concerns soluble compounds that cannot, or insufficiently, be removed using common purification techniques (TK, 1989). To all substances that qualify as such, a numeric standard is already available for drinking water (for 'pesticides' $0.1 \mu g/L$), and at least in the Netherlands, also for groundwater.

The registration process of products should thus primarily be concerned with the level of no effect (maximum permissible concentration) and the risk that this level will be exceeded. It applies to water (surface water and sediment, groundwater, drinking water) based on European legislation, and to soil based on national legislation. When a level of no effect (predicted no effect concentration PNEC), or an acceptable effect concentration, is reached is open for scientific and political debate. For example in the Netherlands, the level of no effect is considered to be eminent at the ecosystem level, and is defined at a level at which 95% of the species are protected at the no-observed effect concentration (NOEC). This analysis assumes a certain distribution of toxicity data representing the ecosystem sensitivity to the given substance (ECB, 1996; Crommentuijn et al., 2000; Forbes and Calow, 2002c). Ecosystem functionality and structure are thus protected when critical *concentrations* affecting population dynamics (growth, reproduction, and mortality) are not surpassed. Process parameters at population level such as C- or N-cycling, or resistance development, can be incorporated in deriving the critical concentration (Traas, 2001; Wösten et al., 2001).

¹⁵ Medicines are acknowledged as a specific group of substances in the Netherlands' 4th Water Action Program (NW4, 1998).

2.3. Research challenges

As stated above, the risk assessment targets a desired level of quality. The assessment methodologies translate the protection goals in quantities: for example probabilities, concentrations, dosages, and risks. The protection goal (no effect) is generally pursued by assessing a reasonable worst case situation, thus assuming that either the chance on a negative impact is reasonably small and/or that the affected fraction of the area (e.g. nation, water catchment) and the impact itself are acceptably small. When this reasonable worst case exposure leads to concentrations below the maximum permissible concentrations, the risk that the level of no effect will be exceeded is considered acceptable.

Methodology, protection goals and decision making are strongly interconnected. The environment is at risk when a product reaches the environment. Transport (mass transfer), transformation, concentration, and impact of substances are influenced both by the environment, the substance, and the receptor (e.g. the species or populations). Environmental variables such as soil, climate, and receptors are subject to a considerable spatial and temporal variation. Because it is impossible to assess the risks of all combinations of substances and environment, there is a well-established need to predict fate and exposure concentrations and risks. In order to do so, generic models of the environment and values for the quantities (parameters) described by the models are needed by regulators.



Figure 2-1 The basic framework of risk management. Hazard identification, exposure and effects assessment and risk characterisation are components of environmental risk assessment. Risk classification, risk-benefit analysis, risk reduction and monitoring are additional methods aiming at risk management. Two levels of modelling are discerned: the level of the complete risk model covering the environmental risk assessment process, and the sub-level of the fate and effect models. The risk model includes all activities employed in the risk assessment process, including their harmonisation. It addresses the overall protection level: no effect. In Figure 2.1 the risk model is represented by the ovals containing hazard identification, exposure and effects assessment and risk characterisation.

Hazard identification is the stage at which possible effects (hazards) are characterised. Exposure assessment starts from the emission of the product to the different compartment and addresses all exposure routes, using emission and exposure models, and monitoring data. Effect assessment addresses all hazards identified, using dose-effect models and monitoring data, as well as the integration of the effect model results. Risk characterisation combines the information gathered. The risk model is as good as the weakest link in the model, be it an exposure model, an effect model, unidentified exposures or effect, the interpretation of effect data or the integration of exposure and effect. The rectangular boxes, from risk classification down to monitoring, belong the stage of risk management.

Ultimately, the quality of the assessment that can be achieved will depend upon the adequacy of available data as well as a suitable choice of model and modelling parameters (Dee, 1994; WRc-NSF, 2001). It is important to note that the model capabilities should have been reflected in the decision making process, e.g. in applying a worst-case scenario or in the use of safety factors (Brouwer et al., 1994; Resseler et al., 1997; Uffink and Van der Linden, 1998; Van der Linden and Van Beek, 1999). Modelling at levels of no concern requires a rigorous understanding of all relevant transport, fate and effect processes, or requires sufficient safety factors. Evidently, there should be good agreement between the protection goal and the methodology used to assess the impact, in the sense that it should be clear what situations the methodology represents, and what level of certainty the predictions have (cf. Forbes and Calow (2002a) and Tarazona et al. (2002)). In an ideal situation, the assessment at registration functions as a tool in maintaining a good environmental quality.

Below the risk models for veterinary and human medicines are presented and regulatory needs and research challenges are indicated.

Veterinary medicines: protection goals and risk models

The European Agency for the Evaluation of Medicinal Products (EMEA)¹⁶ has published guidance on the environmental risk assessment (ERA) of veterinary medicinal products (VMPs), and this assessment was implemented in 1997 (EMEA, 1997). The assessment scheme takes the use of the product and the properties of the products into account in the assessment (phase I or II), the emission routes (slurry-soil, water, and pasture) and the data requirements. After the final draft of the EMEA (1997) guidance, an international harmonisation between the EU, USA and Japan was started by the International Co-operation on Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Registration of Veterinary

¹⁶ Commonly referred to as the European Medicines Evaluation Agency.

Medicinal Products (VICH)¹⁷ to which both the European Commission and the EMEA are committed (DG Enterprise, 2000). The guidance document on Phase I was implemented by July 1st 2001 in the European Union and United States (VICH, 2000) and replaced the EMEA 1997 guidance on Phase I. This guidance document is at this moment leading for the registration procedure.

Within the VICH guidance document a limited assessment is foreseen for substances with a generally accepted low hazard (e.g. vitamins, electrolytes), and with a presumed negligible emission and exposure level. The exposure level that is considered negligible for the total environment is quantified both for effluent and soil for some groups of compounds and several routes of emission: $1 \mu g/L$ and $100 \mu g/kg$, respectively (Phase I), for residues reaching waste water through confined fish rearing facilities or reaching soil via manure application. These triggers are substantiated with an assessment of a dataset of toxicity values of several antibiotics, although the assessment to determine the value of the trigger is criticised from an ecotoxicological point of view (De Knecht and Montforts, 2001). It is crucial to note that the soil trigger is based on soil toxicity data, but also determines the eventual assessment of groundwater and surface water exposed through soil.

The triggers apply to a total residue, regardless of the actual substances in the residue (mixture of metabolites and active ingredients). Using this concept, the Phase I assessment addresses the entire product. However, a further use of substance related fate and effect data in exposure or effect assessment is questionable, because it is not defined what compound should be modelled.

Not just these exposure trigger values define the desired level of quality for soil and effluent. Should the Phase I triggers be breached, or should the product be applied to grazing animals or open water facilities, a further assessment in Phase II, as published by (EMEA, 1997), is risk based, and both exposure and effect are assessed. The VICH Phase I assessment does not seamlessly connect to the EMEA Phase II assessment. Phase II defines the substances and the environmental criteria that need to be assessed: substance persistency and bioaccumulation, and risks to soil, groundwater and surface water. Both intrinsic substance properties (insecticidal activity) and a risk quotient for earthworms define the extent of data requirements for grazing animals. Toxicity to grassland invertebrates and predators is also to be assessed. Whenever the soil is reached, persistency and sorption may trigger further standards and data requirements. Phase II makes use of several acceptability triggers:

- Specific risk ratios for taxonomic groups (plants, earthworms, micro-organisms)
- effect levels for single dose tests (arthropods and dung fauna)
- persistency levels for soil
- PEC/PNEC risk ratio for aquatic systems
- Expert judgement for bioaccumulation.

Breaching these acceptability triggers leads to a further refinement of the risk assessment on the trigger of concern.

¹⁷ Commonly referred to as the Veterinary International Conference on Harmonisation.

The risk model challenges research on different aspects of the model. Some of these are addressed below. The risk model employed does not systematically address all environmental concerns identified above (i.e. groundwater), but leaves ample room for scientific input and assessment of e.g. persistency and bioaccumulation properties. The protection goal is addressed in several risk and hazard based endpoints, both for the terrestrial and aquatic compartment. The protection goals have not been characterised to an extent that boundary agreements for exposure and effect models have been set (e.g. time frame).

If the assessment aims to establish conditions under which an acceptable risk is present, model and data requirements may differ from those in a risk model that identifies the worst case. For example, the load of a residue in manure or slurry to soil is driven by the amount of manure applied. Under the Nitrate directive 91/676/EC vulnerable areas in river catchments are assigned, and in those areas immission standards for the nitrate in the slurry apply. A risk assessment for these areas establishes acceptable risks, but not worst case risks.

Degradation of the veterinary drug in the target animal and/or during storage of manure, and/or in soil are aspects of the environmental risk assessment that were mentioned in the Phase II guidance as information that may be considered in refining the PEC. The guidance does not provide the details on for example, standardisation of laboratory test results, repetitions in exposure, and time intervals, thus leaving these refinements to expert judgement. In Phase II all active ingredients and all metabolites formed >20% at metabolism or in environmental compartments are to be assessed. The guidance is unclear whether information on transformation (animal-slurry-soil-water) is compulsory or not after phase I.

Following a total residue approach a challenge lies in the assessment of the fate and effects of the residues through manure and soil. The total residue has no intrinsic properties (e.g. sorption, degradation) that can be determined and plugged into models that require this information. The different compounds in the residue probably cover a large range of properties: persistent to readily degradable, strongly adsorbing to weakly adsorbing, high impact to no effect. There are no directions how to determine the properties, or model compounds, that should be used to refine or advance the assessment of the total residue.

The impact on nitrification processes in soil is assessed at registration, but effects of some antibiotics on nitrification and decomposition in soil have been reviewed and the few studies available indicate effects at rather high concentrations only (Jensen, 2001; Thiele-Bruhn, 2003). Test duration and test type may play an important role however (Backhaus et al., 1997; Halling-Sørensen, 2001). The effects of antibiotics on the microbial community can range from simple parameters like a decrease in biomass, respiration rate or denitrification rate, to more complex parameters like the survival of genetically engineered micro-organisms (Landi et al., 1993; Badalucco et al., 1994; Da Gloria Britto De Oliveira et al., 1995). Therapeutic doses of chlortetracycline in cattle have been found to alter the rumen microflora, hence the possibility exist that it alters the nature and activities of the microflora participating in the decomposition process both in dung and in slurry (Elmund et al., 1971; Patten et al., 1980; Poels et al., 1984; Sommer and Bibby, 2002). Could other effect models and effect assessment approaches provide more relevant information (Van Beelen and Doelman, 1997; Salminen et al., 2001; Schmitt et al., 2004)?

The survival of adapted bacteria in absence of the compound that the bacteria have adapted to, is usually said to be limited, but the acquired functionality (e.g. resistance genes) remains present at low levels (Cooke, 1983; Stappen et al., 1989; Zuidema and Klein, 1993; Séveno et al., 2002; Park et al., 2003). The costs for resistance can however be compensated for (Björkman et al., 2000). An additional concern is hence found from the perspective of resistance development and transfer. This process is triggered at the Minimum Effect Concentration (MEC) at which growth is reduced (O'Reilly and Smith, 1999), which is tenfold below the Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC), the endpoint used by EMEA to derive a safe exposure level in soil for antibiotics at phase I (AHI, 1997). This indicates that at and below the MIC level a selection pressure for resistance is present. Thus, even at concentrations below the Phase I trigger, resistance genes may be favoured, which can be transferred from manure to soil and groundwater (Chee-Sanford et al., 2001; Halling-Sørensen et al., 2002; Sengeløv et al., 2003). The management of resistance development in water and sediment face comparable challenges (Grabow et al., 1976; Cooke, 1983; Linton et al., 1988; Rodgers, 2001; O'Reilly and Smith, 2001). Should resistance development be identified as a hazard? And if so, how can it be used in decision making, knowing that it also applies to antimicrobial products used as pesticide and biocide (Séveno et al., 2002; Mcbain et al., 2002; Russel, 2002)?

Human medicines: protection goals and risk models

The EMEA has published a draft guidance on the environmental risk assessment of human medicines, but this guidance was not yet implemented in 2003 (EMEA, 2000). Emission to the environment is primarily foreseen through wastewater. In phase I a trigger of 10 ng/L in surface water was proposed to proceed to risk based assessment providing for a PEC/PNEC risk ratio for aquatic systems. Breaching this acceptability trigger leads to a further refinement of the risk assessment.

The predicted exposure concentration (PEC) is based on a simple dilution model, in which the total annual consumption is diluted over the total amount of wastewater produced. The concentration in wastewater is further diluted to surface water using a default dilution factor of 10. Retention in wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) can be accounted for. The predicted no effect concentration is derived from a base set of aquatic toxicity data in accordance with Directive 67/548/EEC, and assessment factors according to the Technical Guidance Document for New and Existing Substances (TGD) (ECB, 1996).

The protection goal is narrowed down to, or represented by, the aquatic environment, which is exposed through wastewater. Before a risk assessment is performed, an exposure level has to surpass an action limit. The calculation of the exposure level is guided, not prescribed. It depends on the interpretation of the input data what outcome is generated, as indicated below:

• annual consumption: should seasonal and regional differences be taken into account (Abbas and Kratz, 2000; Cars et al., 2000; Baart and De Neeling, 2001)?

- how is a removal percentage in WWTPs determined: how can one translate the result of fate models (laboratory of field scale) to the representative exposure model (Tabak et al., 1981; Kümmerer et al., 2000; Balcioglu and Ötker, 2003).
- are WWTPs expected to be present in all urbanised areas (EC, 2001d)?;
- what is an appropriate dilution factor for effluent to surface water? In the Netherlands, 40% of all WWTPs (n=466) have a dilution factor of 1-10 within 100 metres. In the Netherlands, 40 out of 83 of the domestic WWTPs at tributaries (48%) and 48 out of 126 of the domestic WWTPs at polders (38%) have a dilution factor of 1-5 within 100 metres. About 60 of these domestic WWTPs (c. 20%) have a dilution factor of 2 within 100 metres; an extrapolated number of 15 (c. 5%) is expected to have a dilution factor of 1. In trench-like waters, owing to the low flow, only poorly developed turbulence is likely to occur from time to time. Hence, in polder waters and the like, it is to be expected that noticeable lengths of these channels be gradually filled with poorly diluted effluent. In these situations, at least about 20% of all domestic WWTPs in the Netherlands, a dilution factor of 1 is very well be applicable (De Greef and De Nijs, 1990).

If a risk assessment is performed, are the actual hazards investigated in an adequate way?

- are acute base set studies on algae, daphnids, and fish representative for continuous exposure (Berard and Benninghoff, 2001; Daughton and Jones-Lepp, 2001; Huggett et al., 2002; Ferrari et al., 2003)?
- are the common lethality, growth and reproduction endpoints representative (Hartmann et al., 1998; Chee-Sanford et al., 2001; Forbes and Calow, 2002b)?
- Are the effect models (model species and test designs) vulnerable to medicines (Fong, 1998; Thorpe et al., 2001; Länge and Dietrich, 2002; Brooks et al., 2003; Pro et al., 2003; Cleuvers, 2003)?

Is the risk model actually covering the environment?

- Given the hazard of groundwater and drinking water contamination, how should the risk be assessed? Are exposure triggers desirable, and how should exposure and effect be assessed (Webb, 2001a)?
- The human pharmaceuticals guidance focuses on surface water through waste water discharge, which in turn can connect to groundwater (Tröger, 1997; Heberer et al., 1998; Seiler et al., 1999; Kuch and Ballschmiter, 2001). Protection of surface water protects groundwater in this way, but are the quality standards the same (Notenboom, 2001)?
- The possibility of transfer of drug residues via sludge from sewage treatment plants to soil has been included in updates of the guidance in accordance with the TGD (ECB, 1996). In view of the total residue approach: are model calculations performed using the most relevant data?
- Literature indicates that transport out of the site to surface water, groundwater or drinking water wells may occur (Holm et al., 1995; Ahel and Jeličič, 2001), and that this general process can be modelled and assessed (Mills et al., 1999). Should the fate of drug residues in landfills be addressed?

2.4. Pharmaceuticals in drinking water: a comparison of human and environmental risk assessment

Groundwater, and as a derivative, drinking water pollution, are two hazards that are addressed both from a public health and an environmental point of view. The available public literature on pharmaceuticals in the environment was reviewed in 1996 by the German Ministry of Environment and in 2001 by the Dutch Institute for Inland Water Management and Waste Water Treatment (RIZA) (Römbke et al., 1996; Derksen et al., 2001; Jongbloed et al., 2001). The measured concentrations that were reported are summarised below (MC values in Table 2-1). In this section no attempt is made to be complete on all monitoring data in drinking water (Heberer, 2002; Sacher et al., 2003). Mostly maximum values are reported when ranges were available. It should be noted that information on negative samples, sampling strategy, and other compounds, is not used.

Based on the results obtained for the analysis of surface and groundwater in other European countries (Germany, Switzerland, Denmark, and United Kingdom) and the consumption of drugs, 13 pharmaceuticals were selected for drinking water analyses in the Netherlands by RIVM. Most of the 13 pharmaceuticals are medium polar and polar substances; therefore, liquid chromatography was the separation method of choice. As regards detection, the use of MS/MS will allow us to combine screening and confirmation in one procedure. Details of the analytical method are described in Stolker et al. (2004). The set of compounds included sulphamethoxazol, paracetamol, metoprolol, carbamazepine, diclofenac, bezafibrate, erythromycin, fenofibrate, acetylsalicylic acid, clofibric acid, ibuprofen, bisoprolol and chloramphenicol. With the described method, all compounds could be determined in surface water, ground- and drinking water with limits of detection ranging from 1-10 ng/l. The repeatability standard deviation ranged from 2-12% at the concentration of 100 ng/l (n=5). The within laboratory reproducibility (%RSD) at the same concentration level of 100 ng/l ranged from 4-29% (n=10). These results are very satisfactory for this type of analysis.

The identities of the compounds detected in real-life water samples were confirmed by using the EU draft guidelines for the identification of micro-contaminants, EU commission decision 2002/657/EC (EC, 2002a). Conform to these criteria all positive (screening) samples were re-injected and for the confirmation of the identity of the pharmaceutical compound two MS/MS ions were monitored and the ion ratios were checked against the reference ratio of standards or fortified samples.

The LC-MS/MS procedure has been used for the monitoring of surface, drinking- and groundwater within the Netherlands. In the spring of 2002 samples were collected at different spots all over the Netherlands. Finally the total amount of 15 groundwater, 29 surface water and 22 drinking water samples were screened for the pharmaceuticals. Table 2-1. shows the overview of number of samples found positive for the specific pharmaceutical compounds.

In all samples of water (acetyl)salicylic acid was detected. With the described method it was not possible to distinguish between salicylic acid and acetylsalicylic acid. Due to the fact that salicylic acid was detected in the real 'blank' samples of pure demi-water to a maximum of 50 ng/l, only those water samples containing concentrations of salicylic acid exceeding 50 ng/l were counted as real positive samples. In none of the samples fenofibrate, chloramphenicol, ibuprofen or paracetamol were detected.

From the results presented in Table 2-1. it can be concluded that for only a few samples of drinking water positive results were obtained. One sample of drinking water was positive for sulfamethoxazole and one sample was found positive for diclofenac, two samples were positive for (acetyl)salicylic acid and two for clofibric acid. A second conclusion is that all samples of groundwater contained one, two or three pharmaceutical compounds. Most frequently (acetyl)salicylic acid, carbamazepine and clofibric acid were detected. A third conclusion is that all surface water samples (not shown in Table 2-1) contained 2 to 8 different pharmaceutical compounds per sample (cf. Kolpin et al. (2002)). Two samples contained carbamazepine at the level of > 100 ng/l. Most frequently (acetyl)salicylic acid, carbamazepine, sulfamethoxazole and diclofenac were detected.

Toxicological limits of the 13 medicines plus ethinylestradiol in drinking water were determined. The limits are based on 10% of the ADI (acceptable daily intake) or the MRL (maximum residue limit) for milk determined for veterinary medicines, an average consumer bodyweight of 60 kg and a drinking water intake of 2 litres a day. If the medicine is not used as a veterinary medicine, the public databases are used to determine whether an ADI is determined for other purposes. If no ADI or MRL are available, a provisional ADI is determined from the lowest pharmacological effective dose and a safety factor of 100.

	MC	drinking water (n=22)		groundwater (n=15)			
			ng/L			ng/L	
		<25	25-100	>100	<25	25-100	>100
(Acetyl) salicylic acid*	290	-	2	-	-	11	-
Bezafibrate	27	-	-	-	-	-	-
Bisoprolol		-	-	-	-	-	-
Carbamazepine		1	-	-	8	2	-
Chloroamphenicol		-	-	-	-	-	-
Clofibric acid	270	-	2	-	2	3	-
Dehydroerythromycine		-	-	-	1	-	-
Diclofenac	6	-	-	-	4	-	-
Fenofibrate	210	-	-	-	-	-	-
Ibuprofen	3	-	-	-	-	-	-
Metoprolol		-	-	-	-	-	-
Paracetamol		-	-	-	-	-	-
Sulphamethoxazole		2	-	-	3	-	-

 Table 2-1. Number of positive water samples in the Netherlands (2002) with LC-MS/MS analyses (Stolker et al., 2004), and measured concentrations (MC) in drinking water in Europe (Jongbloed et al., 2001).

*only qualitative analysis; concentrations >50 ng/l were counted as positive samples

From this provisional ADI, a provisional drinking water limit is derived. Although it is known thatsome medicines interact at pharmacological effective doses, no information is available on the interaction at the level of the proposed drinking water limits. Therefore, no attempt was made to determine drinking water limits for combinations of medicines.

Based on ecotoxicological data, predicted no-effect concentrations are derived by, or included as proposed in Webb (2001a) and Schowanek and Webb (2002).

Paracetamol (CAS No: 103-90-2). Use: antipyretic, analgesic and anti-inflammatory. Human oral dose minimum 5 mg/kg bw in children up to 4 times a day (=1.2 g per day). Paracetamol is included in Annex II of Council Regulation No 2377/90. An Acceptable Daily Intake (ADI) of 3 mg/person was determined based on a pharmacological Lowest Observed Effect Level (LOEL) of 5 mg/kg bw/day for an antipyretic effect in human infants and a safety factor of 100 (EMEA/MRL/551/99). Calculation: 3 mg/person * 10% / 2 L/person. Drinking-water limit: 150 μ g/L. The proposed environmental PNEC is 9.2 μ g/L (Schowanek and Webb, 2002).

Sulfamethoxazole (CAS No: 723-46-6) Use: antibiotic. Human oral dose minimum 2 gram per day. Sulfamethoxazole is also used as a veterinary medicine. Sulfamethoxazole is included in Annex I of Council Regulation No 2377/90 as part of the inclusion of the sulphonamides. No ADI was determined but a Maximal Residue Limit (MRL) of 100 μ g parent drug/kg milk was proposed (EMEA/MRL/026/95). This MRL in milk is based on a consumption of 1.5 L per day. Calculation: 100 μ g/kg milk * 1.5 kg milk/person / 2 L water/person. Drinking-water limit: 75 μ g/L. For pathogenic bacteria the MIC₅₀ was reported to be 0.002 - >256 mg/L. *Pseudomonas putida* gave a 16h IC50 of 256 mg/L (Al-Ahmad et al., 1999). The PNEC would be 0.2 μ g/L based on the most vulnerable taxa.

Carbamazepine (CAS No: 298-46-4). Use: antiepileptic and psychotropic. Human oral dose: minimum 100 mg per day. A provisional ADI of 1 mg per person was derived from the lowest effective dose in humans. Calculation: 100 mg/person / 100 * 10% / 2 L/person. Provisional drinking-water limit: 50 μ g/L. Ferrari et al. (2003) established a NOEC of 25 μ g/L for *Cerodaphnia dubia*, the lowest value for four species. The PNEC would be set at 2.5 μ g/L. Using the program ECOSAR a PNEC of 6 μ g/L was calculated (Jones et al., 2002).

Metoprolol (CAS No: 54163-88-1; 37250-58-6). Use: cardio-selective betablocker. Human oral dose: minimum 100 mg per day. A provisional ADI of 1 mg per person was derived from the lowest effective dose in humans. Calculation: 100 mg/person / 100 * 10% / 2 L/person. Provisional drinking-water limit: 50 μ g/L. Environmental PNEC 7.3 μ g/L (Cleuvers, 2003).

Bisoprolol (CAS No: 66722-44-9). Use: cardio-selective betablocker. Human oral dose minimum 2.5 mg per day (Fuchs, 1997). A provisional ADI of 25 μ g per person was derived from the lowest effective dose in humans. Calculation: 2.5 mg/person / 100 * 10% / 2 L/person. Provisional drinking-water limit: 1 μ g/L. No PNEC can be derived, but some data on this group of beta-blockers are available.

Invertebrates (C. dubia, D. magna and H. azteca) were exposed to atenolol, metoprolol, nadolol and propranolol and average invertebrate 48h LC50 ranged from 0.85-29.8 mg/L. Reproduction of H. azteca after a 27 days exposure was impacted at sublethal levels of propranolol with a NOEC of 0.001 and a LOEC of 0.1 mg/L. C. dubia reproduction NOEC and LOEC were 0.125 and 0.250 mg/L (Huggett et al., 2002). A PNEC for propranolol of 1.87 μ g/L was derived earlier in (Webb, 2001b), now a PNEC for all these beta-blockers might be established at 0.01 μ g/L.

Diclofenac (CAS No: 15307-86-5). Use: anti-inflammatory drug. Human oral dose: minimum 0.25 mg/kg bw anti-pyretic effect in children (=15 mg per day) (Keinanen-Kiukaanniemi et al., 1980). A provisional ADI of 0.15 mg per person was derived from the lowest effective dose in humans. Calculation: 15 mg/person / 100 * 10% / 2 L/person. Provisional drinking-water limit: 7.5 μ g/L. In

acute tests with *Daphnia*, *Desmodesmus* and *Lemna*, *Lemna* was the most sensitive species with an EC50 of 7.5 mg/L (Cleuvers, 2003). Ferrari et al. (2003) established a NOEC of 1 mg/L for *Cerodaphnia dubia*, the lowest value for four species. The PNEC would be set at 100 μ g/L. However, in fish diclofenac concentrations of 1 μ g/L significant differences in renal tissue compared to controls were observed, thus indicating potential adverse effects (Triebskorn et al., 2002). The PNEC is set at 1 μ g/L.

Bezafibrate (CAS No: 41859-67-0). Use: lipid-regulating drug. Human oral dose minimum 67 mg per day (renal impairment). A provisional ADI of 0.67 mg per person was derived from the lowest effective dose in humans. Calculation: 67 mg/person / 100 * 10% / 2 L/person. Provisional drinking-water limit: 35 μ g/L.

Fenofibrate (CAS No: 49562-28-9). Use: lipid-regulating drug. Human oral dose minimum 100 mg per day. A provisional ADI of 1 mg per person was derived from the lowest effective dose in humans. Calculation: 100 mg/person / 100 * 10% / 2 L/person. Provisional drinking-water limit: 50 μ g/L.

Clofibric acid (CAS No: 882-09-7; 637-07-0 (clofibrate)). Use: lipid-regulating drug. Human oral dose minimum 20 mg/kg bw (= 1.2 g per day). A recent summary of the IARC is available (IARC, 1990). No NOELs were determined in this summary. The lowest LOEL was found in humans (Larsen et al., 1994). In this study, effects on serum cholesterol and triglycerides were found in patients with type III hyperlipoproteinemia treated with approximately 1 mg/kg bw/day for 8 weeks. Based on the effect level determined and a safety factor of 100, a provisional ADI of 0.6 mg/person can be calculated. Calculation: 60 mg/person / 100 * 10% / 2 L/person. Provisional drinking-water limit: 30 μ g/L. An ambient water quality criterion (AWQC) of 220 μ g/L was derived for clofibrate, and of 1930 for clofibric acid, by (Schulman et al., 2002).

Ferrari et al. (2003) established a NOEC of 246 μ g/L for *Brachyonius calyciflorus*, the lowest value for four species. The PNEC would be set at 25 μ g/L.

The environmental PNEC for clofibrate is calculated as NOEC/AF 10/50 = $0.2 \mu g/L$ (Schowanek and Webb, 2002) and might apply to the group of fibrate derivatives. In acute tests with *Daphnia*, *Desmodesmus* and *Lemna*, *Lemna* was the most sensitive species with an EC50 of 12.5 mg/L (Cleuvers, 2003), Ferrari et al. established a NOEC of 246 $\mu g/L$ for *Brachyonius calyciflorus*, the lowest value for four species. The PNEC would be set at NOEC/AF 10/10 = 1 $\mu g/L$, due to the extended chronic dataset (Ferrari et al., 2003).

Erythromycin (CAS No: 114-07-8) Use: antibiotic. Humane oral dose minimum 1 g per day. Erythromycin is included in Annex I of Council Regulation (EEC) No 2377/90. A microbiological ADI was determined by the CVMP of 300 μ g/person. An MRL of 40 μ g parent drug/kg milk was proposed (EMEA/MRL/720/99). The total allowed uptake of erythromycin from veterinary use is 90% of the ADI. A limit for drinking water of 15 μ g /L can be calculated based on 10% of the ADI and a water intake of 2 L per day. The total uptake based on these limits remains below the ADI because it is not assumable that someone drinks 1.5 L milk plus 2 L water per day.

Calculation: 0.3 mg/person * 10% / 2 L/person. Drinking-water limit: 15 μ g /L. PNEC >74 μ g/L (Webb, 2001b).

Acetylsalicylic acid (CAS No: 50-78-2). Use: anti-inflammatory drug. Human oral dose minimum 20 mg per day. Acetylsalicylic acid is included in Annex II of Council Regulation (EEC) No 2377/90. An ADI of 0.5 mg/person was determined by the CVMP based on a LOEL for effects on bleeding time and thromboxane B2 production in humans of 10 mg per person and a safety factor of 20 (EMEA/MRL/695/99). Calculation: 0.5 mg/person * 10% / 2 L/person. Drinking-water limit: 25 μ g/L. An ambient water quality criterion (AWQC) of 480 μ g/L was derived for acetylsalicylic acid, and of 190 μ g/L for salicylic acid, by (Schulman et al., 2002). The environmental PNEC would be 168 μ g/L (Schowanek and Webb, 2002).

Ibuprofen (CAS No: 15687-27-1). Use: anti-inflammatory drug. Human oral dose minimum children 5 mg/kg bw (= 0.3 g per day). A provisional ADI of 3 mg per person was derived from the lowest effective dose in humans. Calculation: 300 mg/person / 100 * 10% / 2 L/person. Provisional drinking-water limit: 150 μ g/L. Based on a 48h EC50 for Daphnia magna of 9.06 mg/L the PNEC would be 9.1 μ g/L (Webb, 2001a).

Chloramphenicol (CAS No: 56-75-7). Use: antibiotic (limited human use). Human oral dose minimum 25 mg/kg bw in neonates (= 1.5 g per day). Chloramphenicol is no longer allowed as a veterinary medicine in animals producing foodstuff for humans in the European Union and has only very limited use in humans. The CVMP or the WHO determined no ADIs or MRLs. According to the IARC, this substance should be regarded as carcinogenic to humans. Chloramphenicol is positive in in vitro mutagenicity tests and positive in some in vivo mutagenicity tests. Adequate carcinogenicity studies are not available. A limited carcinogenicity study in mice shows an increase in lymphoma's and livercell tumours. Many case reports have described an unusual succession of leukaemia following chloramphenicol-induced aplastic anaemia and bone marrow depression in humans. Additional evidence for the association between use of chloramphenicol and leukaemia has come from a single large case-control study in China, which demonstrated a relationship with duration of exposure (IARC, 1990). There is no clear dose effect relationship between exposure to chloramphenicol and the occurrence aplastic anaemia and it is considered that victims may have some genetic or biochemical predisposition. More recent epidemiological research indicates that an association between ocular chloramphenicol and aplastic anaemia cannot be excluded. The incidence among users was 0.36 cases per million weeks of treatment compared to 0.04 cases per million weeks in non-users. The adjusted odds ratio was 3.77 (95% confidence interval, 0.84-16.90) (Laporte et al., 1998). In a second epidemiological study, no evidence of an increased risk of developing adult acute leukaemia after topical chloramphenicol use was found (Smith et al., 2000). Also, it is unclear what dose of chloramphenicol is systemically available after ocular use (Walker et al., 1998b). Therefore, no NOEL or LOEL can be determined from the human data. The mouse study can not be used because it is a limited study only and it is unclear whether aplastic anaemia can be induced in mice by chloramphenicol. Subchronic exposure of mice to chloramphenicol induced a reversible anaemia but not a chronic bone marrow aplasia (Turton et al., 2000). Therefore, no limit in drinking water for chloramphenicol can be determined from the toxicological data. Seen the carcinogenicity, the concentration of chloramphenicol should be as low as possible. Therefore it is proposed to use the limit of quantification as the drinking-water limit. Environmental PNEC 305 µg/L (Webb, 2001b). In a 24h-bioluminescence test with Vibrio fischeri an EC10 of 0.0187 mg/L was found (Backhaus and Grimme, 1999). Based on these chronic data for a vulnerable species a PNEC of 1.9 µg/L is established.

Ethinylestradiol (CAS No: 57-63-6) Use: synthetic oestrogen. The minimum therapeutic dose is 0.010 mg per day (Webb, 2001a). A provisional ADI of 0.1 μ g per person is derived from the lowest effective dose in humans. Calculation: 10 μ g/person / 100 * 10% / 2 L/person. Provisional drinking-water limit: 5 ng/L. The PNEC is 0.1 ng/L (Schowanek and Webb, 2002). Concentrations of ethynilestradiol in drinking water ranged up to 22.5 ng/L (Rurainski et al., 1977; Kuch and Ballschmiter, 2001).

Depending on the data set and the effect assessment methodology different standards have been derived, as shown in the examples of acetylsalicylic acid and clofibric acid. The selected effect limits are presented in Table 2-2. For some substances the human effect limit is more stringent than the environmental limit, and environmentally acceptable concentrations in groundwater would surpass human drinking water limits if this groundwater were used untreated for human consumption.
	Drinking	Human limit	Environmental limit	Measured	MOS
	water			concentration	
	standard				
(Acetyl)salicylic acid*	0.1	25	168	0.290	0.35
Bisoprolol	0.1	1	0.01	-	-
Metoprolol	0.1	50	0.01	-	-
Carbamazepine	0.1	50	2.5	<0.025	>4
Chloroamphenicol	0.1	0.001 (LOD)	1.9	-	-
Bezafibrate	0.1	35	1	-	-
Clofibric acid	0.1	30	1	0.270	0.37
Fenofibrate	0.1	50	1	0.210	0.48
Dehydroerythromycine	0.1	15	74	-	-
Diclofenac	0.1	7.5	1	0.006	17
Ibuprofen	0.1	150	9.1	0.003	33
Paracetamol	0.1	150	9.2	-	-
Sulphamethoxazole	0.1	75	0.2	<0.025	>4
Ethinylestradiol	0.1	0.005	0.0001	0.0225	0.004

Table 2-2. Effect limits [µg/L] for selected pharmaceuticals in drinking water. The Margin of Safety (MOS) is based on the most critical limit.

MOS is calculated as the [lowest limit]/[measured concentration in drinking water]

In 11 out of 14 substances the PNEC is more critical than the human drinking water limit, and it may from an environmental perspective not be acceptable to discharge this drinking water to surface water. The general numeric standard for pesticidal substances in the drinking water directive (0.1 μ g/L) is not sufficiently protective for the environment for 3 out of 14 substances.

Four of the reported substances have been found in drinking water above the lowest limit, one concentration (ethinylestradiol) is above both the human and the environmental limit, although there should be a large margin of safety between daily intake and therapeutic dosage (Webb et al., 2003). It should be noted that measured concentrations in groundwater are often higher than in drinking water (Derksen et al., 2001).

A prediction of groundwater and drinking water exposure seems to have become very useful both from an environmental and a public health point of view.

2.5. Discussion

In regulatory frameworks, known modelling limitations, the applicable effect assessment approach, and acceptability standards should have been harmonised in the process. From the regulatory point of view three important aspects of risk modelling are:

- the goal of the modelling versus the type of model;
- the relation between the model and the use of the product (both in time and space);
- the relation between model outcome and acceptability standard (quality level).

Several of the challenges identified in the first edition of this book have been addressed in the recent regulatory guidance documents (Montforts, 2001). However more research challenges lie within these three aspects of risk modelling. They are centred on the coherence of the risk model components, the connection between risk model and user, and the development of methodology for hazards yet to be addressed, and include the following points:

- Harmonisation of protection goals. At this level policy makers and scientists should engage in a reconnaissance of regulatory goals (central marketing authorisation, national registration, protection goals, standards), assessment scales (e.g. landscape level vs. local), model approach (predictive or monitoring), and uncertainty and variability of data associated with the assessment.
- Within the risk model for the environmental risk assessment, emission and distribution routes, compartments, substance properties (persistency, bioaccumulation) and effect endpoints (ecosystem structures, population, processes, species) should be linked.
- The risk model of the environmental risk assessment process should produce predictions with reference to the quality levels that are pursued for the compartments. Exclusion of compartments (soil, surface water, groundwater, drinking water, and sediment) either because the risk is supposed to be covered through other submodels, or because models have yet to be developed, greatly impairs the risk characterisation, and thus the decision making. For different compartments different limits may apply. These limits should be harmonised.
- Also, it should be possible to feed risk mitigation measures back into the risk model. The targeted use (and waste) of the product should be explored. Repetitive use, season-related use or concurrent use over large areas should be considered, next to the timing and scale of emission to the environment (i.e. spreading of manure) and the restrictions set by the product registration (e.g. no comparative assessments). The guidance documents provided set out general directions and more directions on data selection, specifically on model parameterisation, are welcomed.
- The risk model should be able to handle other modelling approaches in a higher tier. How does one compare e.g. catchment level simulations to the first tier basic calculations (Di Guardo et al., 2001; Schowanek and Webb, 2002)? What kind of information is added by a mechanistic modelling of groundwater contamination at a depth of 1 metre, compared to an empirical model in which the porewater concentration is calculated using partitioning between the water and solid phase? The information to decide which of the two models represents the target groundwater better is not within the model, but with the definition of the protection goal.
- A prediction of groundwater and drinking water exposure seems to have become very relevant both from an environmental and a public health point of view. Exposure via water, soil and landfill waste should be taken into account. Harmonisation of environmental and public health concerns is needed to set an operative quality standard.

And finally, in case quality standards are not met, an indication of the actual impact or costs will be needed to come to a cost-benefit analysis. The registration process for medicines is the exponent of risk assessment (Di Fabio, 1994). Policy makers, scientist and other interested parties (ESC, 2001) should engage in a reconnaissance of expressing, scaling and weighing costs and benefits for society, including the environment.

Acknowledgements

The contributions of Linda Stolker (RIVM-LAC) and André Muller (RIVM-SIR) on water analyses data, respectively effect assessment, are gratefully acknowledged. Hans Könemann, Wilbert Slooff (both RIVM-SEC), and Helias Udo de Haes (CML, Leiden) are gratefully acknowledged for critically reading this chapter. This publication was partly funded by the EU project ERAVMIS, EVK1-CT9-00003.

3. The exposure assessment for veterinary medicinal products

Published in Science of the Total Environment 225 (1999) 119-133 Mark H.M.M. Montforts, Dennis F. Kalf, Peter L.A. van Vlaardingen and Jan B.H.J. Linders

3.1 Introduction

The EU has issued Directive 81/852/EEC (1981) in which is stated that with a request for registration of a veterinary medicinal product information is to be provided to enable an assessment of the safety for the environment. In 1997 the Committee for Veterinary Medicinal Products (CVMP) issued a note for guidance on the environmental risk assessment (EMEA, 1997)outlining procedures, trigger values and backgrounds to the proposed risk assessment methodology, in order to harmonise the assessment procedure in Europe. The proposed methodology is based on the hazard quotient approach, that is widely used in the environmental risk assessment frameworks of new and existing substances and of plant protection products and biocides (Anonymous, 1991a; ECB, 1996).

This article will shortly discuss the structure of the environmental assessment, and will elaborate on the exposure assessment with exposure models adapted to the Dutch agricultural situation.

Risk management

The basis for the 81/852/EEC directive is the precautionary principle¹⁸. The assessment is part of a risk management process consisting of two distinct phases: a risk assessment phase and a risk management phase (Van Leeuwen, 1995). Here only risk assessment will be considered. The first step in risk assessment is the hazard identification, for which is referred to Directive 81/852/EEC. The second step is the exposure assessment. Exposure assessment can either be done by measuring exposure concentrations or by predicting them with models. The latter involves determining the emissions, pathways and rates of movement of a substance and its transformation in order to obtain concentrations to which environmental compartments may be exposed (yielding PEC-values: Predicted Environmental Concentrations). Underestimation of the exposure in a compartment is avoided by making worst-case assumptions. Worst-case assumptions can be modified to realistic worst-case assumptions once reliable information is available.

Effect assessment or dose-response assessment is the estimation of the relationship between the level of exposure to a substance, and the incidence and severity of an effect. In

¹⁸ This suggests that the precautionary principle was already operative within the EU at that time; it was not. A precautionary approach as a concept in public health policy had been advocated as early as 1854. In Germany the 'Vorsorgeprinzip' had been used in the Clean Air Act of 1974. On a trans-national level, the principle was first referred to in 1984 by the North Sea Ministerial Conference in the Bremen Declaration. At the EU level it finally made its first appearance in the Treaty of Maastricht in 1992. At the time of writing this paper, it was my intention to indicate that a scientific assessment of the risks connected to the use of a medicinal product before it is used, fits well into a precautionary approach (COM, 2000; Harremoës et al., 2001; De Sadeleer, 2002).

ecological or environmental risk assessment (ERA) millions of species and processes may be exposed by a variety of routes. Laboratory-established No-Observed-Effect-Concentrations (NOEC) are used to derive Predicted No Effect Concentrations (PNECs) for different environmental compartments: water, sediment, and soil, by applying "assessment factors" usually in the range of 10-10,000, or by extrapolation based on a statistical analysis. In this way the uncertainty that the effect value used underestimates the effect on species in the field is reduced.

The processes of risk assessment (how risky is the situation) and risk management (what shall we do about it) are influencing each other when it comes to deciding on endpoints, (un)acceptable effects, and uncertainty factors. Risk characterisation integrates the previous steps, for example in PEC/PNEC ratios, also called Risk Characterisation Ratios (RCR), as is often done in many international regulatory frameworks. We only know that the likelyhood of adverse effects increases when the RCR increases. Regulatory choices have to be made when deciding on the RCR that must lead to further assessment or risk mitigation measures. This choice will depend on the uncertainty in the models as well as on the political or economical implications of the mitigation measures.

What does the ERA for veterinary medicinal products based on the CVMP Guidance document look like (EMEA, 1997)? The amending Directive 92/18/EEC describes the ERA process as composed of two phases. The first phase (Phase I) shall assess the potential of exposure of the environment and is thus limited to product identification and exposure assessment. Several exemptions for further testing are given, such as trigger values for PECs: $100 \mu g/kg$ in slurry, $10 \mu g/kg$ in soil, $0.1 \mu g/l$ in groundwater, $10 \mu g/kg$ in dung; or trigger values for halflives: DT50_{slurry} 30 days. These values are the result of the negotiations in the EMEA working group between all interested parties and have no scientific basis. Their primary function is to serve as management tools. When exemptions do not apply and trigger values are exceeded, one enters Phase II.

Phase II includes effect assessment and risk characterisation and here the notifier is facing considerable testing efforts. The possibility that the ERA may end at the exposure assessment is an 'escape route' that is welcomed by the pharmaceutical industry, as this could make the difference between an economically profitable product and a dead end. To the regulatory authorities this escape route increases the demand for a thorough exposure assessment. Considering that at the side of the effect assessment the uncertainties are relatively well known, and the concept of using 'assessment factors' is more and more refined, one has to realise that the exposure assessment has a relatively high level of uncertainty.

The risk assessment should cover the whole product, all its ingredients, and all relevant metabolites that are released into the environment. Identifying emission and distribution routes is an important stage in the process, as both the environment and the notifiers will be confronted with the consequences. A uniform and systematic analysis of possibilities guarantees a reliable assessment. Emission can take place at any step in the life cycle of the product. Dosage, route of application, type of target animals, excretion, route of entry into the environment, and agricultural practice, determine the point of emission:

- at application;

- at removal of waste material containing the product (manure, fish water);

- by excretion via faeces and urine;
- by contagion (immunological products);
- The main categories of emission scenarios are:

- removal of waste containing the product (containers, manure, fish water, medicated drinking water);

- excretion via faeces and urine;

- spillage at external application or direct exposure/discharge outdoors

Based on product identity an exemption for further assessment is made for physiological substances such as vitamins, electrolytes, natural amino acids and herbs. Based on the use of the product and limited routes of emission, products for companion animals (excluding horses) are also exempted.

A third reason for exemption is the application to a small number of animals as opposed to mass treatment. A typical example is the treatment of a wounded cow with antibiotics, as a result of an accident. Should more than one animal be involved, it becomes evident that there is no clear borderline with mass treatment. In case of doubt, it is suggested to perform an exposure calculation, as there are more trigger values along this process.

One should be aware that some parameters used in exposure and distribution assessment are directly used in the risk characterisation process. The substance properties of sorption capacity (Koc) and transformation rate in soil and slurry (DT50) are used as triggers in the risk characterisation process because they are indicators of the outcomes of distribution routes and processes. This implies that attention should be paid to the reliability and usefulness of the studies investigating these parameters (Mensink et al., 1995).

Livestock breeding and rearing is an important industry in the Netherlands (Table 1). Considering the above and the diversity of target animals listed in table 1, it is worthwhile to put a major effort into elaborating the exposure assessment. To illustrate the consequences some exposure models based on the Dutch agricultural practice are given (section 2). The results of these models are discussed in section 3.

Category	number of animal places (x 1000)	number of farms
dairy cows	1,675	36,000
cattle	4,550	54,400
pigs	14,400	21,250
horses and ponies	107	20,000
sheep	1,625	21,000
broilers	44,000	1200
laying hens	39,500	2700
turkeys	1,250	140
fish	2500 tonnes	50

Table 1. An overview of animal husbandry in the Netherlands.

Sources: (Kamstra and Van der Heul, 1995; CBS, 1996)

3.2 Exposure assessment: agricultural practice, emission modelling, and trigger values

A realistic worst-case exposure assessment can be performed if the daily agricultural practice is taken into account. The Dutch situation is characterised by a number of distinct features: bio-industry; manure surplus; restricted application time (March-September) of manure in certain regions; slurry injection (5 cm depth) or direct tillage (20 cm depth); large areas with grassland and cattle, and indoor fish cultivation. Three exposure scenarios are discussed: excretion by grazing cattle (section 2a); manuring of land (arable and grassland; section 2b)); and fish farm wastewater discharge (section 2c). In section 2d the use of the trigger values is discussed.

2a. Exposure assessment: excretion by grazing cattle

In the Netherlands beef cattle and heifers, suckler cows and dairy cows are grazed. A common treatment before animals are grazed is an anthelminthic treatment by injection, oral dosage, or intra-ruminal bolus. Residues of these substances are secreted into urine and faeces and are excreted onto the land or into the water. To determine the concentration in these compartments, one needs to know how much of the substance is excreted, and the rate of excretion. In case these distribution parameters are not available, the worst-case concentration in faeces can be calculated with the following model and defaults (table 2). Cattle defaecate 10-11 times per day (Marsh and Campling, 1970). This model suggests that the entire administered dose is excreted in one defaecation event.

Model for the calculation of the maximum concentration in dung if PEC_{dung} is not measured:

$$PECdung = \frac{Q_{product} \cdot C_{c} \cdot m_{animal} \cdot T_{treatment} \cdot F_{max.excreted.dung} \cdot Nexcretion}{Pdung_{animal}}$$

input

Q _{product}	dosage of product used	[kg.kg _{bw} ⁻¹.d⁻¹]
C _c	concentration of chemical (c) in product	[mg _c .kg⁻¹]
m _{animal}	(averaged) body weight	[kg _{bw} .animal ⁻¹]
T _{treatment}	duration of treatment	[d]
Fmax. excreted dung	highest fraction excreted in dung in one day	[-]
Pdung _{animal}	dung production animal in field	[kg _{wwt} .animal ⁻¹ .d ⁻¹]
Nexcretion	number of dung excretion events per day	[d⁻¹]
output		
PECdung	predicted environmental concentration in dung	[mg _c .kg _{wwt} -1]

parameter	symbol	unit	value
duration of treatment	T _{treatment}	[d]	1
highest fraction excreted in dung in one day	Fmax. excreted dung	[-]	1
number of dung excretion events per day	Nexcretion	[d ⁻¹]	10.5

Table 2. Default settings for the module for the calculation of the maximum concentration in dung.

Table 3. Body weight, therapeutic dosage, and dung production of selected target species.

animal	body weight	production dung	dosage
	m _{animal} [kg _{bw} .animal ⁻¹]	P _{dung} [kg _{wwt} .animal ⁻¹ .d ⁻¹]	$Q_{product} \cdot C_{c}[mg.kg_{bw}^{-1}]$
dairy cows	600	37	0.2
beef cattle	330	17	0.2
horses	600	23	0.2

In the assessment process the trigger is 10 μ g/kg_{wwt}, below which further assessment is not necessary. Information on the excretion pattern is therefore very useful. Ivermectin is used here as an example. Ivermectin (CAS 70288-86-7) is an anti-parasitic substance used as anthelmintic in animal husbandry. Ivermectin is hardly excreted in urine (<2%), and c. 90% of a dosage is excreted via faeces in the 7 to 14 days following administration, depending on the route of administration (Campbell, 1989; Halley et al., 1989). After oral application of labelled ivermectin to cattle, 60% of the label is excreted within two days, the remaining fraction is excreted in the following four days. On the second day after application 93-94% of the measured radioactivity was found to be ivermectin, whereas after 6 days only 44-52% of the measured radioactivity was found to be ivermectin (personal communication Dr. H. Rogiers, Merial NV/SA, Belgium, 1997). For reasons of convenience, the excretion of the labelled ivermectin is described in two steps, with a fast initial phase of two days releasing 60% of the label, and a second phase releasing 39% in the following four days. It is further

days after	phase	fraction	fraction	excreted	PECdung beef	PECdung dairy
application		excreted	ivermectin	ivermectin	cattle	cow
of the dose		r.a.		Fexcreted dung	[mg.kg _{wwt} ⁻¹]	[mg.kg _{wwt} ⁻¹]
directly				0.88	36	30
1	1	0.37	0.97	0.359	1.39	1.16
2	1	0.23	0.94	0.216	0.84	0.70
3	2	0.23	0.84	0.193	0.75	0.63
4	2	0.11	0.72	0.079	0.31	0.26
5	2	0.04	0.61	0.025	0.10	0.08
6	2	0.01	0.51	0.006	0.02	0.02
7	2	0.008	0.43	0.004	0.02	0.01
11	2	<0.001	<0.3	<0.0001	<0.0004	<0.0003

Table 4. The excretion of labelled ivermectin by cattle after oral dosage.

Table 5. Measured	ivermectin	concentrations	in dung.
I ubic ci inicubul cu	I , el meccim	concentrations	in aang.

animal and body	dose and	highest concentrat	source	
inoight	administration [mg/kg _{bw}]	as reported	recalculated to [mg/kg _{wwt}]	
cattle 276 kg	0.2 (s.c.)	0.42 mg/kg _{wwt} after 5 days	0.42	Lumaret et al., 1993 ¹
cattle c. 300 kg	0.5 (p.)	9.0 mg/kg _{dwt} after 1 day	1.35	Sommer and Steffansen, 1993 ²
cattle c. 300 kg	0.2 (s.c.)	3.9 mg/kg _{dwt} after 2 days	0.58	
cattle 278 kg	12 mg/d (i.r.)	0.66 mg/kg _{wwt}	0.66	Strong et al., 1996 ³
horse	0.2 (0.)	8.5 mg/kg _{dwt} after 1 day	1.70	Herd, 1995 ⁴

i.r. = intra-ruminal; s.c. = subcutaneous; o. = oral; p. = pour-on; dwt = dry weight; wwt = wet weight; bw = body weight

¹ After 12 days no ivermectin detected. Limit of detection was 0.02 mg/kg.

² After 14 days no ivermectin detected (pour-on); or 0.3 mg/kg dwt (subcutaneous). Limit of detection was 0.05 mg/kg.

³ Determined with bioassay with the fly *Neomyia cornicia*.

⁴ After four days no ivermectin detected. Limit of detection was 0.05 mg/kg.

assumed that the decrease of unchanged ivermectin is also a two step process: from 100 to 93.5% in two days and from 93.5 to 44% in the following four days. The calculation of exposure concentrations in dung requires a dosage, animal body weights and dung production data (table 3). With the assumption that the processes in every step follow first-order kinetics, the course of the excretion and concentration is given in table 4.

One can see in table 4 that the calculated concentrations using excretion data (maximum 1.39 mg/kg) are over 25 times lower than calculated with the worst-case scenario (36 mg/kg). Table 5 shows measured concentrations ivermectin in dung reported in scientific literature. The concentrations based on wet weight in the fourth column are recalculated using a moisture content of 85% for cattle dung and 80% for horse dung. Unfortunately, the results with cattle were obtained from subcutaneous or pour-on treated animals, and show that the excretion period following these types of treatment is longer than is expected after oral treatment (ca. one week). The results from the intra-ruminal sustained-release bolus can be compared to the model calculations. If the model beef cattle of 330 kg was treated with this sustained-release bolus (Strong et al., 1996) the calculated concentration in dung would be 0.62 mg/kg, which is equivalent to the 0.66 mg/kg measured. Assuming that the excretion pattern for cattle is representative for horses as well, the concentration in horse dung after 1 day can be calculated to 1.9 mg/kg. This value is also very close to the observed concentration of 1.7 mg/kg.

These data show that the worst-case calculations are overestimating the concentrations, and that an exposure assessment based on concentrations derived with adequate excretion data, leads to more accurate results.

2b Exposure assessment: manuring of land.

Calculation models for the concentration in soil are presented by Spaepen et al. (1997) introducing the key to the concentration in soil: the phosphate and nitrogen immission standards for manure. The basic calculations (here based on phosphate immission) are given in formula set A.

How do these calculations, based on yearly manure production figures and yearly number of cycles, relate to agricultural manuring practice? A limited inquiry showed that manure is hardly ever stored for over half a year, and that the manuring regime on grassland might be quite different from the regime on arable land planted with corn (*Zea mais*). In certain regions in the Netherlands farmers have to deal with restricted spreading times (spreading of slurry is only allowed between March and September). The following scenarios for arable land and grassland were developed, using the specific situation to improve the worst-case exposure calculations to realistic worst-case calculations (Montforts, 1997a).

Manuring of land: PIEC_{soil} calculations for arable land.

The only time the farmer can manure the arable land is before the crop is growing. Taking into account the immission standards the farmer will spread the manure that has been stored during the winter (October-March: 152 days) in one event. The possible concentration of excreted residues in the slurry now depends on the number of treatments during this storage time and the time lapse between the excretion of the residues and the moment the slurry is spread. In a worst-case scenario all residues are excreted the day before the slurry is spread. The best case scenario will allow the residues to break down during the maximum available time. With the assumptions that every animal cycle is treated once, and all cycles are treated at the same life-stage (i.c. at their averaged body weight), the following formulas calculate the concentration in slurry taking degradation into account over the averaged storage time for the residues.

Formula set A.

$$Q_{excreted} = Q_{product} \cdot C_c \cdot T_{treatment} \cdot F_{excreted} \cdot m_{animal} \cdot Ncyclus_{animal}$$

$$C_{P205} = \frac{Q_{excreted}}{P_P} \cdot e^{-k \deg_{slurry} \cdot T_{rest}}$$

$$PIECsoil = \frac{C_{P2O5} \cdot Q_{P2O5}}{RHOsoil \cdot CONV_{area, field} \cdot DEPTHfield}$$

input		
Q _{product}	dosage product used	[kg.kg _{bw} ⁻¹ .d ⁻¹]
C _c	concentration chemical (c) in product	[mg _c .kg⁻¹]
T _{treatment}	duration of treatment	[d]
m _{animal}	(averaged) body weight	[kg _{bw} .animal⁻¹]
F _{excreted}	fraction excreted in faeces and urine	[-]
Ncyclus _{animal}	number of cycli per year	[animal.place ⁻¹ .yr ⁻¹]
P _P	phosphate production animal in stable in one year	[kg _{P2O5} .place ⁻¹ .y ⁻¹]
T _{storage}	average storage time slurry grassland/arable land	365 [d]
T _{rest}	maximum duration of storage after last treatment	[d]
kdeg _{slurry}	reaction constant transformation in manure	[d⁻¹]
Q _{P2O5}	phosphate immission standard	[kg _{P2O5} . ha ⁻¹ .yr ⁻¹]
RHOsoil	bulk density of soil	[kg.m⁻³]
DEPTHfield	mixing depth with soil	[m]
CONV _{area field}	conversion factor for the area of the agricultural field	[m ² .ha ⁻¹]
intermediate results		
Q _{excreted}	amount substance excreted	[mg _c .place ⁻¹ .yr ⁻¹]
C _{P2O5}	concentration in phosphate	[mg _c .kg _{P2O5} ⁻¹]
output		
PIECsoil	predicted initial environmental concentration in the soil	[mg _c .kg _{soil} -1]

The second term in the first formula of formula set B (with $Q_{excreted}$) calculates the initial concentration in the slurry (phosphate) after one treatment. The third term (with 1-(F_{rsl})^N_{application}) corrects for multiple treatments during the storage period, and the degradation during the time between these treatments. When there is only one treatment, this term is equal to 1. When the degradation rate is unknown, this term equals Napplication. The fourth term corrects for degradation in the slurry during the time left after the last treatment during the storage period. The maximum time left after the last treatment (T_{rest}) is calculated with the third formula, and is averaged with the minimum time (zero days) by dividing with a factor two. When there is only one treatment, T_{rest} equals $T_{storage}$.

To illustrate the difference with the basic formulas of Spaepen et al. (1997) some calculations are made (table 7) using the information shown in table 6 and the two sets of formulas: set A based on the year-based approach; set B based on the Dutch agricultural practice. For matters of convenience, the calculation of T_{rest} is from the same formula for both sets.

Formula set B.

$$C_{P2O5} = \frac{Q_{excreted}}{T_{storage} \cdot P_{P2O5}} \cdot \frac{1 - F_{rsl}^{Napplication}}{1 - F_{rsl}} \cdot e^{-k \deg_{slurry} \cdot T_{rest}/2}$$

 $F_{rsl} = e^{-kdeg_{slurry} \cdot Tcyclus_{animal}}$

$$T_{rest} = T_{storage} - (Napplication - 1) \cdot T_{cyclus}$$

$$PIECsoil = \frac{C_{P2O5} \cdot Q_{P2O5}}{RHOsoil \cdot CONV_{area field} \cdot DEPTHfield}$$

input

Q _{excreted}	amount substance excreted	[mg _c .place ⁻¹ .yr ⁻¹]
P _{P2O5}	phosphate production of animal in stable	[kg _{P2O5} .place ⁻¹ .d ⁻¹]
DT50deg _{slurry}	halflife time in slurry	[d]
T _{cyclus, animal}	duration of cyclus	[d]
T _{storage}	average storage time slurry grassland/arable land	[d]
Napplication	number of applications per storage period	[-]
kdeg _{slurry}	reaction constant transformation in manure	[d⁻¹]
Q _{P2O5}	phosphate immission standard	[kg _{P2O5} . ha ⁻¹ .yr ⁻¹]
RHOsoil	bulk density of soil	[kg.m⁻³]
DEPTHfield	mixing depth with soil	[m]
CONV _{area field}	conversion factor for the area of the agricultural field	[m ² .ha ⁻¹]
intermediate result	S	
kdeg _{slurry}	reaction constant transformation in manure	[d⁻¹]
F _{rsl}	fraction of the concentration remaining in slurry after time	[-]
	T _{cyclus, animal}	
C _{P2O5}	concentration in phosphate	[mg _c .kg _{P2O5} ⁻¹]
T _{rest}	maximum duration of storage after last treatment	[d]
output		
PIECsoil	predicted initial environmental concentration in the soil	[mg _c .kg _{soil} ⁻¹]

The example is performed with data for oxytetracycline hydrochloride (oxytetracycline HCl) (CAS 2058-46-0), oxytetracycline (CAS 79-57-2) and chlortetracycline (CAS 57-62-5), used for sows and turkeys in rearing.

Oxytetracycline HCl is dosed with 40 mg/kg bw for 5 days. It was found that wethers (castrate ram) excrete at least 21% of the oral dosage oxytetracycline and that young bulls excrete 17 - 75% of an oral dosage chlortetracycline as the parent compound (Roij and De Vries, 1980). The $F_{excreted}$ used here is 0.75. Chlortetracycline is found to degrade in cattle manure with a DT50 of approx. 1 week at 37°C, increasing to a DT50 >20 days when decreasing the temperature to 28°C. Using the Arrhenius-equation to recalculate the DT50 from 37°C to 20°C the DT50 (20°C) amounts to 30 days. From the data presented by Soulides et al. (1962) an average DT50 in soil of 4 days (25°C) can be derived, and recalculated to a DT50 (20 °C) of 6 days¹⁹. To illustrate the relative weight of the DT50 in solurry and soil, calculations with DT50 of 100 or 15 days are also presented.

The results in table 7 show that exposure concentrations differ by a factor thirty, depending on the substance properties.

¹⁹ Recent investigations have resulted in half-life values in soil up to 175 days (see Chapter 4).

Symbol	Parameter	value	unit
m _{animal, sow}	(averaged) body weight sow	240	[kg _{bw} .animal ⁻¹]
manimal, turkey	(averaged) body weight turkey	2	[kg _{bw} .animal⁻¹]
P _{P2O5 sow}	phosphate production sow in stable sow	0.0556	[kg _{P2O5} .place ⁻¹ .d ⁻¹]
P _{P2O5} turkey	phosphate production turkey in stable turkey	0.00071	[kg _{P2O5} .place ⁻¹ .d ⁻¹]
T _{cyclus, sow}	duration of cyclus sow	365	[d]
T _{cyclus, turkey}	duration of cyclus turkey	49	[d]
T _{storage, set A}	average storage time slurry arable land	365	[d]
T _{storage, set B}	average storage time slurry arable land	152	[d]
Napplication,A,sow	applications per storage period to sow set A	1	[-]
Napplication, A, turkey	applications per storage period to turkey set A	7.4	[-]
Napplication,B,sow	applications per storage period to sow set B	1	[-]
Napplication, B, turkey	applications per storage period to turkey set B	4	[-]
Q _{P2O5}	phosphate immission standard	110	[kg _{P2O5} . ha ⁻¹ .yr ⁻¹]
RHOsoil	bulk density of soil	1500	[kg.m⁻³]
DEPTHfield	mixing depth with soil	0.2	[m]
CONV _{area field}	conversion factor for the area of the field	10,000	[m ² .ha ⁻¹]

Table 6. Agricultural parameters for arable land in the Netherlands.

Table 7. Results of $PIEC_{soil}$ calculations ($\mu g/kg dw$) in arable land for two distribution scenarios (A and B), two animal species, and various DT50 values in slurry.

animal	sow turkey in			aring 0-6 weeks
formula set	A	В	A	В
no DT50 slurry	64	155	315	410
DT50 slurry 100 days	18	92	275	260
DT50 slurry 30 days	1	28	200	140

Manuring of land: PIECsoil calculations for grassland.

The farmer can manure the grassland during the whole season. The farmer will fill the immission standard in more events, in order not to harm the grass. The dosage of the product to the land depends on the number of treatments during the storage time and the time lapse between the excretion of the residues and the moment the slurry is spread. The concentration in the soil after the last batch is spread depends on the degradation rate in the soil. The Dutch model assumes that within the period March-September the phosphate immission standard is filled in four events: one at the start of the season, one at the very end, and two at equal distances inbetween. The slurry spread at the start of the season has been stored for 152 days, the other batches for 71 days. The formula set for sows is almost equal to set B, with one animal treatment per year only, but now only one of the batches contains contaminated manure. The formula set for turkeys is different, because the period between the moment of animal treatment and the moment of manure spreading changes with every cycle. In case of seven animal cycles per year, two treatments may take place during the winter storage period and five during the three summer storage periods. Every storage period results in a dosage that is spread onto land; C_A after the first period, C_B after the second period, and so on.

Table 8. Agricultura	l parameters fo	or grassland in	the Netherlands.
----------------------	-----------------	-----------------	------------------

Symbol	Parameter	value	unit
m _{animal, sow}	(averaged) body weight sow	240	[kg _{bw} .animal ⁻¹]
manimal, turkey	(averaged) body weight turkey	1	[kg _{bw} .animal ⁻¹]
P _{P2O5 sow}	phosphate production sow in stable	0.0556	[kg _{P2O5} .place ⁻¹ .d ⁻¹]
P _{P2O5 turkey}	phosphate production turkey in stable	0.00071	[kg _{P2O5} .place ⁻¹ .d ⁻¹]
T _{cyclus, sow}	duration of cyclus	365	[d]
T _{cyclus, turkey}	duration of cyclus	49	[d]
T _{storage, set A}	average storage time slurry grassland, set A	365	[d]
Q _{P2O5}	phosphate immission standard	135	[kg _{P2O5} . ha ⁻¹ .yr ⁻¹]
RHOsoil	bulk density of soil	1500	[kg.m ⁻³]
DEPTHfield	mixing depth with soil	0.05	[m]
$\text{CONV}_{\text{area field}}$	conversion factor for the area of the agricultural field	10000	[m ² .ha ⁻¹]

The concentration in the soil directly after the last treatment is calculated while taking degradation in the soil before the last treatment into account. The most realistic period that degradation can take place in slurry and in soil cannot be determined with a rule of thumb. Given the number of cycles per year, and assuming that the time between the applications in the cycles is constant, one can search for the worst-case and best case combinations of slurry storage time and soil residence time. However, as these combinations largely depend on the (unknown and individual) substance properties, selected values are given for every livestock category of interest.

The formula set for sows (C) is given by:

Formula set C:

$$C_{P2O5} = \frac{Q_{excreted}}{T_{storage} \cdot P_{P2O5}} \cdot e^{-k \deg_{slurry} \cdot T_{rest}/2}$$

 $T_{rest} = T_{storage}$

$$PIECsoil = \frac{0.25 \cdot C_{P2O5} \cdot Q_{P2O5}}{RHOsoil \cdot CONV_{area field}} \cdot DEPTHfield$$

The formula set for turkeys (D) is given by:

Formula set D:

$$C_{P205A} = \frac{Q_{excreted}(e^{-k \, deg_{slurry} \cdot 104} + e^{-k \, deg_{slurry} \cdot 52})}{152 \cdot P_{P205}}$$

$$C_{P205B} = \frac{Q_{excreted}(e^{-k \, deg_{slurry} \cdot 71} + e^{-k \, deg_{slurry} \cdot 19})}{71 \cdot P_{P205}}$$

$$C_{P2O5C} = \frac{Q_{excreted}}{71 \cdot P_{P2O5}} \cdot e^{-k \, deg_{slurry} \cdot 38}$$

$$C_{P205D} = \frac{Q_{excreted}(e^{-k \, deg_{slurry} \cdot 57} + e^{-k \, deg_{slurry} \cdot 5})}{71 \cdot P_{P205}}$$

$$PIECsoil = \frac{0.25Q_{P205}(C_{P205A} \cdot e^{-k \deg_{soil} \cdot 213} + C_{P205B} \cdot e^{-k \deg_{soil} \cdot 142} + C_{P205C} \cdot e^{-k \deg_{soil} \cdot 71} + C_{P205D})}{RHOsoil \cdot CONV_{area_field}} \cdot DEPTHfield$$

To illustrate the difference with the basic formulas of Spaepen et al. (1997) the same calculations as for arable land (table 9) are performed using the information shown in table 8 and the two sets of formulas: set A based on the year-based approach; set C & D based on the Dutch agricultural practice.

The results show that exposure concentrations differ by a factor of fourty, depending on the model and the substance properties. The availability of a $DT50_{soil}$ can lower the $PIEC_{soil}$ for grassland substantially.

These calculations show the difference between the models for grassland an arable land. In table 10 the differences in the results of the grassland and arable land scenarios are shown.

animal		S	w	turkey in we	rearing 0-6 eeks
formula set	formula set		A C		D
DT50 slurry	DT50 soil				
none	none	315	400	1550	1710
100	50	90	315	1350	580
100	15	90	315	1350	440
30	15	4	180	980	290
30	6	4	180	980	280

Table 9. Results of $PIEC_{soil}$ calculations ($\mu g/kg dw$) in grassland for two distribution scenarios (A and C/D), two animal species and various DT50 values in slurry and soil.

animal species		so	w	turkey in rearing 0-6 weeks		
target land		arable grass arable		arable	grass	
DT50 slurry	DT50 soil					
none	none	156	400	410	1710	
30	6	28	180	140	280	

Table 10. Results of PIEC_{soil} calculations (oxytetracycline, in μ g/kg dw) for arable and grassland (distribution scenarios B and C/D), two animals, and various DT50 values (days) in slurry and soil.

Using experimental data on degradation in slurry and soil, PIECs are lowered by factors 2 - 6 compared to worst-case calculations. With the new models presented here PIEC in grassland will always be higher than in arable land, but given the differences in soil depth and phosphate immission standards, the incorporation of a DT50_{soil} can lower the PIEC_{soil} substantially. The new models give higher estimations for animals with long life cycles compared to the basic year-averaged model, whereas for animals with short life cycles (young turkeys, broilers) estimations can be lower, depending on the substance properties. These calculations show also that the choice of the trigger values (DT50_{slurry} 30 days, PIEC_{soil} 10 μ g/kg), as made by the EMEA, are not harmonised. For example: with a DT50 of <30 days further assessment is not necessary, but PIEC_{soil} may still be >10 μ g/kg.

2c: Exposure assessment: fish medicines.

The scale of fish cultivation for commercial purposes is limited in the Netherlands (Kamstra and Van der Heul, 1995). In 1994 in total 26 and 10 companies were involved in cultivating eel and catfish, respectively. Most nurseries use water recirculation systems, in which the water is recycled after a water treatment by filtration. Catfish nurseries discharge on the municipal Sewage Treatment Plants (STP), but 40% of the eel nurseries discharge directly on surface water. The exposure scenarios presented here are based on a fish farm that breeds 50 tonnes of eel a year, the median production in The Netherlands. Two scenarios are distinguished, based on the incidence of administration of the product, and the type of wastewater treatment:

- continuous medication; without recirculation/filtration, followed by a settlement tank;
- occasional medication (≤4 times a year), without recirculation/filtration before discharge on the settlement tank.

On a yearly basis the nursery discharges 250 m³ water per tonne of fish, resulting in a turnover rate of 35 m³.d⁻¹. It is assumed the total water volume of the nursery is 70 m³. After the settlement tank the water fraction is either dicharged on surface water or into the STP. This STP module is not described here and the reader is referred to (Struijs et al., 1991; RIVM, 1994; Linders and Jager, 1997) for further reading.

Table 11. Pick list for the default settings of the fraction of retention in sludge, treatment time and volume of wastewater from fish nurseries.

type of treatment	type of water treatment before STP	F _{ret} [-]	Vwaste water [I]	DILUTION _{fish} [-]
continuous	filtration and settlement tank	0.75	35000	5
occasional	settlement tank	0.5	70000	3

Due to the settlement tank the total amount of substance emitted is equally spread out over 25 days. The surface water concentration in case of continuous treatment is therefore constant.

The fish farm and the STP discharge on a small waterway that dilutes the effluent by a factor 5 or 3, depending on the water volume discharged. The recirculation/filtration system and the settlement tank both have an estimated removal efficiency of 50% of the dose of organic substances from the water (table 11).

The use of several medicinal products in fish nurseries is listed in table 12 (Kamstra and Van der Heul, 1995).

Model for the calculation of the emission to surface water.

$$Q_{emitted} = Q_{product} \cdot C_c \cdot V waste water$$

$$Elocal_{water} = \frac{Q_{emitted} \cdot (1 - F_{ret})}{Temission_{stp}}$$

$$PIECsw_{fish} = \frac{Elocal_{water}}{DILUTION_{fish} \cdot Vwaste water}$$

input

dosage product used	[kg.l⁻¹]
concentration chemical in product	[mg _c .kg ⁻¹]
volume of waste water discharged	[I]
fraction of retention in sludge	[-]
emission period for discharge to STP	[d]
amount of substance emitted	[mg _c .d⁻¹]
emission to waste water during episode	[mg _c .d⁻¹]
highest initial concentration in surface water	[mg _c .l ⁻¹]
	dosage product used concentration chemical in product volume of waste water discharged fraction of retention in sludge emission period for discharge to STP amount of substance emitted emission to waste water during episode highest initial concentration in surface water

Substance max. conc.		PIECsw continuous	PIECsw occasional
	in water basin (mg/l)	treatment (mg/l)	treatment (mg/l)
mebendazole	5	0.010	0.067
oxytetracycline	75	0.15	1.005
malachite green	0.3	0.0006	0.004
flumequine	11	0.022	0.147

Table 12. Summary of medicinal products used in fish nurseries and PIEC_{sw} calculated without STP.

It is interesting to see what the effect of the STP module would have on the concentrations in surface water (table 13). The Elocal_{water} is the input for the STP module. A logKow is needed to calculate the partition between water and sludge. Using the structure-activity calculation method of Mackay et al. (1980) a logKow of 0.02 is calculated for oxytetracycline, a value that is consistent with the weak adsorption found for this substance in soil (Soulides et al., 1962; Roij and De Vries, 1980). The effect of the degradability of a substance is also modelled in table 13.

In this example sorption to sludge removed only 0.01% of the daily load. Differences in the results between the scenarios 'no STP' and 'STP without degradation' are a result of different water volumes before (input from fish nursery) and after the model STP. Reliable data on sorption to sludge (or removal rates) can lower the PIECsw further.

2d: Exposure assessment: trigger values.

Decisions for further assessment are made by comparison of predicted exposure concentrations to trigger values. Some remarks can be made concerning these triggers given in the EMEA (1997) document. The exposure trigger level for further testing when the environment is exposed by dung from grazing animals is $10 \mu g/kg_{wwt}$. This trigger will have no practical consequences for the pharmaceutical industry. Even substances with relative low dosages (like ivermectine) will exceed this trigger 100 times. It is even more remarkable that ivermectin at concentrations of 0.5 $\mu g/kg_{wwt}$ still induces abberrations in wings of the dung fly *Scatophaga stercoraria* (Strong and James, 1992). In this case the trigger is not even protective enough.

oxytetracycline	concentration	PIECsw	PIECsw (mg/l)	PIECsw (mg/l)
	in water basin	(mg/l)	with STP, no	with STP, ready
	(mg/l)	no STP	degradation	biodegradable
continuous	75	0.15	0.07	0.003
treatment				
occasional	75	1.00	0.49	0.017
treatment				

Table 13	Prodictod	concentrations	in surface	water of o	vytotroeveli	ng with and	without STP
Table 13.	1 I cuicicu	concenti ations	III Sui lace	water or u	7 X Y LELI AL Y LIII	ne with anu	without SII.

Calculations with STP based on USES1.0 (RIVM, 1994)

The duration of exposure is not taken into account in Phase I. It was found that larvae of the dung fly *Neomyia cornicia* did not develop in dung from cattle collected up to 32 days after injection with ivermectin (Wardhaugh and Rodriguez-Menendez, 1988), whereas after oral treatment all ivermectin residues are excreted after one week (see table 4). The Phase II assessment will eventually have to answer to the question whether field populations of insects will be reduced due to the use of the medicine. In view of this population-dynamic approach in Phase II (e.g. field testing), the Phase I assessment should at least take the expected distribution in space and time into account.

The exposure trigger for the concentration in slurry (housed animals) is $100 \ \mu g/kg_{wwt}$, and for the concentration in soil $10 \ \mu g/kg_{dwt}$. Without going into calculations here, it is stated that these two triggers are independent of each other. As demonstrated in previous paragraphs, the triggers for the DT50 in manure and the PIEC in soil are irreconcilable. For instance, a DT50 does not take the amount of substance into account. A rapid degradation may still result in high concentrations. The value for the DT50 in manure (30 days) is not recognisably related to manure storage times, and further investigations into this storage practice, in relation to manuring regimes, and into manure degradation studies are desirable. Attention should be paid to conditions concerning pH, redox potential, moisture content and the temperature in manure storage facilities.

Environmental exposures of fish medicines will always lead to a Phase II assessment as there are no trigger values. The lack of a trigger for surface water (and sediment) is not consistent with the fact that there are triggers for soil and dung. However, is there a reasonable trigger value for the aquatic ecosystem? Because various existing chemicals are known to cause harmful effects at low concentrations, the trigger value would equal zero, i.e. only no exposure of surface water is acceptable. For example, tributyltin compounds cause imposex in gastropods at 1 ng/l in the sea along major ship routes (Bryan et al., 1986) and the EC50 of ivermectin for daphnids is 25 ng/l (Halley et al., 1989). Besides this in many countries fish are cultivated in open water (e.g. salmonids) and medicines are administered directly to the water in therapeutic, thus effective concentrations. As a consequence, there can be no safe trigger value for exposure to fish medicines.

One model not discussed here is the calculation of the concentration in groundwater. The trigger for a Phase II assessment is 0.1 μ g/l. The EMEA document refers to a certain partition model that calculates the concentration in soil porewater (ECB, 1996). Degradation, climate data and hydrological information are not taken into account. The parameters that influence the result are therefore the concentration in soil and the sorption coefficient of the substance. Suppose the concentration in soil is just below the soil trigger of 10 μ g/kg_{dwt}, the sorption coefficient (Koc) has to be >5600 l/kg not to exceed the ground water trigger of 0.1 μ g/l. This high sorption coefficient does not apply for hydrophylic substances like most antibiotics. Therefore, unless the DT50 in slurry is <30 days, every antibiotic is bound to enter a Phase II assessment.

3.3. Discussion

Given the fact that at the stage of the exposure assessment already decisions are made on the acceptability of the environmental risk of a product, regulatory authorities have to be careful in choosing exposure scenarios. A simple worst-case exposure approach might satisfy the safety demands with respect to the environment, but the implications with respect to the benefits of a product do not allow a too rigid cut-off procedure. The exposure and distribution models should lead to practical risk management.

Four models were presented for three routes of emission and distribution of veterinary medicinal products that reflect realistic agricultural practice in the Netherlands. It was shown that simple general models, considering common agricultural practice and useful substance properties can change predicted exposure concentrations by a factor 2 - 40. It is not an imaginary situation that the registration of a product is hampered by the choice of a too restricted exposure model, or serious environmental risks are overlooked. It is obvious that arbitrarily chosen values concerning the percentage of the herd treated, and misinterpretations of phosphate immission standards or phosphate contents of slurry, will lead to further differences in outcomes of calculations. A clear presentation of parameter values for every country of the EU is needed.

With the models presented here the PEC in grassland after manuring the land will always be higher than in arable land. It might therefore be worthwhile to limit the phase I calculation to grassland only. A reason to maintain this distinction is that EMEA has required studies on plants for arable land risk assessment (to protect crop production), and not for grassland risk assessment. There might also be reasons why slurry will be disposed on one type of land only.

The results shown in tables 12 and 13 indicate that substantial concentrations of fish medicine (up to 1 mg/l) might be present in surface water bodies near discharge points of fish nurseries for a period of time after treatment (25 days). STP treatment should be able to reduce these concentrations; for example steroids were found to be eliminated for 58-91 % in sewage treatment (Stumpf et al., 1996). Depending on the degradation rate in the STP, the calculated concentration in surface water can differ up to 29 times. Even with these elimination factors, the environmental burden of fish water treatment will be considerable. Monitoring of surface water for antibiotics and anthelminthics used in fish nurseries is needed to validate this assessment module.

Because of the diversity in trigger values, and the absence of any logic in their appearance in the decision scheme, they rather contribute to the uncertainty of the exposure assessment, than to a margin of safety. However, the current values were agreed upon in the European working group and are at the moment one of few broadly accepted management tools in the EU. Furthermore, the possibility to overrule the trigger value and continue the assessment is left open.

The compartments that are exposed determine what effects should be assessed. Effect values are the product of harmonised and validated experimental procedures based on recognised guidelines, with known uncertainty ranges and a broad acceptance. The CVMP

55

note for guidance has identified several endpoints (species and functions) and triggers that are well known from pesticide and new chemicals assessment. Effect parameters used are NOEC, LC50, EC50, MIC, %effect, and PNEC. The RCRs are compared to trigger values of 0.01, 0.1, and 1. This means that decisions are based on no-effect situations (PNEC, NOEC) or on maximum effect situations (MIC: the minimum concentration that inhibits growth completely), and RCR are compared to numerous triggers, clearly incorporating assessment factors. A clear approach, using only PNEC values and one trigger value (1) is more appropriate. Amongst others, this approach leaves the opportunity to the notifier to provide data on more species in order to refine the PNEC.

There can be great differences in agricultural practice and environmental conditions from one country to another, while at the same time on the European scale there is a need for harmonised exposure models and realistic trigger values. An interdisciplinary approach using knowledge of veterinary and agricultural practice, risk management, and environmental toxicology and chemistry, is needed to discriminate between relevant exposure scenarios and far-fetched worst-case calculations. These dilemmas call for an ongoing harmonisation process, preferably guided by a European technical guidance document on the environmental assessment of veterinary medicinal products.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank Prof. Dr. C.J. van Leeuwen, Drs. E.J. van de Plassche, and Drs. T.G. Vermeire (all at CSR/RIVM) for critically reading the manuscripts of this paper.

4. Validation of the exposure assessment for veterinary medicinal products

Submitted to Science of the Total Environment

4.1 Introduction

The marketing of veterinary medicinal products is actively regulated in the European Union by Directive 2001/82/EC, amended by Directive 2004/28/EC, in order to protect the environment, next to animal health, consumers, and professional users. An environmental risk assessment is to be performed at registration, and there is a clear policy and regulatory infrastructure to deal with this issue, as well as a number of regulatory guidance documents on the environmental risk assessment (EMEA, 1997; VICH, 2000; DG Enterprise, 2000; VICH, 2003).

Given the nature of risk assessment for new applications, there is a need to model exposure concentrations and associated risks. Addiscot et al. (1995) stated that some form of critical evaluation procedure is essential both to maintain the integrity of modelling and to ensure that the use of models by regulators does not result in the propagation of misleading information. The validation of screening models contributes to a better understanding of the information generated in the risk assessment and thus to the quality of the decision making process (Addiscot and Wagenet, 1985; Addiscot et al., 1995; Dee, 1995). Validation is used here in the meaning of establishing whether the model is 'well founded and applicable'.

The first objective of this paper is to validate existing screening level exposure models for the risk assessment of veterinary medicines spread in manure, that have been presented previously in this journal by Montforts et al. (1999).

A second objective is to develop scenarios for the risk assessment under different European conditions, incorporating information on realistic agricultural and veterinarian practice, land use, geomorphology, and climate. The objective of the scenarios is to make the models applicable for European registration procedures for veterinary medicines.

A third objective is the verification of the 50% removal factor, the dilution factor and the emission pattern, assumed for the exposure assessment of the use of medicines in fish nurseries, by Montforts et al. (1999).

4.2 Screening model validation

Screening level models do not intend to represent reality accurately, but to provide rapid predictions of the potential environmental fate of a compound (Tarazona et al., 2003). To validate this claim, the available screening models were compared to field data published for soil, surface water and groundwater (Hamscher et al., 2000; Winckler and Grafe, 2001b;

Haller et al., 2002; Hamscher et al., 2002; Boxall et al., 2002; De Liguoro et al., 2003; Aga et al., 2003; Schlüsener et al., 2003).

4.2.1 Empirical validation of the soil exposure models

Soil exposure screening models for veterinary medicines have been proposed and discussed in literature (Spaepen et al., 1997; Boxall et al., 1997; Jorgensen et al., 1998; Montforts et al., 1999; WRc-NSF, 2001; Kelly et al., 2003). The deterministic and functional modelling of local exposure concentrations was also applied for other environmental contaminants such as heavy metals, pathogens and biocides (Breimer and Smilde, 1986; Montfoort et al., 1996; Walker and Stedinger, 1999; Van der Poel and Bakker, 2002). The modelling of regional distributions as applied for nutrients or pathogens in manure, was generally not used for registration of chemicals (Walker, 1997; Walker et al., 1998a; Walker and Stedinger, 1999; Vega et al., 2001; Menzi et al., 2002). The exception to the rule was the VetPec model used in the UK for veterinary medicines (WRc-NSF, 2001).

The soil exposure models at the screening level describe the concentration of the excreted residue in the slurry, and the concentration of the residue in soil after application of the slurry. The elementary deterministic soil concentration model used for veterinary medicines is described by:

$$Q_{excreted} = Q_{product} \cdot C_c \cdot T_{treatment} \cdot F_{excreted} \cdot m_{animal} \cdot Ncyclus_{animal}$$

$$C_{slurry} = \frac{Q_{excreted}}{P_{slurry}} \cdot e^{-k \deg_{slurry} \cdot T_{storage}}$$

$$PECsoil = \frac{C_{slurry} \cdot Q_{slurry}}{\rho_{soil} \cdot CONV_{area field} \cdot DEPTHfield}$$

with the following explanation of symbols (Table 4-1).

Empirical data on slurry concentrations and soil concentrations obtained in controlled studies are most useful for the empirical validation of this model. The data for the veterinary antibiotic sulfachloropyridazine (SCP) obtained in a field experiment in the United Kingdom are used to verify the soil concentration function (Boxall et al., 2002). This field experiment was performed with spiked manure spread over a sand soil and a clay soil, and all terms in the model were controlled. The sand soil was amended with slurry containing SCP at a concentration that would result in a nominal concentration in our standard models of 440 μ g/kg. Corrected for the actual soil bulk density of the sand soil the nominal soil concentration amounts to 393 μ g/kg dw. The initial measured concentrations (averaged over 20 cm depth) range from 232 to 669 μ g/kg dw and were overall in close agreement to the

Table 4-1 Explanation of symbols for the soil concentration model.

input

Q _{product}	dosage product used	[kg.kg _{bw} ⁻¹ .d ⁻¹]
C _c	concentration chemical (c) in product	[mg _c .kg⁻¹]
T _{treatment}	duration of treatment	[d]
m _{animal}	(averaged) body weight	[kg _{bw} .animal ⁻¹]
F _{excreted}	fraction excreted in faeces and urine	[-]
Ncyclus _{animal}	number of cycli per year	[animal.place ⁻¹ .yr ⁻¹]
P _{slurry}	slurry production animal in stable in one year	[kg.place ⁻¹ .y ⁻¹]
T _{storage}	duration of storage	[d]
kdeg _{slurry}	reaction constant transformation in slurry	[d ⁻¹]
Qslurry	slurry immission standard	[kg. ha-1.yr-1]
$ ho_{soil}$	bulk density of soil	[kg.m⁻³]
DEPTHfield	mixing depth with soil	[m]
CONV _{area field}	conversion factor for the area of the agricultural field	[m ² .ha ⁻¹]
intermediate resu	Its	
Q _{excreted}	amount substance excreted	[mg _c .place ⁻¹ .yr ⁻¹]
C _{slurry}	concentration in slurry	[mg _c .kg⁻¹]
output		
PECsoil	Concentration of the chemical in the soil	[mg _c .kg _{soil} -1]

predictions. Thus the model performed satisfactorily as a screening tool. The clay soil was amended with slurry containing SCP at a concentration that would result in a concentration, corrected for the actual soil bulk density, of 500 μ g/kg dw. The range of SCP concentrations (averaged over 20 cm depth) was between the limit of detection and 120 μ g/kg.

Assuming a normal distribution for these measurements, regression analysis indicated that 90 percent of the distribution of soil concentrations would be within a range of 8 - 145 μ g/kg dw soil. The modelled concentration of 500 μ g/kg corresponds to the 0.11 percentile of the distribution. The probability of a concentration taking a value of 500 μ g/kg or greater is only 0.11%, which makes it very unlikely that the theoretical concentration actually had been present anywhere in the field. Spatial heterogeneity may have accounted partly for these deviations (Vischetti et al., 1997). Thus the screening model did not predict the measured field concentrations in clay very well, or alternatively, about 90% of the SCP was lost between spiking of manure and analysis of clay soil samples.

Another paper contained empirical data on both soil and slurry concentrations of a veterinary medicine. Soil concentrations of 15 μ g sulfadimidine per kg soil were found in Eastern Westphalia (Germany) in January 2002, in soil where 7 months earlier pig slurry had been applied (Christian et al., 2003). Pig slurry from the same location as used on the soil, although sampled some four months after this soil amendment, contained sulfadimidine at a concentration of 1.1 mg/kg ww. Assuming incorporation to 30 cm in a soil with a dry bulk density of 1740 kg.m⁻³, the authors argued that the soil concentration was explained by the slurry concentration. However, since it concerns different batches of slurry, this argumentation is highly speculative.

The UK field study cited above was only concerned with the soil compartment, not with the slurry compartment. Using the data reported by Hamscher et al (2000; 2002) on tetracyclines (tetracyclin (TC), chlortetracyclin (CTC), oxytetracyclin (OTC)), a comparison was made between model calculations for one animal type (sows) and one dosage, and measurements in both slurry and soil. Two screening models were used: the Spaepen model (Spaepen et al., 1997) and the RIVM model (Montforts, 1999). In the model calculations, per place only one sow per year was supposed to be present, dosed with tetracyclines at 40 mg/kg bw for 5 days. The excretion factor was set to 1. DT50 for tetracyclines as a group may vary between 4 and 175 days, without correction for matrix, aeration or temperature (Jagnow, 1977; Kühne et al., 2000). (Soulides et al., 1962; Vej-Hansen et al., 1978; Gavalchin and Katz, 1994; Ingerslev et al., 2001; Winckler and Grafe, 2001a; Lumaret and Errouissi, 2002). In the calculations the degradation was assumed negligible. With the Spaepen model, soil concentrations of 75 µg/kg dw were expected. See Figure 4-1. The model calculations presented by Spaepen et al. (1997) were underestimating both the mean initial and maximum concentrations for tetracyclines (TC, OTC, and CTC). In the RIVM model the upper limit for the predicted soil concentrations was 207 µg/kg dw. Measurements reported were below or just above the RIVM prediction. The RIVM model provided for the more protective results, thus performing better as a screening tool.

The authors noted however that the measured soil concentrations were a factor 2-4 higher than expected based on the corresponding measured slurry concentrations. The authors



Figure 4-1 Graphical presentation of mean and maximum measurements of oxytetracycline (OTC) in soil in Germany (1999-2001). Straight line: initial PEC according to Montforts (1999) ; dotted line: initial PEC according to Spaepen et al. (1997) for fattening pigs dosed at 40 mg OTC/kg for 5 days.

considered that this difference indicated the presence of residues in the soil, additional release of bound residues between the sampling in the years 2000 and 2001, or higher application volumes than stated (Hamscher et al., 2002). Alternatively, due to incomplete mixing of the slurry matrix before the slurry sample is taken, strongly sorbed substances may have concentrated in the solid fraction in deeper layers. Measured concentrations in the liquid fraction may hence have lead to underestimation of the total substance load present. The RIVM model predicted a maximum concentration of 52 mg/L in slurry at a dosage of 40 mg/kg for 5 days (fattening pigs), which resulted in the predicted 207 μ g/kg in soil.

Winckler and Grafe (2001c) found in German pig breeding facilities mean tetracycline concentrations of 11.6 mg/L and a maximum concentration of 66 mg/L in slurry. Compared to these data, the measured concentration in the 'controlled' slurry samples of only 4 mg/L reported in (Hamscher et al., 2002) was indeed rather low.

The soil sub-routine in the RIVM model tends to be conservative in predicted exposure levels, which satisfies the need to err on the safe side in the screening phase. In particular the prediction of the slurry concentration is challenged by uncertainties concerning dilution, mixing, and dissipation of residues.

4.2.2 Functional validation for surface water

Three screening level models were available for surface water. The EMEA and RIVM model contained a transport subroutine (soil-to-water transport rate) and a catchment subroutine (distribution and concentration in surface water) (EMEA, 1997; Montforts, 1999). The models were conceived around one algorithm (an export coefficient depending on sorption properties and a static water volume). The RIVM model assumes a dilution factor of 10, and describes the transfer as follows:

$$PECsw_{leaching} = \frac{PECporewater}{DILUTION_{leaching}}$$

$$PECporewater = \frac{PECsoil \cdot \rho_{soil}}{K_{soil-water} \cdot 1000}$$

$$K_{soil-water} = Fwater_{soil} + Fsolid_{soil} \cdot \frac{Kp_{soil}}{1000} \cdot \rho_{solid}$$

$$Kp_{soil} = Foc_{soil} \cdot Koc$$

The EMEA model assumes a dilution factor of 3.3 and describes the partitioning function as follows. For both models the explanation of symbols is in Table 4-2.

$$PECporewater = \frac{PECsoil}{Foc_{soil} \cdot Koc}$$

Table 4-	2 Explana	ation of syn	nbols for the	e surface water	exposure functions.

input		
	dilution factor for leaching	[-]
PECsoil	concentration in the soil	[mg _c .kg _{soil} ⁻¹]
$ ho_{soil}$	fresh bulk density of soil	[kg.m⁻³]
$ ho_{solid}$	density of soil solids	[kg.m⁻³]
Fair _{soil}	fraction air in soil	[m ³ .m ⁻³]
Fwater _{soil}	fraction water in soil	[m ³ .m ⁻³]
Fsolid _{soil}	fraction solids in soil	[m ³ .m ⁻³]
Foc _{soil}	fraction organic carbon in soil (w/dw)	[kg.kg⁻¹]
Кос	partition coefficient organic carbon - water	[dm ³ .kg⁻¹]
intermediate results		
K _{soil-water}	partition coefficient solids and water in soil (v/v)	[m ³ .m ⁻³]
Kp _{soil}	partition coefficient solids and water in soil (v/w)	[dm ³ .kg⁻¹]
PECporewater	predicted concentration in pore water	[mg _c .l⁻¹]
output		
PECswleaching	predicted concentration in surface water	[mg _c .l⁻¹]
-		

In this methodology, the concentration in surface water depends on the concentration in soil as a result of spreading of slurry. The degree of surface water contamination in these lower level exposure models is not related to the actual transport processes (erosion, run-off, and drainage), the ratio between treated soil and receiving surface water, nor to the distance to the surface water. The screening models consider that the soil to water transfer is linked exclusively to the soil pore water concentration, which is estimated from equilibrium processes based on the Koc or related parameters, followed by a dilution factor between soil porewater and surface water. The distance to the surface water is not modelled.

The VetPec model is more complex, consisting of a run-off model and an aquifer model that accompany the soil concentration model (WRc-NSF, 2001). Distribution of chemicals between porewater and solids are calculated using fugacity equations. The aquifer and catchment sub-models are capacity models consisting of cells with a limited number of variations in parameter properties, parameterised on English aquifers and river water catchments. Every time step, substance degradation, inflow and outflow are calculated, after which a new equilibrium is obtained (MacKay et al., 1986). The surface water predictions by VetPec have been validated with a selection of data on the pesticide isoproturon. The hydrology in the models was however not validated. No validation on less mobile compounds has been performed.

These models were subjected to an empirical validation using data from a field experiment with the veterinary antibiotic SCP performed in the United Kingdom (Boxall et al., 2002). In the sand soil, soil porewater concentrations of SCP had been measured, and in the clay soil, drain water concentrations had been measured. The fate in the receiving water

compartments was however not assessed. The validation of the fugacity models in VetPec was hampered by this approach, since the transfer rates were to be validated and not the equilibrium concentrations. This validation exercise generated highly variable and unsatisfying results, as shown in Table 4-3. These model approaches did not perform satisfactorily as a screening tool.

Few data on surface water contamination by medicines and hormones via land are found in literature. A selection is briefly discussed below to add further considerations to the validity of screening level exposure models.

Ivermectin has a very high sorption coefficient K_{om} of 4500-5500 L/kg, and is rather persistent in soil with degradation half-lives (determined at 22°C under laboratory conditions) of 93 to 240 days (mean 187 days, n=4) (Halley et al., 1989). Transport of ivermectin by drainage would be considered negligible, since this route is not assessed in the EMEA model at $K_{om} > 500$ L/kg. In a study on run-off from cattle feedlots in the United States, only trace amounts (up to 2 ng/L) of ivermectin were indeed detected occasionally (Nessel et al., 1989).

Oxytetracycline shows strong adsorption behaviour in soils with logKoc of 4 - 5 (Rabølle and Spliid, 2000). In an Italian study, no oxytetracycline was detected in drainage ditches adjacent to treated fields (LOD 1 μ g/L) (De Liguoro et al., 2003), which is consistent with the EMEA model trigger that surface water is not exposed if Koc is >500 L/kg (EMEA, 1997). In an US investigation, 31% of the water samples proximal to swine farms and 67% of the samples proximal to poultry farms were found to contain antimicrobial compounds used in these farms: chlor-, oxy- and tetracycline, sarafloxacin, lincomycin, and sulfadimethoxine, generally at levels <4 µg/L (Campagnolo et al., 2002). In an UK field study, mass losses from soil into drainage water accounted for not more than 0.5% of the dose applied to the soil. Peak concentrations of oxytetracycline were 36 µg/L. For sulfachloropyridazine, the peak concentration was 613 µg/L (Kay et al., 2004). Of sarafloxacin and related fluoroquinolones the logKoc is reported to be 5 - 6 (AHI, 1997; Nowara et al., 1997). However, the concentrations of tetracyclines and sarafloxacin found occasionally (1-36 µg/L and 4 µg/L, respectively) do not support the above-mentioned EMEA model trigger. These scarce data cast further doubt on the applicability of the surface water exposure models for screening purposes.

Table 4-3 A summary	y of model	calculations	for surface	water	and	peak	drain	flows	in	the	UK	field
experiment with SCP (Boxall et al	., 2002). All 1	results are in	ι [μg/L]	. nc =	= not c	alcula	ted.				

Soil type	Nominal soil concentration [µg/kg]	VetPec Max. value Porewater	VetPec Surface water	EMEA groundwater	EMEA Surface water	RIVM Surface water	Peak flow from drainpipe (clay) or soil pore water (sand) (LOD 0.25 µg/L)	
							Year 1	Year 2
Sand	393	0.84	0.01	370	112	37	0	0
Clay	500	nc	0.01	nc	74	26	589	6

Veterinary pharmaceuticals are released into the soil as part of an organic matter rich matrix, and it is well known that organic amendments including manure can increase but also decrease the adsorption of chemicals to soil (Iglesias-Jimenez et al., 1997; Morillo et al., 2002). In addition, the direct transfers of the non-dissolved chemical fraction should be considered. The transfer of particle-bound fractions is particularly important for run-off, while colloidal associations should be considered for drainage since the fraction bound to small particles could also be relevant for preferential flow via macropores. For example the sorption of oestradiol-17 β is associated with the surface area and/or the cation exchange capacity of the soil, with high correlation to particle size (clay) and organic matter. K_F values were in the range of 86 - 6670 L/kg, with Kom values of 1800-72500 L/kg (median 2600 L/kg) (Casev et al., 2003). In soil column leaching studies performed with oestradiol-17 β K_{om} values ranging from 950 to 1700 L/kg were determined. The strong sorption did not appear to hinder degradation; degradation half-life values of 0.4-10 days were determined (Das et al., 2004). Nevertheless, from experimental plots treated with horse stall bedding or poultry litter, 20% and 30%, respectively, of the added amount of oestradiol-17 β was transported in run-off directly following a simulated storm. In the poultry litter experiment, the total loss in a second simulated storm event seven days later was 69% of the first loss, which is in proportion with the load remaining after the first event (Nichols et al., 1997; Busheé et al., 1998).

The screening level models tend to be conservative in predicting exposure levels, which satisfies the need to err on the safe side in the screening phase. However, the trigger value for surface water exposure clearly obscures the possibility of transport of strongly sorbing substances.

4.2.3 Functional validation for groundwater

With respect to groundwater, in Phase I of the EMEA Note for Guidance the concentration in the ground water is set equal to the concentration in the porewater (EMEA, 1997). The EMEA scheme suggests that the PECsoil as calculated for the upper layer is the input term for the calculation. Conceptually, in this model the groundwater table reaches to the mixing depth defined by the soil concentration module, or it supposes complete vertical transposition of the residue to the depth of the groundwater table. In this model partitioning depends on equilibrium sorption to solids, no saturation at binding places, and steady-state conditions. Movements, dilution, desorption, and transformation is not modelled. As explained in the previous section, in VetPec the distribution of chemicals between porewater and solids are calculated using fugacity functions.

In Table 4-3 a comparison is made between the predictions and the porewater measurements of SCP in the UK field experiment (Boxall et al., 2002). Again, these model approaches did not perform satisfactorily as a screening tool.

The accuracy of the partitioning model predictions depended strongly on the soil layer to which the measurements were standardised. If a 5 cm layer was chosen instead of the current 20 cm, calculated concentrations would have been four times higher. In any case, all

calculations have overestimated the actual porewater concentrations. The maximum *drainflow* concentration from the clay field in the first year (Table 4-3) corresponded reasonably with the EMEA *porewater* calculation. The field measurements are clearly the result of preferential flow of both solutes and manure-associated particles through soil cracks following a massive rain event. The second year the soil had been tiled and disked, thus cutting off the cracks that lead to the drainpipes, resulting in lower concentrations.

4.3 Scenario parameters

The exposure modelling can be split in three major subroutines: one for the animal husbandry phase, one for the slurry handling, and one for the environmental phase. The situation of interest that is to be modelled defines the model approach (mechanistic, deterministic) and the respective parameter values. A specific combination of parameter values is denoted a scenario. The following variables and scenario parameters need to be observed in the scario and have to be addressed, either as a parameter or as default:

- 1) Emission
 - a) disease incidence and remediation: occurrence of infections throughout the year(s)
 - b) dose administered
 - c) duration of treatment
 - d) excretion of residues by animals
- 2) Storage
 - a) slurry production
 - b) storage time
 - c) storage conditions
 - d) slurry removal: timing and amount
 - e) slurry texture
- 3) Substance behaviour in slurry
 - a) degradation in slurry
 - b) distribution in slurry layers or fractions (solid-liquid)
- 4) Immission into soil
 - a) dosage applied
 - b) repetitions
 - c) soil management
- 5) Substance behaviour in soil and water
 - a) degradation in soil
 - b) distributions in soil (spatial heterogeneity)
- 6) Environmental conditions
 - a) climate
 - b) soil
 - c) hydrology
 - d) topography.

Given the quantity of variables, it is virtually impossible to control all variables and examine one parameter at the time in an experimental setting. Below key parameters are discussed.

Emission. Disease incidence and dosage are static parameters, since in the risk assessment at registration the modelling is performed using a given prescribed dose to a target animal. Several target animals have more production cycles in one year, which may all need treatment. Depending on the relation between animal cycles and manure storage in the model, a certain number of cycles should be observed in the emission module. Excretion of residues is also an input-parameter in the model. Excretion patterns and cumulative excretion may differ depending on species, race, mode of application and dosage. Data reported in literature suggest that total cumulative excretion may range from 0.2 to 1, and the excretion time from 1 and 100 days, depending on species, substance, dosage, and route of administration (Short et al., 1987; Halley et al., 1989; Lumaret et al., 1993; Herd, 1995; Ramazza et al., 1996; Strong et al., 1996; Winckler and Grafe, 2001c). Although the parent compound may be transformed into transformation products, the conjugates may be reverted in the slurry to active compounds (Henschel et al., 1997; Panter et al., 1999) and others may have some activity themselves (Schowanek and Webb, 2002). Excretion of metabolites may hence contribute to the effects of the parent compound.

Storage. The input, storage and outflow of contaminated and uncontaminated slurry determine the loads that will reach the soil. Different animal types may contribute to the same slurry storage system and the treated animals do not exclusively determine final concentrations. Slurry production and quality is monitored more or less intensively in EU countries due to the restrictions in the use of fertilisers. The figures in the publications are not always comparable, as they may refer to some (adult) individuals or to the total husbandry system (including young) and are not always identical (due to differences in feed, race and housing conditions). Body weights at treatment are proposed based on adult weights for parent animals and the mean of slaughter weight and starting weight for production animals. Depending on the physical state of the manure, the manure is kept in bedding, piled, or stored in tanks or lagoons. Proportions of manure types and storage systems differ considerably between countries (Menzi, 2002). Depending on structure and handling, the manure can be aerobic or anaerobic and there will be a great variation in temperature, redox potential, pH, and storage time of the slurry. Different manure types and storage systems will influence storage conditions and manure composition in different ways (Donham et al., 1988). Conditions like oxygen levels, manure age, microbial activity and temperature will determine the fate of organic contaminants to a large extent, but are highly diverse within and between storage systems (Hoeksma et al., 1987; Novem, 1991; Jenkins et al., 1997; Richard et al., 1998; Pitts et al., 1998; Qiang, 1999; Arogo et al., 1999; Schiffer et al., 2001; Moreira, 2001). Depending on climate, season, storage systems and manure structure, temperatures can range from ambient (freezing) to 65°C (composting) (Kelley et al., 1994; Eghball, 1998). For underground slurry storage systems this range can be narrowed down, because average soil temperatures for Europe range from 4 to 18°C (FOCUS, 2000). For storage of solid manure

(piles, containers) temperatures can be quite higher and varying due to composting processes (until anaerobicity is reached).

Manure models that describe manure loading, quality change, and fate of constituents (i.e. CO_2 , NH_3) do exist, and could be adapted, but also have to be improved amongst others on insufficiently developed manure production submodels and the limitation to liquid manure facilities (Ni, 1999; Ni et al., 1999; Hilhorst and De Mol, 2002). The most realistic period in which storage can take place cannot be determined with a rule of thumb. Storage time is a function of manure output and substance and manure input. Since these functions largely depend on the (unknown and individual) substance prescriptions, disease patterns, and manure management, either a complete manure model with detailed inputs is needed, or a scenario for every livestock category of interest has to be defined. In the latter option, dosing, excretion and manure handling are made part of the scenario rather than of the model algorithms. Given the sheer endless variability described above, the slurry storage, production, and removal, should be defined in scenarios for screening level models.

Soil immision patterns. Agricultural practices will play a very important role in determining the concentrations of veterinary drugs in the environment. Livestock manure is the second most important source of nutrient inputs to agricultural land (Pau Vall and Vidal, 2001). The pattern of agriculture and manure use can vary widely from one region to another. The nutrient content of manure varies from country to country and from one region to another within a country (Provolo and Riva, 2002). The relative contribution of the animal types to the manure-N input to soil per EU country is depicted in Figure 4-1. These data indicate that bovine and pig manure are the main slurry types used to fertilise land (if organic fertilisers are used). However, sheep and poultry manure are regionally and locally important. We propose to use the lower nitrogen production standards presented to the European Resource Management of the European Commission DG XI (Ketelaars and Van der Meer, 2000) (Table 4). Storage systems differ between countries and animal types. The frequency at which slurry is taken out of the storage facilities can have a different timing. For example, for cattle and pig slurry, seven respectively three moments are considered by (Tijmensen et al., 2002). Another source reports average slurry storage times of 9 months (range 0 - 50 months; see table 5), but it is not specified to what animals the data apply (WRc-NSF, 2000). Spreading events are monitored at regional levels (ADAS, 1998; Berende, 1998; Van Staalduinen et al., 2001). In the Netherlands and in Belgium, over 95% of the agricultural (arable) land is manured one to three times per year. The manure produced by livestock will be applied to land, the amount applied being dependent on immission limits for nitrogen and phosphorus, fertiliser recommendations, soil type or crop tolerance for slurry. These limits which are designed to avoid the excessive input of nutrients in soils vary across member states. For example in Italy, at national level, the maximum amount of manure which can be applied to land that is not designated as a vulnerable area is the annual production from 4 tonnes of live weight per hectare without regard of animal species (Bonazzi, 2002). Based on

Livestock	P _N N _{animal}		m _{animal}		
	[kg N/place/year]		(number of young per year)		
Cattle					
Dairy cows	60		425 kg per adult, 25 kg per calf		
			(0.6 calves per place per year)		
Other cows	44		425 kg per adult, 25 kg per calf		
			(0.6 calves per place per year)		
Veal [#]	10	1.8	140 kg		
0-1 year	18		200 kg		
1-2 year	31		400 kg		
>2 year	35		450 kg		
Pigs					
Sows with piglets till 25 kg	32		240 kg per adult; 9 kg per piglet		
			(20 piglets per place)		
Slaughter pigs 25-105 kg	7.5	3	65 kg		
Poultry					
Laying Hens	0.35		1.6 kg		
Broilers, 1.8 kg	0.23	9	1 kg		
Ducks, 3.3 kg	0.41	7	1.6 kg		
Turkeys, 13 kg	0.90	2.7	6.5 kg		
Sheep					
Ewes with lambs till 40 kg	13		75 kg per adult; 20 kg per lamb		
			(1.6 lambs per place)		
Goat					
Females with kids till 7 kg	13		65 adult; 3.5 kg per kid		
			(1.8 kids per place)		
Rabbit					
Females with kittens	3.9	6.75	2 kg per adult; 1 kg per kitten		
		births	(50 kittens per place)		
Equines					
Horses	35		400 kg		

Table 4-4 Standardised nitrogen production standards (P_N), rounds (N_{animal}), and treatment body weights (m_{animal}), for different livestock categories (Ketelaars and Van der Meer, 2000).

[#] veal data based on (Van Staalduinen et al., 2001) and (Montforts, 1999)

the data in Table 4, the annual load may range up from 275 kg N/ha for turkeys to 550 kg N/ha for dairy cows. The exact amount that is allowed will depend on the way the production per hectare is quantified over the year, and the nitrogen content of the manure produced. The amount of slurry that is actually applied (in one time) will depend on many other practical factors. A different situation is found in the Netherlands, that designated its entire territory as a vulnerable area under the EU Nitrate Directive (91/676/EC). This directive applies to areas that are vulnerable to leaching of nitrate in all member states and the nitrogen immission standard of 170 kg N/ha can be considered as a realistic best case for these areas.

Incorporation depths have been recorded in an inventory by WRc-NSF (WRc-NSF, 2000) (see Table 4-5). Plough depths for slurry and solid manure were in the range of 0-28 cm, with averages of 16.5 cm.

	% applied	quantity stored	storage time	application rate	plough depth	nitrogen content
Slurry		gallon	months	kg/ha/y	cm	kg N/m ³
Average	100	1042571	9.1	21213	16.5	2.69
Min	100	0	0	80	0	0.99
max	100	5000000	50	100000	28	7
Manure		tonne				tonne
Average	98.4	2359	8.06	12637	16.5	2.11
Min	25	0	0	3	0	2.11
Max	100	110000	48	55000	28	2.11

 Table 4-5 Amounts of slurry stored and applied, time of application and length of storage (WRc-NSF, 2000).

Environmental conditions. Climate and soils are important factors in the determination of chemical concentrations in the environment. In 1993, the European Commission and the European Crop Protection Association jointly established FOCUS (Forum for the Coordination of pesticide fate models and their USe) which, as one of its tasks, established standard leaching and surface water exposure scenarios for pesticide registration in Europe. The simple fact that this methodology encompasses the same agricultural fields that are relevant for manure application, predestined these scenarios to be applicable to residues spread by manure as well.

4.4 Scenario development for spreading of manure

Since at the screening stage of the exposure assessment already decisions are made on the acceptability of the environmental risk, regulatory authorities have to be careful in choosing exposure scenarios (Montforts et al., 1999). The emission route from slurry to soil and water is unmistakably an important route, and a complex one. A critical component for the registration procedure is the identification of relevant scenarios. The actual use pattern of the product should be explored, because repetitive use, season-related use, or concurrent uses over large areas, in relation to the timing and scale of emission to the environment (i.e. spreading of manure), have a significant impact on the actual exposure. A general lack of information on distributions of parameter values within and between systems forces one to propose the use of a deterministic model with empirical parameters defined in a simple scenario of realistic and standardised conditions.

The amount of slurry present in storage depends on the time of year; and depending on the number of cycles treated during this time, the concentration in the slurry is determined. A major difference between the two screening models that have been discussed is the time span in which clean manure is produced. The shorter this period, the higher the predicted manure concentrations will be. The amount of manure that is spread containing the residue of the treatment is delimited by the storage capacity of the system and the opportunities to take the slurry out. Most UK farms only have the capacity to store slurry for less than one month, and in several other European countries from 1 to 12 months (Menzi, 2002). The depth of incorporation depends on the method of application. In the field, no incorporation has been registered as general agricultural practice. If manure is incorporated, the mean incorporation depth is 16.5 cm. Maximum slurry loads ranged up to 550 kg N/ha/year and more. Realistic worst case conditions are hence proposed in a simple scenario assuming:

- single treatment per animal place,
- standard European nitrogen production values,
- a manure production volume of 1 month (30 days) containing the full residue,
- a nitrogen application rate of 600 kg N/ha/year in one time onto agricultural land, which is distributed over 5 cm soil with a bulk density of 1500 kg.m⁻³,
- no dissipation during storage, and no after-treatment of slurry.

If the exposure calculation in Phase I according to this scenario fails the trigger for further testing, safe use in all member states is possible.

If not, then realistic best case conditions, characterising a possible safe use in vulnerable areas under the Nitrate Directive in the European Union, are proposed in a similar scenario, now assuming

- active incorporation of slurry into 20 cm of soil,
- at a nitrogen application rate of 170 kg N/ha/year in one time.

If the trigger is exceeded, then a phase II assessment would be compulsory for all member states. Further assessments should be made at the member state level, since environmental concerns can be a reason to refuse (mutual recognition of) marketing authorisation²⁰.

The PECsoil can be used in conjunction with screening level models that predict mass transfer to groundwater and surface water. Both screening level and mechanistic models for distribution of residues from soil provided for pesticide registration by FOCUS are considered as suitable for veterinary drugs as for pesticides (FOCUS, 1995; Groen, 1997; FOCUS, 2000; FOCUS, 2001). The simple fact that this methodology encompasses the same agricultural fields that are relevant for manure application predestined these models and scenarios to be applicable to residues spread by manure as well. Application timers in the models should be set to relevant regional conditions for manure application. These may depend on spreading restrictions and where these do not apply, by worst case conditions (e.g. autumn vs. spring conditions).

Interestingly, the predicted initial soil concentration using the proposed scenario in conjunction with Dutch default conditions, for a high volume compound like (oxy)tetracycline used in pigs or broilers, amounts to 200 μ g/kg soil, with a possible maximum of 1000 μ g/kg soil (Montforts, 2003). The average concentration of antibiotics in soil based on the total annual consumption of 402 tonnes and the total capacity of agricultural fields to utilise manure in the Netherlands, amounts to approximately 100 μ g/kg soil (Van Staalduinen et al., 2001; MARAN, 2002). The difference between these results is within an

²⁰ European Court of Justice, Cases 302/86 Danish Bottles [1988] ECR 4607 and 120/78 Cassis de Dijon [1979] ECR 649

order of magnitude, which suggests that regional scale modelling of soil concentrations may provide suitable approaches for protective risk assessments.

4.5 Fish cultivation

The scale of fish cultivation, dominated by land based fish nurseries, for commercial purposes, is limited in the Netherlands. The production amounts to about 0.2% of the production of animal husbandry (Luiten, 2002). In 1994 in total 26 and 10 companies were involved in cultivating eel and catfish, respectively. Most nurseries use water recirculation systems, in which the water is recycled after a water treatment by filtration. Catfish nurseries discharge on the municipal Sewage Treatment Plants (STP), but 40% of the eel nurseries discharge directly on surface water. Tropical fish nurseries may also contribute to the emission to surface waters (Schrap et al., 2003)

The surface water exposure scenarios discussed in Montforts et al. (1999) were based on a fish farm that breeds 50 tonnes of eel a year, the median production in The Netherlands. Two scenarios were distinguished, based on the incidence of administration of the product, and the type of wastewater treatment:

- continuous medication; without recirculation/filtration, followed by a settlement tank;
- occasional medication (≤4 times a year), without recirculation/filtration before discharge to the settlement tank.

The total water volume of the nursery was set at 70 m³. After the settlement tank the water fraction is discharged to surface water. The settling tank is used in order to reduce the amount of precipitation in the waste water before discharge into surface water or waste water treatment systems, but it was also assumed to play a significant role in reducing concentrations of chemicals in the waste water. It was assumed that the settling tank had a removal efficiency of 50%. This 50% removal efficiency was taken from Wagemaker (1993) and is an estimated value based on the average difference between pesticide concentrations that were measured in the influent and effluent of settling tanks used at mushroom production plants, as reported in Van Beersum (1988). Due to the settlement tank the total amount of substance emitted was equally spread out over 25 days. In the exposure model the fish farm discharges on a small waterway that dilutes the effluent by a factor 5 or 3, depending on the water volume discharged. The surface water concentration was therefore constant for at least this emission period.

In addition to the Van Beersum (1988) data set, data on the concentration of pesticides in wash water from flower bulb processing facilities were analysed (Frijters, 2000). A critical evaluation of the available data was performed. The two sets of data analysed contained a total number of 251 observations:

- Individual concentrations of 41 pesticides in the influent and effluent of settling tanks at three different mushroom processing companies at five different time points (Van Beersum, 1988)
- Individual concentrations of 17 pesticides in the influent and effluent of settling tanks used in the washing of flower bulbs (Frijters, 2000).
Figure 4-2: Distribution of removal percentages based on selected influent/effluent concentration, expressed as a percentage of the influent. Average -2.35%, median 16.67%, 10th percentile -110%, n=251



The difference between influent and effluent concentration was expressed as a percentage of the influent concentration. The results are presented in Figure 4-2. The calculated 'removal efficiencies' based on 251 sample pairs varied from -571% to 100%. The available data show an averaged difference between the influent and effluent concentration of -2.35%. The median of the samples was at 17%. Thus, if an indication of the removal efficiency can be derived from these data, the settlement tanks removed a negligible amount of the total load.

Perhaps more important is the applicability of the model for the situation of interest. The reduction to safe levels of the excess organic substances in effluent and the increase of the fraction of the water reused are the major purposes of wastewater treatment in indoor fish production systems. In nursery water treatment systems, a very high concentration of organic matter in wastewater, but no soil, can be expected (Kamstra and Van der Heul, 1998). A subroutine describing the effect of water treatment and sludge retention should be based on the systems of interest.

The emission pattern of treated water is of importance. Some treatments require stopping the water flow for some time, followed by transfer of fish to clean water. Therefore a 100% immediate release should be expected for a worst case estimate. In the original model, emission of the residue was modelled over 25 days, but this retention factor lacks empirical or mechanistic underpinning.

In the exposure model the fish farm discharges on a small waterway that dilutes the effluent by a factor 5 or 3, depending on the water volume discharged. In trench-like waters,

owing to the low flow, only poorly developed turbulence is likely to occur from time to time. Hence, in polder waters and the like, it is to be expected that noticeable lengths of these channels be gradually filled with poorly diluted effluent from waste water treatment plants or other point sources. In the Netherlands, about 60 domestic wastewater treatment plants (c. 20%) have a dilution factor of 2 within 100 metres (De Greef and De Nijs, 1990). Whether or not the effluent flows of the fish nurseries are similar to those of the domestic treatment plants, with presumably batch-like treatment, revealed concentrations of $11 - 41 \mu g/L$ for six therapeutics. The highest concentration found was $120 \mu g/L$ for oxytetracycline. Downstream of the effluent of two may be very well applicable to direct emission in low-flow ditches. Given the high sorption coefficient of oxytetracycline of logKoc 4 - 5 L/kg (Rabølle and Spliid, 2000), dissipation towards the sediment would be expected. For example at the emission point of a tank-based aquaculture system for trout in Northern Italy, a sediment concentration of 246 $\mu g/kg$ dry weight was found (Lalumera et al., 2004).

4.6 Conclusions

The empirical validation of the soil concentration models with (oxy)tetracycline and sulphonamides conducted indicate that it is impossible to analyse the contribution of every single model parameter to the variability in the model predictions using random field samples. Not only variation in doses (a function of dosage and body weight) and excretion factors, dilution, degradation, slurry application rates, and soil variability, but also factors such as representative sampling in slurry and soil, and field residue history, complicate the validation of this part of the model in predicting maximum (nominal) values. It can be concluded that:

- slurry or nutrient concentrations should be related to a realistic time frame in which the contaminated slurry is produced and diluted in order to optimise the worst case predictions;
- the available field data do not allow for validation of the parameter selection in the models;
- field concentrations may vary a factor 30 within one field.

Surface water and groundwater models generated highly deviating predictions compared to the field results. What all models have in common is that soil porewater concentrations are exaggerated compared to the results of the sand soils, but not compared to the results of the clay soil. This provides reason to assume that surface water contamination is not controlled by sorption alone, and cut-off values on sorption properties are not warranted. Furthermore, the exposure model will always predict surface water exposure, which means that spreading manure containing residues of veterinary medicines always leads to pollution of surface water. This prediction always warrants a risk assessment, since all actions that may lead to surface water pollution are to be controlled under the surface water pollution Directive 76/464/EEC. A scenario for a simplified soil exposure model has been made. The PECsoil can be used in conjunction with screening level models that predict mass transfer to groundwater and surface water. Both screening level and mechanistic models for distribution of residues from soil provided for pesticide registration by FOCUS are considered as suitable for veterinary drugs as for pesticides (FOCUS, 1995; Groen, 1997; FOCUS, 2000; FOCUS, 2001). The simple fact that this methodology encompasses the same agricultural fields that are relevant for manure application predestined these models and scenarios to be applicable to residues spread by manure as well. Application timers in the models should be set to relevant regional conditions for manure application. These may depend on spreading restrictions and where these do not apply, by worst case conditions (e.g. autumn vs. spring conditions).

Interestingly, the predicted initial soil concentration using the proposed scenario in conjunction with Dutch default conditions, for a high volume compound like (oxy)tetracycline used in pigs or broilers, amounts to 200 μ g/kg soil, with a possible maximum of 1000 μ g/kg soil (Montforts, 2003). The average concentration of antibiotics in soil based on the total annual consumption of 402 tonnes and the total capacity of agricultural fields to utilise manure in the Netherlands, amounts to approximately 100 μ g/kg soil (Van Staalduinen et al., 2001; MARAN, 2002). The difference between these results is within an order of magnitude, which suggests that regional scale modelling of soil concentrations may provide suitable approaches for protective risk assessments.

The development of regional and catchment area models for assessing pesticides and other agrochemicals, but also manure-borne pathogens, is receiving a significant attention (Walker and Stedinger, 1999; Arhonditsis et al., 2002; Deelstra et al., 2002; Bicudo and Goyal, 2003). In particular run-off and erosion in vulnerable areas of the Mediterranean region would be suitable processes for regional modelling. Additional alternatives are the use of total losses, which may be implemented through probabilistic models (Pablos et al., 1998). It should be, however, recognised that addressing these transfer routes requires regional models, which cannot be implemented as generalised screening tools. Recent studies demonstrate the influence of particle-bound fractions in regional transport modelling and the relevance of erosion in the overall transfer of organic matter from soil to watersheds. These findings suggest that the contribution of these mechanisms can be higher than expected, particularly for chemicals with a high binding potential (McLachlan et al., 2002; Polyakov and Lal, 2004). Smith et al. (2001) observed relevant contributions of surface run-off including particles losses for manure applications over 2.5-3.0 t/ha slurry solids in UK arable lands. But due to the higher run-off/erosion risk of the Mediterranean region a lower threshold should be considered for this area (Arhonditsis et al., 2002). Tentatively, screening assumptions can be done on the basis of simplistic models, correlating directly the concentration in the top soil layer with the expected concentration in the run-off. These models were initially developed for herbicides. They describe non-linear relationships, with an extraction coefficient representing removal of the pesticide from the top 1cm soil layer, which ranged from c. 0.01 up to 0.2, and an exponent representing reductions in the

extraction potential with ageing (Leonard et al., 1979; Southwick et al., 2003). The suitability of these models for pharmaceuticals should be studied.

It is concluded that the original 50% removal efficiency of the settlement tank as used in Wagemaker (1993) and Montforts (1999) lacks empirical foundation since only part of the entire data set (the 'positive' efficiencies) had been used. There is no evidence that a settling tank contributes to removal of a substantial fraction of the total load of dissolved and particleassociated pesticides from wastewater. Furthermore the nature of the settling process of fish nursery sludge may be very different from that of soil particles. The data available are unsuitable for a mechanistic analysis of retention processes, due to a lack of detail in the description of system dimensions, water volumes and flow rates, sludge characteristics, and total pesticide load. A sub-routine describing the effect of water treatment and sludge retention should be based on the systems of interest. Monitoring data from a location with direct emission of fish nursery wastewater indicated a dissipation (or dilution) factor of 2 between effluent and downstream surface water concentrations. What dilution factor is most applicable to fish nurseries cannot be determined. Sediment contamination should be incorporated into the exposure model.

This validation indicates that the surface water exposure model was not well founded, and is based on generalised data derived from situations that were not applicable. With the aim to eliminate no-risk situations from further assessment, a worst-case assumption would be that the therapeutic concentration would be the environmental exposure concentration. Further risk assessment will require the development of an applicable exposure model.

Acknowledgements

This publication was funded by the EU Energy, Environment and Sustainable Development programme of the Fifth Framework Programme, within the project Environmental Risk Assessment of Veterinary Medicines in Slurry, ERAVMIS, contract number EVK1-CT-1999-00003, and of the Netherlands Ministry of VROM, within the RIVM project M/601450 Development of Risk Assessment Methodology. The author is solely responsible for the contents, which does not represent the opinion of the Community. The valuable help of José Tarazona and Rikkert Hansler is gratefully acknowledged.

5. Effect assessment at the base of an exposure trigger in soil – a critical appraisal

5.1 Introduction

Environmental protection legislation both in the USA and in Europe requires an environmental impact assessment for projects and activities, including the use of chemical substances (Zeeman, 1987; Van Leeuwen, 1995; Kolluru, 1996).

The starting point of any risk assessment is the translation of the desired environmental quality in quantifiable goals. So far, protection goals have been associated with the structures and processes within the physical environment: water bodies, soil layers, systems, habitats, species and individuals (Van Leeuwen, 1995). It is the concept of risk that connects these protection goals with the possible presence and impact of substances.

In the risk assessment, effect and exposure are treated as variables that are determined by product use and substances properties. The exposure is generally quantified in a model under realistic worst case conditions. The effects of a given substance are assessed using toxicity models (e.g. single species tests) in order to determine the exposure concentration that will not result in unacceptable effects. This concentration is derived from the lowest experimental (no-)effect value and a safety factor that depends on the underlying dataset, or from a statistical analysis of these underlying data. This statistical analysis assumes a normal distribution of toxicity data representing the ecosystem sensitivity to the given substance (Posthuma et al., 2002). More complex studies involving multiple species under environmentally relevant conditions are also relevant in determining an exposure level of no concern (De Jong et al., in press). The ratio between calculated exposure and the predicted acceptable effect level is the risk quotient (PEC/PNEC or RQ): the risk information the regulator can use to make a decision for that product. Guidance on exposure and effect assessment is given in Technical Guidance Documents (TGD) used in the European Union (EU) frameworks of new and existing substances, biocides, and medicines for human consumption (Forbes and Calow, 2002c; EC, 2003).

In the EU, chemicals and products containing medicines, feed additives, pesticides, and biocides can only be notified or registered if risk-based standards laid down in the European legislation have been met, but at the same time non-risk standards are applied: triggers on production, emission, formation, occurrence, and hazard (Van Leeuwen, 1995; Bartell, 1996; Heyvaert, 1999b; SSC, 2002). Some examples are:

• The standard for groundwater and drinking water for pesticides and biocides is 0.1 µg/L in the 91/414/EC and 98/8/EC directives. The exposure standard itself is however not based on risk, but on hazard considerations in combination with best available detection techniques at the time the standard was set. The trigger might be underprotective for some substances (Crommentuijn et al., 2000). The Scientific Committee on Plants (SCP) and the Scientific Committee on Toxicology, Ecotoxicology and the Environment of the

European Commission DG Sanco stress the need for further risk evaluation at exposure concentrations below the 0.1 μ g/L (SCP, 2000; CSTEE, 2002).

- The assessment of the risk to sediment dwelling organisms under the 91/414/EC directive is triggered by the exposure of the sediment phase: >10% after 14 days in a water/sediment degradation test, in combination with the hazard to *Daphnia magna* (ECCO, 2002).
- Persistence and bioaccumulation under the 91/414/EC and 98/8/EC directives have to meet hazard-based standards (DT50 <90 days, DT90 <1 year, BCF <100 L/kg), if not they trigger specific ecotoxicological testing.
- In the 2001/79/EC directive on feed additives, an exposure concentration of 10 µg/kg soil is used as a threshold for further risk assessment.
- In the guidance on risk assessment for veterinary medicines an exposure concentration of $100 \mu g/kg$ soil is used as a threshold for risk assessment (VICH, 2000).
- In the same guidance an effluent concentration of $1 \mu g/L$ for fish medicines is used as a threshold for risk assessment (assuming a dilution factor of 10 for surface water).

The Scientific Steering Committee of the Health & Consumer Protection Directorate General (DG Sanco) of the European Commission (EC) endorsed the research on triggers for prioritisation (SSC, 2000).

This paper discusses the scientific tools developed in ecotoxicology, environmental chemistry and risk assessment, employed to derive the trigger concentration in soil for the assessment of veterinary medicines.

5.2 Case study: the soil concentration trigger value

The EU directive 2001/82/EC on the registration of veterinary medicinal products calls for an environmental risk assessment (Anonymous, 2001b). An international harmonisation of the guidance and data requirements pertaining to the environmental risk assessment of veterinary medicinal products in the EU, USA and Japan was started in 1996 by the International Co-operation on Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Registration of Veterinary Medicinal Products (VICH). The resulting guidance document on the environmental impact assessment (Phase I: exposure assessment) is now operational in the product registration for veterinary medicinal products in Europe (VICH, 2000; EC, 2001b; Koschorreck et al., 2002). The guidance document foresees no risk-based assessment for substances with a presumed negligible emission and exposure level. Science was called in to back up the numerical value of the soil exposure trigger, with an assessment of a dataset of several drug substances. Concepts and methods developed in ecotoxicology, environmental chemistry and risk assessment were introduced and applied to data which lead to the recommendation that the lowest toxicity value (100 $\mu g/kg$) in the available dataset should provide an acceptable measure of safety to protect the environment (AHI, 1997).

The soil concentration trigger decides if a risk assessment is needed. It is an exposure trigger and is based on effect data. All data that were at the base of the value of this trigger are presented in Table 1. Effect data for a given substance can be used to derive a safe

exposure level for this substance, if several assumptions are made and if necessary conditions have been fulfilled. Below the effect data and assessments that were the basis for the soil exposure trigger value are subjected to a critical appraisal. Three sections relate to data selection and interpretation, two sections relate to the context of the trigger value within the risk assessment scheme:

- 1. Are the data representative for the terrestrial ecosystem,
- 2. Are the data complete or have other data been neglected or overlooked,
- 3. Have the data been assessed correctly,
- 4. Is the trigger value standardised to the conditions specified in the risk model, and
- 5. Does the soil trigger have influence on other parts of the risk assessment scheme?

5.3 Reflection of the terrestrial ecosystem

The degree to which the data set represents the soil ecosystem is an important issue that may influence the outcome to a great extent. The relative importance of autotrophic and heterotrophic species, detrivores, producers, and predators should be reflected in the dataset. If population size is the protection goal, the endpoint should relate to population growth (2002b; Forbes and Calow, 2002c).

However, the studies reported focus on endpoints that are not the most sensitive regarding population growth: chronic effects on micro-organisms, mostly tested in agar; subacute effects on Oligochaeta (*Eisenia sp.*) in artificial soil; and long-term effects on plants, tested in quartz sand.

With respect to the microorganisms, the relation between the Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC) in agar, and the desired level of protection in soil, is unclear. Firstly, the MIC is the lowest concentration that completely inhibits the growth and this value contains no information on the dose-response curve. Secondly, complete inhibition may occur at a very different concentration in soil than in agar. The bioavailability in agar plates during MIC studies can be much lower than in soils, since growth media contain a higher amount of organic compounds and complexing agents than most porewater (Van Dijck and van de Voorde, 1976; Lunestad and Goksøyr, 1990; Griebler, 2001). Thirdly, species were not identified in Table 1, so it is unclear if the lowest value relates to a bacterium isolated from soil-related bacterial communities, or to ascomycetes, moulds or algae, as explained in AHI (1997). Soil bacteria communities consist of a/o. gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria, with different sensitivities to contaminants (Rönnpagel et al., 1998). Fourthly, there are indications that the nitrifying organisms that can be cultured may not be representative of natural populations. Studies using 16S rDNA profiles have shown that Nitrosomonas europaea, which is readily isolated from most soils by classical methods, is not dominant before enrichment due to the high NH4+ concentration classically used to isolate nitrifying bacteria (Hiorns et al., 1995). This does not compromise the suitability of N. europaea as a model species, but does emphasise the gap between effect model results and impacts on ecosystem functioning in the field.

Table 1. Tabulation of the Lowest Environmental Assessment Endpoints from Environmental Assessment Reports Submitted to the US FDA/CVM from 1973 to 1997 (AHI, 1997). Units were originally presented as ppb.

Name of Drug			Farthworm	Microbe MIC	Plant NOEC	PNEC
Name of Drug	Molar mass	Class of Drug	NOEC (ppb)	(agai) of	(ppb)	**
			NOLC (ppb)	(ppb)	(ppo)	(ppb)
Sarafloxacin	385	Antibacterial	1,000,000	30	1,300	130
Sarafloxacin	385	Antibacterial		300,000 with		
Surunoxuem	505	7 millioueteriui		sediments		
Tilmicosin	869	Antibacterial	918,000		100,000	1000
Ceftiofur	546	Antibacterial		250		2.5
Florfenicol	358	Antibacterial		400		4
Pirlimycin	465	Antibacterial	1,000,000	130	400	13
Lincomycin	461	Antibacterial	1,000,000	780		7.8
Tiamulin	610	Antibacterial		500,000		5000
Apramycin	785	Antibacterial	100,000	100	160,000	10
Semduramicin	894	Anticoccidial		100,000	310	3.1
Maduramicin	934	Anticoccidial		250	100	1
Halofuginone	496	Anticoccidial		200,000	24,000	240
Salinamuain	773	Anticoccidial,		780	400	4
Samonyem	115	Perf.enhancer		780	400	
Narasin	765	Anticoccidial	500	100	150	10
Oxfendazole	315	Antiparasitic	971,000	9,000	900	90
Fenbendazole	299	Antiparasitic	56,000	1,000,000	36,000	3600
Ivermectin	861	Antiparasitic	12,000		560	5.6
Doramectin	899	Antiparasitic	2,000	40,000	1,600	160
Eprinomectin	913	Anthelmintic	295,000	1,000,000		2950
Clorsulon	381	Antiparasitic		2,000		20
Efrotomycin	1145	Perf.enhancer	1,000,000	20,000	400	40
Morantel	370	Perf.enhancer		50,000		500
Virginiamycin	535-823	Perf.enhancer		10,000		100
Lasalocid	613	Perf.enhancer		200	2,000	2
Monensin	693	Perf.enhancer	10,000		150	1.5
Laidlomycin	792	Perf.enhancer		400	160	1.6
Bacitracin	1421	Perf.enhancer		10,000		100
Melengestrol	207	Darf anhanaar	1 200		2 000	10
acetate	397	Ferr.ennancer	1,000		2,000	10
DrugA	1000*	Anticoccidial	900,000	10,000	10,000	1000
DrugB	1000*	Antibacterial		1,000	130	1.3
DrugC	1000*	Perf.enhancer	8,110	64,000	7,500	750

* estimate

** based on assessment factors according to (ECB, 1996) and accepting the MIC as a relevant value. Values in bold were used for the derivation of the PNEC

The toxicity testing on earthworms did not take reproduction into account. The consequences can be illustrated with the data on Oramec R (0.08% ivermectin w/v) on

earthworms (Gunn and Sadd, 1994). An EC₅₀ (acute) of 15.8 mg/kg was accompanied by a NOEC at 2 mg/kg because 27% reduction in fecundity (note that the hatching of the cocoons was not investigated), found in the next lower dose, was statistically not significant. This result is not satisfying and with log-logistic regression analysis, the EC₁₀ would be 0.5 mg/kg, 30 times below the EC₅₀ based on acute effects (Laskowski, 1995; Van der Hoeven et al., 1997). The assessment based on acute data would be underprotective for fecundity, because the assessment factors (AF) on acute and reproduction endpoints differ only a factor of 10 (EC, 2003).

Plants are tested on germination and growth, which can be considered as relevant provided they were determined in soil. Phytotoxicity of antibiotics differs between species (Jjemba, 2002). However, it is unclear to what species of monocotyles and/or dicotyles were tested and whether leguminose species were included.

Effects of antibiotics in soil on worms or on insects are not expected at the low-level toxic to bacteria. Effects on soil-dwelling *Collembola* and *Enchytraeids*, on the leaf-dwelling *Orius spp*. (a bug), and on larvae of the white-fringed beetle (*Graphognathus spp*.) were found in the range of 70-500 mg/kg substrate (soil or artificial food) probably due to interference with gut microflora (Bass and Barnes, 1969; Baguer et al., 2000; Arijs et al., 2002; Jensen et al., 2003). Toxicity of anthelmintics and antiparasitics on these groups might be quite the opposite.

In conclusion, the terrestrial ecosystem was not investigated in great detail, both with respect to the representation of test species and with respect to the selection of testing conditions and endpoints.

5.4 Data selection

The data set used for the trigger value consists of 64 test results on three taxonomic/trophic groups with 30 substances: three are anonymous (anticoccidial, antibacterial, and a performance enhancer), one hormone, 18 antibiotics/coccidiostats, three anthelmintics, three anthelmintics/antiparasitics, and one antiparasitic. For eight substances data are presented on three taxonomic/trophic groups; for seven substances one value is available. The general validity of such a small set of data may easily be refuted if new information is generated.

Alternative data on drug substances available in public literature have not been included. A critical evaluation of the sensitivity of the selected effect models has not been attempted (Berland et al., 1969; Berland and Maestrini, 1969; Necas, 1971; Kumar and Kaushik, 1971; Van Dijck and van de Voorde, 1976; Jacob and Talpaysayi, 1977; Harras et al., 1985; Thiele-Bruhn, 2003; Vaclavik et al., 2004).

Not all information that was available was presented, since only the lowest of the available endpoints were listed, and species names and test conditions were not identified. This may hamper further interpretation of the results.

5.5 Assessment factors

Three arguments were presented to justify the redundancy of assessment factors: the (low) bio-availability of substances in the presence of soil; the functional redundancy of microbes in soil; and the influence of degradation in soil. These arguments will be discussed to a greater extent below.

Bioavailability in soil

It was stated in the original assessment that due to sorption of the substances to soil matrix the availability will be reduced and thus the toxicity would be reduced compared to tests performed in quartz sand or agar. Binding of complex molecules to soil is depends on many factors, thus the partitioning of medicines cannot be generalised, although soil toxicity of several organic pollutants to earthworms has been correlated to porewater concentrations (Van Gestel and Ma, 1990; Tolls, 2001). An effect like mutagenesis is not necessarily diminished by sorption and, even though the contribution of this particular effect to reproduction and population growth rate is limited, it indicates that sorption and bioavailability are not mutual exclusive phenomena (Würgler and Kramers, 1992; Fretwurst and Ahlf, 1996). The argumentation on bioavailability provided is not used in a proper way to eliminate an assessment factor (AF). The AF intends to cover the uncertainty in the sensitivity of species, endpoints and exposure times, not the uncertainty in exposure concentrations. The latter uncertainty should be accounted for in the harmonisation between exposure calculations and effect assessment. The example of sarafloxacin in the original assessment is used here to demonstrate the effect of sorption. The EU-approach is followed as a model for calculation of concentrations in porewater (EC, 2003). The porewater concentration, representing the available fraction, depends on the concentration in the soil and the capacity of the substance to adsorb to the organic material in the soil.

$$PECporewater = \frac{PECsoil \cdot RHOsoil}{K_{soil-water} \cdot 1000}$$

$$K_{soil-water} = Fair_{soil} \cdot K_{air-water} + Fwater_{soil} + Fsolid_{soil} \cdot \frac{Foc_{soil} \cdot Koc}{1000} \cdot RHOsolid$$

Default settings and input parameters for this model are explained in table 2. The reported logKoc of sarafloxacin amounts to 6 L/kg. This sorption coefficient is in agreement with findings for related fluoroquinolones (Nowara et al., 1997). Assuming that no sarafloxacin partitions into air (Fair_{soil}*K_{air-water} = 0), K_{soil-water} equals 30000 and the relation between soil and porewater is described by:

PECporewater = 0.000057*PECsoil.

Symbol	Parameter	Unit	Default value
Input			
PECsoil	concentration of chemical [c] in the soil	[mg _c .kg _{soil} -1]	
RHOsoil	wet bulk density of soil	[kg.m⁻³]	1700
RHOsolid	density of soil solids	[kg.m⁻³]	2500
Fair _{soil}	fraction air in soil	[m ³ .m ⁻³]	0.2
Fwater _{soil}	fraction water in soil	[m ³ .m ⁻³]	0.2
Fsolid _{soil}	fraction solids in soil	[m ³ .m ⁻³]	0.6
Foc _{soil}	fraction organic carbon in soil (w/dw)	[kg.kg⁻¹]	0.02
Koc	partition coefficient organic carbon – water	[dm ³ .kg ⁻¹]	
VP	vapour pressure	[Pa]	
MOLW	molar mass	[g.mol⁻¹]	
SOL	water solubility	[mg.l ⁻¹]	
TEMP	temperature at air-water interface	[K]	285
R	gas constant	[Pa. M ³ .mol ⁻¹ .K ⁻¹]	8.314
Intermediate res	sults		
K _{soil-water}	partition coefficient solids and water in soil (v/v)	[m ³ .m ⁻³]	
Kp _{soil}	partition coefficient solids and water in soil (v/w)	[dm³.kg⁻¹]	
K _{air-water}	partition coefficient air and water in soil	[m ³ .m ⁻³]	
Output			
PECporewater	predicted concentration in porewater	[mg _c .l ⁻¹]	

Table 2. Input and output parameters for the equilibrium partitioning model.

The reported MIC_{agar} was 30 μ g/L. If the concentration in porewater equals 30 μ g/L, MIC_{soil} equals 530 mg/kg.

In the original assessment no attention was paid to the differences in volume fractions of solids, air, water, or binding places in soil compared to agar. The reported MIC_{agar} was 30 $\mu g/L$, the reported NOEC_{soil} (with unknown organic carbon content) was 300 mg/kg, and the calculated MIC_{soil} equals 530 mg/kg. Taking into account that a MIC is expected at higher concentrations than the NOEC, and that most soil bacteria are not freely dispersed but associated with particulate matter, just like the compound, the difference between the agar result and soil result is not inconsistent with the partitioning theory (Griebler, 2001).

Also, mitigating effects due to functional redundancy may play an important role, since a calculated MIC based on an agar test for presumably one strain is compared to an empirical NOEC for a community process. This confuses the argument that the phenomenon of sorption actually reduced toxicity. Hence the result of MIC 30 μ g/L in agar is not refuted by the test result with soil, and this MIC value remains the lowest representative endpoint in agar.

One can also assume that compounds that are hydrophilic (weak adsorption), are concentrated in the porewater and may thus be able to exert toxic effects at lower soil concentrations. A discussion on the implications of this argument for highly water-soluble compounds will be continued below.

Functional redundancy

The ecological concept of functional redundancy was brought forward: the loss of a few vulnerable species will not affect system functionality, as brought forward in Van Straalen and Van Gestel (1993). This concept was used as an argument for omitting an assessment factor: A different reasoning is given elsewhere: though redundant species may not have to be protected, safety factors to extrapolate from tested species to more sensitive – yet not redundant – species are still required (Forbes and Calow, 2002a).

For example in pesticide risk assessment effects on functional endpoints of bacterial communities are assessed on a soil community function level; a reduction of 25% after a time period of 100 days is considered acceptable in the EC Directive 91/414/EEC. However, this assessment is based on soil community tests, not on single strain growth tests.

There are also arguments against this application of the concept of functional redundancy:

- Not all microbes in soil are part of the same system: nitrifiers will not replace nitrogen fixers.
- Once redundant species are gone, the system remains more vulnerable to future impacts.
- Each species has its own function in the ecosystem and the replacement of microbial species by more resistant ones may have severe ecological consequences (Van Beelen and Doelman, 1997; Van Beelen and Fleuren-Kemilä, 1999).

The original assessment contained predominantly single strain tests. It was argued that some species may be lost, but the assessment could not indicate how many species exactly would not be protected due to the fact that a safety factor was not applied. This emphasises the insuperability of assessing soil community functionality with endpoints for single strains, a problem that was also addressed in Van Straalen and Van Gestel (1993).

Mitigation by degradation

Degradation in soil is presented as a factor that will reduce the effects in soil. This may be true for some substances, but offers no reason to abandon assessment factors. Firstly, if the test substance degraded in the test system, it has been reflected in the endpoint value. Secondly, an effect that is caused by the initial concentration in the test system may very well become apparent in the field as well. Thirdly, one uncertainty in the exposure-effect relationship in the field is the time-to-effect. Dissipation in the test system may be slower than in the field, which may give rise to an overprotective assessment. However, this should be addressed, rather than obscured, in the effect assessment.

Other uncertainties in the exposure-effect relationship in the field were not considered, such as the fact that degradation may also generate metabolites that need to be assessed separately for fate and effects. Also the other side of the medal, persistency, was not addressed. Substances may be very recalcitrant to degradation and give rise to long-term exposure and effects in other compartments, or trophic levels, than covered in the test systems.

Conclusions on the safety factors

It is common practice to use assessment factors on collections of endpoint values to derive predicted no effect concentrations (PNEC) (Crommentuijn et al., 2000; CSTEE, 2000; EC, 2003). The argumentation on the reduced availability due to sorption and degradation was substantiated only with examples that were representative for the argument. The exact exposure-effect relationships between agar and soil remain unsettled taking into account that most microbes in soil and sub-soil are associated with particles and are not dispersed in the porewater and that bio-availability in agar and nutrient broth may also be limited. The argumentation on the functional redundancy of microorganisms does not overcome the problems of assessing soil community functionality with endpoints for single strains.

If we accept the MIC in agar as a NOEC, the proper use of assessment factors would result in a trigger of $1 \mu g/kg$ (see Table 1). This PNEC would serve only for the terrestrial system and for the substances within the dataset.

5.6 The position in the risk assessment framework

Does the context of the risk assessment framework call for further considerations of the applicability of the soil trigger value? Standardisation to the conditions specified for the risk model, differentiation between emission routes, and harmonisation between environmental compartments are considered here.

Standardisation to risk model conditions

The reference dataset yielded a threshold value derived from a specific effect study. The study conditions may very well be different from the generic conditions within the risk model or the specific conditions in the field. For example, in agricultural soils with moderate organic matter contents (0.7-4.1% o.c.) the substances will be more available than e.g. in artificial soil for earthworms testing, containing typically 10% organic matter, equivalent to approx. 6% o.c.) (FOCUS, 2001). Within the frameworks of pesticide registration and quality standard setting, toxicity results are corrected based on the organic carbon and clay content, provided the substance is hydrophobic (logKow >2) (Crommentuijn et al., 2000). Such standardisation cannot be performed with the data in Table 3, because the matrix properties are not given.

Table 3. Properties and Environmental Quality Standards (EQS) of some substances used as pesticides
and as veterinary medicines (Crommentuijn et al., 2000).

Substance	LogKoc	Lowest soil	Species	EQS soil (normalised to 10% o.m.			
		NOEC in µg/kg		and 25% clay) in µg/kg			
Dichlorvos	1.83	75000	Lampito mauritii	0.0028*			
Cypermethrin	4.87	-	-	0.39*			
Diazinon	2.64	350	Folsomia candida	6.2			

* harmonised with EQS for water

Differentiation between routes of emission

In the original assessment it was acknowledged that the dataset, containing plants, earthworms and microbes, does neither represent all mode of actions nor all species. It was therefore recommended that "ecto- and/or endoparasiticides used in pasture should advance directly to Phase II to address specific areas of concern, e.g. dung fauna" (VICH, 2000). Nevertheless, parasiticides, hormones, and other compounds that were not well represented in the dataset (Table 1), that are administered to stabled animals (not on pasture), will be subjected to the trigger.

Harmonisation between compartments

It is important to note that the soil trigger decides on the further assessment of the risk to soil, surface water, and also groundwater. The environmental compartments soil, water, air, and sediment are connected and substances may be transported between compartments. The trigger value in soil should protect water and sediment as well. The equilibrium-partitioning method has been applied to harmonise environmental quality standards (Crommentuijn et al., 2000; EC, 2003). The examples in table 2 illustrate that a safe level in soil does not necessarily protect surface water or groundwater. A trigger should –like quality standards– be harmonised between compartments.

Several veterinary substances are used as pesticides as well, for which in European legislation standards have been set to water, groundwater and drinking water contamination (Anonymous, 1976; Anonymous, 1979; Anonymous, 1998b; Anonymous, 2000). The Netherlands Health Council advised the Ministers to treat medicines in a way comparable to 'pesticides and biocides' because they are pharmacologically active, are spread continuously, and little is known on their effects (Health Council, 2001). This scientific opinion sides veterinary medicines with 'pesticides' and 'biocides' in the environmental legislation. A soil trigger that is not harmonised might result in violation of these water quality standards.

5.7 Conclusions on the scientific evaluation of the dataset

The conclusion of this section is that the potential of the scientific tools to assess the data has not been exhausted and the argumentation to discard assessment factors did not come up to the mark. The selection of species and test endpoints for establishing a trigger value was not optimal. A further correction of the reference data before the assessment, together with a harmonisation between terrestrial and aquatic compartments, based on agreements on boundary conditions within the risk model, was required.

5.8 Extending data selections and interpretations

Several tools from ecotoxicology, environmental chemistry and risk assessment can be used to improve the trigger value: partitioning calculations, statistical analysis of all data, additional hazard identification, and harmonisation between compartments. These tools are examined below.

Data selection

New data provide information to lower the trigger without changing the original assessment approach. Twenty substances were tested on effect against Vibrio fischeri. EC90 values, indicative of the MIC ranged from 30 µg/l to 388 mg/L. EC10 values, indicative of the NOEC, ranged from 4 µg/l to 90 mg/l (Backhaus and Grimme, 1999). In another research, eleven substances were tested on growth inhibition of sludge bacteria, both in a batch system and in a pour-plate system, where individual cells are exposed. EC50 values ranged from 100 μ g/l to >100 mg/L in the batch test, but from 28 μ g/l to 449 mg/l in the pour-plate method. A test on growth inhibition of Nitrosomonas europaea yielded EC50 values ranging from 16 μ g/l to >100 mg/l; using the pour plate method the EC50 values for four selected compounds ranged from 2 to 460 µg/l (Halling-Sørensen, 2001). These data provide the following 'critical values': for a single strain (V. fischeri) the EC90 was 30 µg/l, the corresponding EC10 was 4 µg/l (ofloxacin). The lowest EC50 was 2 µg/l (chlortetracycline on N. europaea pour plate method). For a community process the lowest EC50 value was 28 µg/l (chlortetracycline pour plate method). These last two results were obtained from a pour-plate method with low microbial density. Low seeding densities are regarded to yield sensitive indicators of in situ effects. For the protection of the gastro-intestinal microflora, the Joint Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA) selects not just the lowest MIC, but selects MIC values from all relevant sensitive species, and corrects test endpoint values for the higher microbial density in the gut (AHI, 1997). For the soil system, the desired level of protection in soil should guide the selection of species and assessment factors and it is not straightforward to downsize effects in order to correct for hypothetical different microbial densities in soil. Potentially, the trigger can be based on the results of 100, 30, 28, 16, 4, or 2 μ g/l, depending on the preference for a given community process, a particular single species, a certain inoculum density, or specific endpoint.

Partitioning calculations

The concept of partitioning has been addressed above for effects on microbes mediated through agar or soil. For a substance with low partitioning to organic matter, the MIC_{soil} will actually be much lower than for a hydrophobic substance. Thus, what would be the result if the endpoint in agar for the hydrophobic compound was also to protect the soil for a potential hydrophilic substance? This is demonstrated here with the example of a hydrophilic substance (metronidazole) and the lowest MIC-value of 30 μ g/L established for sarafloxacin (molar mass 385 g/mol) in table 1. Both the partitioning in the soil system, aiming at effective concentrations in the water phase, and the influence of differences in molar mass are accounted for in this example.

Based on molar equivalents, this lowest MIC in agar amounts to 30/385 = 0.078 µmol/L. The substance metronidazole has a molar mass (M) of 171 g/mol and a sorption coefficient Koc of 40 L/kg (Rabølle and Spliid, 2000). For this substance the threshold would

be 11 μ g/kg soil dw, based on effective concentrations in the porewater calculated with the formulas in Appendix 1. This value is very different from the predicted and validated value (530 and 300 mg/kg soil) for sarafloxacin, and is below the trigger.

This partitioning approach can also be applied to a small hypothetical molecule with Koc equal to 0 L/kg. For this completely dissolved substance the trigger would be 0.01 mmol/kg. Would this worst-case hydrophilic behaviour apply to a small molecule with M = 100 g/mol, the trigger equals 1 µg/kg; in case of the highest molar mass in Table 1 of 1457 g/mol, the result is 15 µg/kg. For a hypothetical substance, with a mode of action covered in the reference data set, and a strong preference for the water phase, the predicted MIC depends on the molar mass and will typically range between 1 and 15 µg/kg.

If we accept the value of $2 \mu g/l$ as determined by Halling-Sørensen (2001) as the reference for the trigger, the result would be approximately an order of magnitude lower.

Statistical analysis

A collection of data can statistically be assessed to generate information on the distribution of no effect levels. This distribution reveals the potentially affected fraction of species at a given exposure concentration. One could assume that the data of interest are representative of a (log-)normal distribution. If all endpoints for all species had been listed, the distribution could be fitted on the data resulting in a threshold value at a chosen level (e.g. 5th percentile) with a chosen confidence level (e.g. 95%) (Aldenberg and Jaworska, 2000). This technique is widely applied in standard setting and risk assessment (Van Beelen and Doelman, 1997; Posthuma et al., 2002). This Species Sensitivity Distribution (SSD) approach will be examined with the assumption that all substances that are present in the dataset have a similar distribution of effects. However, the dataset in Table 1 presumably does not show all available test results, which makes it impossible to assess the sensitivity distributions. For this purpose the data in Table 4 on soil microbes in agar are presented (Van Dijck and van de Voorde, 1976). In the table the Predicted MIC values (PMIC, using the lowest MIC and an AF = 10) and the Hazardous Concentrations (median level) at which 95% of the species are protected (HC5), are presented. The difference in numerical values between the PMIC and HC5 depends on the data set and is as high as a factor of 1-160. For this dataset, while the lowest value is 100 μ g/L, a concentration of 10 μ g/L would be the value that protects at least 95% of all species for the most potent compound, gentamycin.

The application of this statistical method for the sensitivity distribution of species to a single compound can be extended. It is applied here to the population of substances, under the assumption that the selection of substances is a representative sample of all possible substances. For matters of convenience the MIC values were not corrected for molar mass. The HC5 of each substance in Table 4 is taken as the representative effect endpoint per substance. The analysis of the collection of HC5 values results in a HC5 of 2 μ g/L (Table 5). Continuing the line of reasoning in the original assessment from this point forward, the trigger would be 2 μ g/kg.

Antimicrobial agent	logMIC (mg/L) for strain ^a						PMIC	HC5 _{su}							
	mb	md	hy	citr.1	citr.2	flav	kl	th	су	rh	hyph	r.sp	nitr	mg/L	mg/L
tetracycline	0	2	0.7	2	1	2	2	2	1	2	1	-1	3	0.01	0.40
polymyxin B					•	•	•	4	2	4	2	1	4	1	3.2
chloramphenicol	-0.3	0.3	0.7	0.7	1	1	2	2	1	3	1		4	0.05	0.22
streptomycin	1.7	2	1.7	2	3	3	•	4	2	2	3	-1	3	0.01	1.3
neomycin	0	0	0	0	•	-1	•	3	2	2	1	1	4	0.01	0.03
gentamycin	-1	-1	-1	-1	•	-1	•	3	2	2	1	1	3	0.01	0.01
kanamaycin	1	1	1	1	•	1	•	3	3	3	3	1	3	1	1.4
benzylpenicillin	4	4	4	4	4	3	4	3	2	3	2	2	1	1	21
ampicillin	3	3	1	4		1	•	-1	2	4	2	1	2	0.01	0.31
cloxacillin	4	4	4	4		4								1000	
oxacillin	•						•	2	3	4	1	1	3	1	1.6
cephalothin	3	2	2	2		3		2	2	4	1	3	3	1	11
tylosin	2	2	3	4		2	•	3	1	2	2	1	4	1	4.2
oleandomycin	2	2	2	2	4		4	3	1	3	4	2	4	1	9.2
spiramycin	2	2	2	3		2	•	3	1	4	2	2	3	1	9.8
virginiamycin	1.3	2	2	2	4	4	4	1	1	3	2	2	3	1	3.7
flavomycin	1	1	3	3	•	1	•	-1	4	-1	2		3	0.01	0.05
novobiocin	1.3	2	2	2	4	•	3	-1	-1	3	2	2	4	0.01	0.17
bacitracin	2	2	3	3	•	1		4	2	3	2	1	4	1	5.0
nystatin	4	4	4	4	•	3		3	3	4	4	4	4	100	1356
sulfathiazol	4	4	4	4	•	3		-1	2	2	3	2	3	0.01	1.6
furoxone	4	4	2	2	1	1	1	2	1	3	2	2	3	1	2.3
HC5 _{species}	0.21	0.54	0.51	0.93	1.56	0.24	5.7	0.17	1.0	7.3	3.24	0.29	90		

Table 4. Sensitivity of environmental micro-organisms to antimicrobial agents (Van Dijck & van de Voorde, 1976). All results >1000 mg/L are transformed to logMIC = 4 and all results <1 mg/L are transferred to logMIC = -1. PMIC and HC5 are not log-transformed.

^a Abbreviations: mb = *Mycoplana bullata* ATCC4278; md = *M. dimorpha* ATCC4279; hy = *Hydrogenomonas* sp.; Citr = *Citrobacter* sp 1 and 2; flav = *Flavobacterium* sp.; kl = *Klebsiella* sp.; th = *Thiobacillus thiooxydans* 504 DSM; cy = *Cythophaga johnsonae* 425 DSM; rh = *Rhodopseudomonas* sp.; hyph = *Hyphomicrobium* sp.; r.sp = *R. sphaeroides* 158 DSM; nitr. = *Nitrobacter* sp. HC5su = HC5 for substance; HC5species = HC5 for species.

Table 5. HC5 values calculated using individual HC5 values for all substances except nystatin, oxacillin,
cloxacillin and polymyxin B, for all species except citr.1, kl and nitr. mentioned in table 4.

	HC5	lower 95%
	[mg/L]	confidence
		interval
lowest PMIC	0.01	
lowest HC5 for substances	0.01	0.0001
HC5 of all lowest values per substance	0.02	0.002
HC5 of all HC5 _{substances}	0.02	0.004

PMIC = predicted minimum inhibitory concentration

HC5 = hazardous concentration at which 5% of all species or substances is not protected

Applying this approach to the endpoints for all substances in Table 1 using ETX1.0²¹, the following distributions and thresholds after normalisation on molar mass are revealed. Figures 1 and 2 show the median HC5, but not the lower confidence intervals. Based on the data on plant species for all substances (Figure 1) the HC5 is 0.04 μ mol/kg dw in soil with a lower 95-percentile confidence interval of 0.008 μ mol/kg dw in soil. Based on the MIC data these HC5 values are 0.08 and 0.03 μ mol/L in agar (Figure 2).

Figure 1. Substance/species sensitivity distribution for plants. The arrow indicates the HC5 concentration. The X-axis crosses the Y-axis at the 5th percentile.



These HC5 values can be transformed to triggers based on the example of the hypothetical small hydrophilic substance (M = 100). This yields a trigger of 4 μ g/kg for plants in soil, with a lower confidence interval of 0.8 μ g/kg in soil, and a trigger of 1 (lower confidence 0.4) μ g/kg for microbes in soil. The distributions can be used to assess the fraction of the different taxonomic groups that is not protected at a given exposure. At 100 μ g/kg there is a 45% likelihood that the substance will affect plant species and an 80% likelihood that bacterial species are affected.

Incorporation of the new data presented above may lower the result of this analysis. Due to the different endpoints (MIC, EC90, EC50, EC10) this is not attempted here.

²¹ See Van Vlaardingen et al. (2004).

Figure 2. Substance/species sensitivity distribution for micro-organisms (MIC). The arrow indicates the HC5 concentration. The X-axis crosses the Y-axis at the 5th percentile.



The hazard of resistance development

The effects of antibiotics can range from simple parameters like a decrease in biomass, respiration rate or denitrification rate, to more complex parameters like community shifts and the survival of new genetical information (Landi et al., 1993; Badalucco et al., 1994; Da Gloria Britto De Oliveira et al., 1995). Effects of some antibiotics on nitrification and decomposition in soil have been reviewed and the few studies available indicate effects at very high concentrations only (Jensen, 2001; Thiele-Bruhn et al., 2003). It was put forward that the substances will be an energy-source to other species rather than a pollutant, although this may be at a sub-therapeutic, thus a resistance-inducing concentration. Perhaps other assessment strategies could provide more relevant information.

Shifts in community tolerance caused by soil pollution have been shown to have impacts on e.g. extinction of sensitive species, competitive abilities, and metabolic diversities (Van Beelen and Doelman, 1997; Siciliano and Roy, 1999; Mcbain et al., 2002; Russel, 2002; Séveno et al., 2002). The survival of adapted bacteria in absence of the compound that the bacteria have adapted to, is usually said to be limited, but the acquired functionality (e.g. resistance genes) remains present at low levels (Cooke, 1983; Stappen et al., 1989; Zuidema and Klein, 1993; Séveno et al., 2002; Park et al., 2003). The costs for resistance can even be compensated for (Björkman et al., 2000). In some cases related compounds can uphold the resistance level against another compound (Aarestrup et al., 2001). Horizontal transmission of genetic information is very efficient in the gut of soil arthropods and resistance genes can

be transferred from manure to soil and groundwater, where low levels of antibiotics may be present (Hoffmann et al., 1998; Chee-Sanford et al., 2001; Halling-Sørensen et al., 2002; Sengeløv et al., 2003). Resistance development occurs already at the Minimum Effect Concentration (MEC) at which growth is reduced, that is tenfold below the Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC), the endpoint used to derive the soil concentration trigger discussed in Chapter 5 (O'Reilly and Smith, 1999). Thus, even at concentrations below the Phase I trigger, resistance genes may be favoured, which can be transferred from manure to soil and groundwater (Halling-Sørensen et al., 2002; Sengeløv et al., 2003). The management of resistance development in water and sediment face comparable challenges (Grabow et al., 1976; Cooke, 1983; Linton et al., 1988; Rodgers, 2001; O'Reilly and Smith, 2001).

Should resistance development be identified as a hazard? According to the European Commission this hazard is addressed in the current guidance, even though it obviously is not (EC, 2001b). What kind of hazard are we dealing with? Is it a hazard for the ecosystem integrity or also a hazard for public health in general? How can we express the degree of damage? Currently both molecular and ecological methods are investigated. Pollutioninduced community tolerance has been found suitable to detect community shifts at low concentration levels (Ares, 1999; Schmitt et al., 2004). If there is a genetic basis for these shifts is to be explored. It has been suggested to include not only the rate of appearance of the initial resistance mutations but also the possible counter-selection against the resistant variants as well as the rate of virulence-restoring compensatory mutations, which allows resistance to be maintained (Björkman et al., 2000). How can this information be used in decision making, knowing that it also applies to antimicrobial products used as pesticide and biocide (Björkman et al., 1998; Siciliano and Roy, 1999; Mcbain et al., 2002; Russel, 2002; Séveno et al., 2002; Midtvedt, 2004; Kümmerer, 2004a; Kümmerer, 2004b)? Resistance development occurs already at the Minimum Effect Concentration (MEC) at which growth is reduced, that is tenfold below the Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC), the endpoint used to derive the trigger under discussion. This indicates that at the MIC level a selection pressure for resistance development is present. Since these effects may indeed occur at subtherapeutic levels, a safety factor of 10 for this aspect would have been warranted.

Harmonisation between environmental compartments

The HC5 for the most sensitive trophic level of bacteria in soil based on the original data was calculated at 1 μ g/kg. Harmonisation between compartments is however required. As the soil threshold is based on a substance that is completely in the porewater, the aquatic compartment would be protected as well by this trigger. However, the porewater concentration at 0.1 μ g/kg is 8 μ g/L, which is above the trigger value set by VICH for effluent water (1 μ g/L). Harmonisation of the soil trigger to the water trigger would lead to a porewater concentration of 1 μ g/L, and hence to soil concentrations of 0.0125 μ g/kg for the completely dissolved substance. The relevance of the aquatic data set for this purpose should however be assessed.

Representativiness for other substances

Although the information status of the trigger suggested above is higher than that of the operative trigger, they both are derived from an empirical exercise with a given set of substances and endpoints. The question is whether this set of compounds and endpoints is representative for the new compounds to be evaluated. There is no easy answer to this. One has to take into consideration what part of the population of substances was tested, what endpoints were tested, what endpoints will be tested if a full effect assessment is to be performed, and how the information was aggregated to derive the threshold.

The compounds in the reference set were identified as a group because of two properties: they were applied as veterinary medicines and data were available. If the endpoints in the reference set are the same as those to be established in a full effect assessment, the threshold is certainly valid for the compounds that were in the reference set, but not naturally for other compounds. The fact that a substance was applied as a veterinary medicine is a property that contains no information on the likelihood that another compound will have comparable ecotoxicological properties. More information and more discriminating properties are needed to allow for a case based reasoning that extends from substances with identified common characteristics to substances that yet have to be developed. For instance, threshold levels for flavouring substances were based on numerous substances and endpoints, and correlated to structural classes (Munroe et al., 1996; Munroe et al., 1999). Statistical methods developed to derive substitute confidence intervals around tiny data sets can also be applied easily, but only have meaning, if the substitute data are representative (Aldenberg and Luttik, 2002). Case-based prediction of ecotoxicological effects of pesticides relies heavily on structural class of the compound under investigation (Van den Brink et al., 2002). This is fundamental to the derivation and application of (Quantitative) Structure-Activity Relationships ((Q)SARs) that might be very useful for the environmental risk assessment for medicinal products. Acceptability criteria relating to the accuracy of the predictions do have to be set, as accuracy of predictions of e.g. ECOSAR is only 67% (Breton and Boxall, 2003; Hulzebos and Posthumus, 2003).

5.9 Discussion

Risk management of veterinary pharmaceutical products is one of the tasks of EU governance. The authorisation procedure for (veterinary) medicinal products is recognised to be the outstanding example of risk based decision making, because efficacy and side effects of the product, also in comparison to other products, are to be considered (Di Fabio, 1994). It has been considered that the registration process, and the risk models used, should reduce the costs to society in terms of environmental and economic damage, and the assessment process itself should neither hamper product development nor timely action (Cranor, 1997). The introduction of an exposure trigger can be a powerful tool in realising these objectives. A scientific analysis of data can strengthen the choice of the numerical value. A number of conclusions on the data and arguments to support a soil concentration trigger were drawn.

The dataset was not very comprehensive in number of substances and types of endpoints. Existing information available in literature was not considered. New information on effects of veterinary medicines on microbial species have become available, and provide reason to lower the trigger value even without changing the assessment approach.

More information and more discriminating properties are needed to allow for a case based reasoning that extends from substances with identified common characteristics to substances that yet have to be developed. Next to the selection of the data, the selection of ecotoxicological tools determines the outcome of the scientific assessment of the same dataset. Most importantly, the argumentation on the use of assessment factors did not comply with the EU-guidance given in the frameworks of new and existing substances and pesticides and biocides (EC, 2003). It was demonstrated that further considerations of the given arguments for a soil threshold concentration provide for strong arguments to set a threshold at 1 μ g/kg. Complementary reasoning gives rise to set the trigger at 0.0125 μ g/kg. This degree of variability in outcomes is troublesome, yet justifiable with a transparent consideration of starting points and assumptions, selection criteria, arguments and related uncertainties.

In comparison to the information contained in the sensitivity distributions, the soil exposure trigger value of $100 \ \mu g/kg$ may be underprotective for 80% of soil microbial species. Another implication of the use of this trigger value is that, if Environmental Quality Standards will be derived for substances using the TGD, these may be below the operative trigger value. For some parasiticides that may enter the environment through the manure of stabled animals this may be the case, as shown in table 2.

Also, the exposure trigger based on the soil compartment determines if a further assessment of the surface and groundwater compartments is performed, but it is not harmonised with the possible no-effect levels in these compartments.

6. European medicines and feed additives regulation are not in compliance with environmental legislation and policy

First published in Toxicology Letters 131 (2002) 125-136 Revised for D. Dietrich, S.F. Webb, and Th. Petry (editors) Hot Spot Pollutants: pharmaceuticals in the environment. Elsevier Inc, San Diego, 2004. Mark H.M.M. Montforts and Joop A. de Knecht

6.1 Introduction

For the product categories of medicines, veterinary medicines and feed additives, the environmental risk assessment (ERA) procedure at registration is currently under development. The purpose of this paper is twofold: firstly, it investigates what limitations environmental legislation sets to the use of medicinal products and how an environmental assessment within the registration process can be of help in achieving environmental quality standards; secondly, it investigates whether the registration process and the assessment meet these expectations. As a case study, special attention is given to veterinary medicines. For a general overview of the knowledge, problems, and research concerning sources, fate and effects of medicines in the environment we refer to (Kümmerer, 2001).

6.2 EU Environmental legislation and the relation with product registration

The European Commission (EC) has issued several directives on the protection of the environment. The EC, national authorities and multi-lateral commissions (e.g. International Commission for the protection of the Rhine) are the competent authorities that ought to enforce a program in order to reduce existing pollution and set specific quality and emission standards in binding law, according to the (Anonymous, 1976), (Anonymous, 1979), (Anonymous, 2000) and (Anonymous, 1998a) directives on water, groundwater and drinking water, respectively (Wösten et al., 2001; Van Rijswick, 2001). Specific substances of concern have been identified and listed (List I and II). There is no European legislation on soil quality; however, because sediment and river banks are considered part of the water system and soil contains groundwater, quality of sediment and soil can also be considered an objective of environmental policy.

Within the Framework Directive on Water (2000/60/EEC) all acts of discharging or spreading of waste-material, polluting and deleterious substances that might lead to contamination of surface water and groundwater are forbidden, unless the competent authority has granted authorisation (a permit). The permit specifies the receiving water body, the discharged substance(s), and the measures to be taken to prevent further pollution, for the legal person (e.g. a farmer) on a case by case basis. The use of a product (e.g. pesticide, fertiliser) or the use of a treated product (impregnated piling, treated cattle) are such acts that

have to be authorised by the competent authority (Ministry of Public Works, water-bodies, river-bodies, provinces, municipalities). These authorities are facing a huge administrative burden that would be relieved if all individual permits could be replaced by one single authorisation. Although registration of a product cannot be regarded as a permit nor as such a legal authorisation, registration can be a useful 'start-of-pipe' measure, because it reduces the need for regulating emission: general conditions and restrictions have already been identified and certain substances or uses will not be allowed. The competent authority can now focus on site-specific circumstances.

It is possible that environmental directives on the quality of water already contain qualitative standards for substances used in medicines and feed additives, even though the products groups 'medicines' and 'feed additives' are not named in the environmental directives. The use of the terms 'pesticide' and 'biocide' in these directives do not refer to the product categories, but to the nature of the substances reaching environmental compartments after production, use or disposal of products. If an active substance in a medicine or feed additive should be denoted 'pesticidal' or 'biocidal' because of its properties, the standards in these directives do apply.

Are medicines to be categorised as 'pesticidal'? The Dutch government published in 1989 a document on quality criteria for substances in soil and groundwater (TK, 1989). It was considered necessary to specialise the criteria for pesticides and biocides, "that constitute a special group of environmental hazardous substances: they are developed to repel organisms, modify the growth and development of organisms, or kill organisms, and are by definition biologically active. Also by their use they discern themselves, because these substances – especially the agricultural applications- are brought into the environment directly and cannot be regained". These criteria (repel, modify, kill, biologically active, (direct) introduction, not regain) apply to many medicinal products as well. Also the Netherlands Health Council advised the Ministers to treat medicines in a way comparable to pesticides and biocides because they are pharmacologically active, are spread continuously, and little is known on their effects (Health Council, 2001).

The quality of drinking water is protected under the Directive 98/83/EC. This directive aims at protecting public health by setting quality objectives to drinking water. Within the Netherlands' environmental policy it has been the rule since 1989 that with respect to xenobiotics also groundwater should comply with the standards for drinking water, as it often concerns soluble compounds that cannot, or insufficiently, be removed using common purification techniques (TK, 1989). This point of view is reflected in the directives on pesticides and biocides (Anonymous, 1991a) and (Anonymous, 1998b) where the allowable concentration in groundwater (irrespective of a use as drinking water) is $0.1 \mu g/L$.

Based on this reasoning, competent authorities have to set water quality standards to medicinal substances and feed additives that can be assigned to the List I and II of the water directives. Also, they have to develop action plans to control the pollution; medicines are acknowledged as a specific group of substances in the Netherlands' 4th Water Action Program (NW4, 1998). Furthermore, to all substances that qualify as pesticidal, a qualitative standard is already available for drinking water, and at least in The Netherlands also for

96

groundwater (0.1 μ g/L). And last but not least, the ERA should assess the risk to both surface water and groundwater for every use in order to fulfil its role as a tool in the environmental protection.

The registration process should thus meet the following demands in order to be an effective tool for environmental policy:

- An ERA is performed at every registration or renewal in order to take new data or methodologies into account;
- Decision criteria are in compliance with the environmental directives;
- Principles and practical procedures for the assessment at registration are operational;
- The methodology for the setting of environmental quality criteria should be harmonised with the ERA methodology for products.

6.3 Product registration and the relation with EU environmental policy and laws

The EC unfolded its vision on chemicals in Europe in the White Paper (EC, 2001c). The European Union chemicals policy must ensure a high level of protection of human health and the environment as enshrined in the Treaty both for the present generation and future generations while also ensuring the efficient functioning of the internal market and the competitiveness of the chemical industry. Fundamental to achieving these objectives is the Precautionary Principle. Whenever reliable scientific evidence is available that a substance may have an adverse impact on human health and the environment but there is still scientific uncertainty about the precise nature or the magnitude of the potential damage, decision-making must be based on precaution in order to prevent damage to human health and the environment. Another important objective is to encourage the substitution of dangerous by less dangerous substances where suitable alternatives are available. The White paper puts particular focus on substances which are carcinogenic, mutagenic or toxic to reproduction, and on substances which are PBT (persistent, bio-accumulative and toxic) or which otherwise give rise to high concern.

The EC White paper on existing substances is to be regarded as the underlying principle for the regulation of substances. To underline the importance, we point out that the European Council already incorporated the principles of the White paper in their reaction to the evaluation of the pesticide directive 91/414: "The Council calls on the Committee to develop a new pesticides policy in line with the relevant aspects of the forthcoming EU Chemicals Policy based on the principles endorsed by the Council Conclusion in June 2001 ... In principle, these (PBT) substances should be avoided in plant protection products" (EC, 2001a).

Although the regulation of existing substances does not apply to products that are regulated in other frameworks, the same principles should (eventually) be applied in these frameworks. An ERA should be performed in order to determine the likelihood of effects in the environment. This implies that at product registration environmental data should be available, at least a risk classification should be made, and depending on the mode and scale

of use some substances are not wanted. In order to accomplish this in an effective manner, it should be clear:

- What the protection goals (criteria) of the assessment should be;
- What is acceptable (standards or levels) and what is not;
- How the assessment should be performed (methodology).

A regulatory problem arises when a product registration procedure is harmonised at a European level by the Communautarian authority, while the authorities at the national level are responsible for maintaining the desired environmental quality. This may lead to a less effective implementation of the ERA as a tool for environmental policy. The product registration process also determines the availability of a product on the common market; therefore the registration process should meet the following additional demands:

In order to perform an ERA at registration for the common market, common (harmonised) environmental protection goals are required. European environmental legislation provides a common basis for environmental goals for all products.

The ERA should be developed under the supervision of competent authorities (with respect to environmental quality), for example through national interdepartmental steering groups that prepare the national points of view.

Implementation of the ERA procedure is an act that will have legal consequences for stakeholders (producers, users, and third parties). Formalisation of the contents and the procedure should be transparent and open to input by regulators, scientists, industry and other interested parties; a view shared by the EC (EC, 2001b).

6.4 Product directives on medicines and the environmental assessment

Medicines and feed additives can reach the environment at production, at use, after use (excretion) and as waste material. Only emission at production is outside the scope of the registration and is not dealt with here. Given the elaborate risk assessment schemes and methodologies formalised in a regulation on existing substances (Anonymous, 1993b), and directives for new substances (Anonymous, 1993a), plant protection products (91/414/EEC) and biocides (98/8/EC), where both the organisation (competent authorities, technical meetings and working groups) and the deliverables (uniform principles, dossier requirements, guidance for decision making and listing, guidance on risk assessment, guidance on models, guidance on preparing a monograph) are comparable and have been tested in practice, one would expect a similar system for medicines.

The Directive on human medicines (Anonymous, 1965) recognises that an application for the marketing authorisation for a medicinal product for human use must be accompanied, if applicable, by reasons for any precautionary and safety measure to be taken for the storage of the medicinal product, its administration to patients and for the disposal of waste products, together with an indication of any potential risks represented by the medicinal product for the environment.

The directive on veterinary medicines (Anonymous, 2001b), that replaces the 81/851 and 81/852 directives, states that with a request for registration of a veterinary medicinal

product information is to be provided to enable an assessment of the safety for the environment. Both administration and excretion of the products, and the disposal of unused material or waste, should be assessed. The assessor is free to determine what information should be delivered.

The directive on feed additives (Anonymous, 2001a) considers that the existing regulations on feedstuffs should be supplemented by the establishment of criteria for the assessment of the risk of the additive having an adverse effect on the environment. In contrast to the medicines, the decision-making criteria for feedstuff are fastened down in law, but hardly any methodology is provided.

The directives of the three product groups all require an environmental assessment at registration. The quality of the assessment depends not only on the information in the directives. The directives may have been elaborated upon in national law and guidance documents, and the availability of operational procedures, assessment tools, and expertise at the evaluating and decision-making authorities are of importance. A further investigation into the process, the actors, and the deliverables is made. The veterinary medicinal products are explored in most detail as a case study.

As discussed above, in relation to environmental policy making the registration process with respect to the environmental assessment should have the following five features:

- 1. Formalisation of the contents and the procedure should be transparent and open to input by regulators, scientists, industry and other interested parties;
- 2. European environmental legislation provides a common basis for environmental goals;
- 3. Standards and harmonised methodology are (made) available;
- 4. An ERA is performed at every (re-)registration;
- 5. Principles and practical procedures are operational.

Therefore not only the details of the scheme and the methodology are of importance, but also the organisation (who), implementation (what) and operationalisation (how) of the risk assessment procedure are to be considered.

6.5 The development of the ERA for Veterinary Medicinal Products (VMPs) in Europe

Figure 1 depicts the organisation of the registration process of VMPs, in which administrative, scientific and regulatory responsibilities are separated. The Directorate-General (DG) Enterprise is responsible for the European legislation on the registration of VMPs. The registration process is mandated to the European Agency for the Evaluation of Medicinal Products (EMEA)²². Within EMEA, the scientific committees advise on the requests for Marketing Authorisation with respect to quality, efficacy and safety of the products. These committees are the Committee for Veterinary Medicinal Products (CVMP) for veterinary medicines and the Committee for Proprietary Medicinal Products (CPMP) for

²² Commonly referred to as the European Medicines Evaluation Agency

human medicines. The Standing Committee on VMPs, as part of the DG Enterprise, decides on the proposal of the CVMP and turns it into binding law. DG Enterprise has also the Veterinary Pharmaceutical Committee (VPhC) at its disposal, which was installed by Directive 75/320, for advice on interpretation of the directives, compulsory consultation when changing directives, and other issues. Member states are involved in the registration process through their representations in the SC VMP and VPhC. Member states also appoint two independent experts to the CVMP.

The EMEA was mandated by DG Enterprise to elaborate on the old 81/851 and 81/852 directives (Blasius and Cranz, 1998). This has resulted in guidance documents for performing the environmental risk assessment of veterinary medicines (EMEA, 1996; EMEA, 1997), but this was not the end of the process. After the final draft of the EMEA (1997) guidance, an international harmonisation between the EU, USA and Japan was started by the International Co-operation on Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Registration of Veterinary Medicinal Products (VICH)²³ to which both DG Enterprise and the EMEA are committed (DG Enterprise, 2000). The guidance document on Phase I was completed and finalised (15 June 2000) for implementation by July 2001 in the European Union and United States (VICH, 2000) and replaces the EMEA 1997 guidance on Phase I. This guidance document is at this moment leading for the registration procedure. To understand the contents of this guidance, one has to understand the organisation that created it. The VICH Steering Committee (VICH SC) authorised formation of a working group to develop harmonised guidelines for conducting environmental impact assessments (EIA) for veterinary medicinal products. The mandate of this VICH Ecotoxicity/Environmental Impact Assessment Working Group (VICH Ecotox WG), as set forth by the VICH SC, is as follows: "To elaborate tripartite guidelines on the design of studies and the evaluation of the



Figure 1 The relations between the EC, EMEA, CVMP, VICH, and SCVMP. Dotted lines: information and advice. Straight lines: proposals and decisions on Marketing Authorisation for products.

²³ Commonly referred to as the Veterinary International Conference on Harmonisation.

environmental impact assessment of veterinary medicinal products. It is suggested to follow a tiered approach based on the principle of risk analysis. Categories of products to be covered by the different tiers of the guideline should be specified. Existing or draft guidelines in the US, the EU and Japan should be taken into account." The VICH working group consists of three representatives of industry and three of the regulatory authorities, one of each continent. The VICH Ecotox WG elected to develop harmonised guidance in two phases (Phase I and Phase II). Phase I identifies VMPs that require a more extensive investigation of their potential to have environmental effects on non-target organisms. The VICH SC recommended to the WG that Phase II should include a list of studies needed for VMPs that enter Phase II and that decision-making or interpretative criteria should be included in Phase II. The working group was advised not to incorporate risk management options into Phase II.

In other words, the working group had to deliver harmonised guidance using limited resources (six experts) defending primarily industrial and governmental interests, secondarily environmental and regulatory interests. The interests of the three industrial representations are very close: maximum result (registration) and at minimum costs (in terms of both dossier requirements and consumer image). The interests of the three governmental representations were however more different: apart from opening the markets and removing trade barriers, the existing registration procedures should not be compromised too much, the availability of products should not be hampered, and the environment in the three 'continents' (with different legislative criteria) should be protected. The product of such a setting is likely to be clear on intentions, but not on details and procedures.

The draft guidance documents published by the VICH are circulated for consultation to members of industry, the CVMP, and the DG Enterprise. These interested parties have the opportunity to provide their comments to their respective representatives. The EMEA working party member has to deal with (conflicting) comments from experts from all member states (represented in the CVMP), and from various experts from (governmental) science laboratories. Not until October 2001 (i.e. after the Phase was approved) a working group on ecotoxicology was established under the CVMP to advice on matters related to preparation of guidelines on environmental risk assessment, in particular providing comments on the VICH phase II guidelines, which are in preparation; to provide advice on issues not covered by existing guidelines such as developing agreed exposure calculation models; and to provide further advice at the request of the CVMP, on other issues related to environmental risk assessment of VMPs, in particular for facilitating a harmonised implementation of guidelines. After adoption by the Steering Group of the VICH the guidance is published by the EMEA and distributed to the member states, i.e. the national agencies for the authorisation of VMPs. Although the EC is informed on the progress of the work and contents of the guidance, it is not involved in regulatory approval of the guidance. Therefore the guidance has no legal status, even though it is an elaboration of the directive and it influences the registration process to a large extent.

Figure 2. Phase I Decision Tree



The policy making process on the ERA for VMPs has the following characteristics:

- Consensual approach between industry and registration agencies²⁴;
- No participation of other interested parties;
- Little or no involvement of policy makers from DG Enterprise or DG Sanco, a concern expressed by the European Parliament (EC, 2001b);
- The guidance and interpretative criteria have no legal status;
- Until recently no scientific opinion was formed that represented the CVMP point of view;
- There was no formal exchange between the VICH and EMEA working groups and steering groups or technical meetings for biocides or pesticides, even though these product groups share active substances and emission routes to the environment.

Thus the first two of five features for a proper assessment (see page 99) are not present. The formalisation of the contents and the procedure is neither transparent nor open to input by scientists and other interested parties such as competent authorities (with respect to environmental quality); the formalisation has no legal status, and European legislation cannot provide common protection goals.

6.6 Contents of the ERA for veterinary medicines

Let us now look at the contents of the guidances. As discussed above, a proper assessment at this point should involve environmental goals based on European environmental legislation, and should contain standards and harmonised risk assessment methodology. The ERA for medicines and feed additives consists of two phases. In Phase I, products are assessed on their intrinsic hazard and their level of exposure (see Figure 2 on veterinary medicines).

If the product fails to meet the triggers or exemptions, Phase II testing is needed. This step is not rigid, as some VMPs that might otherwise stop in Phase I may require additional environmental information to address particular concerns associated with their activity and use (VICH, 2000).

Question number 8 highlights a crucial component of the decision scheme underlying the decisions also made in questions number 3, 5, 7, and 12: what are the emission routes at and after administration, and can one be certain that the emission is absent or insignificant? The burden of proof is at the applicant, and the decision is to the assessor. In the guidance emission is limited to four routes: no emission, emission to surface water, emission to soil and direct emission into the environment (pasture animals). Emission to water and groundwater via soil and direct emission at application are not considered. Emission in the waste-stage of the product is not included in the guidance, although it should be part of the safety assessment as required by Directive 2001/82, and notably, there is no EU policy on the quality of soil (which is assessed), but there is legislation on the quality of groundwater (which is not assessed).

²⁴ For a further characterization of this policy-making style see the commentary of O. Renn in Löfstedt et al. (2001).

A total residue approach on the active substance is adopted, relieving the applicant from performing degradation route studies (animal, manure, soil, and water). Although this is a worst-case approach concerning the effect exerted by the parent compound, the fate of different metabolic fractions is not considered.

The exposure level that is considered irrelevant is quantified both for water and soil for antibiotics. For certain compounds (non-parasiticides) trigger values for exposure are introduced: $1 \mu g/L$ in water and $100 \mu g/kg$ in soil. These triggers are substantiated with an assessment of a dataset of toxicity values of several antibiotics, assuming:

- The data set (substances) is representative for all substances with the same pharmacological mode of action;
- The data set (endpoints) is representative for the aquatic respectively the terrestrial environment;
 - Safety factors on the lowest experimental effect value are redundant due to:
 - the availability of substances in the presence of soil (due to sorption);
 - the functional redundancy of microbes in soil;
 - the mitigating influence of degradation.

The approach as such, i.e. determining the level of toxicity that will have a very small likelihood of being present in a product, and thus the level of exposure that can be considered an acceptable risk considering all products, is in fact equivalent to the practice in the exposure assessment, where the 'insignificant' emission routes are not considered in view of all other emission routes. However, the assessment to determine a safe level is found to be of poor quality from an ecotoxicological point of view (De Knecht and Montforts, 2001). The soil trigger for feed additives is, on the contrary, $10 \mu g/kg$ in the 2001/79 Directive.

The VICH has not yet agreed upon a Phase II guidance. The European registration process has to rely on the available guidance on Phase II as published by (EMEA, 1997), that consists of the hazard quotient approach, where predicted exposure and effect are combined. Breaching of risk ratio triggers (e.g. PEC/EC50) leads to refinement of the assessment and inclusion of field studies. The guidance is however ambiguous on the decision schemes: what compartments have to be assessed: surface water and groundwater are not assessed directly in Phase I: do they have to be assessed in Phase II? What data are compulsory, what exposure models and effect models must be used, and how should field studies be designed or interpreted? And how should persistency and accumulation be expressed in exposure modelling and effect assessment? Methodological problems resulting from the lack of guidance have been discussed in (Montforts et al., 1999; Halling-Sørensen et al., 2001; Montforts, 2001).

The available guidance is ambiguous on the ERA:

- no clear data requirements;
- testing protocols are lacking;
- decision making criteria are not clearly defined;
- there are no clear standards expressing acceptability;
- the methodology has not been elaborated to a satisfactory extent;
- justification of the trigger values is scientifically unsound;

- the ERA does not cover all Communautarian environmental legislations (i.e. groundwater).

The content of the VICH Phase I and the EMEA Phase II guidance do not bear the required characteristics of a proper assessment: it does not contain all Communautarian environmental quality criteria, clear acceptability standards, or harmonised methodology.

6.7 Implementation of the ERA

Let us now look at the implementation of the guidances. As discussed above, a proper assessment at this point should be performed at every registration to be effective. Because science is developing as well, also at every renewal the ERA should be reconsidered. The authority should apply environmental expertise at assessment and at decision-making, have methodology and criteria to its disposal, know how to weigh different interests, have expertise in the realism of risk mitigation measures, and should be able to deal with gaps in knowledge. Let us see if these requirements are met.

In Article 13 of directive 2001/82 exemptions are made to the dossier requirements and the extent of the safety assessment, as a result of which all member states, except the Netherlands and the UK, do not assess existing substances on environmental safety (De Knecht et al., 2001). If this interpretation is juridical correct, the registration process cannot function as a tool in environmental policy and is not in accordance with the White Paper intentions.

In order to prepare and make sound decisions on the safety of a product, ecotoxicological expertise is required at preparation and at decision making. Neither the members of the Netherlands Committee and Working Group on the Authorisation of VMPs, nor of the CVMP reflect the fact that ecotoxicology is a safety aspect on its own right. In several member states the ERA is not performed by qualified environmental chemists or ecotoxicologists, but by staff with a veterinary background (De Knecht et al., 2001), although dossier evaluation is a sensitive step in the registration process (Mensink et al., 1995), (Boesten, 2000), (Tiktak, 2000), (Pontolillo and Eganhouse, 2001).

The authorities do not have, as discussed above, clear methodology and criteria to their disposal. The authorities have little experience with risk mitigation measures and the available guidance does not, as advised by the VICH, deal with this matter. Risk mitigation measures at registration usually target the emission of the product to the environment. Measures that target the necessity or redundancy of the product are not expressed in the risk assessment and are also outside the scope of the registration (which considers the use (and should also consider the disposal) of the product.). Product labelling intended to reduce risk can only influence the use and disposal of the (prepared) product and the treated animal, but not the use and disposal of the contaminated manure and slurry. Two examples are found in the literature (Greiner and Rönnefahrt, 2001). The first example is on the restriction on spreading of manure from animals treated with the product. A label to keep treated animals stabled is enforceable, but a label to spread the contaminated slurry not within some distance from the ditch is not; at the moment the veterinary practitioner or farmer uses the product, he

cannot foresee the eventual spreading of the manure. The inspector can check the quality of the slurry, but not whether the medicinal product had been applied according to the label or not. The second example is the registration of a product containing alkylphenols. It is EU policy to abandon the use of these compounds (Footitt et al., 1999), but this cannot be considered a risk mitigation measure at registration. Not only does the product *in casu* contain this substance, but also the use in medicines is exempted from the general risk reduction strategy and the safety of the products with these compounds should be assessed at registration.

The authorities and have not made explicit how to weigh different interests nor how to deal with gaps in knowledge. The guidance on human medicines states "since for medicinal products the benefit for humans has relative precedence over any environmental risks, the environmental risk management procedures adopted for industrial chemicals and pesticides (i.e. prohibiting or restricting their use if an unacceptable risk to the environment is evident) is neither possible nor desirable in this case. Precautionary measures through product labelling are therefore the recommended risk management procedures for medicinal products, when concerns for the environment are present." This guidance indicates that environmental risk is at most a reason to suggest risk mitigation measures and undermines the legitimacy of the ERA: why impose a burden on the producers that will not discriminate the products? The guidances for veterinary medicines and feed additives do contain decision-making or interpretative criteria, which only lead to requests for further assessment. No information is provided on weighing of risks versus benefits, on provisional approval given an expected (low) level of risk. As there are not strict dossier requirements, it is not clear how lack of information should be included in the decision making.

The ERA at registration does not bear the last features for a proper assessment. Assessments are not made for all products, and the decision-making principles and practical procedures are not operational. It is therefore unlikely that any result of an ERA can be taken into consideration.

6.8 Discussion and conclusions

It has been argued that environmental protection in itself is not an issue to be dealt with at EU level. There are considerable problems that cross borders (e.g. groundwater depletion) or arise on a specific location due to actions of several states, but the level of quality desired on each location and the specific member states involved in each case are not uniform. Environmental legislation should thus be a case for member states only, or multi-lateral negotiation (Golub, 1996). To illustrate this line of reasoning: the EC has issued directives on water and groundwater (trans-national relations), but not on soil. The framework directive on water (2000/60/EC) is a fine example of the awareness of the EC of both the subsidiarity principle (regulate at the lowest appropriate level) and the complexity of the existing regulations on water quality. The framework directive formulates common objectives, leaving a great deal of decision making to the member states, and provides for a coherent approach of water management, recognising the relationships with other policy

areas, such as environment, nature, spatial planning, agriculture and product policy. It is argued here that the subsidiarity issue on environmental regulations is not only defined by scale of the revelation of the effects, but also by the mechanics that lead to the effects, including the working of the common market for products. This is why environmental legislation serves a purpose in European registration procedures for products.

A regulatory problem arises when a product registration procedure is harmonised at a European level by the central registration authority, while the authorities at the national level are responsible for maintaining the desired environmental quality. This may lead to a less effective implementation of the ERA as a tool for environmental policy. This problem can be tackled in two ways:

- the ERA should be based on common principles based on EU regulations and policy that steer the national authorities;
- the ERA should be developed under the supervision of competent authorities, for example through national interdepartmental steering groups that prepare the national points of view.

Both options are not reflected in the forging of the ERA for medicines and feed additives. The formalisation of the contents and the procedure is neither transparent nor open to input by scientists and other interested parties; the formalisation has no legal status, and European legislation cannot provide common protection goals in a global setting. The VICH Phase I and the EMEA Phase II guidance do not contain all Communautarian environmental quality criteria, nor clear acceptability standards, nor harmonised methodology. The scientific validity of the registration procedure is compromised (cf. (Heyvaert, 1999a)). Assessments are not made for all products, and the decision-making principles and practical procedures are not operational. It is therefore unlikely that any result of an ERA can be taken into consideration at registration, which undermines the legitimacy of the process.

What is the ultimate effect of these developments? Assessors at the registration agencies do not know if and how to perform or conclude an ERA. Applicants do not know what effort the authorisation process will place upon them, which makes it difficult to take management decisions on the development of new products, or the renewal of old products. It is not the ERA as such, but the lack of clarity in procedure and requirements that may ultimately compromise product availability. Products that pose a threat to environmental quality at or after use or disposal may now be registered, forcing the authorities responsible for water and land quality to regulate and enforce product use and slurry use on a case by case basis.

The major efforts recently made by the regulators and scientists within EMEA and VICH need to be founded on clear policy decisions and embedded in a uniform and transparent decision-making procedure. It should take little effort to postulate Communautarian decision-making criteria together with their levels of acceptability. These will provide a solid basis for the implementation of the existing risk assessment methodologies, and subsequently help to clarify the (compulsory) data requirements and (realistic) risk mitigation measures. These five elements (criteria, standards, methodology,
data requirements, and mitigation measures) will then provide a reference for deciding on the environmental acceptability, both for the producers and for the decision-makers.

Acknowledgements

This publication was funded by the EU Energy, Environment and Sustainable Development programme of the Fifth Framework Programme, within the project Environmental Risk Assessment of Veterinary Medicines in Slurry, ERAVMIS, contract number EVK1-CT-1999-00003, and of the Netherlands Ministry of VROM, within the RIVM project M/601450 Development of Risk Assessment Methodology. The authors are solely responsible for the contents, which does not represent the opinion of the Community.

7. Legal constraints in EU product labelling to mitigate the environmental risk of veterinary medicines at use

Published in Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology 40 (2004) 327-335 MHMM Montforts, National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, Bilthoven HFMW van Rijswick, Faculty of Law, Utrecht University HA Udo de Haes, Institute of Environmental Sciences, Leiden University

7.1. Introduction

European and national regulators are involved in managing environmental risks of veterinary pharmaceuticals from two perspectives. One is the registration of pharmaceutical products (Blasius and Cranz, 1998), and the other is the management of good environmental quality (Montforts and De Knecht, 2002). The framework of the registration procedure for veterinary medicines consists amongst others of the European Community legislation, Member State legislation, case law, as well as global (trade) agreements. In this paper we investigate what possibilities and obligations are created for applicants and authorities within this framework to assess the environmental impact of the use of a veterinary medicinal product, to take the results of the risk assessment into account in decision-making, and to bind users and third parties to precautions in the labelling and packaging. The objective of this article is then to investigate methodological and legal restraints that render the precautions in the labelling and packaging ineffective as risk mitigation measures within the European Union. For further reading on the legal context in the US the reader is kindly referred to Daughton and Jones-Lepp (2001), Haskell et al. (2003a; 2003b), and Nidel, (2003).

7.2. The obligation to take environmental risk into account at registration of veterinary medicinal products

The codified EU Directive 2001/82/EC lays down rules for, amongst others, placing products on the market, labelling and package leaflet. Placing on the market evolves around the permit to market the product, the so-called marketing authorisation (MA), the procedures for granting the marketing authorisation, and procedures for mutual recognition of marketing authorisations within the EU. The Directive addresses both regulatory authorities and applicants, but not the consumers of the marketed products. The recently adopted Directive 2004/28/EC amends the 2001/82/EC Directive. In this new Directive, any risk of undesirable effects on the environment is included in the definition of risks relating to the use of the product (worded in Article 1(19)). Article 12(3)j. requires the applicant 'to provide tests assessing the potential risks posed by the medicinal product for the environment. This impact

shall be studied and consideration shall be given on a case-by-case basis to specific provisions seeking to limit it.'

The risk assessment is to be examined by the registration authority. This examination is performed by a scientific committee, since the European Court of Justice (ECJ) ruled in case C212-91 (Angelopharm) that "the Scientific Committee is the only party involved in the policy-making process that is competent to make those scientific and technical assessments on which the legal validity of the measures depends" (Heyvaert, 1999a). At the European level Regulation (EC) 726/2004 (re)installed the Committee for Veterinary Medicinal Products (CVMP) to provide these risk-based opinions in the centralised procedures (Blasius and Cranz, 1998). The CVMP is also involved in decentralised procedures, where a marketing authorisation obtained in one Member State is taken for mutual recognition to other member states. When disputes between member states about public health or environment remain unsolved, the case is also referred to the CVMP, which will provide for a binding opinion on the matter.

The framework of the registration procedure for veterinary medicines thus generates a scientific opinion on the environmental risk. There are two possible options for the authority in response to an identified environmental risk. The first option is to eliminate the risk by denying marketing authorisation. This option is based in the articles 30 and 33 to the Directive. In the Directive 2004/28/EC, amending the 2001/82/EC, Article 30 states that marketing authorisation is denied if the risk-benefit balance of the product is, under the authorised conditions of use, unfavourable. A risk/benefit balance is defined as 'an evaluation of the positive therapeutic effects of the veterinary medicinal product in relation to the risks'. In Article 33, it is stipulated that a mutual recognition of a marketing authorisation can be denied if there are concerns for a potential serious risk to human or animal health or for the environment.

The second option is to mitigate the predicted risk to an acceptable level by addressing the user of the veterinary medicine through the information that accompanies the product (Koschorreck et al., 2002). This option has the intention of establishing a code of conduct that is reaching further than the Good Agricultural Practice taken as a starting point in the risk assessment. This option is held in high esteem, since it is explicitly worded in Article 12.3.j of the 2004/28/EC Directive and the recital. This option is further investigated in this article, by examining the requirements set in the Directive towards the risk assessment methodology and the obligations towards the user of the medicinal product.

7.3. The structure of the environmental risk assessment

The EU Directive and the Notes for Guidance provide for a methodology for assessing environmental risk following the use of the product under representative conditions. It is stated in Annex I, Part 3, chapter 1.5, to the EU Directive 2001/82/EC that:

'the assessment shall normally be conducted in two phases. In phase I, the investigator shall assess the potential extent of exposure to the environment of the product, its active substances or relevant metabolites, taking into account:

- the treated animal species, and the proposed pattern of use (for example, mass-medication or individual animal medication),
- the method of administration, in particular the likely extent to which the product will enter directly into environmental compartments,
- the possible excretion of the product, its active substances or relevant metabolites into the environment by treated animals; persistence in such excreta,
- the disposal of unused or waste product.

In phase II, taking into account the extent of exposure of the product to the environment, the investigator shall then consider whether further specific investigation of the effects of the product on particular ecosystems is necessary. The available information about the physical/chemical, pharmacological and/or toxicological properties of the compound which has been obtained during the conduct of the other tests and trials required by this Directive have to be taken into account. As appropriate, further investigation may be required of:

- fate and behaviour in soil,
- fate and behaviour in water and air,
- effects on aquatic organisms,
- effects on other non-target organisms.'

Thus the Directive has specified the scope and boundary conditions for the environmental risk assessment to be performed. Article 33(2) of the recent Directive 2004/28/EC coerces the Commission to adopt guidelines defining a potential serious risk for human or animal health or for the environment. This is essential to make the risk/benefit-based decisions (Di Fabio, 1994). The European Medicines Agency (EMEA)²⁵ and the CVMP have published guidance on the environmental risk assessment, that was implemented in 1997 in the European registration process (EMEA, 1997). A revised guidance document on Phase I has been implemented by July 1st 2001 (VICH, 2000). For Phase II the 1997 guidance is still leading, but a new Phase II guidance is under preparation that is expected to come into force in 2005 (VICH, 2003). The guidance documents consider the use stage of the products. The waste stage of the products is however not guided by these guidance documents, and neither will it be considered here.

The Notes for Guidance identify acceptable risks of applications: generally when the level of exposure is below a predicted no-effect concentration. If the predicted exposure level were to be greater than the predicted no-effect level, the assessment proceeds to a next tier where the Note for Guidance requires more data and more advanced methods to refine the risk assessment. Regarding the exposure assessment, the identified and consolidated emission routes are direct emission to the environment, emission through dung of grazing animals, emission of contaminated water, and emission through spreading of slurry from treated animals. The assessment is performed taking codes of conduct according to Good Agricultural Practice into account. Good Agricultural Practices to the use of manure on land

²⁵ Formerly named the European Medicines Evaluation Agency

may differ between members states and are amongst others set by the Nitrate Directive for vulnerable areas, advisory standards for crop fertilisation, and tolerance of crop for excessive manuring (Montforts and Tarazona, 2003). This allows for the use of generalised data on animals, manure production, storage, handling and spreading, under worst case conditions. A second important assumption is that spreading of manure is a given fact, and that the contamination by the veterinary medicinal products does not restrict the spreading of the slurry.

The EU Directive and the Notes for Guidance provide thus for a methodology for assessing environmental risk following the use of the product under representative conditions. The most important conclusion is that risks arising from direct exposure, at treatment, or from exposure to treated animals, and indirect exposure, by the spreading of contaminated materials such as dung and manure, are within the scope of the registration assessment. Further details on the risk model and the available methodology will be addressed below, where relevant. We will now investigate what the possibilities are for risk reduction by provision of instructions to the user of the veterinary medicine.

7.4. Risk mitigation by labelling and packaging

Together with the marketing authorisation, several documents and particulars with relevant information are issued at registration. These entail a summary of product characteristics (SPC) and an assessment report, as stipulated in Article 14 and 25, the containers and outer packages (Article 58), and a package leaflet (PL, Article 61). All of these particulars should contain 'precautions (as a special class of prescriptions) for disposal of unused medicinal products or waste material from medicinal products, if any'. The SPC should also contain explanations of these precautions together with an indication of any potential risk to the environment. All these precautions shall conform to the particulars and documents pursuant to Article 12 of Directive 2001/82/EC. Precautions should therefore *demonstrably* reduce the environmental risk. We will now consider these documents and particulars in greater detail. It will be investigated what the subject of the measures can be, who the addressee is (the object of the precaution), and what the disposition of the precautions is (precept, prohibition, or recommendation).

A precaution is not a mandatory enactment under the Directive 2004/28/EC. The Directive does neither elaborate on obligations to consumers to obey the documents and particulars nor on supervision and sanctions. Precautions are hence not legally binding through the Directive. Although it can be expected that the precautions will have their intended effects in a certain number of instances, the reasonable worst case situation remains the one where the precautions are not followed. In that sense, the precautions are merely recommendations. Paradoxically, all precautions should therefore be considered as ineffective risk reduction measures, unfit for inclusion in the labelling. However, national

legislation concerning the veterinary practice should turn these prescriptions into legal injunctions. The situation in the Netherlands is presented here as an example.

In the Netherlands, rules on precautions have been laid down in the Veterinary Medicines Act (Diergeneesmiddelenwet) (Anonymous, 1985). It is established in Articles 7 and 40 that it is forbidden to act against the prescriptions in the documents and particulars issued at registration. This prohibition applies to the users of the veterinary medicine, provided that the prescriptions are stated in the Package Leaflet, the container, or the outer packaging. Information in the SPC alone is however not legally binding, but may assist the veterinarian in selecting the appropriate treatment. Ignoring the prescriptions issued at registration is a penal offence, supervised and sanctioned, under the Economic Offences Act (Wet op de economische delicten) (Anonymous, 1950). The Veterinary Medicines Act also controls the availability of veterinary medicines. There are three classes of veterinary medicines: freely available products, products under prescription that can be administered by the keeper of the animals, and products that can only be administered by the veterinarian.

The subject of instructions (the 'what' question) in the labelling may be the product (e.g. dosage and posology), the treated animals, or animal products such as eggs and milk (e.g. withdrawal times). Likewise, the excreta of treated animals can be addressed by special instructions, since these are under control of the keeper of the treated animals. The addressee of these precautions (the 'who' question) may be the veterinarian or the keeper of the treated animals. Other persons or subjects are not the users of the products and cannot be addressed.

It is also very important that the precaution addresses the right addressee with reasonable demands. Unreasonable demands will not only be ineffective, but may also delay the registration procedure. An illustration of unreasonable demands can be found in the precautions concerning the application of biocidal products for the impregnation of wood. The precautions of concern addressed the person that impregnates the wood with instructions on the selection of the product for certain types of wood. The precaution distinguished between the different final destinations of the wood: use in contact with soil and water, or not. A Netherlands Court, the Board for the Appeal of Private Enterprise (CBB) ruled that restrictions on the use of wood preservation products should only have bearings on destinations (of the treated wood) that were to be determined reasonably clear and objective at the time of use of the product (CBB, 2000). Restrictions bearing on the anticipated use of the wood in contact with soil or water were considered not to meet this requirement. It was taken into account, that the person applying the product for impregnation was not the person who determined the destination of the treated wood. When deciding on using the product on a given batch of wood, the destination of the wood would not be reasonably clear for him to make the right decision. The precaution that distinguished between contact with water and soil or not, was unreasonable and the authorisation was nullified.

If precautions refer to the handling of treated animals or manure that has been contaminated with residues of the medicinal product, such precautions only should have legal force if the user of the product also controls these animals or this manure. Such precautions would have no legal force if another person than the user of the product actually determines the destination of the animal or the manure. Without legal force, the precaution cannot be considered to mitigate the risk. There are two situations where this applies.

Firstly, regarding the products that are to be administered by the veterinarian only, the precautions cannot instruct him or her on the destination of the treated animals or the manure, since the farmer controls these. Second, for products that are administered by the keeper of the animals, the precautions do have binding force. However, once the animals or manure have been sold to a third party, the precautions are no longer binding. For these open ends a solution must be developed.

All precautions should be based on factual information provided in the dossier and generated in the risk assessment. To what extent the effect of the precaution is demonstrable by the risk assessment methodology will be explored in the next section.

7.5. The demonstration of the effect of risk mitigating precautions

In European Member States, several medicinal products have been registered after decentralised procedures, with special precautions contained in the SPC, Package Leaflet, container and outer packaging. All these precautions shall conform to the particulars and documents pursuant to Article 12 of Directive 2001/82/EC. Precautions should therefore demonstrably, i.e. quantifiably, reduce the environmental risk. This means that the impact of the precaution should be expressed in the risk assessment, in conformity with the dossier and the risk assessment methodology. The methodology available typically targets realistic worst case conditions of use that cover all possible situations in the field. Special precautions should apply without exemption to the worst case conditions.

Below some examples of special precautions for the environment are discussed with respect to the methodological demonstration of the efficacy of the precautions²⁶.

Many products containing parasiticides for pasture animals carry a precaution that dictates that treated animals should not enter surface water at or after treatment. Apparently, the aquatic environment is at risk when treated animals have access to surface water, since residues of parasiticides are excreted with dung for days after treatment (Lumaret and Errouissi, 2002). According to the Notes for Guidance, the risk for surface water is based on an exposure model where 1% of the dosage (per hectare) is excreted in a ditch (100 m³) adjacent to the field. The resulting exposure concentration is compared to the toxicity of the crustacean *Daphnia magna*, taking an assessment factor of 100 into consideration. A risk quotient >1 indicates risk and calls for refinement of the assessment or risk mitigation measures. A few examples of products with this precaution are presented here.

The package leaflet of Eprinex Pour On (containing eprinomectin) carries the precaution 'treated animals should not have direct access to surface water and ditches'.

Without access to surface water, the treated animals will not expose the aquatic environment to excreted residues. The precaution on Eprinex Pour On eliminates demonstrably the risk to the environment since treated animals are not allowed to have access to surface water anymore. The precaution is technically sound. However, there is apparently no time period after which the risk of Eprinex Pour On would have become acceptable. It could be discussed whether this precaution is proportional since treated animals will have no longer access to fields with adjacent surface water.

The package leaflets of both Equimax oral gel for Horses (containing ivermectin and praziquantel) and of Noromectin 1.87% oral paste for Horses (containing ivermectin) carry the precaution: '*treated* animals should not have direct access to surface water and ditches *during treatment*'. Apparently, the treatment poses a risk to the aquatic environment, not the excretion of residues after treatment, which would be expected. Based on the Notes for Guidance the predicted concentration ivermectin in surface water would be 25 ng/l after the treatment of ponies (0.2 mg/kg bodyweight, 250 kg bodyweight, 5 animals per hectare). Halley et al. (1989) reported an EC50 of 25 ng/l for ivermectin in *Daphnia magna*. Applying the assessment factor of 100 results in a toxicological threshold of 0.25 ng/L. The risk quotient of 100 is above the threshold of 1. This precaution does not eliminate the risk of surface water contamination due to entry of residues excreted by the horses *after* treatment, which most likely was the intention.

The package leaflet of Triclaben 10% (containing triclabendazole) carries the precaution 'Cattle should not have access to surface waters within 7 days after treatment.' The package leaflet of Clik 5% Pour-on (containing dicyclanil) carries the precaution 'The treated sheep should be kept away from water courses for at least one hour after treatment.' Apparently, the risk to the aquatic environment is acceptable after 7 days, respectively 1 hour after treatment. These precautions provide clear instructions and the potential effect of these precautions can be demonstrated with the risk assessment methodology, since information on the excretion pattern of the active substance should be available (Montforts et al., 1999; Taylor, 1999).

Apart from the technical aspect, other legal aspects will determine the conformity with the EU Directive, as discussed above. Third parties will not be bound by the precautions stated above; inferring that treated animals will pose a risk to the environment after they have been sold to third parties within the stipulated time periods. The proportionality of the precautions should also be observed.

The product Sebacil Pour On (containing phoxim) is applied to pigs. The package leaflet contains the precaution: 'When spreading manure from treated animals on agricultural lands a safety distance of 10 m to adjacent surface waters must be kept to avoid exposure of the aquatic environment.' Apparently, the risk to surface water after manuring of land was

²⁶ The German federal registration number for Eprinex Pour On is 400629.00.00, for Triclaben 10% 400661.00.00, for Sebacil Pour-on 12201.00.00. The other SPCs were retrieved from http://www.hevra.org/vmri_spc/.

not acceptable. In the methodology provided by the Notes for Guidance in Phase I, the concentration in surface water depends on the concentration in soil as a result of spreading of slurry. The model assumes a dilution factor of 3.3 on the porewater concentration and describes the partitioning function as follows:

$$PECporewater = \frac{PECsoil}{Foc_{soil} \cdot Koc}$$

where PECsoil is concentration in the soil in [mg.kg_{soil}⁻¹], Foc_{soil} is the fraction organic carbon in soil in $[kg.kg^{-1}]$, Koc is the partition coefficient organic carbon – water in $[l.kg^{-1}]$, and PECporewater is the predicted concentration in porewater in [mg.1⁻¹]. The degree of surface water contamination in this exposure model is neither related to the actual transport processes (erosion, run-off, and drainage), i.e., the ratio between treated soil and receiving surface water, nor to the distance to the surface water. The water contamination depends on the equilibrium concentration between soil solids and soil porewater, and a dilution factor between soil porewater and surface water. The distance to the surface water is not modelled. The precaution must therefore have been based on an exposure assessment that handled this parameter of distance-to-edge, taken from a different source of exposure modelling. The German package leaflet contains the precaution: 'Whenever slurry of animals treated with Sebacil Pour-on is applied on agricultural fields, because of the hazard of run-off, a minimum distance of 10 m to surface waters should be observed.' The hazard of run-off is indicated here. The German EXPOSIT model is known to contain a function that calculates a reduction in run-off when a vegetative buffer strip is observed between the treated soil and the surface water. A 10 meter vegetative buffer strip would reduce surface water contamination with 67% due to run-off (Winkler, 2001). Evidently, next to the process of run-off, drainage is a process to be considered (Kay et al., 2004), and the recommended no-spreading zone does not influence the contribution by drainage to the same extent. Moreover, in all operative drainage models, used in pesticide registration, the drainage model contains only a single soil column. The effect of a no-spreading zone, which would be a second soil column in the exposure model, is not demonstrable in drainage calculations with the currently available models in the frameworks of registration of veterinary medicines or plant protection products (VICH, 2000; FOCUS, 2001; WRc-NSF, 2001; Winkler, 2001).

Since the Notes for Guidance do not define the relative contribution of the process of run-off to the final water concentration, the influence on the final exposure concentration could not be quantified. The methodology should be improved on these aspects in order to make these precautions demonstrably effective. Apart from the technical aspect, other legal aspects will determine the conformity with the EU Directive, as discussed above. Third parties will not be bound by the precautions stated above; inferring that the manure from treated animals will pose a risk to the environment after it has been sold to third parties.

Another example concerns the effect of the precaution on Nuflor Drinking Water Concentrate for Swine (containing florfenicol): 'Manure from treated pigs should be stored for 3 months prior to spreading and incorporating into land'. Apparently, the concentration of the residue in the manure was too high. The precaution addresses the manure storage in the exposure model, which is in potential important in limiting exposure of the environment (Pierini et al., 2004). The precaution may generate a necessary certain amount of dilution of the residue with clean manure during these 3 months. However, the Notes for Guidance refer for an example of the calculation of the soil exposure concentration to the paper by Spaepen et al. (1997). In this paper, the shortest dilution period is about 5 months for slaughtering pigs, making it less conceivable that the intended risk mitigating effect is dilution. It is more likely that the effect of degradation on the concentration of the residue was assessed in the dossier. The assessment of fate and distribution of veterinary medicines in manure during storage is complicated, due to the lack of technical guidance both for conducting degradation studies and for interpretation of the results and subsequent exposure modelling. The performance and evaluation of laboratory studies on the degradation in manure have been investigated (Bouwman and Reus, 1994), but have not yet resulted in internationally accepted test guidelines (Van Vlaardingen et al., 2001). Also there is currently no scenario that lays down representative worst case conditions for the modelling of degradation during manure storage (Montforts and Tarazona, 2003). Proportions of manure types and storage systems differ considerably between countries and will influence storage conditions and manure composition in different ways (Donham et al., 1988; Menzi, 2002). Conditions like oxygen levels, manure age, microbial activity and temperature will determine the fate of organic contaminants to a large extent, but are highly diverse within and between storage systems (Hoeksma et al., 1987; Novem, 1991; Arogo et al., 1999). Manure models that model manure loading, quality change, and fate of constituents do exist for nutrients, but are not operational for organic contaminants (Ni, 1999; Ni et al., 1999; Hilhorst and De Mol, 2002). Therefore, the waiting period would probably contribute to risk mitigation, assuming at least some degradation of the relevant residue, but the exact effect under relevant worst-case conditions cannot be quantified using available methodology. The methodology should be improved on these aspects in order to make these precautions demonstrably effective.

Again, apart from the technical aspect, other legal aspects will determine the conformity with the EU Directive, as discussed above. Third parties will not be bound by the precautions stated above; inferring that the manure from treated animals will pose a risk to the environment after it has been sold to third parties.

7.6. Discussion, conclusions and recommendations

In this paper we investigated what possibilities and obligations are created by the EU Directive 2001/82/EC, to bind authorities, applicants, and users, to instructions and prohibitions in the labelling to the product. The regulatory framework obligated applicants and authorities to assess the environmental risk of the use of the product. The assessment is to

be performed by a scientific committee. The CVMP Notes for Guidance provide for a methodology for establishing environmental risk following the use of the product under representative conditions. Risks arising from indirect exposure, by the spreading of contaminated materials such as dung and manure, are within the scope of the registration assessment.

Doubts on the acceptability of environmental risks may constitute a reason for the applicant to change product characteristics or target species, and for the authority to deny marketing authorisation. The present article focuses on the alternative option to mitigate the risk to an acceptable level by special precautions in the information that accompanies the product.

The retrieved precautions address the fate of treated animals or the contaminated excreta, seeking to rule out or diminish the exposure of the environment. The grazing of treated animals in fields adjacent to surface water, the storage of manure, and the distribution of manure on land adjacent to surface water, are the components of the exposure methodology that are altered by the precautions, which subsequently ought to demonstrate the necessary reduction in risk. The intended addressee is therefore the keeper of the animals and the manure. Should the intended addressee not be addressed and bound by the precaution, or the risk reduction not be demonstrable, it has to be accepted that the risk will not be mitigated.

Several constraints have been identified that make risk mitigation measures technically or legally ineffective, hence unsuitable for labelling and packaging (see Table 1 for an overview).

First, through the Directive precautions are not legally binding to veterinarians and farmers (the consumers). In that sense, no precaution can be considered an effective risk reduction measure. National legislation concerning the veterinary practice must turn these recommendations into legal injunctions, in order to make the precautions work. The way precautions are worded, in relation to the national legislation determines the national legal status, and thus their efficacy as risk reduction measure. It is imperative that the legality of the precautions and the possible subjects and addressees of the precautions are defined in national regulation, and that this is harmonised between Member States. One way would be to incorporate in the Directive that consumers are bound to the precautions. Member States will have to transpose this into national legislation. By means of a Regulation this prescription would have direct effect on the consumers in all Member States.

Second, precautions can be used to control the fate of the treated animal and the manure containing excreted residues, provided the legal person addressed is the keeper of the treated animals. If the product is to be administered by the veterinarian, environmental precautions regarding the treated animals or manure are thus not binding. The legislation at hand also does not transfer precautions regarding the treated animals and the manure to third parties. The solution to these shortcomings is to include this transfer of responsibilities to second and third parties, either in the precautions themselves or in the legislation, and to prohibit both trade and use of the animals and manure in the precautions during the time that the precaution is operative.

Product	Precaution	Problem	Solution
Eprinex Pour On	treated animals should not have direct access to surface water and ditches	addressee, proportion	Include transfer of liability to other parties, define waiting period
Equimax oral gel for Horses ; Noromectin 1.87% oral paste for Horses	treated animals should not have direct access to surface water and ditches during treatment	addressee, efficacy	Include transfer of liability to other parties, define waiting period
Triclaben 10%	Cattle should not have access to surface waters within 7 days after treatment	addressee	Include transfer of liability to other parties
Clik 5% Pour-on	The treated sheep should be kept away from water courses for at least one hour after treatment	addressee	Include transfer of liability to other parties
Sebacil Pour-on	At application of slurry of treated animals on agricultural fields a minimum distance of 10 m to bordering surface waters is to be observed	addressee, efficacy	Include transfer of liability to other parties; improve exposure assessment methodology
Nuflor Drinking Water Concentrate for Swine	Manure from treated pigs should be stored for 3 months prior to spreading and incorporating into land	addressee, efficacy	Include transfer of liability to other parties; improve exposure assessment methodology

Table 7-1 Overview of selected precautions included in the package leaflet of veterinary medicines with a view to mitigate environmental risk.

Third, precautions are only acceptable under the Directive if their potential effect can be demonstrated using the risk assessment methodology. Thus, the precautions forbidding release of treated animals or manure containing residues into the environment are technically effective, since the effect can be demonstrated in the methodology. The impact of temporary storage of manure containing residues cannot be quantified because of a lack of standardised model conditions. Likewise, the precise effect of the precautions prohibiting the spreading of manure within a certain distance to the surface water can as yet not be quantified with available exposure assessment methodology. The flexibility of the risk assessment methodology to deal with temporal and spatial differentiation in the exposure and effect assessment should be improved accordingly.

Fourth, whether the precautions on confinement of the animals or the manure (for a time period or infinitely) leaves the farmer with reasonable alternatives is an issue of proportionality. Precautions that are impossible to incorporate in Good Agricultural Practice should be avoided.

Discharges of slurry and chemical substances are in the EU also regulated by community legislation such as the Nitrate Directive and the Directives on water pollution 76/464/EEC, on groundwater protection 80/86/EEC, and in the near future the Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC). This type of legislation operates from the starting point that all actions that may lead to pollution are forbidden unless a permit is granted by the national competent authority. This legislation addresses different authorities than the Directive 2001/82/EC does. The permit ought to regulate the emission (e.g. by prescribing

application or purification techniques) as well as the maximum permissible concentration of the substance in the environment. The Marketing Authorisation is not a permit in this sense, but could provide for a firm scientific basis for the decision making by competent authorities. Ineffective precautions coerce the competent authorities to regulate the emission of residues. Also for products where the risk/benefit balance was favourable despite an environmental risk, the use or subsequent emission of residues necessitates regulatory consent. For example, for the use of Slice (containing emamectin) in the UK it will be necessary to obtain consents from the local environmental authorities (Anonymous, 2003). No-spreading zones are already Good Agricultural Practice in some Member States, for example in the UK (DEFRA, 2002). Alternative solutions to the use of precautions in the product information may thus be found in establishing precautions in permits, or in codes of Good Agricultural Practices, issued in these frameworks (Van Rijswick, 2001; Van Rijswick, 2003). Inevitably, the scientific and juridical underpinning of the precautions in these frameworks should be as meticulous as in the framework of registration, and will also require a flexible risk assessment methodology to quantify the impact of temporal and spatial differentiation of residue emissions.

Acknowledgements

The valuable comments of J. Koschorreck of the Umweltbundesamt in Berlin and of three anonymous reviewers are gratefully acknowledged.

8. Discussion

The objective of this thesis has been the validation of the environmental risk assessment methodology for the marketing authorisation of veterinary medicines²⁷.

The fate and behaviour of pharmaceuticals in the environment has been studied incidentally since the second half of the 20th century. In some instances, this was not with the intention of identifying ecological damage, but rather to find substances that combated (pathogenic or harmful) bacteria and had no side-effects on the particular organisms of their interest, such as fish for commercial breeding, algae for taxonomic studies, or soil fungi for research on soil nutrient cycling (Wellborn, 1969; Berland and Maestrini, 1969; Ingham and Coleman, 1984). The possible effect of residues on the quality of the environment was a concern that had been recognised since shortly after medicines were actually found in the environment towards the end of the 1960s. About a decade later, these concerns about pollution and effects had reached the regulatory agenda and were addressed in the 81/852/EEC Directive on marketing authorisation for veterinary medicines.

Effect studies with a variety of veterinary medicines on non-target organisms have been published in both environmental and agricultural literature. Exposure assessments of veterinary medicines by the spreading of manure were developed in the 1980's comparable to those applied to heavy metals, nutrients, pathogens, and biocides. Notably from 1994 onwards, when the EU Committee for Veterinary Medicinal Products (CVMP) initiated the drafting of a guidance document for the risk assessment of veterinary medicines, an increasing number of reviews on use, emission, fate, occurrence, effect, and risk of pharmaceuticals has been published in public literature. Several authors have provided suggestions on a risk assessment methodology for the Marketing Authorisation of veterinary medicines, thus increasing the body of information useful for this research into risk assessment.

The validation exercise performed here addresses the quality of the science applied, which should target the high level of protection of the environment that the EU Treaty intends to reach (EC, 2002c). Performing a validation contributes to a better understanding of the information generated in the risk assessment. The representation of the environment in the risk model and the consequences of the choices regarding variables and relationships in the natural system were addressed in light of existing legislation and policy on environmental quality. Where possible, empirical validation of individual exposure models was performed, demonstrating the accuracy of the model for a specified use. The following research topics on model validation and on the interaction between science and regulation have been addressed in this thesis.

²⁷ This research is restricted to the methodology developed and implemented between 1994 and 2001.

1. Harmonisation of protection goals and risk assessment methodology

- What relevant environmental protection goals can be considered?
- Does the integral risk model address the protection goals?
- 2. The conceptual and empirical validation of models and precautionary labelling
- Are screening level exposure models for surface water in aquaculture, for dung, and for soil and water in intensive animal husbandry well founded and applicable?
- Is the soil trigger value based on effect data functional and validated?
- Can the efficacy of mitigation measures be demonstrated by the methodology used to predict the risk?
- 3. The use of science in the registration framework
- Is science applied transparently and impartially in the development of risk assessment methodology and in the decision making for product registration?

The findings are discussed below.

8.1. Harmonisation of protection goals and risk assessment methodology

In order to protect the environment, next to animal health, consumers, and professional users, the marketing of veterinary medicinal products is actively regulated in the European Union. In order to market veterinary medicines, one needs a Marketing Authorisation. This Marketing Authorisation is issued together with all information that can and should be made available when selling the product, after a scientific assessment of the products properties concerning quality, efficacy, and safety. An environmental risk assessment is to be performed as part of this assessment, and there is a clear policy and regulatory infrastructure to deal with this issue. This infrastructure consists of regulatory, administrative, and scientific bodies, at supranational, international, and national levels, and includes legislation, jurisprudence, trade agreements, and a number of regulatory guidance documents on the environmental risk assessment (EMEA, 1997; VICH, 2000; DG Enterprise, 2000; Anonymous, 2001b).

The guidance documents are of particular interest, since scientists forge these documents in order to guide other scientists in risk assessment. The first guidance document, or Note for Guidance, was prepared and released by the CVMP in 1997 and provided a comprehensive risk assessment methodology that followed the Directive in its prescription that the assessment had to be performed in two phases. A new guidance document on Phase I was prepared by the International Co-operation on Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Registration of Veterinary Medicinal Products (VICH)²⁸ and was implemented by July 1st 2001. This guidance replaced the CVMP 1997 guidance on Phase I, the phase in which predominantly only the exposure of the environment to the veterinary medicines is assessed, but not the risks. The major changes concerned the soil concentration that should trigger a complete risk assessment. Not only was the trigger value increased tenfold, also groundwater

²⁸ Commonly referred to as the Veterinary International Conference on Harmonisation.

was no longer assessed in Phase I as an independent protection goal. This change drew the attention of both the scientific press and of the European Parliament²⁹.

As indicated in the introduction, environmental risk assessment is a scientific discipline that investigates the possible damage that certain activities, such as the use of veterinary medicines, may have on the environment. Often the risk is assessed in hierarchic levels, from screening level to advanced levels, where the estimations in higher levels overrule those in lower levels. At all levels, the same protection goals are observed, but the approach in the lower levels tends to be more conservative, less complicated, and with a low information need. When a risk in a lower level is deemed acceptable, no further assessment is required.

The tiered approach in the risk assessment scheme of the registration procedure of veterinary medicinal products is depicted in Table 8-1. The registration procedure is divided in two phases, Phase I and II. Phase I has the objective to identify the level of exposure that determines if there is enough concern to proceed to Phase II. The objective of Phase II is to identify the risk and possible risk mitigation measures. From the table, it follows that the practice of applying exposure concentrations as triggers for risk assessment is viewed, by the Scientific Steering Committee of DG Sanco, as unscientific. In my opinion, the use of threshold values, or concentration triggers based on effect data, is still part of the scientific domain of risk assessment. This research is predominantly concerned with Phase I.

My contradictory view on the scientific status of the use of thresholds is based on my perception of the scientific realm of risk assessment. The collection of protection goals, exposure models, and effect models, together with the conventions to apply the models and to harmonise their results, is by itself a model. It is a risk model to assess the risk of the use of veterinary medicines. The risk model includes all risk assessment methodology and all

Stage in regulatory evaluation scheme	Stage in scientific risk assessment scheme	Objective of stage	Methods employed	Requirements or applicability
Phase I		Identify exposure	Action limits	No test requirements
Phase II tier A	Screening	Rapid prediction of (absence of) risk	Risk assessment	Base data set on fate and toxicology
Phase II tier B	Primary	Standard approach to ensure consistent decision making	Risk assessment	Extended data set on emission, fate and effect
	Secondary	Substance and site- specific refinement		Case-by-case; depending on approach

Table 8-1. The tiered approach in the risk assessment of veterinary medicinal products (SSC, 2002).

²⁹ Currently (April 2004), the draft guidance on Phase II, the phase in which the risk assessment is carried out, is still under the consultative process. For this reason this guidance document is not considered here (VICH, 2003).

activities employed in the risk assessment procedure at registration. The objective of the risk model is to provide comprehensive information on all risks related to the use of the veterinary medicines in order to optimise the risk-based decision (Di Fabio, 1994; Cranor, 1997). The aim of the tiered approach within the risk model of the registration process is to eliminate the no-risk situations from further regulatory actions.

In risk assessment, both exposure and effects are modelled; the models are abstractions of reality and the outcomes are projections of what may happen. It depends on the level of protection what modelling scale is most suitable. Different scales of assessment aggregate information differently. Regional scale modelling may overlook local hot spots, and local modelling, in turn, may overlook spatial and temporal differences. The level of uncertainty and variability in the data associated with the assessment differs between the alternative scales of exposure and effect assessment. The choice of the scale hence influences both the modelling and the effect assessment approach.

The objective of every individual exposure model is to predict sufficiently accurate exposure concentrations. Exposure models describe transport, partitioning, and degradation processes, and enable us to model the fate of a veterinary medicine and to predict concentrations in soil or water because of its use. Effect models attempt to reproduce effects in model organisms or model systems as a result of exposure to a veterinary medicine, and enable us to make an estimation of adverse effects in the environment. All model results need to be translated to the situation of interest, taking variability and uncertainty in the model predictions into account. The combination of harmonised exposure and effect data results in estimates of risks, for example expressed as risk quotients, or margins of safety, for the situation under examination. The collection of all risk parameters (i.e. all results for all compartments, all routes of exposure, all species of concern) is the basis for the classification of the risk associated with the specific use of the veterinary medicine. In general, the classification in deterministic risk assessment is binary: there is a risk or not.

In the risk model, all relevant environmental protection goals are to be addressed. This statement sounds straightforward. The risk model should address all environmental compartments that are possibly exposed by the use of the veterinary medicine, at the high level of protection of the environment pursued by the European Union (Art. 174 of the EU Treaty (EC, 2002c)). The stage of hazard assessment is an important founding level for the protection goals and the geared risk model (Chapter 2).

The risk model is to be developed to address qualitative hazards (i.e. damage to environmental assets) and, where applicable, quantified standards. The fact that neither the Treaty nor the veterinary medicines Directive define the concept of environment suggests that there is no ambiguity expected. It appears that this stage has been insufficiently explored in the drafting of the VICH Note for Guidance, since not all possibly relevant protection goals are targeted in Phase I. In Phase I, only soil is assessed for veterinary medicines applied to stabled animals. Surface water and groundwater are only assessed in Phase II. The picture emerges that policy makers and scientists have not engaged themselves in a reconnaissance of regulatory goals, assessment scales, model approaches, and the uncertainty and variability of data associated with the assessment.

The organisational setting of the process in which the guidance was forged has contributed to this situation, as addressed in Chapter 6. Both the CVMP and the VICH guidance documents were drafted in an international working group of acknowledged environmental scientists, with experience in the environmental risk assessment for other chemicals, such as pesticides. In the drafting of the VICH Guidance, the experts involved, six in total, represented industry (three) and 'regional' governments (one for each region: EU, USA, and Japan). The experts had to operate with limited resources, instructions and responses, to design a methodology that suited different environmental interests. The EU expert had indeed considered the EU Directives on environmental quality in the drafting process. The expert had noted that the reference made in this legislation to 'pesticides' (in Directives 76/464/EEC and 80/778/EEC) and to 'biocides' (in Directive 80/68/EEC) was to affect 'some veterinary medicines, but not all'30, further considering 'that in specific cases there would be restrictions/provisions applying to products containing these substances'³⁰, without a clarification of who would be responsible for these provisions. In light of this interpretation, the protection goals of surface water, groundwater, and drinking water quality should have been integrated in the risk assessment methodology. Only when this would have been accomplished, then for given applications it would be possible to assess whether the use of the veterinary medicine was to be within the reach of any environmental legislation. The purport of the European 'regional' environmental legislation was however not considered as a conditio sine qua non. Consequently, surface water, groundwater, and drinking water quality were not taken into account in the risk model as a protection goal in Phase I.

A regulatory problem arises when a product registration procedure, through harmonisation at a trans-national level, neglects environmental quality objectives for which preservation authorities at the national level are responsible. It is clear and without dispute, that the legislation on registration of veterinary medicines is not an environmental legislation (based on Article 174 of the Treaty); and it is certainly not subsidiary to environmental legislation. However, there should be harmonisation of protection goals, standards and methodology between the relevant laws; else this may lead to a less effective implementation of the environmental risk assessment as a tool for environmental policy³¹. Not observing groundwater as an environmental criterion is not merely a technical flaw like having difficulty in establishing an acceptable effect³², as suggested by Long and Crane (2003), but a grave conceptual flaw in the risk model.

For the implementation of the methodology in the European Union, a further elaboration of the technical guidance is therefore needed, since European environmental legislation forces national authorities to issue permits or letters of consent for the use of veterinary medicines and the emission of its residues. For example, the UK government has

³⁰ Personal communication with the CVMP representative in VICH on Phase I, C. Long, June 2001.

³¹ The implementation of the Framework Directive Water 2000/60/EC, with respect to the standard setting for pesticides, provides a recent example of this struggle.

 $^{^{32}}$ See also Crane and Newman (2000) and De Jong et al. (in press).

been subject to infringement proceedings from the European Commission over a complaint regarding groundwater pollution from organophosphate sheep dip, a veterinary medicine use (Maynard, 1997). This decision reflects the Commission's concern that groundwater resources should be fully protected in accordance with Council Directive 80/68/EEC. Even, so to speak, if the soil concentration is below 100 µg/kg.

Several (groups of) substances have been listed in this European environmental legislation as 'priority substances' or 'substances of concern'. These groups of substances are for example 'pesticides', 'biocides', 'chlorinated hydrocarbons' or 'heavy metals'. The decision of including a veterinary medicine in any of the special categories of, for example, 'pesticides' or 'biocides' should be based on the state of scientific knowledge³³. The Netherlands Health Council advised the Ministers to treat (veterinary) medicines in a way comparable to 'pesticides and biocides' because they are pharmacologically active, are spread continuously, and little is known on their effects (Health Council, 2001). This scientific opinion puts medicines on a par with 'pesticides' and 'biocides' in the environmental legislation³⁴. Therefore, not only should the quality of various water compartments be one of the endpoints in the Phase I assessment, but also the quantitative standard for pesticides in drinking water (and in the Netherlands also for groundwater) of 0.1 microgram/L should apply.

8.2. The conceptual and empirical validation of models

I have performed the conceptual and empirical validation of exposure models in a number of publications. In the first instance, I presented and discussed in Chapter 3 four models for three routes of emission and distribution of veterinary medicinal products (aquaculture, grazing animals, and stabled animals) that reflect realistic agricultural practice in the Netherlands. Thereafter, an empirical validation of the slurry-soil-water models was attempted. For the different routes of emission, the findings are summarised below.

Exposure assessment begins with the use and the emission routes. All relevant emission routes are covered in the methodology: by slurry, by dung, direct emission at application, and by wastewater, directly or after treatment, and by sludge. Distribution models follow on all these emission models³⁵. The models that describe emission, distribution

³³ The European Court of Justice decided in the Van Bennekom case, which addressed the question whether vitamins should be classified as medicinal products, that this classification must be decided on a case-by-case basis, "having regard for the pharmacological properties of each vitamin to the extent to which they have been established in the present state of scientific knowledge" C 227/82 [1983] ECR 3883. The core of this ruling is –in my opinion–, that the required classification of substances should be based on their properties that were established by scientific knowledge.

³⁴ The European Court of Justice regards pesticides and biocides as - per se - dangerous substances (Heyvaert, 1999a). The scientific opinion that medicines should be treated like pesticides transfers this qualification to medicines as well.

³⁵ Aerial emissions are not considered in the current guidance documents. Based on data from Zahn et al. (2001), air-borne emission of tylosin from medicated feed out of the barn was calculated to be 35% of the dosage (Powers, 2003). For veterinary medicines administered by water rather than feed, or directly in or on the animal, this percentage is likely to be much less. Differentiating this pathway will not change the worst-case exposure models for other pathways and is not further considered here. However, distribution of airborne resistant bacteria may cause a potential hazard (Gibbs et al. 2004).

and exposure are made up of model parameters and algorithms. The model parameters have dimensions and values, determined by the model structure and the environmental conditions that the model should cover. The different parameter values are hence not selected at random, but are selected from confined ranges. The combination of agronomic and environmental conditions that realistically represents an area in which a substance is to be applied, is named a scenario. Models can be run for different scenarios of interest, and provide exposure data for different situations of interest.

Aquaculture. An exposure model for surface water through emission of waste water from in-house fish nurseries had been proposed for the registration procedure in the Netherlands (Montforts, 1999), and has been taken as a case study for this research (Chapter 3). The results of the exposure modelling for fish medicines indicated that concentrations of fish medicine up to 1 mg/L might be present in surface water bodies near discharge points of fish nurseries (without passage through a sewage treatment) for a substantial period of time after treatment (25 days). However, depending on the degradation rate in a sewage treatment plant to which the nursery conceivably discharges, the calculated concentration in surface water could be 30 times lower.

Apart from the possible connection to a sewage treatment plant, the functionality of the conceived settling tank in the water circulation system was validated (Chapter 4). The removal efficiency of settling tanks was verified using pesticide data in wash water from predominantly mushroom industries. Since the available data gave no proof for a settling tank contributing to the removal of pesticides from waste water, it was recommended for risk assessment purposes to consider an efficiency of 0%. The pesticide data available were unsuitable for a mechanistic analysis of the retention process, due to a lack of detail in the description of system dimensions, water volumes and flow rates, sludge characteristics and total pesticide load. Furthermore, the nature of the settling process of fish nursery sludge may be very different from that of soil or compost particles. A model sub-routine describing the effect of water treatment and sludge retention should be based on the system of interest.

In order to empirically validate this model I had suggested monitoring of surface water for antibiotics and anthelmintics used in fish nurseries. Monitoring data from the effluent from a tropical fish nursery in the Netherlands supported the possibility that under low flow conditions of the receiving surface water the dilution of effluent water by surface water may be very small. Following these findings, I have revised the model. As a screening approach the environmental exposure levels are to be expected at the water concentration in the fish tank.

Grazing animals. The concentration in dung was a critical component in the Phase I assessment proposed by the CVMP Note for Guidance, since all concentrations greater than 10 microgram per kilogram would trigger a Phase II assessment. Alternative methods to predict the concentration to be compared with this trigger were assessed in Chapter 3 of this thesis.

The validation of the model for the concentration in dung (produced by grazing animals) shows that the worst-case calculations are overestimating actual concentrations, which suits the objective to err on the safe side, but fails the objective of realism. The proposed exposure assessment based on concentrations derived with actual excretion profiles and empirical dung production data appeared to lead to quite accurate results compared to field measurements. The trigger value was deemed, however, inappropriate: too low to discriminate between different dosages of substances (all would lead to higher concentrations), and too high to protect for the potent ivermectins. In the VICH Note for Guidance, the trigger value has been abandoned, and a Phase II assessment is warranted for all applications of anti-parasitic substances in grazing animals.

The Phase II assessment will have to answer to the question whether field populations of insects and possibly higher trophic levels will be reduced due to the use of the medicine. The effect of anthelminthic treatments in grazing livestock on dung insects, worms, and organic matter breakdown in Europe, has been debated several times (Madsen et al., 1988; Madsen et al., 1990; Wratten and Forbes, 1996; McKellar, 1997; Montforts, 1997b; Suarez, 2002; Svendsen et al., 2002; Sommer and Bibby, 2002; Lumaret and Errouissi, 2002; Svendsen et al., 2003; Floate et al., 2005). Contaminated dung may support some species, but may hypothetically function as an ecological trap for dung-dependent species that produce offspring only once, or feed on dung fauna (Donovan and Thompson III, 2001; Ries and Fagan, 2003). All papers address the population issues qualitatively, in the sense that short excretion periods, or availability of dung from untreated herds, are reasoned to sustain populations of dung dependent species. Exclusive use of these products, long excretion periods or use during reproductive seasons, are expected to seriously impact populations. However, no solutions for a quantitative approach of exposure and effect dynamics, with a concurrent level of acceptability were presented. Sherrat et al. (1998) demonstrated the impact of periodically contaminated dung on population levels of selected dung insects over longer periods using population modelling. To my opinion, this type of modelling is very useful in the registration procedure. A further development of the model approach, incorporating food-web modelling and the identification of indicator species and their lifecycle strategies is needed (Petney, 1997).

Slurry from stabled animals. The emission from slurry to soil and water is unmistakably an important and complex route. Given the many animal categories and slurry qualities, storage conditions and fertilising regimes, a realistic worst-case approach in a deterministic model is a choice that is well to understand. The actual use pattern of the product should be explored since repetitive use, season-related use, or concurrent uses over large areas, in relation to the timing and scale of emission to the environment (i.e. spreading of manure), have a significant impact on the actual exposure. The importance of storage of slurry has been noted in the guidance, but no clear guidance on the most relevant conditions for this parameter could be given. Therefore, scenarios for the risk assessment under different European conditions, incorporating information on realistic agricultural and veterinarian practice, land use, geomorphology and climate, were developed in this thesis (Chapter 4). The CVMP Note for Guidance issued in 1997 contained relatively straightforward deterministic exposure models for soil. These models, as proposed by Spaepen et al. (1997), are capacity models based on fixed volumes and masses. Time windows are fixed in the parameter dimensions. The volumes of administered substances and produced slurry were based on a full year and the emission to soil was modelled as a single event. I hypothesised that the practice of slurry management, with repetitive spreading on grassland, would change soil exposure significantly. The influence of changes in values of parameters such as phosphate content of the slurry, mixing depth, and degradation rate, was also incorporated in the validation. The comparison of the CVMP models with the RIVM models demonstrated that differences in predicted exposure concentrations could be as high as a factor of 40. It was obvious that arbitrarily chosen values concerning for example the percentage of the herd treated, and variation in national nutrient immission standards or nutrient contents of the slurry, would lead to further deviating results.

There are indications that the soil model by Spaepen et al. (1997) is under-protective when compared to the results of German and UK field experiments, since several field measurements were higher (Figure 1, Chapter 4). The model I have conceived for a single spreading event was more successful, although some field measurements were still higher. Since the slurry volume that dilutes the residue strongly determines the concentrations, slurry concentrations should be related to a realistic short time frame for the production and the dilution of the contaminated slurry in order to optimise the realistic worst case predictions. I also concluded that the available field data did not allow for validation of separate parameters in the soil exposure models. The screening models calculate homogeneous distributions of the residue, which represent the median concentration in soil. The field data provided some estimates on variability in the slurry-soil model results: not only may field concentrations vary a factor 30 between samples within one field (Boxall et al., 2002); also patches of slurry may contain concentrations 30 times above those found in more homogeneous soil (Hamscher et al., 2002). This variation is unavoidable, but results in a situation where the modelled concentration in half of the area is 1 to 10 times (or more) lower than the actual concentration. The risk due to a higher concentration in one spot is however not compensated by the absence of risk in another.

The empirical validations of the CVMP and RIVM models on field data of (oxy)tetracycline and sulphonamides indicated that it is impossible to analyse the contribution of every single model parameter to the variability in the model predictions. The validation of the models was complicated by not only variation in doses (a function of dosage and animal body weight at the moment of treatment), excretion factors, dilution and degradation, slurry application rates and soil variability, but also factors such as representative sampling in slurry and soil, and field residue history.

Surface water and groundwater models generated high deviation in results compared to the controlled field results. The common element of all models is that soil porewater concentrations are over-estimated compared to the measurements for sandy soils. Again, since these model outcomes provoke further assessment of the risk in Phase II, protection of the environment will be secured. However, there is also evidence that surface water and groundwater contamination is not controlled by equilibrium sorption between soil and porewater, but also by non-equilibrium sorption, preferential flow, and movement of particles, run-off and soil erosion. Hence, cut-off values based on sorption properties that determine whether a risk assessment is performed do not guarantee sufficient protection of surface- and groundwater. This is further elaborated below.

The degree of surface water contamination calculated in the screening level exposure models is not related to the physical transport processes taking place (erosion, run-off, drainage), the possible incorporation of the slurry into the soil, or the distance to the surface water. The soil-surface water models are merely simple transport coefficients that express the assumed mass transfer from soil to water. Models that describe these transport processes in physical terms are however available (FOCUS, 2001). Both screening and advanced level models share the presupposition that the area of land that connects to the ditch or stream is proportional to the size of the water body. In all models used in pesticide registration, the drainage model contains a single soil column from which drains, or run-off, discharge into the surface water. This single soil column makes it impossible to assess the impact of spatially restricted manure spreading on the surface water concentration. More advanced distribution models are needed to yield better judgements for differentiated land use and spatial risk mitigation measures.

Based on the validation performed, I propose realistic worst case conditions in a simple scenario assuming:

- single treatment,
- standard European nitrogen production values,
- an accumulated manure production volume of 1 month (30 days) containing the full residue,
- no dissipation during storage, and no after-treatment of slurry.
- a nitrogen application rate of 600 kg N/ha/year in one time onto agricultural land, which is distributed over 5 cm soil with a bulk density of 1500 kg.m⁻³,

If the exposure calculation in Phase I according to this scenario does not exceed the trigger for further testing, safe use in all member states is possible. If the exposure meets the trigger, then realistic best case conditions, characterising a possible safe use in vulnerable areas under the Nitrate Directive in the European Union, are needed. I propose a similar scenario, now assuming active incorporation of slurry into 20 cm of soil, at a nitrogen application rate of 170 kg N/ha/year in one time. If the trigger is exceeded, then a phase II assessment should be compulsory for all member states. If the trigger is met, further assessments should be made at the member state level, since national environmental concerns may be a reason to refuse (mutual recognition of) marketing authorisation.

The resulting concentrations in soil can be used in conjunction with the discussed screening level models that assume a certain mass transfer to groundwater and surface water, preferably without triggers on substance properties or exposure concentrations (Chapter 4 of this thesis). The main reason is that the predictions are in general worst case, thus protective.

However, I consider the mechanistic models provided by FOCUS equally suitable for both veterinary drugs and pesticides. The simple fact that this methodology applies to the same agricultural fields that are relevant for manure application and for pesticide use, predestined the accompanying scenarios to be applicable to residues spread by manure as well (FOCUS, 2000; FOCUS, 2001).

Interestingly, the difference between the results of this local soil modelling approach and of a mass balance at national scale appears rather small. The predicted initial soil concentration using the proposed scenario in conjunction with Dutch default conditions, for a veterinary medicine that is used in large quantities, like (oxy)tetracycline used in pigs or broilers, amounts to 200 μ g/kg soil, with a possible maximum of 1000 μ g/kg soil (Montforts, 2003). The average concentration in soil, based on the total annual consumption of antibiotics of 402 tonnes, and the total capacity of the agricultural area to utilise manure in the Netherlands, amounts to approximately 100 μ g/kg soil (Van Staalduinen et al., 2001; MARAN, 2002). The difference between the model and the mass balance is just one order of magnitude, which suggests that regional scale modelling of soil concentrations may provide alternative approaches for protective risk assessments in areas with intensive animal husbandry and manure surplus.

8.3. The validation of precautionary labelling

Two possible management options in response to an identified environmental risk were discussed in Chapter 7. The first is to eliminate the risk by denying marketing authorisation of the veterinary medicine in question. The second is to mitigate the predicted risk to an acceptable level by special precautions included in the information that accompanies the product. The intention then is to establish a code of conduct that is reaching further than the Good Agricultural Practice observed in the risk assessment.

If risk mitigation measures are ineffective, they are unsuitable for labelling and packaging. The risk mitigation measures are considered effective, when the risk model can demonstrate their efficacy, and when the precautions have legal force. However, precautions are not legally binding through the Directive on its own. In that sense, no precaution can be considered an effective risk reduction measure. It is imperative that the legality of the precautions and the subjects and objects of the precautions are defined in national regulation, and that this is harmonised between Member States. Otherwise differences in national legislation may obstruct mutual recognition of registrations where this is not needful.

Further, the wording of the precautions in relation to the national legislation determines the legal status. Under Dutch law, precautions can be used to control the fate of the treated animal and the manure containing excreted residues, provided that the legal person addressed is in fact the keeper of the treated animals. If the product is to be administered by the veterinarian, environmental precautions regarding the treated animals or manure are not legally binding for the keeper of the animals or of the manure. Similarly, for veterinary medicines that are administered by the keeper of the animals, the current legislation does not transfer precautions regarding the treated animals and the manure to third parties (when the animals or the manure is sold). The solution to these shortcomings is to prohibit both trade and use of the animals and manure in the precaution. Another option is to transfer all responsibilities to the keeper and to other parties, either in the precautions, in EU legislation, or in the national regulation.

Precautions forbidding release of treated animals or manure containing residues into the environment, when addressing the keeper of the animals, are not only legally, but also technically effective: the impact can be demonstrated with the methodology. Whether or not the prohibition of spreading the manure (for a time period or infinitely) leaves the farmer with a real alternative for the disposal of this contaminated manure, is an issue of proportionality. The alternative for the farmer would be to resort to alternative products.

The impact of temporary storage of manure cannot be quantified however, because of a lack of standardised conditions. Likewise, the precise effect of the precautions prohibiting the spreading of manure within a certain distance to the surface water could not be expressed in terms of the exposure assessment methodology. In order to avoid marketing authorisations that would not comply in a legal sense with the Directive, because precautions are not demonstrably effective, the capacity of the risk assessment methodology to deal with temporal and spatial differentiation should be improved.

8.4. The use of science in the registration framework

In the introduction, I stated that there are potential controversies that require a carefully designated playing field, where science can be impartial and authoritative. One is at the demarcation line between science and regulation when deciding what should be investigated or protected, and when this protection goal is achieved. The second is the choice of scientific disciplines: what science is allowed and who selects the scientists? The third is the actual weight that science is given in the decision-making. A critical appraisal (Chapters 2, 5, and 6 in this thesis) of the settings of the development of the guidance documents and of the risk assessment at registration has dealt with these aspects.

The interconnections between science and regulation require some elucidation here. In the organisation of the European registration process of veterinary medicines, regulatory, administrative, and scientific responsibilities are separated. The Directorate-General (DG) Enterprise is responsible for the European policy and legislation on veterinary medicines. The European Medicines Agency (EMEA)³⁶ handles the administration, and the CVMP provides scientific opinions. According to the European Court of Justice (case C212-91 Angelopharm): "the Scientific Committee is the only party involved in the policy-making

³⁶ In a 1987 Council decision (87/373/EEC) the phenomenon of comitology was formalised, through which the EU sought to ensure that Commission decisions would be taken with due regard for the political preferences of the Member States, and for scientific expertise (Heyvaert, 1999a). EMEA (European Medical Products Evaluation Agency) was installed by

process that is competent to make those scientific and technical assessments on which the legal validity of the measures depends" (Heyvaert, 1999a). To my opinion, both the technical guidance and the risk assessment at registration resort under the responsibility of science. CVMP and VICH have issued Notes for Guidance. These scientific guidance documents are crucial in the registration process.

In the underpinning of the soil concentration value that triggers a Phase II assessment, science had been applied. This strategic effect assessment I have critically validated in this research. Validation is used here in the meaning of establishing whether the trigger value is 'well founded and applicable' (Addiscot et al., 1995). I drew a number of conclusions on the data and arguments to support a soil concentration trigger in Chapter 5.

Before the effect and risk assessment for substances spread with slurry from stabled animals is performed in Phase II, the concentration in soil because of this spreading is compared to a trigger value. The exposure trigger in soil, that determines whether a full risk assessment for all environmental compartments is performed, has been raised by a factor of 10 in the VICH Note for Guidance. This new trigger value was based on an effect assessment performed on a data set of existing veterinary medicines. The original data set was based on dossiers that have been submitted to the US authorities for the registration of veterinary medicines (Zeeman, 1987; AHI, 1997; Nidel, 2003).

If the data would have been assessed in the same way as the risk model for registration does, then the threshold will certainly be valid for the substances in the data set. For other compounds and for other risk models, this is not straightforward. The data set was very limited in the number of substances and types of endpoints. More substances and more discriminating properties were considered required for a case based reasoning that extends from substances with identified common characteristics to substances that yet have to be developed.

Next to the selection of the data, the selection of ecotoxicological tools determined the outcome of the scientific assessment. In order to derive 'no effect' concentrations from a limited number of effect endpoints from a small group of species, assessment factors are applied. The argumentation presented by the VICH on the redundancy of assessment factors did not comply with the EU-guidance given on these matters (EC, 2003). Moreover, the argumentation deviates from the risk characterisation performed in the CVMP Note for Guidance, which constitutes the risk assessment component of the risk model.

Because of these diverging methodologies, the predicted 'no effect' concentrations derived in Phase II may be found below the trigger value of Phase I. Consequently, the trigger in Phase I is not protective for its own risk model in Phase II. The trigger is not even protective for the compounds that were in the reference set. Applications that result in predicted exposure concentrations below the trigger, are not further assessed, but may cause damage to the terrestrial and aquatic ecosystem. Based on the distributions built from the

the European Commission (EC) through Decree 2309/93 and began its activities in 1995. The name was changed by the Regulation (EC) 726/2004 to European Medicines Agency.

experimental evidence, the soil exposure trigger value of $100 \mu g/kg$ may already affect soil microbial species by 80% of the substances covered by its data set.

I took the validation of the soil trigger value a step further by introducing other readily available effect data. In contrast to the reference data set discussed above, the risk model under consideration has not generated these data. It was demonstrated that further consideration of available effect data would lower the trigger. In combination with alternative interpretations of the given arguments for the abandonment of assessment factors, a case was made to set a threshold at $1 \mu g/kg$. It should be kept in mind that the exposure trigger based on the soil compartment determines whether a further assessment of the surface and groundwater compartments is performed in Phase II. The trigger was, however, solely based on soil data and was not harmonised with the possible quality criteria in these other compartments. Even if the soil compartment would be protected at the trigger value, protection of groundwater and surface water quality may not have been secured. In fact, this may not have been the case after all. Harmonisation of effect endpoints between compartments, using the equilibrium partitioning method, gives reasons for soil triggers as low as 0.0125 $\mu g/kg$.

The technical guidance documents not only elaborate on the requirement set in the legislation but also effectively define the protection goals, as argued in Chapter 2 and 6. From a regulatory point of view, a transparent input of scientists, Member States and interested parties (other regulatory authorities, manufacturers, users and consumers) is expected, in order to agree on protection goals and assessment methodology for the guidance documents (ESC, 2001). These protection goals were however not laid down in the legislation on product registration, quite to the opposite for the feed additives, pesticides and biocides, where protection goals and standards were incorporated in the EU Directives themselves, subjected to regulatory and political supervision. The VICH had appointed a working group for the drafting of the guidance documents. This working group was in my perception a scientific committee, but not a representation of all interested parties. The selection goal has unjustly been omitted from the risk model.

Addiscot et al. (1995) stated that some form of critical evaluation procedure is essential both to maintain the integrity of modelling and to ensure that the use of models by regulators does not result in the propagation of misleading information. Although models for exposure were meant, it is clear that this statement also applies to the use of effect models and to the use of risk models. Both the definition of protection goals and the underpinning of the soil exposure trigger were not well founded.

Should the development of resistance in bacterial communities due to the environmental exposure to antibiotics have been identified as a hazard? And what kind of hazard are we dealing with? Is it a hazard for the ecosystem integrity or also a hazard for public health in general? How can we express the degree of anticipated damage? Currently both molecular and ecological methods are investigated. Pollution-induced community tolerance has been found suitable to detect community shifts at low concentration levels. If there is a genetic basis for these shifts is to be explored. Shifts in community tolerance caused by soil pollution have been shown to have impacts on e.g. extinction of sensitive species, competitive abilities, and metabolic diversities. Resistance development occurs already at the Minimum Effect Concentration (MEC) at which growth is reduced, that is tenfold below the Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC), the endpoint used to derive the soil concentration trigger discussed in Chapter 5. Thus, even at concentrations below the Phase I trigger, resistance genes may be favoured. The survival of adapted bacteria in absence of the compound that the bacteria have adapted to is limited, but the acquired functionality (e.g. resistance genes) remains present at low levels. The costs for resistance can even be compensated for. Horizontal transmission of genetic information occurs for example in the gut of soil arthropods. Resistance genes can be transferred from manure to soil and groundwater, where low levels of antibiotics may be present (Rysz and Alvarez, 2004). Since this hazard, that is not yet addressed in the risk model, also applies to antimicrobial products used as pesticide and biocide, a harmonised approach for all antibiotic use should be developed.

8.5. Concluding remarks

In conclusion, I have outlined and discussed several technical and conceptual flaws in the use of risk assessment in the registration process. Foremost, and perhaps for the better, the formalisation of the protection goals by the Note for Guidance has no legal status. The VICH Phase I guidance does not contain all European environmental quality criteria and includes a trigger for the full risk assessment that was not well founded. Screening level exposure models are not always protective and lack standardised scenarios for uniform assessment. Risk mitigation measures are not validated, and give a false impression that the risk to the environment is reduced to acceptable levels. Some products have been registered with precautions that are not in agreement with the Directive. Products that pose a threat to environmental quality at or after use may now be registered and be used. Authorities responsible for water and land quality cannot infer from the registration of a veterinary medicine that the use complies with the quality standards set by environmental legislation. This legislation now obliges these authorities to regulate and enforce product use and slurry use on a case by case basis through permits or letters of consent.

All of the shortcomings identified above undermine, to a greater or to a lesser extent, the legitimacy of the registration process and the use of scientific opinions. Particularly the variability in outcomes for the soil concentration trigger is troublesome, since it gives the impression that science may produce information that will not lead to better judgement. The respectable efforts made by the regulators and scientists within CVMP and VICH need to be founded on clear policy decisions and embedded in a uniform and transparent decision-making procedure. A further elaboration on European agricultural and environmental conditions, regulatory and legislative constraints, and risk model design, is therefore

warranted. It should take relatively little effort to postulate European decision-making criteria together with their levels of acceptability, some of which this research has exemplified.

The recently adopted Directive 2004/28/EC amends the 2001/82/EC Directive and will have to be implemented at member state level by October 30th, 2005. In this new Directive, any risk of undesirable effects on the environment has been added to the definition of risks relating to the use of the product. Marketing authorisation is to be denied if the risk-benefit balance of the product is, under the authorised conditions of use, unfavourable. Compared to the text in the previous Directive, it is noteworthy that the qualification 'harmful' has been replaced by 'unfavourable risk-benefit balance', meaning 'an evaluation of the positive therapeutic effects of the veterinary medicinal product in relation to the risks'.

Policy makers, regulators, and scientists should engage in a reconnaissance of regulatory goals, assessment scales, model approaches, and uncertainty and variability of data associated with the assessment. Only then, a risk model (with or without triggers) can be applicable to the situation of interest and provide a solid framework for making risk-benefit decisions to the satisfaction of producers, decision-makers and consumers.

Literature

- Anonymous. Wet van 22 juni 1950, houdende vaststelling van regelen voor de opsporing, de vervolging en de berechting van economische delicten. 1950.
- Anonymous. Council Directive 65/65/EEC of 26 January 1965 on the approximation of provisions laid down by Law, Regulation or Administrative Action relating to proprietary medicinal products. 1965.
- Anonymous. Council Directive 67/548/EEC of 27 June 1967 on the approximation of laws, regulations and administrative provisions relating to the classification, packaging and labelling of dangerous substances. 1967.
- Anonymous. Council Directive 76/464/EEC of 4 May 1976 on pollution caused by certain dangerous substances discharged into the aquatic environment of the Community. 1976.
- Anonymous. Council directive 79/117/EEC of 21 December 1978 prohibiting the placing on the market and use of plant protection products containing certain active substances. 1978
- Anonymous. Council Directive 80/68/EEC of 17 December 1979 on the protection of groundwater against pollution caused by certain dangerous substances. 1979.
- Anonymous. Directive 80/778/EEC: Quality of water intended for human consumption. 1980.
- Anonymous. Directive 81/852/EEC of the Commission of September 28, 1981 as published in the Official Journal of the European Community of November 6, 1981, No. L317, page 16, amended by Directive 92/18/EEC of the Commission of March 20, 1992 as published in the Official Journal of the European Community of April 10, 1992, No. L97, page 1; and Directive 93/40/EEC of the Council of June 14, 1993 as published in the Official Journal of the European Community of August 24, 1993, No. L214, page 31. 1981.
- Anonymous. Wet van 27 juni 1985, houdende regelen met betrekking tot diergeneesmiddelen (Diergeneesmiddelenwet). 1985.
- Anonymous. Council Regulation (EEC) No 2377/90 of 26 June 1990 laying down a Community procedure for the establishment of maximum residue limits of veterinary medicinal products in foodstuffs of animal origin. 1990.
- Anonymous. Council Directive 91/414/EEC of 15 July 1991 concerning the placing of plant protection products on the market, O.J. No L230, 19.8.1991 as lastly amended by Directive 97/57/EC establishing Annex VI to Directive 91/414/EEC O.J. No. L265, 27.9.1997, 1997a 1991a.
- Anonymous. Council Directive 91/676/EEC of 12 December 1991 concerning the protection of waters against pollution caused by nitrates from agricultural sources. 1991b.
- Anonymous. Commission Directive 93/67/EEC of 20 July 1993 laying down the principles for assessment of risks to man and the environment of substances notified in accordance with Council Directive 67/548/EEC. 1993a.
- Anonymous. Council Regulation (EEC) No 793/93 of 23 March 1993 on the evaluation and control of the risks of existing substances. 1993b.
- Anonymous. Council Directive 98/83/EC of 3 November 1998 on the quality of water intended for human consumption. 1998a.
- Anonymous. Directive 98/8/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 February 1998 concerning the placing of biocidal products on the market. 1998b.
- Anonymous. Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for Community action in the field of water policy. 2000.
- Anonymous. Commission Directive 2001/79/EC of 17 September 2001 amending Council Directive 87/153/EEC fixing guidelines for the assessment of additives in animal nutrition (Text with EEA relevance). 2001a.
- Anonymous. Directive 2001/82/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 6 November 2001 on the Community code relating to veterinary medicinal products. 2001b.
- Anonymous. Directive 2001/83/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 6 November 2001 on the Community code relating to medicinal products for human use. 2001c.
- Anonymous. Directive 2004/28/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 31 March 2004 amending Directive 2001/82/EC on the Community code relating to veterinary medicinal products. 2004a.
- Anonymous. Regulation (EC) No 726/2004 of the European parliament and of the Council of 31 March 2004 laying down Community procedures for the authorisation and supervision of medicinal products for human and veterinary use and establishing a European Medicines Agency. 2004b.
- Aarestrup FM, Seyfarth AM, Emborg H-D, Pedersen K, Hendriksen RS, Bager F. Effect of abolishment of the use of antimicrobial agents for growth promotion on occurrence of antimicrobial resistance in fecal enterococci from food animals in Denmark. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 2001;45:2054-2059.

Abbas B, Kratz W. Humanarzneimittel in der Umwelt. Erhebung von Humanarzneimittelmengen im Land Brandenburg 1999. Potsdam, Germany: LandesUmweltamt Brandenburg (LUA), 2000. Studien und Tagungsberichte Band 25.

ADAS. Animal manure practices in the beef industry. ADAS Market Research Team report for MAFF, 1998.

- Addiscot T, Smith J, Bradbury N. Critical evaluation of models and their parameters. J. Environ. Qual. 1995;24:803-807.
- Addiscot TM, Wagenet RJ. Concepts of solute leaching in soils: a review of modelling approaches. Journal of Soil Science 1985;36:411-424.
- Addiscott TM. Modelling concepts and their relation to the scale of the problem. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems. 1998;50:239-245.
- Aga DS, Goldfish R, Kulshrestha P. Application of ELISA in determining the fate of tetracyclines in landappied livestock wastes. Analyst 2003;128:658-662.
- Ahel M, Jeličič I. Phenazone analgesics in soil and groundwater below a municipal solid waste landfill. In: Daughton CG, Jones-Lepp TL, (eds), Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products in the Environment: Scientific and Regulatory Issues. Washington, D.C.: American Chemical Society: 2001. pp. 100-115.
- AHI. Analysis Of Data And Information To Support A PEC _{soil} Trigger Value For Phase I (A retrospective review of ecotoxicity data from environmental assessments submitted to FDA/CVM to support the approval of veterinary drug products in the United States from 1973-1997). USA: Animal Health Institute, Environmental Risk Assessment Working Group., 1997.
- Al-Ahmad A, Daschner FD, Kümmerer K. Biodegradability of cefotiam, ciprofloxacin, meropenem, penicillin G, and sulfamethoxazole and inhibition of waste water bacteria. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 1999;37:158-163.
- Aldenberg T, Jaworska J. Uncertainty of the hazardous concentration and fraction affected for normal species sensitivity distributions. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 2000;46:1-18.
- Aldenberg T, Luttik R. Extrapolation factors for tiny toxicity data sets from species sensitivity distributions with known standard deviation. In: Posthuma L, Suter II GW, Traas TP, (eds), Species sensitivity distributions in ecotoxicology. Boca Raton, USA: Lewis Publishers, 2002. pp.
- Anonymous. The Cumbria biodiversity action plan. Species actions plans 2001. 53.
- Anonymous. Guidance notes for the use of SLICE[®] in aquaculture. New Jersey: The Animal Pharm Consulting Group, 2003. Technical Report No 1.
- Ares ME. The impacts of low levels of antibiotics on freshwater microbial communities. London, United Kingdom: Imperial College, 1999. Ph.D. Thesis.
- Arhonditsis G, Giourga C, Loumou A, Koulouri M. Quantitative assessment of agricultural runoff and soil erosion using mathematical modeling: applications in the Mediterranean region. Environmental Management 2002;30:434-453.
- Arijs Y, Vanthournout L, De Clerq P. Preservation of an artificial diet for rearing of the predator Orius laevigatus. Med. Fac. Landbouww. Univ. Gent 2002;67:467-471.

ARKive. Dor Beetle

http://www.arkive.org/species/ARK/invertebrates_terrestrial_and_freshwater/Geotrupes_stercorarius/more_i nfo.html, 2001. Date of access 2004.

- Arogo J, Zhang RH, Riskowski GL, Day DL. Mass transfer coefficient for hydrogen sulfide emission from aqueous solutions and liquid swine manure. Transactions Of The ASAE 1999;42:1455-1462.
- Baart F, De Neeling AJ. Antibioticagebruik buiten het ziekenhuis. Pharmaceutisch Weekblad 2001;136:786-790.
- Backhaus T, Froehner K, Altenburger R, Grimme LH. Toxicity testing with *Vibrio fischeri*: a comparison between the long term (24 h) and short term (30 min) bioassay. Chemosphere 1997;38:3291-3301.
- Backhaus T, Grimme LH. The toxicity of antibiotic agents to the luminescent bacterium *Vibrio fischeri*. Chemosphere 1999;38:3291-3301.
- Badalucco L, Pomare F, Grego S, Landi L, Nannipieri P. Activity and degradation of Streptomycin and Cycloheximide in soil. Biol. Fert. Soils 1994;18:334-340.
- Baguer AJ, Jensen J, Krogh PH. Effects of the antibiotics oxytetracycline and tylosin on soil fauna. Chemosphere 2000;40:751-757.
- Balcioglu IA, Ötker M. Treatment of pharmaceutical wastewater containing antibiotics by O₃ and O₃/H₂O₂ processes. Chemosphere 2003;50:85-95.
- Bartell SM. Ecological/environmental risk assessment: principles and practices. In: Kolluru R, Bartell S, Pitblado R, Stricoff S, Risk assessment and Management Handbook. New York, USA: McGraw-Hill, 1996.
- Bass MN, Barnes EE. Toxicities of antimicrobial agents to white-friniged beetle larvae and the effectiviness of certain of these agents against microbial growth. Journal of economic entomology 1969;62:718-719.
- Berard A, Benninghoff C. Pollution-induced community tolerance (PICT) and seasonal variations in the sensitivity of phytoplankton to atrazine in nanocosms. Chemosphere 2001;45:427-437.

- Berende PLM. Praktische kengetallen over fokkerij, huisvesting, voeding, lichaamssamenstelling, urine- en fecesproductie en toediening van diergeneesmiddelen bij het rund. Wageningen, The Netherlands.: Rikilt-DLO, 1998. 98.10.
- Berland BR, Bianchi MG, Maestrini SY. Etude des bactéries associées aux algues marines en culture I. Détermination préliminaire des espèces. Marine Biology 1969;2:350-355.
- Berland BR, Maestrini SY. Study of bacteria associated with marine algae in culture. II. Action of antibiotic substances. Mar. Biol. 1969;3:334-335.
- Bicudo JR, Goyal SM. Pathogens and manure management systems: a review. Environmental technology 2003;24:115-130.
- Björkman J, Hughes D, Andersson DI. Virulence of antibiotic-resistant Salmonella typhimurium. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95:3949-3953.
- Björkman J, Nagaev I, Berg OG, Hughes D, Andersson DI. Effect of environment on compensatory mutants to ameliorate costs of antibiotic resistance. Science 2000;287:1479-1482.
- Blasius H and Cranz H. Arzneimittel und Recht in Europa. Stuttgart: WVG, 1998.
- Blume RR, Younger RL, Aga A, Myers CJ. Effects of residues of certain anthelmintics in bovine manure on *Onthophagus gazella*, a non-target organism. Southwest. Entomologist 1976;1:100-103.
- Boesten JJTI. Modeller subjectivity in estimating pesticide parameters for leaching model using the same laboratory data set. Agricultural Water Management. 2000;44:389-409.
- Bonazzi G. Case study in intensive pig production in Italy.

http://lead.virtualcentre.org/en/ele/awi_2000/particip/csitaly.htm, 2002. Date of access 2004.

- Bouwman GM, Reus JAWA. Persistence of medicines in manure. Utrecht, The Netherlands: Centrum voor Landbouw en Milieu, 1994. CLM-163-1994.
- Boxall ABA, Blackwell P, Cavallo R, Kay P, Tolls J. The sorption and transport of a sulphonamide antibiotic in soil systems. Toxicology Letters 2002;131:19-28.
- Boxall ABA, Fogg LA, Blackwell PA, Kay P, Pemberton EJ, Croxford A. Veterinary medicines in the environment. Rev Environ Contam Toxicol 2004;180:1-91.
- Boxall ABA, Kolpin DW, Halling-Sørensen B, Tolls J. Are veterinary medicines causing environmental risks? Environmental science & technology 2003;37:286a-294a.
- Boxall ABA, Watts CD, Ripley P. The application of predictive models for the environmental risk assessment of ECONOR[©]. Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics 1997;20:331.
- Breimer T, Smilde KW. De effekten van organische mestdoseringen op de zware metaalgehalten in de bouwvoor van akkergronden. Lelystad, The Netherlands: PAGV, 1986. Themaboek nr. 7.
- Breton R, Boxall ABA. Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in the environment: regulatory drivers and research needs. QSAR Comb. Si. 2003;22:399-408.
- Breyer S, Heyvaert V. Institutions for regulating risk. In: Revesz RL, Sands P, Stewart RB, (eds), Environmental law, the economy, and sustainable development: the United States, the European Union, and the international community. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 2000. pp. 283-352.
- Brooks BW, Foran CM, Richards SM, Weston J, Turner PK, Stanley JK, Solomon KR, Slattery M, La Point TW. Aquatic ecotoxicology of fluoxetine. Toxicology Letters 2003;142:169-183.
- Brouwer WWM, Boesten JJTI, Linders JBHJ, Van der Linden AMA. Dutch guidelines for laboratory studies on behaviour in soil and their evaluation. Pesticide Outlook 1994;October:23-28.
- Bryan GW, Gibbs PE, Hummerstone LG, Burt GR. The decline of the gastropod *Nucella lapillus* around southwest England: Evidence for the effect of tributyltin from antifouling paints. J Mar Biol Ass UK 1986;66:611-640.
- Busheé EL, Edwards DR, Moore PA. Quality of runoff from plots treated with municipal sludge and horse bedding. ASAE 1998;41:1035-1041.
- Campagnolo ER, Johnson KR, Karpati A, Rubin CS, Kolpin DW, Meyer MT, Esteban JE, Currier RW, Smith K, Thu KM, McGeehin M. Antimicrobial residues in animal waste and water resources proximal to largescale swine and poultry feeding operations. Science of the Total Environment 2002;299:89-95.
- Campbell WC. Ivermectin and Abamectin. Berlin: Springer Verlag, 1989.
- Cars O, Mölstad S, Melander A. Large variation in antibiotic usage between European countries. 10th ECCMID Stockholm 2000;Poster no. 299.
- Casey FXM, Larsen GL, Hakk H, Simunek J. Fate and transport of 17β -estradiol in soil-water systems. Environmental science & technology 2003;37:2400-2409.
- CBB. Case AWB 00/512 (Prescriptions) 's-Gravenhage: College van Beroep voor het Bedrijfsleven, 2000. LJNnumber: AA9088 .
- CBS. De Landbouwtelling 1996 (in Dutch). Doetinchem: Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek. Misset uitgeverij BV, 1996.

- Chee-Sanford JC, Aminov RI, Krapac IJ, Garrigues-Jeanjean N, Mackie RI. Occurrence and diversity of tetracycline resistance genes in lagoons and groundwater underlying two swine production facilities. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 2001;67:1494-1502.
- Christian T, Schneider RJ, Farber HA, Skutlarek D, Meyer MT, Goldbach HE. Determination of antibiotic residues in manure, soil, and surface waters. Acta hydrochimica et hydrobiologica 2003;31:36-44.
- Cleuvers M. Aquatic ecotoxicity of pharmaceuticals including the assessment of combination effects. Toxicology Letters 2003;142:185-194.
- COM. Communication from the Commission on the precautionary principle. Brussels, Belgium: Commission of the European Community, 2000. COM 2000(0001).
- Cooke MD. Antibiotic resistance in coliform and faecal coliform bacteria from natural waters and effluents. New Zealand Journal Mar. Freshwater Res. 1983;10:391-397.
- Cramp S. Toxic chemicals and birds of prey. Brit. Birds 1963;56:124-139.
- Crane M, Newman MC. What level of effect is a no observed effect? Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 2000;19:516-519.
- Cranor CF. The normative nature of risk assessment: features and possibilities. RISK: Health, Safety and Environment 1997;8:1-4.
- Crommentuijn T, Sijm D, De Bruijn J, Van Leeuwen CJ, Van de Plassche E. Maximum permissible and negligible concentrations for some organic substances and pesticides Journal of Environmental Management 2000;58:297-312.
- CSTEE. The available scientific approaches to assess the potential effects and risk of chemicals on terrestrial ecosystems. Opinion of the scientific committee on toxicity, ecotoxicity and the environment expressed at the 19th CSTEE plenary meeting. Brussels: 2000. C2/JCD/csteeop/TER91100/D(0).
- CSTEE. CSTEE opinion on the justification of a notification by The Netherlands to introduce national measures concerning wood treated with copper substances 24 September 2002, Reuseals C2(AST/astacen/W/codTreatedCu; 24002002(D)(02). Reuseale: Scientific Committee on Toxicelogy.
- Brussels, C2/AST/csteeop/WoodTreatedCu 24092002/D(02). Brussels: Scientific Committee on Toxicology, Ecotoxicology and the Environment, 2002.
- CVMP. Position paper on availability of veterinary medicines agreed on 17 March 1999. London: European Medicines Evaluation Agency/Committee for Veterinary Medicinal Products, 2000. EMEA/CVMP/151/99-final.
- Da Gloria Britto De Oliveira R, Wolters AC, Van Elsas JD. Effects of antibiotics in soil on the population dynamics of transposon tn5 carrying *Pseudomonas fluorescens*. Plant and Soil 1995;175:323-333.
- Das BS, Lee LS, Rao PSC, Hultgren RP. Sorption and degradation of steroid hormones in soils during transport: column studis and model evaluation. Environmental science and technology 2004;38:1460-1470.
- Daughton CG, Jones-Lepp TL. Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products in the Environment: Scientific and Regulatory Issues Washington, D.C.: American Chemical Society, 2001. Symposium Series 791.
- De Bok C. Een onderzoek van de wetenschapswinkel biologie: ontwormingsmiddelen in het natuurbeheer. Zoogdier 1997;8:12-14.
- De Greef J, De Nijs ACM. Risk assessment of new chemical substances. Dilution factors of effluents in the Netherlands. Bilthoven, The Netherlands: RIVM, 1990. report 670208001.
- De Jong FMW, Mensink BJWG, Smit CE, Montforts MHMM. Evaluation and use of ecotoxicological higher tier studies for regulatory purposes. Human and ecological risk assessment submitted.
- De Knecht JA, Montforts MHMM. Environmental risk assessment of veterinary medicine products: an evaluation of the registration procedure. SETAC Globe 2001;2:29-31.
- De Knecht JA, Van Vlaardingen PLA, Montforts MHMM, Linders JBHJ. Report on the European workshop on the ERA of VMPs, 25-26 January 2001. 2001;RIVM Bilthoven.
- De Liguoro M, Cibin V, Capolongo F, Halling-Sørensen B, Montesissa C. Use of oxytetracycline and tylosin in intensive calf farming: evaluation of transfer to manure and soil. Chemosphere 2003;52:203-212.
- De Sadeleer N. The effect of uncertainty on the threshold levels to which the precautionary principle appears to be subject. In: Sheridan M, Lavrysen L, (eds), Environmental law principles in practice. Brussels: Bruylant, 2002. pp. 17-43.
- Dee DP. Guidelines for documenting the validity of computational modelling software. Delft, The Netherlands: IAHR/AIHR, 1994.
- Dee DP. A pragmatic approach to model validation. In: Lynch DR, Davies AM, (eds), Quantitative skill assessment for coastal ocean models. Washington DC, USA: American Geophysical Union, 1995. pp.
- Deelstra J, Bechmann M, Kvaerno SH. SOIL and SOIL-NO at catchment scale--a case study for an agriculturedominated catchment. Water Sci Technol. 2002;45:9-17.
- DEFRA. Guidelines for Farmers in NVZs England. UK: Department for Environment, food and rural affairs., 2002. PB5505.
- Derksen JGM, Van Eijnatten GM, Lahr J, Van der Linde P, Kroon AGM. Milieu-effecten van humane geneesmiddelen. Aanwezigheid en risico's. Lelystad, The Netherlands: RIZA, 2001. report nr. 2000.051.

- DG Enterprise. Pharmaceuticals in the European Union. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 2000. ISBN 92-828-9589-0.
- Di Fabio U. Das Arzneimittelrecht als Repräsentant der Risikoverwaltung. Die Verwaltung 1994;27:345-360.
- Di Guardo A, Calamari D, Benfenati E, Halling-Sorensen B, Zuccato E, Fanelli R. Pharmaceuticals as environmental contaminants: Modelling distribution and fate. In: Kümmerer K, (Ed.), Pharmaceuticals in the environment. Berlin, Germany: Springer Verlag, 2001. pp. 91-102.
- Dietrich DR. Special Issue on pharmaceuticals in the environment. Toxicology Letters 2002;131.
- Donham KJ, Yeggy J, Dague RR. Production rates of toxic gases from liquid swine manure: Health implications for workers and animals in swine confinement buildings. Biological wastes 1988;24:161-174.
- Donovan TM, Thompson III FR. Modeling the ecological trap hypothesis: a habitat and demographic analysis for migrant songbirds. Ecological applications 2001;11:871-882.
- EC. Draft Council conclusions on the report of the Commission on the evaluation of active substances of plant protection products. Council of the European Union 2001a;15046/01.
- EC. Question E-3411/00 of Erik Meijer (GUE/NGL) to the Commission. 2001b;C163E/111.
- EC. WHITE PAPER Strategy for a future Chemicals Policy 2001c;COM(2001) 88 final.
- EC. Commission organises "name and shame" seminar on city sewage. http://www.waternunc.com/gb/dg11en49.htm, 2001d. Date of access 2003d.
- EC. Commission Decision (2002/657/EC) of 12 August 2002 concerning the performance of analytical methods and the interpretation of results. Official Journal of the European Communities L221, 8-36. 2002a;Brussels, Belgium.
- EC. Guidance document agreed between the Commission services and the competent authorities of the Member States for the Biocidal Products Directive 98/8/EC and for the Proprietary Medicinal Products Directive 2001/83/EC and Veterinary Medicinal Products Directive 2001/82/EC. Brussels: European Commission, DG Environment, 2002b. Doc-Biocides-2002/01.
- EC. Treaty establishing the European Community. 2002c.
- EC. Technical Guidance Document in Support of Commission Directive 93/67/EEC on Risk Assessment for New Notified Substances, Commission Regulation (EC) No 1488/94 on Risk Assessment for Existing Substances and Directive 98/8/EC concerning the placing of biocidal products on the market, Part II. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 2003.
- ECB. Technical Guidance documents in support of the commission directive 93/67/EEC on risk assessment for new notified substances and the commission regulation (EC) 1488/94 on risk assessment for existing substances. Ispra, Italy: European Chemicals Bureau, 1996.
- ECCO. Guidance Document on Aquatic Ecotoxicology; E1 Plant health Sanco/3268/2001 rev.4 (final) 17 October 2002 Brussels: DG Sanco, 2002.
 - http://europa.eu.int/comm/food/fs/ph_ps/pro/wrkdoc/wrkdoc10_en.pdf.
- Eghball B. Composting manure. Manure matters 1998;1:1-3.
- Elmund GK, Morrison SM, Grant DW, Nevins MP. Role of excreted chlortetracycline in modifying the decomposition process in feedlot waste. Bull. Environ.Contam. Toxicol. 1971;6:129-132.
- EMEA. Note for guidance: environmental risk assessment for immunological veterinary medicinal products. 1996.
- EMEA. Note for guidance: environmental risk assessment for veterinary medicinal products other than GMOcontaining and immunological products. London, UK.: EMEA, 1997. EMEA/CVMP/055/96.
- EMEA. Discussion Paper on Environmental Risk Assessments for Non-Genetically Modified Organism (non-GMO) Containing Medicinal Products for Human Use. London, UK: EMEA, 2000. ERAdraft-dec2000.
- ESC. Opinion of the Economic and Social Committee on Organised civil society and European governance: the Committee's contribution to the drafting of the White Paper. Brussels: Economic and Social Committee, 2001. CES535/2001.
- FEDESA. Antibiotic use in farm animals does not threaten human health, a new study suggests. http://www.fedesa.be/eng/PublicSite/News/news09.htm, 2001. Date of access 2001.
- Ferrari B, Paxéus N, Lo Giudice R, Pollio A, Garric J. Ecotoxicological impact of pharmaceuticals found in treated wastewaters: study of carbamazepine, clofibric acid and diclofenac. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 2003;55:359-370.
- FIDIN. Gebruik van diergeneesmiddelen: Cijfers en feiten. www.fidin.nl, 2002. Date of access 2004.
- Floate KD, Wardhaugh KG, Boxall ABA, Sherratt TN. Fecal residues of veterinary parasiticides: nontarget effects in the pasture environment. Annual Review of Entomology 2005;doi:
 - 10.1146/annurev.ento.50.071803.130341.
- FOCUS. FOCUS groundwater scenarios in the EU plant protection product review process. Brussels, Belgium: EC DG Sanco, 2000. Sanco/321/2000.

- FOCUS. Surface water models and EU registration of plant protection products. Final report of the Regulatory Modelling Working Group on Surface Water models of FOCUS. Draft 21-12-2001. Brussels, Belgium: DG Sanco , 2001.
- Fong PP. Zebra mussel spawning is induced in low concentrations of putative serotonin reuptake inhibitors. Biol. Bull. 1998;194:143-149.
- Footitt A, Virani S, Corden C., Graham S. Nonylphenol Risk Reduction Strategy. Prepared for Department of the Environment, Transport and the Regions by Risk & Policy Analysts Limited, UK. Project: Ref/Title J227D/Nonylphenols. 1999.
- Forbes VE, Calow P. Extrapolation in ecological risk assessment: balancing pragmatism and precaution in chemical controls legislation. BioScience 2002a;52:249-257.
- Forbes VE, Calow P. Population growth rate as a basis for ecological risk assessment of toxic chemicals. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B 2002b;357:1299-1306.
- Forbes VE, Calow P. Species sensitivity distributions revisited: a critical appraisal. Human and ecological risk assessment 2002c;8:473-492.
- Fretwurst S, Ahlf W. Modifikation des umu-Testes zum Nachweis gentoxischer und cytotoxischer Wirkungen von feststoffgebundenen Umweltchemikalien. Vom Wasser 1996;86:353-361.
- Frijters C. Onderzoek spoelwater Bloembollen; resultaten 1999. Dordrecht: Zuiveringsschap Hollandse Eilanden en Waarden, 2000.
- Fuchs B. Bisoprolol. Deutsche Apotheker Zeitung 1997;137:85-88.
- Gärtner S. Arzneimittel in der Umwelt: Umweltschutz im Arzneimittelrecht. Zeitschrift für Umweltchemie, Ökotoxikologie 1998;10:154-156.
- Gavalchin J, Katz SE. The persistence of fecal-borne antibiotics in soil. J. AOAC Int. 1994;77:481-485.
- Gibbs SG, Green SF, Tarwater PM, Scarpino PV. Airborne antibiotic resistant and nonresistant bacteria and fungi recovered from two swine herd confined animal feeding operations. Journal of Occupational and Environmental Hygiene 2004;1:699-706
- Gilbert P, McBain AJ. Potential Impact of Increased Use of Biocides in Consumer Products on Prevalence of Antibiotic Resistance. Clinical Microbiology Reviews 2003;16:189-208.
- Golub J. Sovereignty and subsidiarity in EU environmental policy. Political Studies 1996;XLIV:686-703.
- Grabow WOK, Van Zyl M, Prozesky OW. Behaviour in conventional sewage purification process of coliform bacteria with transferable or non-transferable drug resistance. Water Res. 1976;10:717-723.
- Greiner P, Rönnefahrt I. Environmental risk assessment of veterinary medicinal products from a regulatory perspective. SETAC Europe 11th annual meeting, Madrid 6-10 May 2001 2001;Presentation 412.
- Griebler C. Microbial ecology of subsurface ecosystems. In: Griebler C, Danielopol DL, Gibert J, Nachtnebel HP, Notenboom J, (eds), Groundwater ecology; a tool for management of water resources. Brussels, Belgium: European Commission, Directorate-General for Research, 2001. pp. 81-108.
- Gunn A, Sadd JW. The effect of ivermectin on survival, behaviour, and coccoon production of the earthworm *Eisenia foetida*. Pedobiologia 1994;38:327-333.
- Halffman W. Boundaries of regulatory science. Amsterdam: Universiteit van Amsterdam, 2003.
- Halley BA, Jacob ThA, Lu AYH. The environmental impact of the use of ivermectin: environmental effects and fate. Chemosphere 1989;18:1543-1563.
- Halling-Sørensen B. Inhibition of Aerobic Growth and Nitrification of Bacteria in Sewage Sludge by Antibacterial Agents. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 2001;40:451-460.
- Halling-Sørensen B, Jensen J, Tjørnelund J, Montforts MHMM. Worst-case estimations of predicted environmental soil concentrations (PEC) of selected veterinary antibiotics and residues in Danish agriculture. In: Kümmerer K, ((editor)), Pharmaceuticals in the environment. Germany: Springer Verlag, 2001. pp.
- Halling-Sørensen B, Nors Nielsen S, Lanzky PF, Ingerslev F, Holten-Lützhoft HC, Jorgensen SE. Occurrence, fate and effects of pharmaceutical substances in the environment a review. Chemosphere 1998;36:357-393.
- Halling-Sørensen B, Sengeløv G, Tjørnelund J. Toxicity of tetracyclines and tetracycline degradation products to environmentally relevant bacteria, including selected tetracycline-resistant bacteria. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 2002;42:263-271.
- Hamscher G, Sczesny S, Abu-Quare A, Höper H. Stoffe mit pharmakologischer Wirkung einschliesslich hormonell aktiver Substanzen in der Umwelt: Nachweis von Tetrazyklinen in güllegedüngten Böden. Deutsche Tierärztliche Wochenschrift 2000;107:332-334.
- Hamscher G, Sczesny S, Höper H, Nau H. Determination of persistent tetracycline residues in soil fertilized with liquid manure by high-performance liquid chromatography with electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry. Analytical Chemistry 2002;74:1509-1518.
- Harras MC, Kinding AC, Taub FB. Responses of blue-green and green algae to streptomycin in unialgal and paired culture. Aquatic Toxicology 1985;6:1-11.

- Harremoës P, Gee D, MacGarvin M, Stirling A, Keys J, Wynne B, Guedes Vaz S. Late lessons from early warnings: the precautionary principle 1896-2000. Copenhagen: European Environment Agency, 2001. Environmental issue report No 22.
- Hartmann A, Alder AC, Koller T, Widmer RM. Indentification of fluoroquinolone antibiotics as the main source of umuC genotoxicity in native hospital wastewater. Environ.Toxicol. Chem. 1998;17:377-382.
- Haskell SRR, Ormond CJ, Occhipinti LP, Powers EL. Medical waste management in veterinary practice. JAVMA 2003a;223:46-47.
- Haskell SRR, Ormond CJ, Occhipinti LP, Powers EL. Waste management: expired drugs. JAVMA 2003b;223:51-52.
- Health Council. Milieurisico's van diergeneesmiddelen. The Hague: Health Council, 2001. Signalement 2001/17.
- Heberer Th. Occurrence, fate, and removal of pharmaceutical residues in the aquatic environment: a review of recent research data. Toxicology Letters 2002;131:5-17.
- Heberer Th, Schmidt-Bäumler K, Stan H-J. Occurrence and Distribution of Organic Contaminants in the Aquatic System in Berlin. Part I: Drug Residues and other Polar Contaminants in Berlin Surface and Ground Water. Acta Hydrochim. Hydrolbiol. 1998;26:272-278.
- Henny CJ, Blus LJ, Kolbe EJ, Fitzner RE. Organophosphate insecticide (famphur) topically applied to cattle kills magpies and hawks. J. Wildl. Mgmt 1985;49:648-658.
- Herd R. Endectocidal drugs: ecological risks and counter-measures. International Journal for Parasitology 1995;25:875-885.
- Heyvaert V. The changing role of science in environmental regulatory decision making in the European union. Law and European affairs. 1999a;9:426-443.
- Heyvaert V. Coping with uncertainty. The Regulation of Chemicals in the European Union. Florence: Law Department, European University Institute, 1999b.
- Hilhorst MA, De Mol RM. Dynamic model for the methane emission from manure storage. Kyoto, Japan: Sixth International Conference on Greenhouse Gas Control Technologies (GHGT-6), 2002. Proceedings.
- Hill EF, Fleming WJ. Anticholinesterase poisoning of birds: field monitoring and diagnosis of acute poisoning. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 1982;1:27-38.
- Hill EF, Mendenhall VM. Secondary poisoning of barn owls with famphur, an organophosphate insecticide. J. Wildl. Manage. 1980;44:676-681.
- Hiorns WD, Hastings RC, Head IM, McCarthy AJ, Saunders JR, Pickup RW, Hall H. Amplification of 16S ribosomal RNA genes of autotrophic ammonia-oxidizing bacteria demonstrates the ubiquity of nitrosospiras in the environment. Microbiology 1995 1995;141:2793-2800.
- Hoeksma P, Poelma HR, Van Zadelhoff A. Koude vergisting van mengmest; mogelijkheden voor praktijktoepassing. IMAG Wageningen, The Netherlands 1987.
- Hoffmann A, Thimm T, Dröge M, Moore ERB, Munch JC, Tebbe CC. Intergenic transfer of conjugative and mobilizable plasmids harbored by *Escherichia coli* in the gut of the soil microarthropod *Folsomia candida*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 1998;64:2652-2659.
- Holm JV, Rugge K, Bjerg PL, Christensen TH. Occurrence and distribution of pharmaceutical compounds in the groundwater downgradient of a landfill. Environmental science & technology 1995;29:1415-1420.
- Huggett DB, Brooks BW, Peterson BN, Foran CM, Schlenk DK. Toxicity of Beta-adrenergic receptor blocking pharmaceuticals (B-blockers) on aquatic organisms. Abstract SETAC Europe 2002;73-02.
- Hulzebos EM, Posthumus R. (Q)SARs: gatekeeping against risk on chemicals? SAR and QSAR in environmental research 2003;14:285-316.
- IARC. Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Pharmaceutical drugs. International Agency for Research on Cancer 1990;Volume 50:169-193.
- Iglesias-Jimenez E, Poveda E, Sanchez-Martin MJ, Sanchez-Camazano M. Effect of the nature of exogenous organic matter on pesticide sorption by the soil. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol. 1997;33:117-124.
- Ingerslev F, Toräng L, Loke M, Halling-Sørensen B, Nyholm N. Primary biodegradation of veterinary antibiotics in aerobic and anaerobic surface water simulation systems. Chemosphere 2001;44:865-872.
- Ingham ER, Coleman DC. Effects of streptomycin, cycloheximide, fungizone, captan, carbofuran, cygon and PCNB on soil microbe populations and nutrient cycling. Microbial Ecology 1984;10:345-358.
- Jacob L, Talpaysayi ERS. Antibiotic sensitivity of certain blue-green algae. Acta Botanica Indica 1977;Suppl., 5:23.
- Jagers op Akkerhuis GAJM, Siepel H. Wormengif bedreigt mestfauna. Oproep voor meer onderzoek. De Levende Natuur 2001;Novembernummer:278-279.
- Jagnow G. Mikrobieller Abbau der Futtermittelantibiotika Zink-Bacitracin, Flavophospholipol, Spyramycin und von Tetracyclin in feucht gelagertem und in mit Boden vermischtem Hühnerkot. Landwirtsch. Forsch., Kongressband 1977;1:227-234.
- Janknegt R, Oude Lashof A, Gould IM, Van der Meer JWM. Antibiotic use in Dutch hospitals 1991-1996. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 2000;45:251-256.
- Jensen J. Veterinary medicines and soil quality: the Danish situation as an example. In: Daughton CG, Jones-Lepp TL, (eds), Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products in the Environment: Scientific and Regulatory Issues. Washington, D.C.: American Chemical Society: 2001. pp. 282-302.
- Jensen J, Krogh PH, Sverdrup LE. Effects of the antibacterial agents tiamulin, olaquindox and metronidazole and the anthelmintic ivermectin on the soil invertebrate species *Folsomia fimetaria* (Collembola) and *Enchytraeus crypticus* (Enchytraeidae). Chemosphere 2003;50:437-443.
- Jjemba PK. The potential impact of veterinary and human therapeutic agents in manure and biosolids on plants grown on arable land: a review. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 2002;93:267-278.
- Joerges C, Ladeur K, Vos E. Integrating Scientific expertise into regulatory decision-making. Baden-Baden, Germany: Nomos, 1997.
- Johnston JJ, Savarie PJ, Primus TM, Eisemann JD, Hurley JC, Kohler DJ. Risk assessment of an acetaminophen baiting program for chemical control of brown tree snakes on Guam: Evaluation of baits, snake residues, and potential primary and secondary hazards. Environmental Science and Technology 2002;36:3827-3833.
- Jones OAH, Voulvoulis N, Lester JN. Aquatic environmental assessment of the top 25 English prescription pharmaceuticals. Water research 2002;36:5013-5022.

Jones R, Tarazona JV, Montforts MHMM, Calow P, Herrchen M, Luttik R, Wester P. Report on the risk assessment for animal populations with emphasis on wild life. Appendix 6 in: The future of risk assessment in the European Union. The second report on the harmonisation of risk assessment procedures. Brussels: Scientific Steering Committee, Health and Consumer Protection Directorate-General, 2003.

Jongbloed RH, Blankendaal VG, Kan CA, Van Dokkum HP, Bernhard R, Rijs GBJ. Milieurisico's van diergeneesmiddelen en veevoederadditieven in Nederlands oppervlaktewater; een verkennende studie. RIZA Lelystad, The Netherlands. 2001;Report 2001.053.

Jorgensen SE, Halling-Sørensen B. Special issue on pharmaceuticals in the environment. Chemosphere 2000;40.

Jorgensen SE, Lützhoft HC, Halling-Sørensen B. Development of a model for environmental risk assessment of growth promotors. Ecological Modelling 1998;107:63-72.

- Kamstra A, Van der Heul JW. Afvalwater van viskwekerijen. IJmuiden, the Netherlands: RIVO-DLO, 1995. CO04/95.
- Kamstra A, Van der Heul JW. Onderzoek naar behandeling van afvalwater van een palingkwekerij (tussenrapportage). IJmuiden, the Netherlands: RIVO-DLO, 1998. C019/98.
- Kay P, Blackwell PA, Boxall ABA. Fate of veterinary antibiotics in a macroporous tile drained clay soil. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 2004;23:1136-1144.
- Keinanen-Kiukaanniemi S, Simila S, Kapyla H. Antipyretic therapy: evaluation of diclofenac sodium as an antipyretic agent. Clinical Therapeutics 1980;2:421-426.
- Kelley TR, Pancorbo O, Merka W, Barnhart H. Fate of selected bacterial pathogens and indicators in fractionated poultry litter during storage. J. Appl. Poult. Res. 1994; 3: 279-288 1994;3:279-288.
- Kelly LA, Taylor MA, Wooldridge MJA. Estimating the predicted environmental concentration of the residues of veterinary medicines: should uncertainty and variability be ignored? Risk Analysis 2003;23:489-496.
- Ketelaars JJMH, Van der Meer HG. Establishment of criteria for the assessment of the nitrogen content of animal manures. Final Report to ERM 2000;Plant Research International, Wageningen.
- Koeman JH, Van Beusekom CF, De Goeij JJM. Eggshell and population changes in the sparrow-hawk (*Accipiter nisus*). TNO-nieuws 1972;27:542-550.
- Kolpin DW, Furlong ET, Meyer MT, Thurman EM, Zaugg SD, Barber LB, Buxton HT. Pharmaceuticals, hormones, and other organic wastewater contaminants in U.S. streams, 1999-2000: a national reconnaissance. Environmental science & technology 2002;36:1202-1211.
- Koschorreck J, Koch C, Rönnefahrt I. Environmental risk assessment of veterinary medicinal products in the EU-a regulatory perspective. Toxicology Letters 2002;131:117-124.

Krueger BW, Krueger KA. Animal Euthanasia and Secondary Wildlife Poisoning. http://cpharm.vetmed.vt.edu/USFWS/USFWSFPentobarbFactSheet.pdf, 2003. Date of access 2004.

- Kuch HM, Ballschmiter K. Determination of endocrine-disrupting phenolic compounds and estrogens in surface and drinking water by HRGC-(NCI)-MS in the picogram per liter range. Environmental science & technology 2001;35:3201-3206.
- Kumar HD, Kaushik M. Studies on the growth and development of two nitrogen fixing blue-green algae. II. effects of antibiotics. Z. Pflanzenphysiol. Bd. 1971;65:443-452.

Kümmerer K. Pharmaceuticals in the environment. Germany: Springer Verlag, 2001. ISBN 3-540-41067-8.

- Kümmerer K. Resistance in the Environment. In: Kümmerer K, (editor), Pharmaceutical in the environment second edition. Germany: Springer Verlag, 2004a. pp. 223-232.
- Kümmerer K. Resistance in the Environment. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 2004b;54:311-320.

- Kümmerer K, Al-Ahmad A, Mersch-Sundermann V. Biodegradability of some antibiotics, elimination of the genotoxicity and affection of wastewater bacteria in a simple test. Chemosphere 2000;40:701-710.
- Lalumera GM, Calamari D, Galli P, Castiglioni S, Crosa G, Fanelli R. Preliminary investigation on the environmental occurrence and effects of antibiotics used in aquaculture in Italy. Chemosphere 2004;54:661-668.
- Landi L, Badalucco L, Pomare F, Nannipieri P. Effectiveness of Antibiotics to Distinguish the Contributions of Fungi and Bacteria to Net Nitrogen Mineralization, Nitrification and Respiration. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 1993;25:1771-1778.
- Länge R, Dietrich D. Environmental risk assessment of pharmaceutical drug substances conceptual considerations. Toxicology Letters 2002;131:97-104.
- Laporte JR, Vidal X, Ballarin E, Ibanez L. Possible association between ocular chloramphenicol and aplastic anaemia the absolute risk is very low. British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology 1998;46:181-184.
- Larsen ML, Illingworth DR, O'Malley JP. Comparative effects of gemfibrozil and clofibrate in type III hyperlipoproteinemia. Atherosclerosis 1994;106:235-240.
- Laskowski R. Some good reasons to ban the use of NOEC, LOEC and related concepts in ecotoxicology. Oikos 1995;73:140-144.
- Leonard RA, Langdale GW, Fleming WG. Herbicide runoff from upland peidmont watersheds-data and implications for modeling pesticide transport. J. Environ. Qual. 1979;8:223-229.
- Linton AH, Hedges AJ, Bennett PM. Monitoring for the development of antimicrobial resistance during the use of olaquindox as a feed additive on commercial pig farms. Journal of applied bacteriology. 1988;64:311-327.
- Löfstedt RE, Vogel D, with commentaries by Renn O, Slater D, Rogers MD. The changing character of regulation: a comparison of Europe and the United States. Risk Analysis. 2004;21(3):399-416
- Long C, Crane M. Environmental risk assessment of veterinary pharmaceuticals in the EU: Reply to Montforts and de Knecht. Toxicology Letters 2003;142:219-225.
- Ludke JL, Locke LN. Case report Duck deaths from accidental ingestion of anthelmintic. Avian Dis. 1976;20:607-608.
- Luiten EEM. Controverses rond kweek van vis in Nederland? Den Haag: Stichting Toekomstbeeld der Techniek, 2002. http://www.minocw.nl/cos/doc/2002/oceanfarm_visteelt.PDF.
- Lumaret J, Errouissi F. Use of anthelmintics in herbivores and evaluation of risks for the non target fauna of pastures. Vet. Res. 2002;33:547-562.
- Lunestad BT, Goksøyr J. Reduction in the antibacterial effect of oxytetracycline in sea water by complex formation with magnesium and calcium. Diseases of aquatic organisms 1990;9:67-72.
- Luttik R. Risk assessment scheme for the impact of plant protection products on birds and mammals. Leiden: Leiden, 2003.
- MacKay D, Bobra A, Shiu WY. Relationship between aqueous solubility and octanol-water partition coefficients. Chemosphere 1980;9:701-711.
- MacKay D, Paterson S, Schroeder W. Model describing the rates of transfer processes of organic chemicals between atmosphere and water. Env. Sci. Tech. 1986;20:810-816.
- Madsen M, Grønvold J, Nansen P. Effects of treatment of cattle with some anthelmintics on the subsequent degradation of their dung. Acta Vet. Scand. 1988;29:515-517.
- Madsen M, Overgaard Nielsen B, Holter P, Pedersen OC, Brøchner Jespersen J, Vagn Jensen K-M, Nansen P, Grønvold J. Treating cattle with ivermectin: effects on the fauna and decomposition in dung pats. Journal of applied ecology 1990;27:1-15.
- Manten A. De betekenis van antibiotica in het milieu. Ned. Tijdschr. Geneesk. 1971;115:1844-1848.
- MARAN. Monitoring of antimicrobial resistance and antibiotic usage in animals in The Netherlands in 2002. The Hague: VANTURES, 2002.
- Maynard R. Disposal dilemma: a persistent sheep dip problem. http://www.pan-
- uk.org/pestnews/Pn36/pn36p11.htm, 1997. Date of access 2003.
- Mcbain AJ, Rickard AH, Gilbert P. Possible implications of biocide accumulation in the environment on the prevalence of bacterial antibiotic resistance. Journal of industrial microbiology & biotechnology 2002;29:326-330.
- McKellar QA. Ecotoxicology and residues of anthelmintic compounds. Veterinary parasitology 1997;72:413-435.
- McLachlan MS, Czub G, Wania F. The influence of vertical sorbed phase transport on the fate of organic chemicals in surface soils. Environmental science & technology 2002;36:4860-4867.
- McVeigh K, O'Brien D, Skelton J. Sheep Dip Disposal: No room for complacency. Bristol: Soil Association, 1997.
- Mendenhall VM, Pank LF. Secondary poisoning of owls by anticoagulant rodenticides. Wildl. Soc. Bull. 1980;8:311-315.

- Menzi H. Manure management in Europe: results of a recent survey. Strbeské Pleso, Slovak Republic: Proceedings of the 10th International conference of the RAMIRAN network., 2002.
- Midtvedt T. The ECO-SHADOW Concept A new way of following environmental impacts of antimicrobials. In: Kümmerer K, (editor), Pharmaceutical in the environment - second edition. Germany: Springer Verlag, 2004. pp. 311-316.
- Mills WB, Lew CS, Hung CY. Sensitivity of concentration and risk predictions in the PRESTO and MMSOILS Multimedia models: regression technique assessment. Risk Analysis 1999;19:511-525.
- Montfoort JA, Van der Poel P, Luttik R. The use of disinfectants in livestock farming. Bilthoven, The Netherlands: National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, 1996. RIVM Report 679102033.
- Montforts MHMM. Environmental Risk Assessment for Veterinary Medicinal Products. 1. Other than GMOcontaining and Immunological Products. Bilthoven, The Netherlands: National Institute for Public Health and the Environment (RIVM), 1997a. RIVM report 613310001.
- Montforts MHMM. Ontwormingsmiddelen en natuurbeheer. Utrecht: Science Shop Biology, 1997b. P-UB-96-11.
- Montforts MHMM. Environmental Risk Assessment for Veterinary Medicinal Products. 1. Other than GMOcontaining and Immunological Products. Bilthoven, The Netherlands: National Institute for Public Health and the Environment (RIVM), 1999. RIVM report 601300001.
- Montforts MHMM. Environmental risk assessment for veterinary medicinal products Part 2. The phase 1 assessment for immunological products. Report on the workshop 23-9-1998. Bilthoven, the Netherlands: RIVM, 2000. 601300 002.
- Montforts MHMM. Regulatory and methodological aspects concerning the risk assessment of medicinal products. In: Kümmerer K, (ed), Pharmaceuticals in the environment. Germany: Springer Verlag, 2001. pp. 159-174.
- Montforts MHMM. Environmental Risk Assessment for Veterinary Medicinal Products. 1. Non-immunological drug substances. Second update. Bilthoven, The Netherlands: National Institute for Public Health and the Environment (RIVM), 2003. RIVM report 320202001/2003.
- Montforts MHMM. Methodological aspects concerning the environmental risk assessment for medicinal products research challenges. In: Kümmerer K, (editor), Pharmaceutical in the environment second edition. Germany: Springer Verlag, 2004. pp. 439-462.
- Montforts MHMM, De Knecht JA. European medicines and feed additives regulation are not in compliance with environmental legislation and policy. Toxicology Letters 2002;131:125-136.
- Montforts MHMM, De Knecht JA. European medicines and feed additives regulation are not in compliance with environmental legislation and policy. In: Dietrich D, Webb SF, Petry Th, (editors), Hot Spot Pollutants: pharmaceuticals in the environment. San Diego: Elsevier Inc., 2004.
- Montforts MHMM, Kalf DF, Van Vlaardingen PLA, Linders JBHJ. The exposure assessment for veterinary medicinal products. Science of the Total Environment 1999;225:119-133.
- Montforts MHMM, Tarazona JV. Environmental risk assessment for veterinary medicinal products Part 4. Exposure assessment scenarios. Bilthoven: RIVM, 2003. 601450017/2003.
- Montforts MHMM, Van Rijswick HFMW, Udo de Haes HA. Legal contraints in EU product labelling to mitigate the environmental risk of veterinary medicines at use. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology 2004;40:327-335.
- Moreira V. Manure handling and storage effects on nitrogen losses of dairy farms. http://dfrc.wisc.edu/powell/, 2001. Date of access 2003.
- Morillo E, Maqueda C, Reinoso R, Undabeytia T. Effect of two organic amendments on norflurazon retention and release by soils of different characteristics. Environmental science & technology 2002;36:4319-4325.
- Munroe IC, Ford RA, Kennepohl E, Sprenger JG. Correlation of structural class with no-observed-effect levels: a proposal for establishing a threshold of concern. Food and Chemical Toxicology 1996;34:829-867.
- Munroe IC, Kennepohl E, Kroes R. A procedure for the safety evaluation of flavouring substances. Food and Chemical Toxicology 1999;37:207-232.
- Necas J. Responses of cell populations of three chlorococcal algae to the action of streptomycin. Biol. Plant. (Praha) 1971;13:38-55.
- Nessel RJ, Wallace DH, Wehner TA, Tait WE, Gomez L. Environmental fate of ivermectin in a cattle feedlot. Chemosphere 1989;7-8:1531-1541.
- Ni JQ. Mechanistic models of ammonia release from liquid manure: a review. Journal of Agricultural Engineering Research 1999;72:1-17.
- Ni JQ, Vinckier C, Hendriks J, Coenegrachts J. Production of carbon dioxide in a fattening pig house under field conditions. II. Release from the manure. Athmospheric environment 1999;33:3697-3703.
- Nichols DJ, Daniel TC, Moore PA, Edwards DR, Pote DH. Runoff of estrogen hormone 17ß-estradiol from poultry litter applied to pasture. J. Environ. Qual. 1997;26:1002-1006.

- Nidel CT. Regulating the fate of pharmaceutical drugs: a new prescription for the environment. Food and drug law journal 2003;58:81-101.
- Notenboom J. Managing ecological risks of groundwater pollution. In: Griebler C, Danielopol DL, Gibert J, Nachtnebel HP, Notenboom J, (eds), Groundwater ecology; a tool for management of water resources. Brussels, Belgium: European Commission, Directorate-General for Research., 2001. pp. 247-262.
- Novem. Commersialisering van koude vergisting van varkensdrijfmest onder stal met behulp van kapjessysteem. NOVEM/RIVM/Haskoning. 1991;No. 9134:Nijmegen, The Netherlands.
- Nowara A, Burhenne J, Spiteller M. Binding of fluoroquinolone carboxylic acid derivatives to clay minerals. J Agric Food Chem. 1997;45:1459-1463.
- NW4. Fourth Action Plan Watermanagement. Ministry of Traffic and Public Works, The Netherlands. 1998.
- O'Reilly A, Smith P. Development of methods for predicting the minimum concentrations of oxytetracycline capable of exerting a selection for resistance to this agent. Aquaculture 1999;180:1-11.
- O'Reilly A, Smith P. Use of indirect conductimetry to establish predictive no effect concentrations of oxytetracycline and oxolinic acid in aquatic sediments. Aquaculture 2001;196:13-26.
- Oaks JL, Gilbert M, Virani MZ, Watson RT, Meteyer CU, Rideout BA, Shivaprasad HL, Ahmed S, Chaudry MJI, Arshad M, Mahmood S, Ali A, Khan AA. Diclofenac residues as the cause of vulture population decline in Pakistan. Nature 2004;427:630-633.
- Pablos M^aV, Ramos C, Carbonell G, Tarazona JV. Evaluación del riego ambiental de fármacos de uso veterinario: Desarrollo de escenarios para sistemas ganaderos intensivos y extensivos. Cuad Invest. Biol. 1998;20:507-510.
- Park JC, Lee JC, Oh JY, Jeong YW, Cho JW, Joo HS, Lee WK, Lee WB. Antibiotic selective pressure for the maintenance of antibiotic resistant genes in coliform bacteria isolated from the aquatic environment. Water science and Technology 2003;47:249-253.
- Patten DK, Wolf D, Kunkle WE, Douglass LW. Effect of antibiotics in beef cattle feces on nitrogen and carbon mineralisation in soil and on plant growth and composition. J. Environ. Qual. 1980;9:167-172.
- Pau Vall M, Vidal C. Nitrogen in agriculture. 2001. Date of access 2002.
- Petney TN. Ecological implications of control strategies: arthropods of domestic and production animals. Int. J. Parasitology 1997;27:155-165.
- Pierini E, Famiglini G, Mangani F, Cappiello A. Fate of enrofloxacin in swine sewage. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 2004;52:3473-3477.
- Pitts CW, Tobin PC, Weidenboerner B. In-house composting to reduce larval house fly, Musca Domestica L., populations. Journal of applied poultry research 1998;7:180-188.
- Poels J, van Assche P, Verstraete W. Effects of disinfectants and antibiotics on the anaerobic digestion of piggery waste. Agricultural wastes 1984;9:239-247.
- Polyakov V, Lal R. Modeling soil organic matter dynamics as affected by soil water erosion. Environment International 2004;30:547-556.
- Posthuma L, Suter II GW, and Traas TP. Species Sensitivity Distributions in Ecotoxicology. Boca Raton, USA: Lewis Publishers, 2002.
- Powers WJ. Keeping science in environmental regulations: the role of the animal scientist. J. Dairy Science 2003;86:1045-1051.
- Pro J, Ortiz JA, Boleas S, Fernández C, Carbonell G, Tarazona JV. Effect assessment of antimicrobial pharmaceuticals in the aquatic plant *Lemna minor*. Bull. environ. Contam. Toxicol. 2003;70:290-295.
- Putman RJ. Carrion and dung: the decomposition of animal wastes. The Camelot Press Ltd. Southampton UK 1983.
- Qiang Z. In-Barn Evaluations Of Manure Pit Additives For Odour Reduction. Manitoba Agriculture and Food, Canada, 1999. ARDI Project # 98-087.
- Rabølle M, Spliid NH. Sorption and mobility of metronidazole, olaquindox and oxytetracycline and tylosine in soil. Chemosphere 2000;40:715-722.
- Ragas AMJ. Uncertainty in environmental quality standards. Katholieke Universiteit Nijmegen, 2000. Thesis.
- Ramazza V, Zucchi M, Lanzoni A, Bianchi C. Presence of oxytetracycline in pig farming after high doses and longer administration times in comparison to the suggested ones. Proc. Euro Residue Conference III, Veldhoven, The Netherlands 1996;2:814-818.
- Resseler H, Shäfer H, Görlitz G, Hermann M, Hosang J, Kloskowski R, Marx R, Sarafin R, Stein B, Winkler R. Recommendations for conducting simulation calculations for the registration procedure. Nachrichtenblatt des Deutschen Pflanzenschutzdienstes 1997;49:305-309.
- Richard T, Harmon J, Honeyman M, Creswell J. Hoop structure bedding use, labor, bedding pack temperature, manure nutrient content, and nitrogen leaching potential. Iowa State University 1998;ASL-R1499.
- Ries L, Fagan WF. Habitat edges as a potential ecological trap for an insect predator. Ecological entomology 2003;28:567-572.

- RIVM. Uniform System for the Evaluation of Substances 1.0 (USES 1.0). Bilthoven, the Netherlands.: National Institute of Public Health and the Environment (RIVM), Ministry of Housing, Spatial Planning and the Environment (VROM), Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport (VWS), 1994. Distribution no. 11144/150.
- RIVM. Milieucompendium. Afzet van chemische bestrijdingsmiddelen in de landbouw, 1985-2002; Gebruik van chemische bestrijdingsmiddelen in enkele gewassen, 1995-2000.

http://www.rivm.nl/milieuennatuurcompendium/nl/i-nl-0015-04.html, 2003. Date of access 2004.

- Rodgers CJ. Resistance of Yersinia ruckeri to antimicrobial agents in vitro. Aquaculture 2001;196:325-345.
- Rodricks JV. Calculated risks. Understanding the toxicity and human health risks of chemicals in our environment. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1992.
- Roij ThAJM, De Vries PHU. Milieutoxicologische aspecten van het gebruik van veevoederadditieven en therapeutica. Persistentie in dierlijke excreta en milieu. The Hague, The Netherlands: Ministry of Environment, 1980. Reeks Bodembescherming nr. 4.
- Römbke J, Knacker T, Stahlschmidt-Allner P. Umweltprobleme durch Arzneimittel Literaturstudie-. Berlin, Germany: Umweltbundesamt , 1996.
- Römbke J, Knacker T, Teichmann H. Ecotoxicological evaluation of pharmaceuticals. In: Kümmerer K, (ed), Pharmaceuticals in the environment. Germany: Springer Verlag, 2001a. pp. 123-141.
- Römbke J, Knacker T, Teichmann H. Environmental risk assessment of pharmaceuticals: a proposal with special emphasis on European aspects. In: Daughton CG, Jones-Lepp TL, (eds), Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products in the Environment: Scientific and Regulatory Issues. Washington, D.C.: American Chemical Society: 2001b. pp. 304-319.
- Rönnpagel K, Janssen E, Ahlf W. Asking for the indicator function of bioassays evaluating soil contamination: are bioassay results reasonable surrogates of effects on soil microflora? Chemosphere 1998;36:1291-1304.
- Rurainski RD, Theiss HJ, Zimmermann W. Über das Vorkommen von natürlichen und synthetischen Östrogenen im Trinkwasser. GWF-Wasser/Abwasser 1977;118:288-291.
- Russel AD. Biocides and pharmacologically active drugs as residues and in the environment: is there a correlation with antibiotic resistance? American Journal of Infection Control 2002;30:495-498.
- Rysz M, Alvarez PJJ. Amplification and attenuation of tetracycline resistance in soil bacteria: aquifer column experiments. Water Research 2004;38:3705-3712.
- Sacher F, Gabriel S, Metzinger M, Wenz M, Lange FT, Brauch H-J. Pharmaceuticals in ground and surface waters. Chimia 2003;57:29-31.
- Salminen J, Van Gestel CA, Oksanen J. Pollution-induced community tolerance and functional redundancy in a decomposer food web in metal-stressed soil. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 2001;20:2287-2295.
- Schiffer B, Daxenberger A, Meyer K, Meyer HHD. The fate of trenbolone acetate and melengestrol acetate after application as growth promoters in cattle: environmental studies. Environmental health perspectives 2001;109:1145-1151.
- Schlüsener MP, Bester K, Spiteller M. Determination of antibiotics such as macrolides, ionophores and tiamulin in liquid manure by HPLC-MS/MS. Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry 2003;375:942-947.
- Schmitt H, Van Beelen P, Tolls J, Van Leeuwen CJ. Pollution-induced community tolerance of soil microbial communities casued by the antibiotic sulfachloropyridazine. Environmental science and technology 2004;38:1148-1153.
- Schowanek D, Webb S. Exposure simulation for pharmaceuticals in European surface waters with GREAT-ER. Toxicology Letters 2002;131:39-50.
- Schrap SM, Rijs GBJ, Beek MA, Maaskant JFN, Staeb J, Stroomberg G, Tiesnitsch J. Humane en veterinaire geneesmiddelen in Nederlands oppervlaktewater en afvalwater. Lelystad: RIZA, 2003. RIZA report 2003.023.
- Schulman LJ, Sargent EV, Naumann BD, Faria EC, Dolan DG, Wargo JP. A human health risk assessment of pharmaceuticals in the environment. Human and ecological risk assessment 2002;8:657-680.
- SCP. Opinion of the Scientific Committee on Plants regarding the Draft guidance document on relevant metabolites (Document SANCO/221/2000-Rev.2 of October 1999) (opinion adopted by the Scientific Committee on Plants on 30 November 2000). Brussels: 2000.
- Seiler RL, Zaugg SD, Thomas JM, Howcroft DL. Caffeine and pharmaceuticals as indicators of waste water contamination in wells. Ground Water 1999;37:405-410.
- Sengeløv G, Agersø Y, Halling-Sørensen B, Baloda SB, Andersen JS, Jensen LB. Bacterial antibiotic resistance levels in Danish farmland as a result of treatment with pig manure slurry. Environment International 2003;28:587-595.
- Séveno NA, Kallifidas D, Smalla K, Van Elsas JD, Collard J-M, Karagouni AD, Wellington EM. Occurrence and reservoirs of antibiotic resistance genes in the environment. Reviews in medical microbiology 2002;13:15-27.
- Sherratt TN, Macdougall AD, Wratten SD, Forbes AB. Models to assist the evaluation of the impact of avermectins on dung insect populations. Ecological modelling 1998;110:165-173.

- Siciliano SD, Roy RD. The role of soil microbial tests in ecological risk assessment: Differenciating between exposure and effects. Human and ecological risk assessment 1999;5:671-682.
- Smith AG, Dovey GJ, Cartwright RA. Topical chloramphenicol and the risk of acute leukaemia in adults. Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety 2000;9:215-219.
- Smith KA, Jackson DR, Pepper TJ. Nutrient losses by surface run-off following the application of organic manures to arable land. 1. Nitrogen. Environmental Pollution 2001;112:41-51.
- Sommer C, Bibby BM. The influence of veterinary medicines on the decomposition of dung organic matter in soil. European Journal of Soil Biology 2002;38:155-159.
- Sommer C, Steffansen B. Changes with time after treatment in the concentrations of ivermectin in fresh cow dung and in cow pats aged in the field. Veterinary Parasitology 1993;48:67-73.
- Soulides DA, Pinck LA, Allison FE. Antibiotics in soils: V. Stability and release of soil adsorbed antibiotics. Soil Science 1962;94:239-244.
- Southwick LM, Grigg BC, Fouss JL, Kornecki TS. Atrazine and Metolachlor in Surface Runoff under Typical Rainfall Conditions in Southern Louisiana. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2003, 51, 5355-5361 J Agric Food Chem. 2003;51:5355-5361.
- Spaepen KRI, Van Leemput LJJ, Wislocki PG, Verschueren C. A uniform procedure to estimate the predicted environmental concentration of the residues of veterinary medicines in soil. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 1997;16:1977-1982.
- SSC. Opinion of the Scientific Steering Committee on harmonisation of risk assessment procedures (adopted on 26-27 October 2000). http://europa.eu.int/comm/food/fs/sc/ssc/out82_en.html, 2000. Date of access 2003.
- SSC. Preliminary report on the ecological risk assessment of chemicals. Discussed by the scientific steering committee at its meeting of 7-8 november 2002. Brussels: Scientific Steering Committee, 2002.
- SSC. The future of risk assessment in the European Union. The second report on the harmonisation of risk assessment procedures. Brussels: Scientific Steering Committee, Health and Consumer Protection Directorate-General, European Union., 2003.
- Stappen Rv, Huysman F, Verstraete W. Microbiële indicatoren van varkensmestapplicatie in landbouwgronden. Landbouwtijdschrift - revue de L' Agriculture, België 1989;42:1087-1099.
- Stolker AAM, Niesing W, Hogendoorn EA, Versteegh JFM, Fuchs R, Brinkman UATh. Liquid chromatography with triple-quadrupole or quadrupole-time of flight mass spectrometry for screening and confirmation of residues of pharmaceuticals in water. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry 2004; 378 (4): 955-963.
- Strong L, James S. Some effects of rearing the yellow dung fly Scatophaga stercoraria in cattle dung containing ivermectin. Entomologia experimentalis et applicata 1992;63:39-45.
- Strong L, Wall R, Woolford A, Djeddour D. The effect of faecally excreted ivermectin and fenbendazole on the insect colonisation of cattle dung following the oral administration of sustained-release boluses. Veterinary parasitology 1996;62:253-266.
- Struijs J, Stoltenkamp J, Van de Meent D. A spreadsheet-based box model to predict the fate of xenobiotics in a municipal wastewater treatment plant. Water Research 1991;25:891-900.
- Stumpf M, Ternes TA, Haberer K, Baumann W. Nachweis von natürlichen un synthetischen Östrogenen in Kläranlagen und Fliessgewässern. Vom Wasser 1996;87:251-261.
- Suarez VH. Helminthic control on grazing ruminants and environmental risks in South America. Vet Res 2002;33:563-573.
- Svendsen TS, Grønvold J, Holter P, Sommer C. Field effects of ivermectin and fenbendazole on earthworm populations and the disappearance of dung pats from bolus-treated cattle. Appl. Soil Ecol. 2003;24:201-218.
- Svendsen TS, Sommer C, Holter P, Grønvold J. Survival and growth of Lumbricus terrestris fed on dung from cattle given sustained-release boluses of ivermectin and fenbendazole. Eur. J. Soil Biol. 2002;38.
- Tabak HH, Bloomhuff RN, Bunch RL. Steroid hormones as water pollutants II. Studies on the persistence and stability of natural urinary and synthetic ovulation-inhibiting hormones in untreated and treated wastewaters. Dev ind microbiol 1981;22:497-519.
- Tabak HH, Bunch RL. Steroid hormones as water pollutants. I. Metabolism of natural and synthetic ovulationinhibiting hormones by microorganisms of activated sludge and primary settler sewage. Dev ind microbiol 1970;11:367-376.
- Tarazona JV, Calow P, Montforts MHMM, Herrchen M, Luttik R, Wester P, Jones R. Report on the ecological risk assessment of chemicals. Appendix 5 in: SSC, The future of risk assessment in the European Union. The second report on the harmonisation of risk assessment procedures. Brussels: Scientific Steering Committee, Health and Consumer Protection Directorate-General, 2003.
- Tarazona JV, Hund K, Jager T, S-Salonen M, Soares AMVM, Skaare JU, Vigui M. Standardizing chemical risk assessment, at last. Nature 2002;415:14.
- Taylor SM. Sheep-scab environmental considerations of treatment with doramectin. Veterinary Parasitology 1999;83:309-317.

Ternes TA. Special Issue on Pharmaceuticals in the Environment Science of the Total Environment 1999;225.

- Thiele-Bruhn S. Pharmaceutical antibiotic compounds in soils a review. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 2003;166:145-167.
- Thorpe KL, Hutchinson TH, Hetheridge MJ, Scholze M, Sumpter JP, Tyler CR. Assessing the biological potency of binary mixtures of environmental strogens using vitellogenin induction in juvenile rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Environmental Science & Technology 2001;35:2476-2481.
- Tijmensen MJA, Van den Broek RCA, Wasser R, Kool A, De Mol RM, Hilhorst MA. Mestvergisting op boerderijschaal in bestaande opslagsystemen. ECOFYS, CLM, IMAG, The Netherlands 2002;Rapport 373002-0230.
- Tiktak A. Application of nine pesticide leaching models to the Vredepeel dataset. Pesticide fate. Agricultural Water Management 2000;44:119-134.
- TK. Milieucriteria ten aanzien van stoffen ter bescherming van bodem en grondwater, TK21021. Proceedings of the Dutch parliament 1989;21021.
- Tolls J. Sorption of pharmaceuticals in soils: a review. Environmental Science & Technology. 2001;35:3397-3406.
- Traas TP. Guidance document on deriving Environmental Risk Limits. Bilthoven, The Netherlands: National Institute of Public Health and the Environment, 2001. RIVM report 601501 012.
- Triebskorn R, Heyd A, Casper H, Köhler H-R, Ferling H, Negele R, Schwaiger J. Nephrotoxicity of the antiinflammatory drug diclofenac in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) Abstract SETAC Europe 2002;73-06.
- Tröger U. Detection of polar organic contaminants in raw water in Berlin. In: Chilton et al., (Eds), Groundwater in the Urban Environment: Problems, Processe and Management. Rotterdam, The Netherlands: Balkema, 1997. pp. 553-558.
- Turton JA, Havard AC, Robinson S, Holt DE, Andrews CM, Fagg R, Williams TC. An assessment of chloramphenicol and thiamphenicol in the induction of aplastic anaemia in the BALB/c mouse. Food and Chemical Toxicology 2000;38:925-938.
- Uffink GJM, Van der Linden AMA. Dilution of pesticides in groundwater during advective dispersive transport. Bilthoven, The Netherlands: RIVM, 1998. 716601002.
- Vaclavik E, Halling-Sørensen B, Ingerslev F. Evaluation of manometric respiration tests to assess the effects of veterinary antibiotics in soil. Chemosphere 2004;56:667-676.
- Van Beelen P, Doelman P. Significance and application of microbial toxicity tests in assessing ecotoxicological risks of contaminants in soil and sediment. Chemosphere 1997;34:455-499.
- Van Beelen P, Fleuren-Kemilä AK. A comparison between toxicity tests using singel species and a microbial process. Chemosphere 1999;38:3277-3290.
- Van Beersum C. De bezinkput, een saneringsmethode voor champignonteelt-afvalwater? Lelystad: RIZA, 1988. RIZA report 88.021.
- Van den Brink PJ, Roelsma J, Van Nes EH, Scheffer M, Brock TCM. PERPEST model, a case-based reasoning approach to predict ecological risks of pesticides. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 2002;21:2500-2506.
- Van der Hoeven N, Noppert F, Leopold A. How to measure no effect. Part I. Towards an new measure of chronic toxicity in ecotoxicology. Introduction and workshop results. Environmetrics 1997;8:241-248.
- Van der Linden AMA, Van Beek CGEM. Beoordeling van het gedrag van bestrijdingsmiddelen in de verzadigde zone van de bodem. Bilthoven: RIVM, 1999. 715801005.
- Van der Poel P, Bakker J. Emission Scenario Document for Biocides. Emission scenarios for all 23 product types of the Biocidal Products Directive (EU Directive 98/8/EC). RIVM Bilthoven The Netherlands. Report 601450009 (2002).
- Van Dijck P, van de Voorde H. Sensitivity of environmental microorganisms to antimicrobial agents. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 1976;31:332-336.
- Van Gestel CAM, Ma W. An approach to quantitative structure-activity relationships (QSARs) in earthworm toxicity studies. Chemosphere 1990;21:1023-1033.
- Van Leeuwen CJ. General introduction. In: Van Leeuwen CJ, Hermens JLM, (eds), Risk Assessment of Chemicals: An Introduction. Dordrecht/Boston/London: Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1995. pp. 1-18.
- Van Rijswick HFMW. De kwaliteit van water (The quality of water). Utrecht University, 2001. Thesis.
- Van Rijswick HFMW. EC Water Law in Transition: The Challenge of Integration. In: Anon., The Yearbook of European Environmental Law, Volume 3. Oxford University Press, 2003. pp. 249-304.
- Van Staalduinen LC, Van Zeijts H, Hoogeveen MW, Luesink HH, Van Leeuwen TC, Prins H, Groenwold JG. Het landelijk mestoverschot 2003. Methodiek en berekening. LEI The Hague The Netherlands: 2001. Reeks Milieuplanbureau 15.
- Van Straalen NM, van Gestel CAM. Soil invertebrates and micro-organisms. In: Calow P, (Editor), Handbook of ecotoxicology. Vol. 1. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific Publications, 1993. pp. 251-277.

- Van Vlaardingen PLA, De Knecht JA, Janssen PAH. Degradation of veterinary drugs in manure. In: Luttik R, Van Raaij MTM, Factsheets for the (eco)toxicological risk assessment strategy of the National Institute of Public Health and the Environment (RIVM). Bilthoven, The Netherlands: RIVM, 2001. pp. 95-102.
- Vannoort RW. 2003/04 New Zealand total diet survey analytical results Q1. New Zealand: Institute of Environmental Science and Research Limited, 2003. Client Report FW 03/77.
- Van Vlaardingen PLA, Traas TP, Wintersen AM, Aldenberg T. ETX 2.0 A Program to calculate hazardous concentrations and fraction affected, based on normally distributed toxicity data. Bilthoven, the Netherlands: RIVM, 2004. Report 601501028/2004.
- Vega MM, Carbonell G, Pablos MV, Ramos C, Fernández C, Ortiz JA, Tarazona JV. Evaluación ambiental de residuos; procinos y gestión agrícola de purines mediante el modelo informático EGPE. Invest. Agr. Prod. Sanid. Anim. 2001;16:165-180.
- Vej-Hansen B, Bundgaard H, Kreilgård B. Kinetics of degradation of oxytetracycline in aqueous solution. Arch. Pharm. Chemi. Sci. Ed. 1978;6:951-963.
- VICH. Environmental Impact Assessment (EIAs) for Veterinary Medicinal Products (VMPs) Phase I. London: CVMP/VICH, 2000. CVMP/VICH/592/98-final.
- VICH. Environmental Impact Assessment (EIAs) for Veterinary Medicinal Products (VMPs) Phase II Draft Guidance. London: CVMP/VICH, 2003. CVMP/VICH/790/03-Consultation.
- Vischetti C, Businelli M, Marini M, Capri E, Trevisan M, Del Re AAM, Donnarumma L, Conte E., Imbroglini G. Characterisation of spatial variability structure in three separate field trials on pesticide dissipation. Pesticide science 1997;50:175-182.
- VMRF. Classification of teat dips. London: Veterinary mutual recognition facilitation group, 2003. VMRF/060/03-Final.
- Wagemaker F. Aangepast voorstel risiko-evaluatie voor bestrijdingsmiddelen die gebruikt worden in de champignonteelt. Lelystad: RIZA, 1993.
- Walker FR. A fate and transport model of *Cryptosporidium* in the New York city water supply watersheds. Ithaca, USA: Cornell University, 1997.
- Walker FR, Stedinger JR. Fate and transport model of *Cryptosporidium*. Journal of Environmental Engineering. 1999;125:325-333.
- Walker MJ, Montemagno CD, Jenkins MB. Source water assessment and nonpoint sources of acutely toxic contaminants: A review of research related to survival and transport of *Cryptosporidium parvum*. Water Resources Research 1998a;34:3383-3392.
- Walker S, Diaper CJM, Bowman R, Sweeney G, Seal DV, Kirkness CM. Lack of evidence for systemic toxicity following topical chloramphenicol use. Eye 1998b;12:875-879.
- Wardhaugh KG, Rodriguez-Menendez H. The effect of the antiparasitic drug, ivermectin, on the development and survival of the dung breeding fly *Orthelia cornicia* and the scarabeine dung beetles, *Copris hispanus, Bubas bubalus and Onitis belial*. J Applied Entomology 1988;106:381-389.
- Webb SF. A data based perspective on environmental risk assessment of human pharmaceuticals III Indirect human exposure. In: Kümmerer K, (editor), Pharmaceuticals in the Environment. Berlin: Springer Verlag, 2001a. pp. 221-230.
- Webb SF. ERA of human pharmaceuticals II Aquatic risk characterisation. In: Kümmerer K, (Editor), Pharmaceuticals in the environment. Berlin: Springer Verlag, 2001b. pp. 203-219.
- Webb SF, Ternes T, Gibert M, Olejniczak K. Indirect human exposure to pharmaceuticals via drinking water. Toxicology Letters 2003;142:157-167.
- Wellborn TL. The toxicity of nine therapeutic and herbicidal compounds to striped bass. Prog. Fish Cult 1969;31:27-32.
- Wells HG, Wells GP, and Huxley J. The science of life. Garden City, New York: Doubleday; Doran & Company., 1930.
- Winckler C, Grafe A. Charakterisierung und Verwertung van Abfällen aus der Massentierhaltung unter Berücksichtigung verschiedener Böden. Stoffeintrag in Böden durch Tierarzneimittel und pharmakologisch wirksame Futterzusatzstoffe unter besonderer Berücksichtigung von Tetrazyklinen. Berlin, Germany: UBA, 2001a. UBA report 29733911 - UBA-FB 000074.
- Winckler C, Grafe A. Transfer of veterinary drugs and pharmacologically-active feed additives into soil with special consideration of tetracyclines executive summary. Journal of soils and sediments 2001b;1:58-62.
- Winckler C, Grafe A. Use of veterinary drugs in intensive animal production: evidence for persistence of tetracycline in pig slurry. Journal of soils and sediments 2001c;1:66-70.
- Winkler R. Konzept zur Bewertung des Eintrags von Pflanzenschutzmitteln in Oberflächen- und Grundwasser unter besonderer Berücksichtigung des Oberflächenabflusses (Dokumentation zum Modell EXPOSIT). Berlin, Germany: Umweltbundesamt, 2001. 27.09.2001.
- Wösten MAD, Blok J, Van de Plassche E. International Environmental Quality Standard Setting. Nijmegen: RIVM / Royal Haskoning, 2001. H1757.AO/R0007/EVDP/TL.

- Wratten SD, Forbes AB. Environmental assessment of veterinary avermectins in temperate pastoral ecosystems. Ann. Appl. Biol. 1996;128.
- WRc-NSF. The development of a model for estimating the environmental concentration (PECs) of Veterinary medicines in soil following manure spreading. London, UK.: MAFF, 2000. VM0295.

WRc-NSF (2001) VetPec. Veterinary Medicines Directorate, UK.

Würgler FE, Kramers PGN. Environmental effects of genotoxins (eco-genotoxicology). Mutagenesis 1992;7:321-327.

- Zahn JA, Anhalt J, Boyd E. Evidence of transfer of tylosin and tylosin-resistant bacteria in air from swine production facilities using sub-therapeutic concentrations of tylan in feed. J. Anim. Sci. 2001;79 (Suppl. 1):189.
- Zeeman M. Environmental considerations for minor use animal drugs. Veterinary and human toxicology 1987;29:22-24.
- Zondek B, Sulman F. Inactivation of estrone and diethylstilbestrol by micro-organisms. Endocrinology 1943;33:204-208.
- Zuidema M, Klein AE. Bacteriële antibiotische resistentie en bodemkwaliteit. The Hague: Technische Commissie Bodembescherming, 1993. TCB R01.

Synopsis

Chapter 1

1. Veterinary medicines are pharmacologically active substances. This property categorises them under substances that are denoted as pesticides or biocides. Likewise, the use of veterinary medicines caused environmental damage comparable to the use of pesticides and biocides.

Chapter 2

- 2. The collection of protection goals, exposure and effect models, and the conventions to apply and harmonise their results constitutes a risk model. The risk model is a tool to make scientific assessments of the environmental risks of the use of veterinary medicines. The selection of hazard based criteria (thus not based on the risk of the use of the veterinary medicine) that trigger formal risk assessment is also part of the risk model and hence part of the scientific domain.
- 3. Present European legislation regulating the registration of veterinary medicines does not specify environmental protection goals. The risk model employed at the registration of veterinary medicines does not systematically address all environmental concerns identified in EU environmental legislation. The neglect of the risk to surface water and in particular to groundwater is a structural error in the risk model.

Chapter 3

- 4. Actual excretion profiles of residues in dung from grazing animals provide reliable input for modelling of concentrations of veterinary medicines excreted in dung. Contaminated dung may act as an ecological trap for dung dependent species, it attracts invertebrates without providing them the opportunity for reproduction. Population models need to be developed for indicator species in dynamic agro-ecosystems, taking different reproduction strategies and dependency relationships into account.
- 5. Variation in common agricultural practices with respect to slurry storage time and the use of slurry on land throughout the year gives rise to a variation in soil exposure concentrations within two orders of magnitude.

Chapter 4

6. The original exposure assessment model suggested for concentrations in soil suggested is not worst case. Dilution of residues by clean slurry and degradation during storage are the main parameters that control the concentrations of residues in slurry. Environmental parameters that control degradation of residues in slurry, like temperature and oxygen

levels, are highly variable in the field. No degradation of residues represents a realistic worst case. Concentrations on slurry should be related to a realistic time frame in which the contaminated slurry is produced and diluted in order to optimise the worst case predictions.

- 7. Distribution of slurry in the field generates a considerable spatial variability. Actual concentrations may be an order of magnitude above or below the averaged concentration.
- 8. The complete slurry-soil distribution model cannot be validated by merely field soil measurements, due to the complexity and variability of all environmental and agricultural parameters involved.
- 9. Realistic worst case conditions for protective risk assessment are hence proposed in a simple scenario assuming a single treatment per animal place, standard European nitrogen production values, a manure production volume of 1 month (30 days) containing the full residue, and a nitrogen application rate of 600 kg N/ha/year in one time onto agricultural land, which is distributed over 5 cm soil with a bulk density of 1500 kg.m⁻³, no dissipation during storage, and no after-treatment of slurry. If the exposure calculation in Phase I according to this scenario fails the trigger for further testing, safe use in all member states is possible.
- 10. Realistic best case conditions, characterising a possible safe use in vulnerable areas under the Nitrate Directive in the European Union, are created in a scenario assuming active incorporation of slurry into 20 cm of soil, at a nitrogen application rate of 170 kg N/ha/year in one time. If the trigger were exceeded, then a phase II assessment would be compulsory for all member states. Further assessments should be made at the member state level, since environmental concerns can be a reason to refuse (mutual recognition of) marketing authorisation.
- 11. The original surface water and groundwater distribution models are not founded on empirical data or on physical relationships. Consequently, trigger values for aquatic risk assessment following spreading of slurry to soil, based on substance properties, are not justified. The simple fact that the groundwater and surface water exposure methodology applied at the registration of plant protection products encompasses the same agricultural fields that are relevant for manure application predestines these models and scenarios to be applicable to residues spread by manure as well. In areas with intensive animal husbandry and manure surplus, simplified regional scale modelling of surface water contamination over larger time windows may well prove to be sufficiently protective.
- 12. Settlement tanks for coarse soil particles in wash water do not contribute to the removal of pesticide from the total load in water phase.
- 13. For the aquatic risk assessment of the use of veterinary medicines in aquaculture the worst-case environmental exposure levels are to be expected at the therapeutic concentrations in the fish tank.

Chapter 5

- 14. For the underpinning of the value of the soil concentration trigger a reference dataset was used. The terrestrial ecosystem was not investigated in great detail, both with respect to the representation of test species and with respect to the selection of testing conditions and endpoints. Not all information that was available was presented.
- 15. Resistance development occurs already at the Minimum Effect Concentration (MEC) at which growth is reduced, which is tenfold below the Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC), the endpoint used to derive the trigger under discussion. This indicates that at the MIC level used in the reference dataset, a selection pressure for resistance development is present.
- 16. For the underpinning of the value of the soil concentration trigger, the case that sorption reduces bioavailability, hence removing the need for assessment factors, has not been argued correctly. In the derivation of the value of the soil concentration trigger, the effect values have not been corrected for the argued influence of test conditions compared to standard conditions, or for the relative molar weight of the tested substance.
- 17. The concept of functional redundancy does not provide an argument to refrain from using assessment factors to extrapolate laboratory results with model species to vulnerable species.
- 18. For the underpinning of the value of the soil concentration trigger, the case that degradation in the field may mitigate effects, hence removing the need for assessment factors, has not been argued correctly. Not only may degradation have been reflected in the test result, also the risk may be increased due to persistency of the substance.
- 19. For the underpinning of the value of the soil concentration trigger, harmonisation with protection levels in water and groundwater was not observed. A soil trigger that is not harmonised with protection levels for water might result in violation of water quality standards.
- 20. Based on a statistical analysis of the reference data set, there is 45% likelihood that a substance represented by the reference data set will affect plant species and 80% likelihood that bacterial species are affected. The soil trigger is not even protective for the substances in the dataset under discussion.
- 21. For a hypothetical substance, with a mode of action covered in the reference data set under discussion, and a strong preference for the water phase, the predicted MIC depends on the molar mass and will typically range between 1 and 15 μ g/kg. The trigger for antibiotics can be based on other experimental bacterial test results, yielding no-effectlevels at 100, 30, 28, 16, 4, or 2 μ g/l, depending on the preference for a given community process, a specific single species, an certain inoculum density, or a specific endpoint.
- 22. For the underpinning of the value of the soil concentration trigger, the representation of different mode of actions of veterinary medicines was acknowledged to be insufficient to set a trigger for parasiticides administered to grazing animals. The trigger value is however applied to these and other ill-represented compounds, spread with slurry. More information and more discriminating properties are needed to allow for a case based

reasoning for a soil concentration trigger that extends from substances with identified common characteristics to substances that yet have to be developed.

Chapter 6

- 23. The technical guidance documents on the environmental risk assessment contain environmental protection goals and acceptability standards. Unlike the protection goals and standards codified in the directives on feed additives, biocides and pesticides, the goals and standards for veterinary medicines have not been subject to regulatory and political scrutiny. Since scientists developed the technical guidance documents, regulatory powers have been unobtrusively transferred to the scientific community. Implementation of the ERA procedure is an act that will have legal consequences for stakeholders (producers, users, and third parties). Formalisation of the contents and the procedure should be transparent and open to input by regulators, scientists, industry and other interested parties.
- 24. Registration authorities and scientific panels should reflect in their composition the fact that environmental concerns are to be taken into account in the risk/benefit profile.
- 25. Not all veterinary medicines are subjected to an environmental risk assessment at registration.
- 26. A positive opinion on the environmental risk at registration is by no means a charter for the use of the product with respect to liabilities set by environmental legislation to the emission of residues.
- 27. Communautarian decision-making criteria together with their levels of acceptability are needed. These will provide a solid basis for the implementation of the existing risk assessment methodologies, and subsequently help to clarify the (compulsory) data requirements and (realistic) risk mitigation measures. These five elements (criteria, standards, methodology, data requirements, and mitigation measures) will then provide a reference for deciding on the environmental acceptability, both for the producers and for the decision-makers.

Chapter 7

28. The registration framework has created an obligation for applicant and authority to assess the environmental risk of both the use and the disposal of the product. Potential risks arising from indirect exposure, i.e. by the spreading of contaminated matrices such as dung and manure, are within the scope of the EU Directive 2001/82/EC. At the European level, the CVMP is competent to make those scientific and technical assessments on which the marketing authorisation depends. At national level national scientific bodies are. The scientific body may decide what information is to be generated and when the assessment is conclusive on the risk/benefit profile. The dossier, to be delivered by the applicant, should contain all the information needed to perform the assessment, else the authorisation shall be withheld. Doubts on the acceptability of environmental risks constitute a reason to deny (mutual) recognition of a marketing authorisation. The alternative option is to mitigate the risk to an acceptable level by special precautions in the information that accompanies the product.

- 29. Precautions are not legally binding through the Directive 2001/82/EC on its own. In that sense, no precaution can be considered an effective risk reduction measure. National legislation concerning the veterinary practice must turn these recommendations into legal injunctions, in order to make the precautions work. This is realised under the Dutch legislation. Precautions can then be used to control the fate of the treated animal and the manure containing excreted residues, provided the legal person addressed is the keeper of the treated animals. The Dutch legislation at hand does not transfer precautions regarding the treated animals and the manure to third parties. The solution to these shortcomings is to include a transfer of responsibilities, either in the precautions themselves or in the national legislation, to second and third parties, and to prohibit both trade and use of the animals and manure in the precautions during the time that the precaution is operative.
- 30. Precautions are only acceptable under the Directive if their potential effect can be demonstrated using the risk assessment methodology. The flexibility of the risk assessment methodology to deal with temporal and spatial differentiation in exposure should be improved accordingly.
- 31. With respect to liabilities set by environmental legislation to the emission of residues to soil, water and groundwater, alternative solutions to the use of precautions in the product information may be found in establishing precautions in permits, or in codes of Good Agricultural Practices, issued in these legislative frameworks. Inevitably, the scientific and juridical underpinning of the precautions in these frameworks should be as meticulous as in the framework of registration, and will also require a flexible risk assessment methodology to quantify the impact of temporal and spatial differentiation of residue emissions.

Validatie van de Europese milieurisicobeoordeling voor diergeneesmiddelen

Samenvatting

Diergeneesmiddelen en risico's voor het milieu

In de loop van de jaren zestig werd een verband gelegd tussen het gebruik van landbouwbestrijdingsmiddelen en de achteruitgang van de roofvogelstand. Ook waren er meldingen van massale sterfte van vogels ten gevolge van het gebruik van met bestrijdingsmiddelen behandeld zaad en lokmiddelen voor knaagdieren. De overheid reageerde hierop met een verbod op het gebruik van verschillende middelen, en met de invoering van een beoordeling van het risico voor het milieu bij de registratie van bestrijdingsmiddelen. Enkele incidenten met vogels en vissen waren echter te wijten aan het gebruik van diergeneesmiddelen.

Diergeneesmiddelen zijn middelen die in potentie ziekte bij dieren kunnen genezen of afwenden, of middelen die gebruikt kunnen worden om ziekten vast te stellen, of om lichaamsfuncties te beïnvloeden. Wanneer we ons beperken tot de chemische stoffen, dan kunnen we vaststellen dat we te maken hebben met een groep van stoffen die biologisch actief is. Duidelijk is dat een deel van de stoffen die gebruikt worden om parasieten te bestrijden, ook in gebruik is als bestrijdingsmiddel. Daarnaast blijken diverse families van chemische verbindingen zowel diergeneesmiddelen als bestrijdingsmiddelen te omvatten. Een recent voorbeeld betreft de dramatische achteruitgang van populaties van verschillende soorten gieren in Pakistan aan het einde van jaren negentig, waardoor deze met uitsterven bedreigd worden. Deze achteruitgang kan verklaard worden door het gebruik van een ontstekingsremmer in runderen. Dit diergeneesmiddel is bij de concentratie die bij zoogdieren therapeutisch is, al dodelijk voor deze aaseters.

De Europese Unie streeft een hoge kwaliteit van het milieu na, zoals verwoord in het Verdrag van Europa. Er is daarom voldoende reden voor het uitvoeren van een risicobeoordeling voor het milieu bij de registratie van diergeneesmiddelen. Risicobeoordeling voor het milieu is een wetenschappelijke activiteit, waarbij onderzocht wordt welke mogelijke schade een activiteit of een handeling aan het milieu kan toebrengen. Daarbij wordt informatie over eigenschappen en de wijze van gebruik van het geneesmiddel bijeengebracht, zodat een nieuw soort informatie ontstaat: een schatting van de kans op, en de ernst van, effecten. In de praktijk wordt gezocht naar het niveau van blootstelling, of concentratie, waarbij geen effecten meer optreden. In feite wordt dus een 'geen-effect' concentratie gezocht en een 'geen-risico' beoordeling uitgevoerd. Daarbij wordt de risicobeoordeling doorgaans zo uitgevoerd, dat in eerste instantie zoveel mogelijk onzekerheid en variatie wordt afgedekt. Op deze wijze kan men er zeker van zijn, dat een toepassing die leidt tot een blootsteling die lager is dan de concentratie van 'geen-effect', niet verder onderzocht hoeft te worden. Is hieraan niet voldaan, dan zal de risicobeoordeling met inachtneming van meer informatie over blootstelling en effecten moeten worden herhaald, totdat het risico aanvaardbaar wordt geacht.

Voordat diergeneesmiddelen verhandeld en gebruikt mogen worden in de Europese Unie, moeten ze geregistreerd worden. Bij de registratie worden kwaliteit, veiligheid en werkzaamheid van het middel nauwkeurig beoordeeld. Het risico voor het milieu is een van de onderdelen van deze beoordeling. Het milieu wordt beschouwd als een verzameling van compartimenten, zoals water, bodem, grondwater en lucht, en organismen, zoals planten, dieren, en bacteriën. Het milieu wordt op verschillende manieren blootgesteld aan diergeneesmiddelen en het kan op verschillende manieren op deze blootstelling reageren. Ten behoeve van deze risicobeoordeling is er een wetenschappelijke beoordelingsmethodiek voorhanden, die is vastgelegd in een aantal leidraden.

De vraag is nu voor welke milieucompartimenten, op welke wijze en met welke nauwkeurigheid, deze risicobeoordeling uitgevoerd moet worden. Dit onderzoek wordt validatie genoemd. Valideren van een methode of een model levert inzicht op in de betekenis van de risicovoorspellingen.

Ten eerste zijn daar de rekenkundige modellen waarmee blootstellingconcentraties worden berekend. Deze modellen kunnen beoordeeld worden op de wijze waarop zij geconstrueerd zijn, wat hun vermogen bepaalt om de werkelijkheid na te bootsen, of op de wijze waarop de relevante processen wiskundig benaderd worden, maar ook door proefondervindelijke resultaten te vergelijken met de voorspellingen. Indien modelvoorspellingen weinig nauwkeurig of beperkt relevant zijn, moeten de resultaten met grote voorzichtigheid gebruikt worden. Testen met organismen in het laboratorium zijn in feite ook modellen. Er kan slechts een beperkt aantal soorten getest worden; daarom dienen deze soorten alle andere organismen in het milieu te vertegenwoordigen. Daarnaast is men ingeval van het milieu niet zozeer bezorgd om de effecten op individuen, maar om de invloed op populaties en het functioneren van het grotere geheel van het ecosysteem. Deze samenhang is niet aanwezig in eenvoudige laboratoriumproeven, waarvan de uitkomsten gepaard gaan met grote onzekerheden.

Ten tweede is daar het proces van de uitvoering van de beoordeling en de daarbijbehorende afspraken over het gebruik van gegevens en interpretatiewijzen van de grote verzameling van modeluitkomsten. Aangezien er vele soorten van gebruik van diergeneesmiddelen zijn, bij vele soorten doeldieren, zijn er ook diverse routes van blootstelling en verspreiding. In samenhang met een verscheidenheid aan beschermdoelen (denk bijvoorbeeld aan de kwaliteit van oppervlaktewater, sediment, grondwater, drinkwater, en bodem, de bescherming van soorten en van gebieden) zal de methodologie van de risicobeoordeling bij registratie bestaan uit een verzameling beschermdoelen, normen, aannames, rekenregels en conventies. Dit noem ik het risicomodel; het model dat het risico van het gebruik van diergeneesmiddelen voorspelt. Dit model moet worden toegepast bij de registratie en de uitkomsten moeten worden begrepen. Deze interpretatie van het risico wordt vervolgens gebruikt bij de besluitvorming.

Bij de interpretatie van het risico komen de wereld van de wetenschap en die van het beleid bijeen. Op vragen als: 'Wat moet beschermd worden?' 'Hoeveel risico is aanvaardbaar?' en 'Welke rol speelt de wetenschap bij de besluitvorming?' kan de

risicobeoordeling geen antwoord geven. Het moge duidelijk zijn dat het antwoord op deze vragen aan de basis van de risicovoorspelling moet liggen, en niet omgekeerd. Het zou ideaal zijn als het antwoord in de samenspraak van wetenschap en beleid ontwikkeld wordt.

Zoals hierboven aangegeven, zijn er wetenschappelijke leidraden beschikbaar die de toepassing van het risicomodel ondersteunen en die in het registratieproces gehanteerd worden. De ontwikkeling van deze leidraden en het gebruik van de risicoinformatie, de toepasselijkheid van het risicomodel voor het milieu, de betekenis van de resultaten van de blootstellingmodellen en de rol van gebruiksvoorschriften op de bijsluiter van het diergeneesmiddel in de risicobeheersing, vormen het onderwerp van dit proefschrift. Meer concreet waren de vraagstellingen de volgende:

- 1) Over de overeenstemming tussen beschermdoelen en risicomodel.
 - a) Welke beschermdoelen zouden beoordeeld moeten worden?
 - b) Richt het risicomodel zich op deze beschermdoelen?
- 2) Over de validatie van de rekenmodellen en de gebruiksvoorschriften.
 - a) Zijn de blootstellingmodellen voor water bij gebruik in de viskweek, voor mest bij gebruik in grazers, en voor bodem en water bij gebruik in de intensieve veehouderij, deugdelijk onderbouwd en toegepast?
 - b) Is de drempelwaarde voor de bodemconcentratie, die gebaseerd is op effectgegevens, functioneel en deugdelijk onderbouwd?
 - c) Kan de effectiviteit van gebruiksvoorschriften met het oog op risicobeheersing worden aangetoond met de beschikbare modellen?
- 3) Over het van gebruik wetenschap in het kader van de productregistratie.
 - a) Wordt de wetenschap inzichtelijk en onpartijdig toegepast in de ontwikkeling van de risicobeoordelingsmethodologie, en in het besluitvormingsproces bij productregistratie?

Deze vragen zullen nu achtereenvolgens behandeld worden.

De overeenstemming tussen beschermdoelen en risicomodel

Het risicomodel dat gebruikt wordt bij de registratiebeoordeling bestaat uit een aantal fasen en stappen. De eerste fase is beperkt tot een verkenning van enkele belangrijke eigenschappen van het diergeneesmiddel en een berekening van de blootstelling. Hoewel in principe elke blootstelling een zekere schade kan opleveren, is een met wetenschappelijke redenen omklede drempelwaarde voor de concentratie in de bodem vastgesteld, waaronder een risicobeoordeling niet noodzakelijk wordt geacht. In het risicomodel is daardoor het milieu in eerste instantie beperkt tot het compartiment bodem.

Uit mijn analyse blijkt dat het risicomodel voor de risicobeoordeling niet gefundeerd is op gemeenschappelijke Europese beschermdoelen, maar dat de beschermdoelen geformuleerd zijn vanuit de overeenkomsten tussen de beschermdoelen in de Verenigde Staten, Japan en de Europese Unie. De bescherming van grondwater en oppervlaktewater weegt niet even zwaar in deze drie regio's. Het belang dat de EU hecht aan de bescherming van grondwater en oppervlaktewater, zoals vastgelegd in Europese wetgeving, is onvoldoende onderkend in de voorbereidingen van de leidraden, en vervolgens ook niet in de uitvoeringspraktijk in Europa. Er ontstaat een probleem wanneer de beoordelingsprocedure voor de registratie wordt geharmoniseerd op een internationaal niveau, terwijl lokale of regionale autoriteiten verantwoordelijk zijn voor het bereiken en handhaven van de gewenste milieukwaliteit. De beoordeling bij registratie zal onvoldoende functioneren als een filter ten dienste van het milieukwaliteitsbeleid, en het bevoegde gezag zal ter plekke de emissie van diergeneesmiddelen moeten beperken middels vergunningen omdat de milieuwetgeving op het gebied van de waterkwaliteit dit vereist. Niettegenstaande het gegeven dat de registratiewetgeving geen milieuwetgeving is, moeten beschermdoelen, normen en methodologie tussen deze toelatings- en milieubeschermings-kaders in overeenstemming met elkaar zijn. Ik ben van mening dat het niet beoordelen van de blootstelling van grondwater in de eerste fase van het risicomodel een conceptuele fout in het risicomodel is. Immers, wanneer in de eerste fase de concentratie in de bodem beneden de drempelwaarde wordt berekend, stopt de risicobeoordeling. De blootstelling van grondwater en oppervlaktewater hebben geen rol gespeeld bij het vaststellen van de drempelwaarde in de bodem. De drempelwaarde is niet geharmoniseerd met de beschermingsniveaus voor water en grondwater. Een bodemconcentratie beneden de drempelwaarde kan dus risico opleveren voor het grond- en oppervlaktewater, die immers in contact staan met de bodem.

Op basis van de bescherming die Europese wetgeving biedt aan grondwater en oppervlaktewater, is het hanteren van dit risicomodel naar mijn mening onjuist, temeer omdat in deze wetgeving voor enkele stofgroepen, waartoe diergeneesmiddelen ook kunnen behoren, al normen opgenomen zijn. De Gezondheidsraad heeft de overheid geadviseerd geneesmiddelen op een vergelijkbare wijze als bestrijdingsmiddelen te behandelen, en volgens het Nederlandse beleid betekent dat, dat de concentratie in het grondwater niet hoger dan 0,1 microgram per liter mag zijn. Deze concentratie kan al bereikt worden indien enkele grammen per hectare op het land gebracht worden. Het gebruik van een geregistreerd diergeneesmiddel zou daarmee een aanvaardbaar risico voor de bodem kunnen hebben, maar desondanks in strijd zijn met de waterkwaliteitswetgeving.

Validatie van blootstellingmodellen en gebruiksvoorschriften

De beoordeling van de blootstelling start met het gebruik van het middel: hoe wordt het middel gebruikt, met welke frequentie, wat komt er vrij bij gebruik of na uitscheiding door de dieren? De emissie is het startpunt van de modellering van de verspreiding, de verdeling, de ophoping en de afbraak door en in de milieucompartimenten die met elkaar in verbinding staan.

De vraag die bij validatie gesteld wordt is in hoeverre het gehanteerde model deugdelijk en toepasselijk is. We hebben er immers mee te maken dat het onmogelijk is om alle processen die in de werkelijkheid plaatsvinden, in het model te vangen. Een model is per definitie een vereenvoudiging, en deze vereenvoudiging levert onzekerheid op over de nauwkeurigheid en de toepasselijkheid van de voorspellingen. De modellen bestaan in feite uit rekenregels en variabele of constante grootheden. Een grootheid heeft een waarde met een eenheid (of dimensie) die gekozen moet worden uit de werkelijkheid die het model beschrijft. De waarden worden gekozen uit specifieke bereiken die typisch zijn voor de situatie die het model dient te beschrijven. Bij de keuze van de waarde hebben we dus te maken met een zekere variabiliteit. In plaats van een waarde te selecteren, kan een model met behulp van kansberekeningen gebruik maken van het volledige bereik van waarden. Het model levert dan een verdeling van uitkomsten op, die inzicht geeft in het spectrum van mogelijke gevolgen. Welke modelbenadering ook gevolgd wordt, het is belangrijk dat bij het gebruik van modeluitkomsten duidelijk is hoe valide deze zijn in het licht van het oorspronkelijke doel.

De uitdaging is om die waarde te kiezen, in samenhang met de keuze die voor andere waarden gemaakt moet worden, waardoor het model een voorspelling levert die het doel dient. De verzameling van waarden voor de landbouw- en milieukundige grootheden die samen een relevante modelsituatie vormen, noemen we een scenario. Afhankelijk van de onzekerheid in de waarden, de variabiliteit in de werkelijkheid en de complexiteit van de modellen, representeert de combinatie van een scenario en een model een deel van de werkelijkheid, en bevatten de uitkomsten een (on)zekere onnauwkeurigheid.

Voor de blootstellingbeoordeling van oppervlaktewater door viskwekerijen, van mest van grazers en van bodem en water door het uitrijden van gier met daarin resten van diergeneesmiddelen, heb ik een aantal modellen ontwikkeld en deze samen met bestaande modellen vergeleken en gevalideerd.

De kweek van vis in Nederland vindt voornamelijk plaats in bedrijven met kweekbakken. Van geneesmiddelen die toegevoegd worden aan het water of aan het voer, kunnen resten het milieu bereiken via het afvalwater. Concentraties in het milieu worden daarom bepaald door de concentratie in het afvalwater, het volume van het afvalwater, de verdunning door uitstroom in het ontvangende oppervlaktewater, en de aan- of afwezigheid van waterzuivering. De concentratie in het afvalwater hangt af van de dosering, de opname en uitscheiding van de stoffen door de vissen, de afbraak in de kweekbakken, de wijze waarop de kweekbakken ververst worden en de wijze waarop het afvalwater behandeld wordt. Afhankelijk van de eigenschappen van het geneesmiddel speelt de aanwezigheid van bezinkers, filters en rioolwaterzuivering een grote rol.

Een bezinker is bedoeld om organische resten en slibvlokken af te vangen, waardoor het water hergebruikt kan worden en het afvalwater minder belastend voor het milieu is. In het model is de retentie van opgeloste diergeneesmiddelen in de bezinker gebaseerd op een interpretatie van gegevens van bestrijdingsmiddelen die in de champignonkweek en de bloembollenteelt gebruikt worden. Bij nadere beschouwing van deze gegevens is gebleken dat de interpretatie dat de helft van de opgeloste bestrijdingsmiddelen in de bezinker achterbleef, onjuist was. Daarnaast is het bezinksel in de viskweek, dat voornamelijk uit organisch materiaal bestaat, niet vergelijkbaar met bezinksel uit de champignon- of bloembollenteelt, dat voornamelijk uit minerale delen bestaat. Afhankelijk van de stofeigenschappen kunnen concentraties van een diergeneesmiddel in het oppervlaktewater met een factor 30 verlaagd worden door afvoer via een rioolwaterzuivering.

Tenslotte is de menging tussen afvalwater en ontvangend oppervlaktewater van belang. Indien er weinig stroming is, kan er weinig verdunning optreden. Meetgegevens bij een tropische viskwekerij tonen aan dat er sprake is van een verdunning met slechts een factor 2.

Deze gegevens in aanmerking nemend, heb ik moeten concluderen dat het door mij voorgestelde model niet verantwoord is. Als een eerste stap in de beoordeling moet de concentratie in het milieu gelijkgesteld worden aan de (therapeutische) concentratie in de kweekbakken. Voor een verdere beoordeling is het noodzakelijk dat het blootstellingmodel wordt gebaseerd op een representatieve procesbeschrijving.

Het tweede voorbeeld betreft residuen van diergeneesmiddelen in mest van grazende dieren. Dergelijke residuen kunnen grote invloed hebben op de mestfauna. Er zijn ongeveer 250 soorten geleedpotigen bekend die afhankelijk zijn van mest, als voedselbron of als verblijfplaats van prooidieren. Daarnaast is er een scala aan wormen, nematoden, schimmels en bacteriën aangewezen op mest, en diverse vogels en zoogdieren zijn deels aangewezen op de insecten die aangetrokken worden door en voortkomen uit de mest³⁷. Voor de concentratie in de mest was in de eerste leidraad een drempelwaarde van 10 microgram per kilogram voorgesteld voor de verdere risicobeoordeling. De berekening van deze concentratie was daarvoor cruciaal. Bij een vergelijking met veldwaarnemingen bleek dat de voorgestelde rekenwijze veel te hoge concentraties gaf, waardoor deze in ieder geval beschermend was. Met behulp van een eenvoudig model waarin de uitscheiding als functie van de tijd berekend werd, kon ik voorspellingen doen van concentraties in de mest op gegeven momenten, die redelijk nauwkeurig overeenstemden met de meetgegevens.

Het derde voorbeeld betreft de verspreiding van diergeneesmiddelen met het inwerken van gier in de bodem. Deze emissieroute van de gier van de intensieve veehouderij via de bodem naar water is onmiskenbaar een belangrijke route, maar ook een ingewikkelde. Gezien de vele soorten doeldieren, mest, opslag, en bemestingsschema's, stel ik voor gebruik te maken van een model met gekozen waarden zonder volledige kansverdelingen, met scenario's toegesneden op verschillende doeldieren. De belangrijkste argumenten voor deze keuze zijn de inzichtelijkheid van deze scenario's, naast het gebrek aan beschikbare informatie om zinvol met kansverdelingen te rekenen.

Uit een vergelijking van de beschikbare modellen is gebleken dat de keuze van het aantal momenten dat gier uitgereden wordt een grote invloed heeft op de concentratie van het geneesmiddel in de bodem. Afhankelijk van de afbreekbaarheid van het diergeneesmiddel zijn verschillen in voorspelde concentraties in de bodem van een factor 40 te verwachten. Vergeleken met gemeten concentraties in mestkelders bleken de voorspellingen van het

³⁷ (Putman, 1983; De Bok, 1997; Jagers op Akkerhuis and Siepel, 2001; Anonymous, 2001; ARKive, 2001)

model van de leidraad niet toereikend. De modellen die ik heb voorgesteld slaagden hier beter in, maar niet in alle gevallen. De afspraken over de hoeveelheid mest die op het land gebracht wordt, blijken van groot belang te zijn. Als er veel tijd is tussen het moment van toedienen van het diergeneesmiddel en het moment van uitrijden, is het residu sterk verdund, of verregaand afgebroken. In de modellen mag de tijd tussen toediening en uitrijden daarom niet te groot gekozen worden. Ook is aan het licht gekomen dat de omstandigheden voor afbraak van een diergeneesmiddel in een opslagbekken een bijzonder grote variatie kennen. De verschillen in temperatuur, zuurgraad, en gehalte aan zuurstof, vocht en voedingsstoffen binnen opslagsystemen en tussen opslagsystemen zijn groot, en de invloed op de omzetting hiervan is onbekend. Het gevolg is dat het onduidelijk is hoe afbraak in de gier gemodelleerd moet worden, en welke situatie als realistische 'worst case' zou moeten worden aangemerkt.

Vergelijkingen tussen gemeten concentraties van een diergeneesmiddel in de bodem lieten zien, dat concentraties in de bodem met wel een factor 30 kunnen variëren. Deze variatie is niet te vermijden. De berekende concentraties gaan echter uit van een gelijkmatige verdeling, die in de helft van het areaal 1 tot 10 keer lager kan zijn dan de werkelijke concentratie. Door te rekenen met een gemiddelde concentratie kunnen risico's onderschat worden. Het risico ten gevolge van een hogere concentratie op de ene plek wordt immers niet gecompenseerd door de lagere concentratie op een andere plek.

Meetresultaten van concentraties diergeneesmiddelen in drainagewater en bodemwater, nadat deze met gier op het land gebracht waren, bleken niet voorspelbaar te zijn met de eenvoudige modellen die beschikbaar waren. Daarom heb ik voorgesteld gebruik te maken van het modelinstrumentarium voor de beoordeling van gewasbeschermingsmiddelen; niet alleen beschrijven deze de transportprocessen in groter detail, maar deze modellen beschikken ook over scenario's voor combinaties van bodemgesteldheid en klimaat, die relevant zijn voor stoffen die over akkers verspreid worden.

Ten behoeve van de beoordeling op Europees niveau, heb ik voorgesteld de blootstellingberekening voor de bodem na toepassing van diergeneesmiddelen bij gestalde dieren te beperken tot de verspreiding van een eenmalige dosis van het diergeneesmiddel, zonder afbraak, in de totale mestproductie van 30 dagen met een vastgesteld gehalte aan stikstof, over een bodemlaag van 5 centimeter landbouwgrond. Als 'worst case' aanname wordt een hoeveelheid gier gelijk aan 600 kilogram stikstof per hectare uitgereden. Indien de berekende concentratie in de bodem beneden de drempelwaarde is, dan is het gebruik van het diergeneesmiddel aanvaardbaar in alle EU landen. Is dat niet zo, dan wordt de berekening herhaald met een verdeling over een bodemlaag van 20 centimeter en een vracht van 170 kilogram stikstof per hectare. Indien de drempelwaarde nog steeds wordt overschreden, is een verdere risicobeoordeling noodzakelijk voor alle EU landen, zo niet, dan zal op het niveau van de lidstaat de beoordeling uitgevoerd moeten worden.

Opmerkelijk is dat het quotiënt van de jaarconsumptie van antibiotica (circa 400 ton) en het totale areaal aan landbouwgrond in Nederland, ongeveer dezelfde bodemconcentratie oplevert als het model van de leidraad. In Nederland wordt méér mest geproduceerd wordt dan er feitelijk plaatsingsruimte is op het land. In deze situatie, waarbij het voorkomen van diergeneesmiddelen in mest blijkbaar net zo algemeen is als het voorkomen van stikstof of bacteriën, zou de risicobeoordeling voor de grotere watergangen op regionaal niveau gedaan kunnen worden. Het voordeel hiervan is dat gebruik gemaakt kan worden van modellen die de blootstelling van oppervlaktewater in stroomgebieden nabootsen.

Wanneer een risico voor het milieu is vastgesteld, staan er twee mogelijkheden open voor de besluitvormer: de toelating afwijzen, of maatregelen treffen die het risico verminderen tot een aanvaardbaar niveau. De laatste optie bestaat in de praktijk uit het opnemen van speciale aanwijzingen op de bijsluiter en verpakking van het middel. Diegene die het middel gebruikt is verplicht deze voorschriften te volgen, mits deze persoon daar redelijkerwijs toe in staat is. Voorschriften betreffende de behandelde dieren of verontreinigde mest missen hun uitwerking indien de veearts het middel toedient, omdat deze noch het lot van de dieren noch dat van de mest bepaalt. Daardoor blijft de veearts formeel buiten schot. Als de eigenaar van de dieren of de mest de middelen toedient, is deze wel gehouden aan de betreffende voorschriften. Als de eigenaar de dieren of de mest verkoopt, is de derde partij echter opnieuw tot niets verplicht. Zodra een van deze situaties aan de orde is, is het voorschrift geen effectieve maatregel, omdat in dat geval het milieu onverminderd blootgesteld wordt.

Een andere beperking van voorschriften op een bijsluiter betreft de verplichting dat alle informatie op de bijsluiter moet worden gestaafd door het dossier. Maatregelen waarvan het effect niet aangetoond kan worden door de modelberekeningen, zijn niet in overeenstemming met de bepalingen in de wet. Zo kan het effect van de mogelijke afbraak van een diergeneesmiddel in de mest door een verplichting de mest tijdelijk op te slaan, niet worden uitgerekend, omdat in de scenario's geen waarden voorhanden zijn voor de parameters die de afbraak controleren. Evenmin kan het effect van een verplichting de mest niet binnen een afstand van 10 meter van de slootkant uit te rijden niet aangetoond worden, omdat geen van de beschikbare modellen dit kan uitrekenen. Bij het opstellen van een risicobeoordeling en het voorstellen van voorschriften dient dus rekening gehouden te worden met deze haken en ogen, om te voorkomen dat oneigenlijke maatregelen opgenomen worden of dat technisch zinvolle maatregelen hun uitwerking missen.

De rol van de wetenschap in het proces van registratie

Wetenschap en beleid zijn met elkaar verbonden door een groot aantal geschreven en ongeschreven spelregels. Voor zover het de Europese registratie van diergeneesmiddelen betreft, zijn beleidsmatige, uitvoerende en wetenschappelijke verantwoordelijkheden gescheiden. De Europese Commissie, de Raad, en het Parlement zijn verantwoordelijk voor beleid en regelgeving. Het Europese Geneesmiddelenbureau behandelt de aanvraag en is daarmee verantwoordelijk voor de uitvoering. Het Comité voor geneesmiddelen voor diergeneeskundig gebruik levert de wetenschappelijke opinie. Ten behoeve van de beoordeling van het milieurisico heeft het Comité, zoals eerder opgemerkt, leidraden uitgevaardigd. Deze leidraden zijn cruciaal in het proces van registratie, omdat ze uitwerking geven aan de vereisten van de wetgeving en aan de beschermdoelen die niet benoemd zijn in de wetgeving zelf. In dat verband is het opmerkelijk dat voor veevoederadditieven, voor bestrijdingsmiddelen, en voor biociden, waaronder stoffen vallen die ook als diergeneesmiddel gebruikt worden, de beschermdoelen benoemd en gekwantificeerd zijn in de wetgeving, onder supervisie van het beleid, en niet in leidraden. Volgens het Europees Sociaal Comité is vanuit beleidsmatig oogpunt voor het vaststellen van Europese beschermdoelen en methodologie een samenwerking van beleidsmakers, uitvoerders, wetenschappers en belanghebbenden gewenst. Vervolgens is evenwel, volgens het Europese Hof van Justitie, het opstellen van wetenschappelijke en technische beoordelingen waarop de rechtmatigheid van maatregelen steunt, voorbehouden aan de wetenschappelijke comités. Naar mijn mening vallen zowel de leidraden voor de milieubeoordelingen, als de beoordelingen zelf, onder de verantwoordelijkheid van de wetenschap. Het vaststellen van beschermdoelen is echter niet een zaak van wetenschappers alleen. De meest recente leidraad is opgesteld door een groep wetenschappers afkomstig uit overheden en industrie. Deze groep kan als een wetenschappelijk comité worden aangemerkt, maar kent geen vertegenwoordiging van alle betrokken partijen.

In de leidraad die door de wetenschappelijke werkgroep van de Veterinaire Internationale Conferentie voor de Harmonisatie (VICH) is opgesteld, is het risicomodel veranderd ten opzichte van de oudere leidraad van het Comité voor geneesmiddelen voor diergeneeskundig gebruik. De drempelwaarde voor de concentratie in de bodem ten gevolge van verspreiding van mest van gestalde dieren is bovendien verhoogd van 10 naar 100 microgram per kilogram bodem. Deze verandering was gemotiveerd met een wetenschappelijke beoordeling van beschikbare effectgegevens door de Amerikaanse branchevereniging van de industrie. Deze motivering heb ik gevalideerd. De gebruikte gegevens bleken afkomstig te zijn uit de registratieprocedure in de Verenigde Staten. Wanneer alleen deze gegevens van deze stoffen in beschouwing genomen worden, betekent dat, dat indien overschrijding van de drempelwaarde leidt tot het produceren en beoordelen van deze gegevens, de drempelwaarde inderdaad beschermend zal blijken voor deze stoffen. De beoordeling zal immers exact dezelfde informatie genereren. Voor andere stoffen, en voor andere risicomodellen, is deze wederkerigheid echter afwezig. De verzameling gegevens was zodanig beperkt, zowel voor wat betreft het aantal stoffen, als voor wat betreft het aantal soorten en effecten, dat hij niet kan dienen om het risico van nog onbekende stoffen af te wegen. De gegeven argumenten voor het afzien van veiligheidsfactoren (die dienen om de onzekerheid in effecten, en de vergelijkbaarheid met andere soorten, in acht te nemen) voldeden niet aan de leidraden die de Europese Commissie heeft uitgevaardigd. De argumenten stroken echter evenmin met de beoordelingswijze van de effectgegevens die uitgevoerd moet worden bij overschrijding van de drempelwaarde. Als gevolg hiervan kan de effectwaarde in de risicobeoordeling lager zijn dan de drempelwaarde. De drempelwaarde is daardoor zelfs niet valide voor de stoffen waarop de drempelwaarde gebaseerd is. Gebaseerd op deze gegevens, met behulp van gangbare methodieken voor effectbeoordeling, voorspel ik dat 80% van de diergeneesmiddelen bij de drempelwaarde schade kunnen veroorzaken aan de microbiële levensgemeenschap in de bodem. Wanneer overige vrij beschikbare informatie in ogenschouw wordt genomen kan worden beredeneerd dat de drempelwaarde niet op 100,

maar op 0,1 microgram per kilogram vastgesteld moet worden. Zou nog in aanmerking worden genomen, dat de concentratie in de bodem nooit mag leiden tot een overschrijding van een drempelwaarde in oppervlaktewater, dan zou de drempelwaarde voor bodem met nog een factor 8 moeten dalen. Deze enorme variatie in uitkomsten is zorgelijk, aangezien het de indruk wekt dat wetenschap alle gewenste antwoorden kan formuleren.

Tenslotte

Ik heb diverse technische en principiële tekortkomingen in het gebruik de risicobeoordeling in het proces van registratie aangeroerd. Als belangrijkste merk ik op dat het vastleggen van beschermdoelen in de leidraad niet bindend is. Dat is in deze situatie wellicht een voordeel, aangezien de meest recente leidraad niet op alle Europese milieucriteria aanstuurt (in het bijzonder ontbreken grondwater en water), en de risicobeoordeling afhangt van een onvoldoende onderbouwde drempelwaarde voor de bodem. De modellen die in eerste instantie gebruikt worden om de blootstelling van het milieu in te schatten blijken niet altijd beschermend te zijn tengevolge van het ontbreken van gestandaardiseerde scenario's voor doeldieren en mest. Sommige gebruiksvoorschriften wekken ten onrechte de indruk dat het milieurisico tot een aanvaardbaar niveau teruggebracht wordt, terwijl daar geen wettelijke basis voor aanwezig is. Als gevolg van deze tekortkomingen kunnen milieugevaarlijke diergeneesmiddelen geregistreerd worden, waardoor de regionale of lokale overheid, die verantwoordelijk is voor de plaatselijke milieukwaliteit, gedwongen is het gebruik van diergeneesmiddelen, het uitrijden van mest, of het weiden van vee, middels vergunningen te reguleren. Dit zal in de praktijk een uitermate omvangrijke administratieve last betekenen.

Over de wijze waarop de ontwikkeling van resistentie tegen antibiotica betrokken moet worden in de beoordeling is nog onvoldoende kennis ontwikkeld.

De beschreven tekortkomingen ondermijnen in meer of mindere mate de rechtmatigheid van het registratieproces en van de wetenschap. De recente Richtlijn 2004/28/EC, die voor 30 oktober 2005 in nationale wetgeving omgezet moet worden, gaat voor de beoordeling van een registratie uit van de verhouding voordelen/risico's. Met relatief weinig inspanning zouden gemeenschappelijke besluitvormingscriteria vastgesteld kunnen worden, waartoe in dit proefschrift een eerste aanzet gegeven is. Het belangrijke werk van wetenschappers moet gefundeerd worden op heldere besluiten van beleidsmakers, en verankerd in een uniform en inzichtelijk besluitvormingsysteem. Een verdergaande uitwerking van scenario's betreffende de Europese landbouw- en milieukundige omstandigheden, van beleidsmatige en wettelijke beperkingen, en van een integraal risicomodel voor deze kosten/baten analyse, is daarvoor noodzakelijk.

Curriculum Vitae

Mark Henricus Maria Marcellinus Montforts werd op 8 november 1967 in Geleen geboren. In 1986 behaalde hij zijn gymnasium diploma aan het St. Michiel te Geleen en startte met zijn studie Biologie aan de Rijksuniversiteit Utrecht. In 1991 rondde hij de kopstudie Milieukunde af aan de Interfacultaire Vakgroep Milieukunde in Utrecht, gevolgd in 1992 door een doctoraal in de Biologie bij de vakgroep Natuurwetenschap en Samenleving.

Van 1991 tot 1993 was hij (vrijwillig of betaald) werkzaam bij de Wetenschapswinkel Biologie. In 1992-1993 werkte hij als toegevoegd docent bij de vakgroep Natuurwetenschap en Samenleving. Vanaf 1993 is hij werkzaam bij het Rijksinstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieu (RIVM). In 1999 werd hij opgenomen in het register van toxicologen van de Nederlandse Vereniging voor Toxicologie. In de loop der jaren hebben zijn werkzaamheden zich verplaatst van het samenvatten van studierapporten naar het beheren van projecten, het ontwikkelen en valideren van risicobeoordelingsmethodologie, en het formuleren van wetenschappelijke adviezen voor normstelling en beleid op het gebied van de milieurisicobeoordeling van gewasbeschermingsmiddelen, biociden, diergeneesmiddelen en geneesmiddelen, in nationale en internationale kaders. Vanuit deze context en met ondersteuning van het RIVM is dit promotieonderzoek uitgevoerd.

Lijst van publicaties

- Mensink H., M. Montforts, L. Wijkhuizen-Maslankiewicz, H. Tibosch, J. Linders (1995) Manual for summarizing and evaluating the environmental aspects of pesticides. RIVM report 679101022, Bilthoven.
- Tas J.W., M. Montforts, B.C. Rademaker, R. Luttik (1996) De milieu-evaluatie van organische niet-landbouw bestrijdingsmiddelen met USES 1.0. RIVM rapport 679101026, Bilthoven.
- Montforts M.H.M.M. (1997) Ontwormingsmiddelen en natuurbeheer. Een beoordeling van de ecotoxicologische risico's door toediening van ontwormingsmiddelen aan grazers op de terreinen van Natuurmonumenten. Wetenschapswinkel Biologie Utrecht, P-UB 96-11. Tweede druk april 1997.
- Montforts M.H.M.M. (1997) Environmental Risk Assessment for veterinary medicinal products. Part I:Other than immunological and GMO-containing products. RIVM report 613310 001. Bilthoven.
- Montforts M.H.M.M., Kalf, D.F., Vlaardingen, P.L.A. van, Linders, J.B.H.J. (1999) The exposure assessment for veterinary medicinal products. Science of the Total Environment 225 (1999) 119-133.
- Kalf D.F., B.J.W.G. Mensink and M.H.M.M Montforts (1999) Protocol for derivation of Harmonised Maximum Permissible Concentrations (MPCs). RIVM report 601506001, Bilthoven.
- Montforts M.H.M.M. (1999) Environmental Risk Assessment for veterinary medicinal products. Part I: Other than immunological and GMO-containing products. First Update RIVM report 601300 001, Bilthoven.
- Vlaardingen P.L.A. van, en M.H.M.M. Montforts (1999) Geneesmiddelen in het milieu. Twee verkennende studies samengevat. RIVM rapport 734301 017, Bilthoven.
- Bakker DJ, AJ Gilbert, D. Gottschild, T. Kuchnicki, RWPM Laane, JBHJ Linders, D van de Meent, MHMM Montforts, J Pino, JW Pol, NM van Straalen (1999) Implementing atmospheric fate in regulatory risk assessment of pesticides: (How) can it be done? In: HFG van Dijk, AJ van Pul, P deVoogt (eds.) Fate of Pesticides in the Atmosphere. Implications for Environmental risk assessment. Pp. 257-266. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands.
- Montforts M.H.M.M. (2000) Environmental Risk Assessment for veterinary medicinal products. Part 2: immunological products. Report on the workshop September 1998. RIVM report 601300 002, Bilthoven.
- Montforts M.H.M.M. (2001) Environmental Risk Assessment of Adjuvants in the Regulatory Framework. In: De Ruiter, H. (editor) 6th International Symposium on Adjuvants for Agrochemicals ISAA 2001 Amsterdam, pp.152-157.
- Montforts M.H.M.M. (2001) Regulatory and methodological aspects concerning the risk assessment of medicinal products. In: K. Kümmerer (Eds.) Pharmaceuticals in the environment. Springer Verlag.
- Halling-Sørensen B., J. Jensen, J. Tjørnelund and M.H.M.M. Montforts (2001) Worst-case estimations of predicted environmental soil concentrations (PEC) of selected veterinary antibiotics and residues in Danish agriculture. In: K. Kümmerer (Eds.) Pharmaceuticals in the environment. Springer Verlag.
- De Knecht J.A. and M.H.M.M. Montforts (2001) Environmental risk assessment of veterinary medicine products: an evaluation of the registration procedure. SETAC Globe Volume 2, Number 5, pp. 29-31.
- Montforts M.H.M.M. and J.A. de Knecht (2002) European medicines and feed additives regulation are not in compliance with environmental legislation and policy. Toxicology Letters 131, 125-136.
- Ciarelli S. and M.H.M.M. Montforts (2002) Sediment Risk Assessment for Pesticides. In: Luttik, R. and Pelgrom, S.M.G.J. (eds) Factsheets for the (eco)toxicological risk assessment strategy of the National Institute for Public Health and the Environment (RIVM) Part II. RIVM report 601516009/2002, Bilthoven.

- Montforts M.H.M.M. and A.J. Verschoor (2003) Environmental Risk Assessment for veterinary medicinal products. Part 3. Validation of environmental exposure models. RIVM report 601450016/2003, Bilthoven.
- Montforts M.H.M.M. and J.V. Tarazona (2003) Environmental Risk Assessment for veterinary medicinal products. Part 4. Exposure assessment scenarios. RIVM report 601450017/2003, Bilthoven.
- Montforts M.H.M.M. (Ed.) (2003) Environmental Risk Assessment for veterinary medicinal products. Part 5. A guide to risk assessment of veterinary medicinal products used in intensive animal husbandry. RIVM report 601450018/2003, Bilthoven.
- Montforts M.H.M.M. (2003) Environmental Risk Assessment for veterinary medicinal products. Part 1: Nonimmunological drug substances. Second Update. RIVM Report 320202001/2003, Bilthoven.
- J.V. Tarazona, P. Calow, M.H.M.M. Montforts, M. Herrchen, R. Luttik, P. Wester, R. Jones (2003) Report on the ecological risk assessment of chemicals. Appendix 5 in: SSC, The future of risk assessment in the European Union. The second report on the harmonisation of risk assessment procedures. Brussels: Scientific Steering Committee, Health and Consumer Protection Directorate-General, European Union.
- R. Jones, J.V. Tarazona, M.H.M.M. Montforts, P. Calow, M. Herrchen, R. Luttik, P. Wester (2003) Report on the risk assessment for animal populations with emphasis on wild life. Appendix 6 in: SSC, The future of risk assessment in the European Union. The second report on the harmonisation of risk assessment procedures. Brussels: Scientific Steering Committee, Health and Consumer Protection Directorate-General, European Union.
- Montforts M.H.M.M. (2004) Methodological aspects concerning the environmental risk assessment for medicinal products; research challenges. Chapter 32 in: K. Kümmerer (Editor.) Pharmaceuticals in the environment. Second enlarged edition, Springer Verlag.
- Montforts M.H.M.M. and J.A. de Knecht (2004) European medicines and feed additives regulation are not in compliance with environmental legislation and policy. In: D. Dietrich, S.F. Webb, and Th. Petry (Editors) Hot Spot Pollutants: pharmaceuticals in the environment. Elsevier Inc, San Diego.
- Montforts M.H.M.M., Van Rijswick H.F.M.W., Udo de Haes H.A. (2004) Legal constraints on special precautions in EU product labelling to mitigate the environmental risk of veterinary medicines at use. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology 40, 327-335
- Montforts M.H.M.M. (2005) The assessment of Persistency and Bioaccumulation in the Pesticide Registration Frameworks within the OECD Region. OECD Series on Pesticides, no. 25. OECD Paris.
- Montforts M.H.M.M. (2005) Vorsorge vor Umweltrisiken in der Produktinfomation von Veterinärpharmaka. Juristische Fallstricke under Methodologische Herausforderungen. Tagesband der Veranstaltung des Umweltbundesamtes: Umweltbewertung von Arzneimitteln – Zu Risiken und Nebenwirkungen fragen Sie das Umweltbundesamt, 29-30 September 2004. 6 pp.
- De Jong F.M.W., Mensink B.J.W.G., Smit C.E., Montforts M.H.M.M. (in press) Evaluation of ecotoxicological field studies for authorisation of plant protection products in Europe. Human and Ecological Risk Assessment.

Nawoord

Het slagen van deze onderneming heb ik mede te danken aan de inzet en de aanwezigheid van een groot aantal personen. De meeste mensen die mij geholpen hebben hebben een plaats als mede-auteur of zijn aan bod geweest in de dankwoorden bij de publicaties. Ik ben Han de Neeling erkentelijk voor zijn hulp met de gegevens over geneesmiddelenverbruik en Peter van Vlaardingen voor zijn grondige commentaren op de samenvatting. Ich bin Thomas Ternes, Daniel Dietrich, Klaus Kümmerer, Jan Koschorreck, Heike Schmitt und Ines Rönnefahrt erkenntlich, da sie mich auf verschiedene Weise zu den meisten meiner Untersuchungen inspiriert haben. I am obliged to to Patricia Keen for sharing thoughts about antibiotics and risk assessment. Alistair Boxall and Bent Halling-Sørensen are 'gratefully acknowledged' for seeding the idea of my PhD thesis while enjoying a beer in Derby. I am obliged to the entire cast of the ERAVMIS project: Anja, José, Sarah, Johannes, Bent, Tue, Anne-Marie, Susanne, Flemming, Alistair, Paul, Paul, Romina, Heike, Thomas, and Johann, during the years 1999-2003, for the stimulating company and discussions during the meetings in Utrecht and abroad.

Mijn talrijke collega's van het RIVM zijn heel belangrijk geweest met hun belangstelling en collegialiteit. Robert Luttik ben ik in het bijzonder erkentelijk voor de gedachtenwisselingen over wat we nu eigenlijk helemaal aan het doen zijn met risicoschatting. Dankzij de ondersteuning van Wilbert Slooff, Kees van Leeuwen en Hans Könemann heb ik de stap tot een proefschrift ook werkelijk gezet.

Heike Schmitt en Joop de Knecht ben ik erkentelijk voor de wijze waarop zij hun rol als paranimf vervuld hebben.

Werk en wetenschap zijn belangrijke zaken in het leven, maar niet meer dan zaken. Désirée en Sam, jullie zijn vele malen belangrijker voor me. Dat kan niet genoeg gezegd zijn.